THE ANALYSIS, SUPPORT AND DEVELOPMENT OF COACHES' TACTICAL KNOWLEDGE IN PRACTICE

MICHAEL. P. WALSH

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements of Liverpool John Moores University for the Professional Doctorate in Applied Exercise Sciences

18th September 2021

Declaration

No portion of the work referred to in the thesis has been submitted in support of an application for any other degree or qualification of this or any other university or other institutes of learning.

Acknowledgements

There are several people I wish to show my gratitude towards. Firstly, to the coaches and students who volunteered to take part in this research; without their commitment and enthusiasm, these three studies would not have been possible. To my supervisor, Allistair McRobert, for the support, critical feedback, and guidance. I would also like to thank Barry Drust for supporting me through the early stages of the course, and Simon Roberts in the later stages. My fiancée Steph, and my good friend Edge who kindly read numerous drafts gave guidance and feedback. Finally, my children Lydia, Charlie and Theodora for their encouragement, love and support throughout the thesis.

Abstract

Game-based practices have been identified as significant approaches that support players to develop game understanding, strategic knowledge and decision making skills alongside developing their technical ability. However, for game-based approaches to be an effective method of practice, it is paramount for coaches to have extensive tactical knowledge. Despite the growing body of literature exploring the knowledge requirements of coaches, there is still a considerable lack of studies exploring how novice and intermediate level coaches develop their sport-specific knowledge. Moreover, the tactical knowledge concepts of sport-specific knowledge are still an underexplored area of research. Therefore, further investigation is required to enhance the understanding of coaches' tactical knowledge development. Accordingly, the thesis examined how, what and when novice/intermediate football coaches develop their tactical knowledge while studying on a level 3 qualification. In addition, the thesis explored if a conceptual model and framework could aid coaches' tactical knowledge development.

The thesis adopted a pragmatic research paradigm philosophy implementing scientific realism and pragmatism as the ontological and epistemological foundation. The methodology of an action research design-based approach incorporated methods such as; focus groups, object learning, reflective practice, participant observation, stimulated recall interviews, and case studies to collect and analyse the data. Findings illustrated a significant differentiation of coaches' baseline knowledge at the start of the course. However, while several coaches were unable to define several key concepts of tactical knowledge when questioned (declarative knowledge), all coaches were able to show the application of several tactical concepts (procedural knowledge) of the game in their demonstrations. Moreover, findings exemplified that the moments of the game and principles of play are the two most significant concepts of tactical knowledge. Findings illustrated that coaches who displayed more advanced knowledge of the moments of the game and principles of play were able to demonstrate greater knowledge of the other tactical knowledge concepts (i.e., styles of play, systems of play, strategies and tactics) and display conditional knowledge in practice. In addition, findings suggest that

the development of a conceptual model and framework significantly aided the coach's declarative and procedural knowledge development, with the utmost change in tactical knowledge occurring once a coach had constructed their model.

The discoveries of the thesis contribute to an evolving, problematic epistemology of football coaches' tactical knowledge development and highlight shortcomings in terms of tactical concepts and the capacity to support tactical knowledge development. The thesis presents coach educators, coaches, academics and education providers' opportunities to inform coach education delivery, academic literature and support football coaches develop tactical knowledge of the game.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATION	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	2
ABSTRACT	3
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	9
Introduction to the researcher	9
Introduction to the Thesis	15
CHAPTER 2: LITTERATURE REVIEW	20
Coaching Knowledge	20
Types of Coaching Knowledge	21
Sport Specific Knowledge	24
Tactical Periodization The Game Model Moments of the game Principles of Play in Football Strategies & Tactics Structural Organisation (Systems of play) Coach's ideas Styles of Play Player capabilities and characteristics Club and Country football culture Club structure & aim How do Coaches acquire Knowledge?	24 25 26 28 32 35 39 39 41 42 42 43
Metacognition	45
Measuring Tactical knowledge in Practice	48
Chapter Summary	50
CHAPTER 3: CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK & MODEL	52
The importance of a Conceptual Framework and Model in the study	52
The Development of the Conceptual Framework and Model in the thesis	53
How to build a Game Model for practice: The Development of a Game Model approach to advance tactical knowledge?	63

The Concepts of the Game Model and Framework	
Coaches Ideas Moments of the game Principles of Play Style(s) of Play System(s) of play Sub-Moments of the Game (Areas of the pitch) Strategies and Tactics External Factors Chapter Summary	65 65 66 68 69 71 75 77 79
Chapter 4: GENERAL OVERVIEW OF METHODOLOGY	82
Paradigm	82
Underlying Beliefs and Philosophy	83
Chosen Paradigm	85
Action Research	89
Methods Overview	91
Research Quality	91
Generalisability	92
Credibility	94
Reflective Practice	95
Meta-Reflection	98
Reflexivity	100
CHAPTER 5: STUDY 1	105
Introduction	105
Method Participant Selection Data Collection Data Analysis	106 106 108 110
Results and Discussion	112
Chapter Summary	127

Meta-Reflection 1	126
CHAPTER 6: STUDY 2	134
Introduction	134
Method Participant Selection Data Collection Data Analysis	135 135 135 138
Results and Discussion	141
Chapter Summary	153
Meta-Reflection 2	154
CHAPTER 7: STUDY 3	159
Introduction	159
Method Participant Selection Data Collection Data Analysis	162 162 163 170
Results Case Study	173 173
Discussion	194
Chapter Summary	201
Meta-Reflection 3	202
CHAPTER 8: GENERAL DISCUSSION	205
Purpose of the Research	205
Key findings	206
Study considerations	219
Implications for practice	221
My development as a researcher	226
CHAPTER 9: REFERENCES	230
CHAPTER 10: LIST OF TABLES AND FIGURES	257

Chapter 1: Introduction

Introduction to the researcher

My coaching journey started at the age of 17 while studying A-levels in the sixth form at high school. The Head of Physical Education (PE) asked me if I would be interested in coaching the Year 7 football team. After guiding Tranmere Rovers to the Champions League final in the summer of 1998 on the Champions Manager video game, I felt I had the credentials to take on the role. During the two years, I gained experience coaching the Year 7 and 8 football teams in the winter, and cricket teams in the summer.

After finishing A-Levels in 2000, I went on to become a sports technician at a specialist sports college as, at the time, I felt that university was not for me. I quickly got involved in coaching the school football teams, followed by supporting and covering PE lessons. At first, it was mainly football, but this quickly evolved to delivering a range of sports such as rugby, basketball, badminton and cricket. This led me to acquire several different Level 1 coaching qualifications in football, cricket, basketball and rugby. My passion for coaching continued to grow and, during the summer break of 2001, I enrolled and undertook the Coaching Certificate in Football (FA Level 2).

When I returned in September at the start of term, I was encouraged by several of the teachers in the school to apply for university and study a degree within Coaching or Physical Education to further develop my career. I applied to Liverpool John Moores and was accepted onto the BA (Hons) Coaching Science degree in 2002. During the course, I was able to successfully gain coaching experience at Manchester United, which allowed me to achieve valuable experience working with a wide range of children and adults from across the world and travel to different countries to experience different cultures, alongside continuing to coach football and cricket in the community. During the second year of the course, I completed the Union of European Football Association (UEFA) B Licence (Level 3) and completed the English Cricket Board (ECB) Level 2 certificate in cricket as, at this stage, I did not know if football or cricket would be my specialist field. Within the third year, I successfully began coaching at Manchester City in the Academy with the under 9's and took charge of LJMU Women's Football first team, guiding them to Division 1A winners.

After graduating with an undergraduate degree at LJMU in 2005, I became a community sports coach back at the college I had left three years earlier while continuing to coach at Manchester City in the academy. After completing the FA Youth Award 12-16, I moved to Wrexham FC to coach in their academy with the under 15's as a part-time position and continued to work at the sports college for a further year.

In September 2007 I acquired my first lecturing role in the Further Education (FE) sector at Myerscough College in Preston as the Programme Leader for BTEC National Diploma Level 3 Football Studies. The job entailed lecturing 18 hours per week, teaching and learning, marking, quality assurance, and module and course management. Furthermore, the role included coaching each day with the elite college team. During coaching sessions, I worked on technical and skill sessions, functions, phases of play, and 11v11.

My thirst for knowledge and self-development continued with further professional development. Whilst lecturing at Myerscough College, I completed the UEFA A Licence in coaching football in 2008, and in 2009 achieved a Post Graduate Certificate in Education (PGCE) through the University of Central Lancashire (UCLAN). I developed my practice further as I applied for Qualified Teaching and Learning Status (QTLS) with the Institute for Learning (IFL) and became the first member of staff at the college to achieve QTLS. This achievement saw me take up the role of mentoring and supporting other staff at the college to achieve QTLS. Having achieved several grade 1 lesson observations, I became a mentor for new staff and became part of the observation team.

During my time at the college, I also became a coach educator for the Football Association (FA) delivering FA Level 1 courses for Liverpool County Football Association. In my third year at the college, I gained my first experience of delivering Higher Education (HE) modules on the foundation degree at Level 4 and Level 5, which led me to pursue a Masters in Sports Coaching at UCLAN. Alongside the lecturing and coaching position, I coached part-time at Blackpool Football

Club for 3 years coaching the under 15's and 16's, and gained valuable experience coaching the youth team. Furthermore, within this time frame, I had two stints in semi-professional football at Leek Town and Warrington Town in which I was assistant manager at step 7 of the football pyramid system.

In 2011, I joined Warrington Collegiate College as the Programme Leader for Extended Diploma in Football Studies. The course was in partnership with Manchester United. I continued to deliver across both FE and HE, delivering on Extended National Diploma, HNC and HND in Sports Science. Alongside this role, I moved to Preston North End Academy to become the Under 11's coach and started to deliver the FA Level 2 as a coach educator. In terms of professional development, I completed a MA in Sports Coaching in August 2013 alongside completing the FA Youth Modules and Youth Award.

In April 2014 I commenced employment at the University Campus of Football Business (UCFB). My current role is Director of Football, overseeing postgraduate coaching programmes across the Etihad and Wembley campuses. My current role includes managing 20 academic staff, writing postgraduate programmes of study, assuring quality and standards, organising timetables, recruitment, working with local authorities, building partnerships with external bodies, managing budgets and lecturing across the football and sports coaching programme. I have been involved in five Quality Assurance Agency for Higher Education (QAA) inspections, most recently taking the lead on the curriculum design and development and two validation events.

During the seven years, I have been a member of a range of sub-committees such as the Academic Board; Teaching and Learning Action Research Group; QAA Review Panel; Exam boards, Validation events, and Academic Standards Committee. The role requires the creation of conditions for effective performance, developing new materials, CPD, and guidance materials. Part of the role requires me to plan and deliver and support staff with CPD and training through workshops. In addition, I mentor staff (new and existing) in teaching and academic practices throughout the academic year giving guidance and support when required. The role further entails working with the

staff at our partner institution, Bucks New University (BNU) and liaising with external examiners to ensure and maintain the quality of teaching and learning, academic processes and documentation.

My previous roles at UCFB have been Programme Leader for the BA (Hons) Sports Business and Coaching degree, and BA (Hons) Football Coaching & Management. Additionally, I have been Assistant Head of School for Sport and Assistant Head of the Etihad campus. The roles undertaken have been varied and provided me with a wider perspective on teaching, learning and quality assurance as they have involved mentoring other academic staff, leading on internal quality provision and writing policies and procedures related to teaching, learning and assessment ensuring that staff adhere to HE standards, the quality code and benchmark statements for assessment. The programme leader roles involved curriculum design, redesign, and re-validation, planning for learning, programmes of study, assessments, trips, observations and additional qualifications as well as module leading across the course and supervising research projects at undergraduate and postgraduate levels.

In terms of Academy football, I stopped in 2016 once I became a UEFA B coach educator on top of delivering levels 1 and 2 due to time commitments of the role. However, I began coaching again at Bolton Wanderers Academy in 2020, and have kept my hand in coaching through the UCFB First Team.

In 2018, I became the head coach of the UCFB Undergraduate Academy. The academy aims to recruit and work with players aged 18-22 who have been released by professional clubs and/or have not been offered or secured a professional contract at other clubs. The academy allows players to study a full-time degree programme alongside full-time training. The academy replicates a professional club environment with UEFA A Licence coaches, strength and conditioning, physiotherapy, performance analysis, and psychology to support players with the transition from professional football into the semi-professional game. The programme partners with several local clubs, which allow the players to play in a semi-professional team, compete in BUCS Division 1A, and play fixtures against professional club academies and under 23 sides. This role also allowed me to work as a coach for a National League North under 21's team and support the players who are not

ready for the transition into men's football. Over the last few years, the academy team has become a working model to support several coaching modules. It offers the students the opportunity to gain first-hand experience observing, analysing and supporting the coaching process.

In addition, I have delivered coach education in Argentina, China and Malaysia for the FA alongside gained experience working with international youth players in Hong Kong, Kuwait, Italy, Denmark, Sweden, Portugal and Bahrain. My industry-focused work as a practitioner across coaching and coach education, alongside my academic delivery, has allowed me to apply theory in practice across several environments and allowed me to share my experiences, knowledge, and the needs of the coaching environment with employers, colleagues and students. I have been and continue to be a student of the game, watching as many games as possible, observing teams' different styles of play, strategies and tactics across different leagues and countries, reading academic journals or books, reading up on coaching sessions and observing coaches at work in different environments, sports and levels of the game from grass-roots to the elite game.

Critical reflection has facilitated personal growth and development by assessing my capabilities and skills against specific criteria or identifying gaps in knowledge. This process has steered me to study further qualifications in the form of a UEFA A Licence, PGCE, MA in Sports Coaching and lead to the current study of a Professional Doctorate. Through studying a Professional Doctorate qualification I aim to enhance and support the development of my professional and craft knowledge, as well as advance my analytical and critical thinking skills to be a more effective practitioner and researcher. The first module of the professional doctorate, professional planning and training in applied sports and exercise science, required critical reflection in the form of a self-audit of one's personal growth and development. Both self-knowledge and self-awareness have been highlighted as two significant factors for personal growth and self-development (Taylor, Werthner, Culver, & Callary, 2015; Whetten & Cameron 2007). The self-audit critically examined personal skills, academic competency and researcher competency against three frameworks.

The first framework assessed personal characteristics, utilising 'The Behavioural Profile' report developed by PDA International (2004). This is commonly utilised within the professional practice field and is a recognised method of assessing behavioural characteristics for the selection, management and development of talent. The second framework explored effective academic performance, applying "The UK Professional Standards Framework for teaching and supporting learning in higher education". The final framework assessed my research skills using Vitae Researcher Development Framework (2010). Vitae is structured in four domains and twelve subdomains, encompassing a range of skills, qualities and techniques.

Through analysing my skills, the reports highlighted two distinct areas requiring selfdevelopment and growth which overlapped across the competency frameworks and assessments. Firstly, the Vitae Researcher Development Framework and The UK Professional Standards Framework illustrated the requirement to develop a writing style appropriate for level 8, through the use of appropriate language and applying the correct technical or scientific writing in the thesis. Furthermore, the behavioural profile report highlighted that I often provide more information than is required in an attempt to be complete and accurate (PDA International, 2004).

Moreover, the Vitae researcher development framework and professional standards framework illustrated a lack of evidence-informed approaches carrying out academic research, scholarly activity and the employment of a range of appropriate methods and techniques with confidence. Although I am very active in terms of professional practice, carrying out regular continued professional development in my subject discipline through attending coaching CPD events and coaching conferences, the area requiring the most development is the research and scholarship activity which can inform and develop my professional practice and carry more credibility as an academic. Despite over twenty years of coaching experience across academy football and coach education, from an academic perspective, I lack experience in research and scholarly activity in the research world. For my development as a Higher Education academic, it is important to be able to use

evidence-informed research to support my professional practical background and a significant reason why I decided to carry out the professional doctorate.

A final area of personal development was to explore and critically reflect upon my practice as a coach educator and lecturer in supporting coaches develop their tactical knowledge from both a theoretical and practical perspective.

Introduction to the Thesis

Modern coaching pedagogies have looked to integrate the psychological aspects of the game such as decision making, game understanding and strategic thinking, alongside the technical, tactical and physiological components within training sessions. Consequently, practice design and the type of practices have become a critical factor for a coach when planning coaching sessions (Williams & Hodges, 2005; Light, 2013; Pill, 2016). Several researchers advocate the proposition that variable, random and more game-like approaches result in greater accuracy and consistency of skills as opposed to some of the more traditional methods of deliberate or constant practices, which specifically focus on repetition of the same skill (Williams & Hodges, 2005; Passos, Araújo, Davids & Shuttleworth, 2008; Davids, Williams, Button, & Court, 2001; Christensen, 2009; Renshaw & Moy, 2018; Lee, Magill & Weeks, 1985; Van Rossum, 1990; Araújo & Davids, 2011).

Game-based approaches such as 'Constraints Led Coaching' (Passos et al., 2008; Araújo & Davids, 2011), 'TGFU' Teaching games for understanding (Bunker & Thorpe, 1982; Mandigo, Butler & Hopper, 2007; Hastie & Curtner-Smith, 2006), 'Play Practice' (Launder & Piltz, 2013), 'Game Sense' (Light & Harvey, 2016), Tactical-Decision Learning Model (Gréhaigne, Richard & Griffin, 2005) all support the benefits of the game-based approach to coaching practice, however, there is still some debate across many fields in terms of skill acquisition. Several scholars recognise that variable, random and game realistic practice designs allow players the opportunity to understand the 'why' and 'what'. Furthermore, they suggest that players learn best if they can understand 'what' and 'why' to do something before they understand 'how'. These approaches are seen to help develop players' game

understanding, decision making and strategic knowledge alongside developing their technical ability (Mandigo et al., 2007; Hastie et al., 2006; Araújo et al., 2011; Renshaw et al., 2018; Price, Collins, Stoszkowski & Pill, 2019; 2020).

Consequently, across different organisations, clubs and platforms, coaches are encouraged to consider planning and delivering game-based approaches which offer practice variety. This is achieved by manipulating practice session factors (i.e. space (size of the area), tasks (individual or team challenges), environment and number of players (overloads and underloads), which place constraints on players that replicate the range of variation experienced during game situations. Therefore, a coach would be required to consider a range of interventions to achieve the desired learning outcomes of the session (Williams et al., 2005; Davids et al., 2001; Christensen, 2009; Renshaw et al., 2018; Lee et al., 1985; Van Rossum, 1990; Passos et al., 2008; Araújo et al., 2011; Mandigo et al., 2007; Hastie et al., 2006; Launder et al., 2013; Light et al., 2016; Gréhaigne et al., 2005; FA Learning, 2016). In addition, under the fundamentals of coaching found across all coach education courses in England, the FA advocates that coaches should apply and deliver realistic gamerelated practices in training that offer elements of transition wherever possible (FA learning, 2016).

However, for game-based approaches to be an effective method of practice, it is paramount for coaches to have sufficient tactical knowledge of the game. A coach needs to understand how space, time and organisation impacts the game, as these three factors have been identified as significant challenges posed to both football players and coaches as a dynamical system (Gréhaigne, Bouthier & David, 1997; O'Donoghue, 2008; Garganta, 2009). Football, like other team sport invasion games, is considered a 'dynamical system', due to the many interacting components involved (Araujo, Davids & Shuttleworth, 2008; McGarry & Perl 2004; Gréhaigne et al., 1997; McGarry, Anderson, Wallace, Hughes & Franks 2010). The term 'dynamical system' is used to refer to a system whose behaviours are the result of self-organising properties. Football is described as a 'dynamical system' because it involves two opposing teams competing and directly interacting

against each other, both trying to achieve the same objectives, which is to score goals whilst at the same time preventing the opposition from scoring goals (O'Donoghue, 2008; Garganta, 2009; McGarry & Perl 2004). Therefore, a coach is required to have a comprehensive understanding of the principles of play, and appropriate strategies and tactics to plan team actions that combat the challenges posed by time, space and organisation (Wade, 1967; Gréhaigne et al., 1997; Hewitt, Greenham & Norton, 2016; Fernandez Navarro, Fradua, Zubillaga, Ford & McRobert, 2016).

As a coach educator and a tutor, I observe many coaches who design and deliver good games based practices that are player-centred, however, many of the coaches' lack game understanding and tactical knowledge, meaning at times practices too often become unrealistic. Furthermore, coaches are often not able to adapt, change the constraints or challenges, pose effective questions or offer input to affect the tactical elements of the game.

Since changes to coaching qualifications in 2016, as both a coach educator and an academic lecturer, I have started to observe a significant difference in the tactical knowledge of coaches who have specifically undertaken courses post 2016. This trend has been observed both when delivering on coach education courses (Level 2 and 3) and also across student coaches studying on our undergraduate coaching degree programmes. This is a common trend observed and discussed amongst coach educators alike. A significant amount of coaches appear to be able to discuss the game and apply jargon in conversation which they have heard or picked up from other coaches, read or observed on an array of media platforms. However, many coaches have a significant lack of underlying declarative and procedural knowledge (see literature review for full explanations of these terms) of the different tactical elements of the game and their importance. This, in turn, impacts the application of conditional knowledge in practice (Nash & Collins, 2006; Price et al., 2019; 2020).

To accommodate other important areas such as coaching pedagogies and key sports science elements on the Level 2 courses, less focus has been given to the tactical fundamentals of the game, with the depth and detail of sports-specific technical and tactical knowledge scaled down. Thus, several coach educators argue that the current courses do not contain adequate sport-specific knowledge or spend sufficient time and/or depth focussing on tactical knowledge such as the

principles of play, systems of play, styles of play, strategies and tactics. Therefore, this impacts the tactical knowledge of coaches starting on the Level 3 course.

This, in turn, has had a negative impact on the success rate of the Level 3 course over the last few years. As of June 2019, circa 900 coaches studying Level 3 were still deemed not yet competent and still had not completed the course from the 2017/18 or 2018/19 season (FA Education, 2019). With this, the Level 3 course was suspended until March 2020 to allow coach educators to support coaches to develop their knowledge. Within the local County FA of which I am a Level 3 tutor, as of September 2020, only 60% of learners had completed the course. This success rate was considerably higher than many other county FA's across the country (FA Education, 2019).

Despite the increased interest in exploring what knowledge coaches require and how coaches develop knowledge, from an academic perspective, tactical concepts of sport-specific knowledge are an underexplored area of research that require further investigation. Sport-specific knowledge such as techniques and tactics are deemed as key requirements for coaches, especially at Level 3. Furthermore, for game-based approaches to be an effective method of practice, it is paramount for coaches to enhance their tactical knowledge (Jones, Armour & Potrac, 2003; Cushion, 2011; Stoszkowskia & Collins, 2015; Stodter & Cushion, 2017; Trudel, Gilbert & Werthner 2013; Walker, Thomas & Driska, 2018; Williams et al., 2005).

Based on my observations as an educator, practitioner and academic, alongside discussions and opinions of other coach educators, tactical knowledge development is an area of concern. Furthermore, a plethora of terminology used to define tactical knowledge, coupled with limited academic research in the field, and statistics that circa 900 coaches have not completed Level 3 across England due to incompetent levels of tactical knowledge. This is an area of major concern for coaches, coach educators, governing bodies, and academics alike.

Therefore, to support coaches' development tactical knowledge, several areas required further investigation. The first issue was the alignment of the terminology under specific concepts, through the development of a conceptual framework and model. The second issue was the assessment of

football coaches' baseline tactical knowledge at the beginning of a course. The third issue was exploring football coaches' tactical knowledge in their practice setting and assessing changes in tactical knowledge.

Consequently, the thesis aimed to analyse, support, and develop football coaches' tactical knowledge in practice, exploring what, how and when novice/intermediate football coaches develop their tactical knowledge. Furthermore, it aimed to ascertain if a conceptual model and framework could act as a support mechanism to aid the coaches' development of tactical knowledge.

The four definitive objectives of the thesis are as follows:

- 1. The development of a conceptual framework and model to advance tactical knowledge.
- 2. The assessment of Level 2 coaches' baseline tactical knowledge at the start of their Level 3 journey.
- 3. The analysis of coaches' tactical conditional knowledge in practice
- 4. The use of an intervention strategy to support the development of coaches' tactical knowledge.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

The purpose of the chapter is to explore key concepts from the literature which underpinned the area of investigation. The chapter reviews the different types of knowledge coaches require before focusing on professional sport-specific tactical knowledge. In addition, it will consider how coaches acquire and develop tactical knowledge, alongside how tactical knowledge can be measured from a metacognition and decision-making perspective. Finally, throughout the chapter, the author will identify key gaps and underexplored areas in the literature that require further enquiry which will be explored within the thesis.

From the Premier League down the football pyramid to grass-roots football, coaches play a vital role in the development of players across all ages and genders. A coach will undertake coaching qualifications to develop their knowledge for a multitude of reasons, from being a parent thrown in at the deep end to take their son or daughter's junior team, to a coach who wishes to aspire to be the next Jürgen Klopp or Pep Guardiola. Depending on their preferred destination, a coach starts their educational journey at Level 1 and can progress through the qualification pathway until Level 4 (UEFA A Licence) to advance their knowledge. In addition, coaches may explore academic football coaching programmes with several Higher Education institutions offering undergraduate and postgraduate courses for aspiring coaches.

Coaching Knowledge

Within the field of sports coaching, there is an increased interest in exploring how coaches develop knowledge and what knowledge they learn to cultivate the skills required to deal with the complex, constantly changing, and multi-dimensional milieu (Trudel & Gilbert, 2004; Cushion, 2011; Culver & Trudel, 2006; Gilbert, Gallimore, & Trudel, 2009; Stoszkowskia & Collins, 2015; Stodter & Cushion, 2017; Walker et al., 2018). Nash and Collins (2006) discuss the science of coaching based on the principles of science (i.e., physiology, sociology, cognitive and motor skills) and pedagogy (i.e., interventions and practice design), and describe 'effective coaching' as a combination of the different disciplines. The unconscious or spontaneous coaching interventions are regarded as the art

of coaching and are of interest to both scholars and coach educators alike. Moreover, how coaches access and retrieve knowledge at the appropriate times during training and game situations impacts the decision-making process. Nevertheless, Nash and Collins (2006) suggest that it is vital to explore how a coach develops this knowledge (Jones, Armour & Potrac, 2003; Cushion, 2011; Culver et al., 2006; Gilbert et al., 2009; Trudel et al., 2004; Stoszkowskia et al., 2015; Stodter et al., 2017).

Despite the growth in popularity of coaching as an area of interest for academic studies, there is still limited research on how coaches learn and what knowledge they are required to develop (Trudel, Gilbert & Werthner 2013; McCullick, Schempp, Mason, Foo, Vickers & Connolly, 2009; Gilbert, Côté & Mallett, 2006). Enquiry into how coaches gain, learn, and develop knowledge has been focused and disseminated to the academic world through journal articles, rather than circulated to coaches and coach educators through CPD or workshops. This had led to some authors suggesting that research can often be detached from the day-to-day coaching practices. Consequently, for research to have more of an impact upon coaching practice, coaches and coach educators alike, research needs to inform, guide, and help develop both practice and education (Trudel et al., 2006; 2013; Cushion et al., 2010; Abraham & Collins, 2011; Purdy, Potrac & Nelson, 2013; Piggott, 2013; Stodter et al., 2017).

Types of Coaching Knowledge

The types of knowledge requirements for coaching have been drawn and adapted from previous research in the area of Physical Education (PE). PE teachers are deemed to require three types of knowledge; instructional, pedagogical, and curricular (Kreber & Cranton, 2000; Ennis, Mueller & Zhu, 1991; Anderson, 1982; Nelson, Cushion, & Potrac, 2006; Nash & Collins, 2006; Côté & Gilbert, 2009; Nelson, Cushion, Potrac & Groom, 2014; Stoszkowski et al., 2016). Similar to PE teachers, it is advocated that coaches would be required to develop these three types of knowledge to become effective practitioners. Moreover, several authors have proposed coaches require knowledge around three main disciplines; sport-specific knowledge such as the techniques and tactics, knowledge of the "ologies" sport science disciplines such as; Physiology, Psychology, Sociology, and

Kinesiology, and finally pedagogical knowledge of the learning approaches (Kreber & Cranton, 1997; Nash & Collins, 2006; Abraham, Collins & Martindale, 2006; Côté & Gilbert, 2009).

Professional sport-specific knowledge is a key requirement for coaches and the main focus of the thesis, however, the author acknowledges that having professional knowledge alone is insufficient to develop and become an effective coach. For coaches to advance, a more holistic approach is required. Interpersonal knowledge is another significant knowledge base to develop. The coaching process involves the interaction with significant others such as players, parents, and other coaches. Therefore, coaches must develop an understanding of the specifics of their coaching domain and environment and understand the complexities of working with different age groups, different ability levels and genders. In addition, coaches are required to have intrapersonal knowledge and a clear understanding of what they do in practice and the skills required to engage in reflective practice to learn from their practice, develop and continue to learn (Gilbert et al., 2004; Nash et al., 2006; Côté & Gilbert, 2009; Cassidy et al., 2009; Nash et al., 2009; Cushion et al., 2009).

The football coaches' role is complex and multifaceted, which includes various components that require coaches to develop an adequate amount of knowledge so that they can; plan coaching sessions, improve both individual and team performance, correct technique, employ the principles of play, strategies, tactics, apply styles of play and systems of play alongside understanding the physiological, psychological and sociological aspects of the sport (Griffey & Housner, 1991; Lyle, 1999; Nash et al., 2006; Wright et al., 2007; MacDonald, & Côté, 2008; Stoszkowskia et al., 2015; Stodter et al., 2017; Walker et al., 2019).

Nash and Collins, (2006) proposed an interaction model of coaching knowledge (figure 2.1, adapted from Kreber & Cranton, 1997). This model illustrates how coaches gain and build knowledge across three components: knowledge of the game, knowledge of teaching and learning, and knowledge of the scientific principles. Furthermore, it highlights how each of the components interacts. Consequently, if coaches develop knowledge in one of the components it can have a significant impact on their knowledge across the other components.



Figure 2.1. The interaction model of coaching knowledge (Nash & Collins, 2006).

The model, suggests that coaches acquire declarative knowledge, forming a solid base of knowledge before developing and building procedural knowledge, through applying and reflecting on knowledge in practice through their coaching experiences. Declarative knowledge is defined as understanding "what to do" and developing knowledge around the aims and objectives of the game such as laws, principles, tactics, and techniques. Whereas, procedural knowledge is understanding "how to do it" and the pedagogical processes associated with applying the aims and objectives within a given context (Pintrich, Wolters, & Baxter, 2000; Veenman et al., 2006; Nast et al., 2006; French & Thomas, 1987; Kreber et al., 1997; 2000; Kannekens, Elferink-Gemser & Visscher, 2009; Stodter et al., 2017; Walker et al., 2019).

The final area within the model is tacit knowledge. Many coaches may gain a good level of knowledge within their coaching practice but may never display the higher-order characteristics of a competent practitioner or the skills in practice associated with tacit knowledge. Tacit or craft knowledge is seen as something that emerges from the direct experience of the contextual and complicated multi-dimensional realities of coaching practice (Brown & McIntyre 1986; Nash et al., 2006). Coaches may not reach the tacit knowledge stage but through experience, learning and reflection may develop the knowledge to understand when and why to use the declarative procedural knowledge known as conditional knowledge. Conditional knowledge derives from metacognition research within the classification of knowledge found in the long-term memory and is the third type of knowledge that will be examined further later in the chapter (MacIntyre, Igou, Campbell, Moran,

& Matthews, 2014; Werthner et al., Trudel, 2006; Cushion, Armour & Jones, 2003; Chi, 1997; McPherson & Vickers 2004; McPherson, 1994; McPherson & Kernodle, 2007; Thomas & Thomas, 1994; Price et al., 2019; 2020).

Sport-Specific Knowledge

As discussed above, sport-specific knowledge such as techniques and tactics are a key requirement for coaches, especially at Level 3, and the development of this knowledge is a significant focus of the thesis (Nash & Collins, 2006; Abraham et al., 2006; Côté & Gilbert, 2009). Therefore, this section of the chapter explores the literature upon several concepts which form sport-specific tactical knowledge in football. However, when reviewing the academic literature, it is to be noted that there is a dearth of academic resources and peer-reviewed journals covering the concepts of technical and tactical knowledge. Therefore, the concepts of tactical knowledge are drawn from academic literature, technical reports, the Level 3 coaching syllabus, analysis provider reports, popular contemporary approaches, and commercial texts (i.e., Wade, 1967; Delgado-Bordonau & Villaneva, 2012). Moreover, the design and development of a conceptual model and framework (see chapter 3) were paramount in bringing the concepts together for the thesis (Nash et al., 2006; Price et al., 2019; 2020; Grehaigne, Richard, & Griffin, 2005; Pill, 2014; The FA, 2016; Delgado-Bordonau & Villaneva, Villaneva, 2012).

Tactical Periodization

Several top coaches across Europe such as Jose Mourinho, Pepe Guardiola, Jürgen Klopp, Marcelo Bielsa, Andre Villas-Boas and Carlos Queiroz have started to apply a more methodological and pedagogical approach to their coaching and training methods within football defined as Tactical Periodization (Delgado Bordonau & Villaneva, 2012; 2016; 2018; Frade, 2004; Tee, Ashford & Piggott, 2018). Early research in Tactical Periodization has been shaped by academics across both Portugal and Spain, and in recent times it has become one of the more contemporary methods of training football at the top level of the game. Although evidence on this contemporary approach is limited, it has become of interest to both coaches and academics alike (Martins, 2003; Frade, 2004; Casarin & Oliveira, 2010; Tamarit, 2015; Delgado Bordonau et al., 2012; Aquino, Cruz Gonçalves, Palucci, Oliveira, Alves, Santiago & Puggina, 2016).

More recently, Tactical Periodization has started to emerge and been adopted in several other sports such as Tennis (Crespo, 2011) and Rugby Union (Robertson & Joyce, 2015; Tee et al., 2018) with England Rugby Union Head Coach, Eddie Jones, becoming an enthusiast of the contemporary method of training, implementing the approach within the current England set-up (Jones, 2017; Tee et al., 2018).

Tactical Periodization has been identified by coaches and some academics as a favourable approach to address the complex process of coaching match play. The key principle around Tactical Periodization theory suggests that the tactical concepts of the game should be the main focus, as every technical and physical action in football has an intended tactical outcome (Garganta & Pinto, 1998; Oliveira, 2004; Frade, 2004; Gaiteiro, 2006; Delgado-Bordonau et al., 2012; 2018; Aquino, 2016; Casarin et al., 2010). The holistic approach to training and match preparation encompasses the idea that tactical, technical, mental, and physical components should not be trained in isolation and should be integrated simultaneously, with every training practice planned and delivered around at least one of the four moments of the game (see figure 2.3 below) (Martins, 2003; Frade, 2004; Gaiteiro, 2006; Delgado-Bordonau et al., 2012, 2018; Tamarit, 2015; Tee, et al., 2018; Garganta et al., 1998; Oliveira, 2004; Aquino, 2016; Casarin et al., 2010; Verheijen, 2014).

The Game Model

An integral part of Tactical Periodization is the development of a Game Model. Each coach is required to develop a Game Model (GM) that is specific to them and based on their tactical knowledge, scientific principles, teaching and learning pedagogy, and their vision of the game (i.e., preferred system of play, style of play, and desired strategies and tactics). The creation of a clear GM or shared mental model allows a coach to operationalise their system and styles of play at the team, unit, and individual levels. Furthermore, it will help reduce player uncertainty in terms of their

roles and responsibilities, consequently improving the team's tactical cohesion (Martins, 2003; Frade, 2004; Casarin et al., 2010; Delgado-Bordonau et al., 2012; 2018; Tamarit, 2015; Tee et al., 2018; Aquino, 2016; Giske et al., 2015; Price et al., 2019; 2020; Richards et al., 2012; 2017). DelgadoBordonau et al., (2012; 2018) highlighted 7 key concepts that require careful consideration for a coach when developing a GM (see figure 2.2). The 7 key concepts of the Game Model are moments of the game; principles, and sub-principles of play, structural organisation, the coach's ideas; the club's structure and aims, club and country football culture; and players' capabilities.



Figure 2.2. Factors that influence in designing and building up a Game Model (Delgado-Bordonau et al., 2012; Adapted from Oliveira, G. 2007).

Moments of the game

Tactical Periodization theory suggests that all football tactics and strategies should be learned and built around the logical structure of the game, which are defined as 'The moments of the game'. Frade (2004), Delgado-Bordonau, et al., (2012; 2018), Casarin et al., (2010), and Oliveira (2004; 2014) define four key moments of a game: Offensive Organisation, Defensive Organisation, and Transition from defence to attack, and Transition from attack to defence, see figure 2.3.



Figure 2.3. Moments of the Game (Delgado-Bordonau & Mendez-Villanueva, 2012).

The moments of the game are a significant factor when designing a GM. A coach must clearly define their GM, style and system of play, and identify how they want the team to apply themselves in each of the four moments of the game. The key part of Tactical Periodization is the inclusion of at least one moment within every training session (Martins, 2003; Frade, 2004; Gaiteiro,2006; DelgadoBordonau et al., 2012; 2018; Tamarit, 2015; Tee et al., 2018). In addition, coach education courses utilise four moments of the game such as in possession, out of possession, exploit the counter-attack (Transition) and defend the counter-attack (Transition) to develop the learners' game knowledge (Bootroom, 2020; FA Education, 2016). Additional research into the moments of the game has highlighted that set plays form a significant part of the game, with circa 30% of goal scoring opportunities created through set plays. Researchers have proposed that the model be updated to include this fifth moment of the game shown in figure 2.4 (Hewitt, Greenham & Norton, 2016; Fernandez-Navarro, Fradua, Zubillaga, Ford & McRobert, 2016; 2018).



Figure 2.4. Five moments of play (Hewitt, Greenham & Norton, 2016).

Moreover, retrospective analysis of England's successful 2018 World Cup campaign as semi-finalists, reported that 75% of England's goals resulted from set plays, with only 3 out of 12 goals scored from open play. This further highlights the importance of set plays in the modern game for certain teams (FIFA technical report, 2019).

Principles of Play in Football

Within team invasion games such as football, several fundamental principles of play have been identified. Football principles of play are split into three main moments of the game; attacking, defending, and transition. Principles of play are the fundamental components of game understanding and are initially introduced during the Level 1 coaching award, and further developed during each subsequent awards (e.g. Level 2, UEFA B, UEFA A) (Wade; 1967; 1996; Lago-Ballesteros & Lago-Penas, 2010; Tenga & Sigmundstad, 2011; Ward & Griggs, 2011; The Football Association, 2016).

The principles of play were established by Wade (1967), the Director of Coaching for the Football Association, who developed a guide to training and coaching. His principles of play concept included three principle phases of the game: (1) Attacking, (2) Defending, and (3) Preparation or midfield. This approach transformed how coaches and managers around the world viewed the game and have also been applied to other invasion-based sports (Wade, 1967; 1996; Ward et al., 2011). Wade (1967) developed five key principles of play for both attacking and defending moments of the game; for each attacking principle of play, there was a counteracting defending principle, shown in table 2.1. The principles of play are regarded as the fundamental foundations on which effective attacking and defensive team play is built (Wade, 1967; 1996).

Attacking Principles	Defending Principles
Penetration	Delay
Depth (Support)	Depth
Width	Concentration
Mobility	Balance
Improvisation	Control / Restraint

Table 2.1. Principles of Play Wade (1967) updated (1996).

The principle of depth originally sat across both the attacking and defending principles but was later updated and amended to 'support' which reflected both height and depth requirements of attacking play (Wade, 1996).

The attacking principles of play are applied when a team is in possession of the ball and are attempting an attack, through gaining territory with the maintenance of possession to create a goalscoring opportunity (Wade, 1967; 1996; Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2016; Ward et al., 2011; Hewitt, Greenham & Norton, 2016). Within coach education programmes, five significant attacking principles of play are taught; Creativity (Improvisation), Support, Movement (Mobility), Create-space and Penetration (Table 2.2).

Attacking Principles of Play	Definition
Penetration	The intelligent use of possession, support, and movement to enter scoring areas with accuracy, timing, and often deception. Teams will employ different playing styles, formations, strategies, tactics, and skills to achieve this end.
Support	The ability of a team to provide passing outlets for the player in possession and is the key to team ball retention.
Creating Space	The ability of a team to spread out from side to side and end to end to create as much space as possible in which to pass to others or to travel with the ball.

Table 2.2. Principles of Attacking Play (Wade, 1967; 1996; The FA, 2016).

Movement	The intelligent and calculated movements of players to create opportunities to receive or for others to receive the ball whilst trying to dis-organise the opposition.
Creativity	The individual and combined activity of players to perform unexpected skills that often eliminate opponents at appropriate moments in the game.

Through these attacking principles, coaches require players to position themselves strategically around the pitch to increase the surface area of the pitch by creating and maintaining height, width, and depth. Teams aim to dis-organise and unbalance the opposition in critical areas of the pitch to exploit the space created to produce a goal-scoring opportunity (Wade, 1996; Bangsbo, 2000; Piltz & Launder, 2013; Clemente, 2012; Clemente, Martins, Kalamaras, Wong & Mendes, 2014; Hewitt et al., 2016; Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2016).

In contrast, defensive principles of play are established when a team is without possession of the ball. The defensive principles taught on coach education include; Press, Delay, Cover and Balance, Compactness and Control, and Restraint (Table 2.3) (Wade, 1996; Hewitt et al., 2016; The FA, 2016; Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2016; Clemente et al., 2014; Ward et al., 2011).

Defending Principles of Play	Definition
Press	The arrangements and activity of players reduce opportunities for the opposition to pass to or run forward and restrict their options through immediate pressure.
Delay	The activity of defenders and defensive structures in reducing time, space, and opportunities for opponents to penetrate the defence and gain entry into goal-scoring positions.
Compactness	The grouping of players and units around the ball and the specific organisation of players between the ball and the goal, reduce goal scoring opportunities.
Balance	The capability of a team to cover significant spaces that may be used by opponents in build-up play, when not engaged in pressing, challenging, marking, covering, or tracking duties
Control / Restraint	The adoption of composure, awareness, and sound judgement, allied with understanding priority responsibility and risk.

Table 2.3. Principles of Defending Play (Wade, 1967; 1996; The FA, 2016).

Defending teams aim to achieve a balanced defence through an organised structure designed to reduce space and time by restricting the opposition to certain parts of the pitch, ultimately regaining possession. The team out of possession are required to delay the attacking team from moving forward into what are considered dangerous areas of the pitch, while at the same time attempting to take up effective strategic positions. Once the team is in an organised position, the aim is to restrict the attacking team's time on the ball by applying pressure and limiting the attacking team's passing options by increasing the numerical advantage in key parts of the pitch. Once this is achieved, the team will aim to force the attacking team into areas away from goal into less dangerous areas of the pitch to thwart goal-scoring opportunities while attempting to regain possession (Wade, 1996; Bangsbo & Peitersen, 2002; Piltz & Launder, 2013; Clemente et al., 2014; Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2016).

The third phase proposed by Wade (1967) is the preparation or midfield phase; this was subsequently adapted into a transition phase. Transition is the final important principle of play and is defined as how a team alternates from in possession to out of possession and from out of possession to in possession (Hewitt et al., 2016; The FA, 2016; Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2016; Hughes & Lovell, 2018). Table 2.4 highlights the two main principles of transition concepts that include counterattacking and defending the counter-attack.

Transition Principles of Play	Definition
Counter Attack	The ability of a team to regain the ball and attack the opposition quickly utilising the spaces and players available with quick forward passing, running, with early and quick support to create goal-scoring opportunities.
Defending the Counter Attack	During all aspects of the in-possession strategies, defensive security should be considered. Awareness of defensive security ensures the team remains organised at all times and can react effectively when the ball is lost. All players contribute to ensuring defensive security, in particular the goalkeeper through effective positioning, organisation, and communication.

Table 2.4. Transition Principles of play (adapted from Wade, 1996 & The FA, 2016).

In the transition from attack to defence, a team is often disorganised and is attempting to regain a balanced, defensive structure through effective recovery runs, while at the same time trying to delay the attack by restricting the opposition's time and space. During the transition from defence to attack, a team is attempting to exploit the opposition's disorganised state through quick forward play to exploit the space, which has been exposed by the opposition (Hewitt et al., 2016; The FA, 2016; Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2016; Hughes & Lovell, 2018; Malta & Travassos, 2014; Almeida, Ferreira & Volossovitch, 2014).

The principles of play are subsequently broken down into the four moments of the game. Each of the four moments of the game is broken into principles, sub-principles, and subsubprinciples to reduce the complexity for both coaches and players. The sub-principles are the specific details for each moment of the game; they allow the coach to operationalise their GM by working with players at team, unit, and individual levels to develop their understanding in each moment (Mallo, 2015; Oliveria, 2014; Martins, 2003; Frade, 2004; Gaiteiro,2006; Delgado-Bordonau et al., 2012; 2018; Tamarit, 2015).

For players to perform the most appropriate tactical action at the right moment in a constantly changing environment, the coach is attempting to simulate potential constraints to develop players' knowledge that subsequently improve their actions, anticipation and decision-making skills (Price et al., 2019; 2020). Every training session is designed around the coach's GM and specific tactical moment of the game. Through the repetition of the principles and sub-principles of a specific moment of the game, players understand the desired behaviours and transform tactical training patterns into match play (Haggard & Libet, 2001; McCrone, 2002; Oliveira, 2003; Martins, 2003; Frade, 2004; Delgado-Bordonau et al., 2012; Tamarit, 2015).

Strategies & Tactics

Instead of the sub-principles of play, strategies and tactics are considered more appropriate concepts to consider and are applied by coaches across coach education and professional game. Strategies and tactics are two very important aspects of team play that are often misconceived terms within football. A strategy can be described as the plan of action that achieves an overall outcome or approach to a game, whereas tactics are the means to achieve the overall aim or outcome (Gréhaigne & Godbout, 1995; Gréhaigne, Godbout, & Bouthier, 1999; Bouthier, 1988; Yiannakos & Armatas, 2006; Carling et al., 2007; Price et al., 2020).

Space, time and organisation have been highlighted as challenges posed by invasion games such as football (Gréhaigne, Bouthier, David, 1997; O'Donoghue, 2008; Garganta, 2009). Strategies and tactics assist coaches to devise a plan of action to combat the challenges presented by dynamical systems (Gréhaigne et al., 1997). The concept of 'dynamical system' is used to describe a system whose actions are the cause of self-organising properties (McGarry & Perl 2004). Football is characterised as a dynamical system as it involves two opposing teams challenging and directly interacting against each other, both trying to achieve the same objectives, which is to score goals whilst at the same time preventing the opposition from scoring, to win the game (O'Donoghue, 2008; Garganta, 2009).

To model a dynamic system like football, a coach is required to map out all the moments of the game, input and output actions, and behaviours alongside how the components interact (Garganta 2009). Dynamical systems theory has been used to describe the interaction between two teams and how perturbations within games change the rhythmic flow of attacking, transition and defending (Gréhaigne et al., 1997; McGarry, Anderson, Wallace, Hughes, & Franks, 2002). Dynamical systems such as football cannot be exclusively predicted using static description tools as there are too many game variables that can have a significant impact upon the outcome of the game, such as an early goal, refereeing decision, player injury, a player sent off, home advantage, the score line, time left in the game, the weather or the type of match (Gréhaigne et al., 1997; Garganta, 2009).

Strategies and tactics employed by coaches before and during games have a significant impact on a team's performance and subsequently can influence the outcome of the game. The predetermined strategies and tactics impact how the whole team, primary units, secondary units and individual players all interact to form tactical decisions (Yiannakos et al., 2006; Carling et al., 2007;

Hewitt et al., 2016; Tamarit, 2015; Delgado-Bordonau et al., 2012; Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2016; Rein & Memmert, 2016; Price et al., 2020).

The team's strategy and specific playing styles inform the team's functional organisation, often described as either formation or system of play and will be built around the principles of play. Tactics are the instructions provided by coaches to influence their team's strategy and playing style. How coaches employ tactics will determine how the individual players, units and team manage the factors of space and time (Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2016; Garganta, 2009; Grehaigne et al., 1995; Grehaigne et al., 1997; Rein & Memmert, 2016; Price et al., 2020). The specific tactics employed by coaches during games can be described as voluntary actions to be executed when a team is either in or out of possession or transition, however, these actions are significantly influenced by the quality of opposition, home advantage, score line, time left in the game, and/or numerical advantage. Coaches often change or amend tactics during a game to exploit a specific situation or cause a perturbation to gain an advantage (Garganta, 2009; Grehaigne et al., 1995; 1997; Rein & Memmert, 2016; Price et al., 2020).

A perturbation is a term used in dynamical systems to define how a coach can change the rhythmic flow of the game by disrupting the behaviour. A perturbation can be described as any incident that consequently changes the expected balance of a game in terms of attacking, defending and transition (Hughes, Dawkins, David, Mills, 1998; Garganta, 2010; O'Donoghue 2009). Figure 2.5 highlights the role of opposition in the dynamics of sports games.



Figure 2.5. The role of opposition in the dynamics of sports games (adapted from Grehaigne *et al.*,

1997: In O' Donoghue 2009).

In addition, it demonstrates how coaches could change or make an impact on game dynamics depending upon the score line and time remaining. The attacking team can be described as the actors trying to destabilise the opposition by applying the attacking principles of play to create an imbalance in opposition defence and exploit opportunities. In contrast, the defending team can be described as the reactors trying to re-stabilise the current state of the game through the application of the defending principles (Hughes et al., 2010; McGarry et al., 2002; Gréhaigne et al., 1997). Coaches apply knowledge and experience to identify trends, match consistencies and/or in-game strengths and weaknesses of the opposition to help to minimise random features of gameplay or exploit opportunities. Through the application of appropriate strategies and tactics, they cause or stop perturbations, with attacking players more likely to cause a perturbation. Moreover, the coaches desired tactics play a vital role in informing team, subsidiary units and individual player tactical decision-making before and during games, and impact upon the game behaviours and outcomes that create perturbations (Gréhaigne et al., 1997; McGarry et al., 2002; Garganta, 2009; Price et al., 2019; 2020; Lames & Hansen, 2001; Hughes et al., 1998).

Structural Organisation (Systems of play)

The terms structural organisation, formation or system of play refers to the spatial arrangement of the team's individual players on the pitch. Positions are split into three tactical groupings or subsidiary units such as defenders, midfielders, and attackers (Müller-Budack, Theiner, Rein & Ewerth, 2019; Wilson, 2010; Bialkowski, Lucey, Carr, Matthews, Sridharan & Fookes, 2016; FA Education, 2017; Memmert, Raabe, Schwab & Rein 2019). The different combinations of players in these set roles describe the different formations and are traditional methods of characterising the teams' organisation. Several common formations employed within the Premier League during the 2019 and 2020 season include 1-4-4-2; 1-4-2-3-1; 1-3-5-2, and 1-4-3-3. For example, 1-4-3-3 includes, in principle, a goalkeeper, defending unit of four, a midfield unit of three, and an attacking unit of three

(shown in Figure 2.6). The static role representation demonstrates a team's aspirations to play a more attacking or defensive strategy.



Figure 2.6. Example of a 1-4-3-3 System of Play.

Individual player positions, roles, and responsibilities are influenced by the coach's interpretation, knowledge of the game, and style of play, and how they impact their tactics, strategies, and behaviours when attacking and defending. The static notation or numerical schemes describing a team's formation such as 1-4-3-3 and 1-4-4-2 is a convenient approach to generalise the organisation of the tactical grouping of players, however, this approach is too simplistic and does not reflect the dynamical nature of football, with players constantly interchanging and switching roles based on the player and ball location (Müller-Budack et al., 2019; Bialkowski et al., 2016; Wilson, 2010; Bangsbo & Peitersen, 2000; Memmert et al., 2019).

Moreover, scholars have recognised the approaches to formation classification assume stable formations for the duration of a game. The generalisation of formations does not account for changes in player roles and responsibilities during different moments of the game. The term 'system of play' rather than formation is a more appropriate term, as it takes into account the dynamical nature of the team's movement in and out of possession. For example, when discussing Barcelona's identity and system of play, it is identified from a static notion as 1-4-3-3, which would be their preferred system in possession of the ball. However, out of possession, Barcelona drop into a 1-4-4-2 or a 1-2-4-4
system depending on from which area of the pitch they are attempting to regain ball possession (Lucey, Bialkowski, Carr, Morgan, Matthews & Sheikh, 2013; Machado, Leite, Moura, Cunha, Sadlo & Comba, 2017; Müller-Budack et al., 2019; Bialkowski et al., 2016; Memmert et al., 2019).

Recent research has attempted to explore systems of play and detect system changes when teams are in or out of possession. Studies presented several analytical tools that identify in-game variations and distinguish between in and out of possession formations (Bialkowski et al., 2016; Wu, Xie, Wang, Deng, Liang, Zhang, Cheng & Chen, 2019; Machado et al., 2017; Müller-Budack et al., 2019; Memmert et al., 2019). Current analytical providers have started using tracking data, such as GPS, to cluster a team's overall positions within games, with several reports highlighting a team's overall average positions in and out of possession. For example, when analysing Pep Guardiola's system of play at Manchester City, although characterised as playing a 1-4-3-3, in possession the system changes to a 1-2-3-2-3, 1-3-2-2-3, or a 1-2-2-4-2 depending on the players on the pitch. This approach appears to be a modern interpretation of the WM or MW Metodo devised by Pozzo, the coach of Italy in the 1930s, which he adapted from the Danubian system, which was based on the 12– 3–5 formation (Wilson, 2010; Memmert et al., 2019; Delgado-Bordonau, & Mendez-Villanueva, 2016; 2019).

Exploring the Wyscout match report of Manchester City Vs Arsenal on 17th June 2020, the first game back for both teams since the outbreak of Covid-19 highlights Manchester City's average team position as 2-4-2-2 or, if sticking to three units, a 2-4-4 (Figure 2.7).



Figure 2.7. Match report Average positions – Manchester City Vs Arsenal (Wyscout Match Report, 17/06/2020).

However, when presenting Manchester City's system of play at different time frames in Figure 2.8, they present a static spatial 4-3-3 system.



Figure 2.8. Match Report – Spatial positions reported Manchester City Vs Arsenal (17/06/2020).

For a coach to develop a greater understanding and application of systems, it would be beneficial if match analysis reports included in-game variations and distinguish between in possession and out of possession systems to provide coaches information on how systems change in different moments and phases of the game (Bialkowski et al., 2016; Wu et al., 2019; Machado et al., 2017; Müller-Budack et al., 2019; Memmert et al., 2019).

Coach's ideas

The coaches' ideas form an integral part in designing a GM as it relates to how a coach views the game and wants their team to play. A coach's beliefs, principles of play and preferred styles and systems of play will impact their GM (Martins, 2003; Frade, 2004; Gaiteiro,2006; Delgado-Bordonau et al., 2012; 2018; Tamarit, 2015; Tee et al., 2018).

Styles of Play

A style of play can be referred to as the overall behaviour of the whole team to achieve the teams' objectives during the game when attacking or defending (Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2016). Although styles of play are considered within the coach's ideas section by Delgado-Bordonau et al., (2012; 2018), styles of play require further attention for a coach when developing their tactical knowledge. Teams employ specific tactical behaviours that inform the teams' in and out of possession strategies, with teams tending to utilise a specific style of play when attacking and another when defending. The style of play imposed on the teams' behaviours will be influenced by the coach and their coaching ideas (Pollard, Reep, & Hartley, 1988; Pollard & Reep, 1997; Hewitt et al., 2016; Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2018; Nelson et al., Collins, 2006; Carless & Douglas, 2011).

Current literature portrays several attacking and defending styles of play. Attacking playing styles include playing out from the back, build-up play, playing through the thirds, playing direct, possession-based, maintenance, total football, Tika-Taka, playing in wide areas (crossing), counterattacking, fast tempo, sustained threat, retaining the ball to build the play, progress and

penetration. In contrast, examples of defending playing styles include high press, mid press, low press defending deep and forcing play, counter-pressing and low block. However, several of the defensive styles are dependent upon the area of the pitch to which a team chooses to apply defensive pressure (i.e., a lowblock would be in the defensive third). In addition, as possession may be lost or gained at any stage of the attack or defence, some authors have suggested transition as a third style of play with counterattacking and counter-pressing highlighted as two styles that could fall under this classification, however, further investigation is required (Bate, 1988; Garganta, Maia, & Basto, 1997; Hughes & Franks, 2005a; Olsen & Larsen, 1997; Redwood-Brown, 2008; Ruiz-Ruiz et al., 2013; Travassos, Davids, Araujo, & Esteves, 2013; Bangsbo & Peitersen, 2000; Hewitt et al., 2016; Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2016; 2018; The FA, 2016; Duarte, Araujo, Correia, & Davids, 2012; James, Mellalieu, & Hollely, 2002; Lago-Peñas, Lago-Ballesteros, & Rey, 2011; Tenga, Holme, Ronglan, & Bahr, 2010a; 2010b; Tenga & Sigmundstad, 2011).

A criticism of the literature is the misinterpretation of some concepts, a lack of clear definitions and conflicting assumptions across studies and definitions. Furthermore, coaches need to be aware of how styles may need to be flexible in their approach across all levels of the game. There are too many variables and degrees of freedom in football to suggest a definitive style of play will guarantee success. However, research suggests that to increase the chance of success, an effective style of play employed by a coach enhances the player characteristics and strengths, and one which considers the opposition's game approach (Reep & Benjamin, 1968; Tenga & Larsen 2003; Hughes & Franks, 2005a; Lago, 2009; Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2018; Prince et al., 2020). Although a coach may have a preferred style of play in and out of possession, they might also need to consider several other game variables, such as player capabilities, home advantage, winning vs development (domain), the type of match, score line, time left in the game, a player sent off, player injury, weather or pitch condition (Gréhaigne et al., 1997; Garganta, 2009).

Player capabilities and characteristics

Another key aspect of the GM for a coach to consider is the player capabilities, identifying individual players' strengths, physical characteristics, technical ability, and game understanding. This informs decisions on the style and system of play that suits all players and enhances the chance of achieving desired outcomes. Likewise, the recruitment of players with the desired characteristics that suit the coaches' style of play needs to be carefully considered (Martins, 2003; Frade, 2004; Delgado Bordonau et al., 2012; 2018; Tamarit, 2015; Tee et al., 2018).

The technical and tactical skills form an important aspect of the game with effective execution of ball control, passing, dribbling, shooting, and heading skills deemed critical for successful performance in football. These technical and tactical skills are fundamental to certain styles of play, for example, a possession-based approach would require players to have good ball control and passing execution for a team to maintain sustained periods of possession required to break down the opposition. More specifically, in terms of positional characteristics, a coach may want a centre back who is physically strong and has other physical attributes such as power and speed to defend, while also being technically good on the ball to play out. Conversely, other coaches might favour players with other technical characteristics, such as good dribbling skills as this may be more appropriate for their preferred style of play (Bangsbo, 1994; Reilly, Bangsbo, & Franks, 2000a; Rienzi et al., 2000; Reilly, 2001; Christensen, 2009; Ericsson et al, 1993; Rienzi, Drust, Reilly, Carter, & Martin, 2000; Reilly, Williams, Nevill, & Franks, 200b).

In addition, a coach may prefer players with physiological characteristics such as advanced aerobic or anaerobic capabilities to meet the high intensity or intermittent demands that a player would require in a high-pressing style of play. Likewise, they may want a player who can run boxtobox such as a central midfield player or winger in a more direct or counter-attacking approach (Hoff, 2005; Mohr, Krustrup, & Bangsbo, 2005; Lawrence, 2010; Christenson, 2009; Bangsbo, 1994; Reilly et al., 2000a; Rienzi et al., 2000; Reilly et al., 2000b; Baptista, Travassos, Gonçalves, Mourão, Viana, & Sampaio, 2018).

Club and Country football culture

The final two factors within Delgado-Bordonau et al., (2012) GM do not fall under the tactical knowledge concepts, however, both have a significant impact on the tactical concepts in practice for a coach to consider. The Club and Country football culture, which refers to expected approaches and trends in a specific league and/or team. Different countries have cultural aspects associated with football that impact how teams approach the game. For example, in general, Spanish football is based upon maintaining possession with slower build-up play, while Italian football is generally based on strong defensive organisation. English football can be seen as a more direct, hardworking, and end-to-end approach (Wilson, 2010). However, not all teams within a league may have the same approach or fit the cultural views and employ a common approach. For example, under Pep Guardiola (Manchester City FC) the cultural approach is based around a slower build-up play and maintaining possession style, which attempts to dominate in-game possession. This approach has become a common trend across several football clubs within the Premier League and English Football League (EFL) over the last few seasons, as opposed to the more direct style of play associated with English football in previous decades.

The possession-based approach is mirrored by the Football Association and has become the National teams' identity across all the England teams (Male, Female, and Youth) under the England 'DNA', which is attempting to create a common culture. Their aim is "to dominate possession intelligently, selecting the right moments to progress the play and penetrate the opposition" (Bootroom, 2017; Martins, 2003; Frade, 2004; Delgado-Bordonau et al., 2012; 2018; Tamarit, 2015; Tee et al., 2018; Aquino, 2016).

Club structure & aim

The final factor for a coach to consider is the club structure, overall aim and season objectives such as winning the league, finishing mid-table, avoiding relegation, playing an attractive style of football, and/or developing youth players. In addition to the coach's ideas, their values and beliefs have a significant impact on the club's cultural aims so that they can achieve their desired objectives. A coach needs to be aware of the club's culture and identity when designing their GM or explore which clubs align with their approach and how they view the game. A further consideration for both the coach and club is whether or not a coach's GM suits or aligns with the club's aims and objectives, alongside the current players at the club (Martins, 2003; Frade, 2004; Gaiteiro, 2006; Delgado Bordonau et al., 2012; 2018; Tamarit, 2015; Tee et al., 2018).

How Coaches Acquire Knowledge?

A considerable number of coach learning studies come from a "social constructivist" perspective, whereby coaches are deemed to construct knowledge through both formal and nonformal learning platforms. Furthermore, coaches develop their knowledge through a vast range of different forms of learning and experiences (Vosniadou & Kollias, 2003; Trudel et al., 2004; Nash et al., 2006; Cushion, 2011; Gilbert, et al., 2009; Stoszkowskia et al., 2015). Although there is limited research providing critical insight into the how, what, when and why coaches learn, several studies suggest that coaches develop skills and knowledge through a multifaceted combination of their different experiences (Piggott, 2013; Werthner & Trudel, 2009). The main sources of learning identified have been: first-hand practical playing and coaching experience, coach education courses, peer interaction, working with more experienced coaches, mentoring, and, more recently, social media (Trudel et al., 2004; Culver et al., 2006; Deek, Werthner, Paquette & Culver, 2013; LaraBercial & Mallett, 2016; Søvik, Tjomsland, Larsen, Samdal & Wold, 2017; Stodter et al., 2017; Walker et al., 2018).

The Football Association (FA) delivers coach education programmes across four levels and are considered key to the enhancement and development of coach knowledge. In 2016 The FA relaunched the Level 1 and 2 coaching courses after a strategic review, and in 2017 The FA launched the new Level 3 in coaching football (FA Education, 2017). The course allows learners to build on previous knowledge with a specific focus on the player, the team, and coach development (McCallum, 2017; FA Level 3 in Coaching Football, 2016). The course includes nine days of face-to-face theoretical and practical workshops delivered over nine months as four distinct blocks of learning. The course is built around the England DNA; How We Play, The Future Player, How We Coach, and How We Support (FA Education, 2016). The Level 3 course also includes three support visits from

the tutors between the blocks so that the coach's development can be observed and developed in their environment.

The FA designed the new coaching pathway based upon a constructivist approach that places coaches at the centre of the learning process rather than indoctrination-style, whereby coach educators pass on their coaching knowledge and deliver a standardised way of coaching. This approach was seen as prescribing 'the right way to coach' which equips candidates with the skills to pass the course and to satisfy the coaching competency criteria set by the governing body (Cushion & Nelson, 2013; Abraham & Collins, 1998; Entwistle & Peterson, 2004). Coaches construct knowledge and meaning from their experiences and relate them to their coaching context as research suggests that the development of knowledge is more effectively achieved when learners engage and are involved in the learning process. The course aims to refine and develop coaching practice, through supporting coaches to understand the importance of effective planning and session design, alongside reflective practice to meet the holistic needs of their players (Light & Wallian, 2008; Light & Evans, 2010; Chapman, Richardson, Cope & Cronin, 2019).

Sport-specific knowledge (i.e., tactical, technical) and decision making have been identified as fundamental elements of dynamic team sports such as football and form a key part of the course content. Research suggests that coaches require a skill set that allows them to make instructive choices and tactical decisions in dynamically changing situations (Gréhaigne et al, 1999; Nash & Collins, 2006; Kaya, 2014; Horrocks et al., 2016). Although there is limited evidence to support how coaches develop tactical awareness, game understanding, and decision-making skills, several studies advocate that coaches develop knowledge and coaching skill through their own authentic coaching experiences (Kaya, 2014; Gilbert et al., 2004; Côté, 2006; Nash et al., 2006; Vergeer & Lyle, 2009). Moreover, once a coach completes a block of learning on the coaching course, their main source of knowledge within this period of development depends mostly on their own experience alongside observing and working with other coaches. Therefore, what coaches learn from coaching courses appears to be individualised to each coach, with each taking away different aspects of knowledge

from a course to add to their practice. Hence, the best way to understand what and how coaches learn is to observe and monitor coaches in their natural environment over a sustained period (Vosniadou & Kollias, 2003; Nash et al., 2006; Cushion, 2011; Gilbert et al., 2009; Stoszkowskia et al., 2015; Walker et al., 2018; Wright, Trudel & Culver, 2007; Stodter et al., 2017; 2020; Trudel, et al., 2010; Piggott, 2013; Cushion et al., 2013).

Metacognition

Metacognition is the understanding of cognition and the controlling of cognition (Flavell, 1979; Ozturk, 2017). It is the awareness and understanding of one's knowledge and the ability to control and understand one's cognitive thought processes (Flavell, 1979; Ozturk, 2017; Michalsky, Mevarech, & Haibi, 2009; Veenman, Bavelaar, De Wolf & Van Haaren, 2014; McPherson, 1994; 2000; MacIntyre et al., 2014; Chi, 1997; McPherson & Vickers 2004; McPherson, 1994; McPherson & Kernodle, 2007; Price et al., 2019; 2020; French & McPherson, 2004).

To understand the concept of metacognition, it is important to understand the three knowledge components of declarative, procedural, and conditional knowledge. Declarative knowledge is an individual's awareness of what to do and affects their cognitions which includes a task, strategy, variables, or people. Within a football context, this knowledge would include the laws of the game, technical action, and executions, and players' playing capabilities, for example, understanding what the attacking principles of play are (Veenman et al., 2006; 2014; Nash et al., 2006; Price et al., 2019; 2020; McPherson et al., 2004; 2007; McPherson, 1994).

Procedural knowledge relates to the steps that need to be performed to select the most appropriate skill or tactical action to the different skills or strategies applied within a given context. Within football, the tactical awareness would be to select the most appropriate tactical action to a particular moment in the game, for example, the strategies and tactics of how the team in possession will apply the attacking principles when playing out from the back. A coach would also need to take into account several game considerations such as players' capabilities, team units, both own team and

opposition position on the pitch, and state of the game (time remaining, score line, weather conditions) (Veenman et al., 2006; Pintrich et al., 2000; Pressley et al., 1987; Nast et al., 2006; McPherson et al., 2004; 2007; McPherson, 1994).

The final component, conditional knowledge is knowing when, why, where, and how to apply declarative and procedural knowledge in practice. Within coaching, this would be an awareness of knowing when, where, why, and how to apply different strategies and tactics in action. In addition, it involves being able to provide players with the knowledge to apply the most appropriate strategies and tactics at the correct moment, such as when to play out short or when to play a more direct approach. This will be governed by the several game considerations discussed above (MacIntyre et al., 2014; Werthner et al., 2006; Cushion et al., 2003; Thomas et al., 1994; Price et al., 2019; 2020; McPherson et al., 2004; 2007; McPherson, 1994).

Another fundamental aspect of metacognition is the regulation of cognition known as thinking about thinking. This includes three interlinked stages that impact the cognition process: planning, monitoring, and evaluation (Ozturk, 2016; Schraw, 1998 Flavell, 1979; Veenman et al., 2006; 2014; McPherson, 1994; 2000; McPherson et al., 2004; 2007). Planning refers to the set outcomes or goals of a particular match such as playing style, strategies, and tactics that guide cognitions. Monitoring involves assessing performance-in-action while mapping cognitions and actions to match outcomes and goals such as strategies and tactics to match demands (Pintrich et al., 2000; Ozturk, 2016).

Coaches need to monitor both their own and players' progress during the game, as the game will present uncertain situations where a player may have certain limitations of when and how to apply their knowledge. This is often when both the coach and player are faced with an unknown circumstance, therefore they will need to make in-action adjustments to the pre-planned strategy and tactics (Weinstein & Van Mater Stone, 1993; Price et al., 2019). Finally, evaluation refers to appraising how a situation was dealt with and what impact the action had on the situation with the outcomes of the game and the efficiency of an individual's learnings (Ozturk, 2016; Schraw, 1998).

However, there is a lack of empirical evidence in team sports supporting the application of metacognition as an approach to aid players and coaches alike to develop their strategic understanding of gameplay (McPherson et al., 2004; 2007; Dail, 2014; MacIntyre et al., 2014). The field is still a very much underexplored area of research within the coaching literature in comparison to the extensive research in the field of cognitive skills with areas such as problem-solving and decision making receiving more attention (Price et al., 2019; 2020; Kinnerk, Harvey, MacDonncha & Lyons, 2018; O'Connor, Wardack, Goodyear, Larkin, & Williams, 2018; O'Connor, Larkin, & Williams, 2018).

Price et al., (2019) used digital video games to aid player thinking and encourage them to act strategically, advocating that players' learning capabilities may be enhanced through metacognition approaches. Moreover, Price et al., (2020) explored football academy coaches' interpretations of game understanding and how coaches shared their GM or shared mental model with players to develop players' strategic understanding through metacognition coaching methods (Giske, Rodahl, & Høigaard, 2015; Price et al., 2020; Richards, Collins & Mascarenhas, 2012; 2017; Tee et al., 2018; Aquino, 2016). They highlighted that coaches struggled to acknowledge the importance of conditional knowledge bases in players' game understanding which demonstrates players' understanding of how and when to combine declarative knowledge (laws of the game, technical executions, playing capabilities) and procedural knowledge (tactical awareness to select the most appropriate action to a moment in the game). Therefore, coaches must develop conditional knowledge of the game and understand how and when to apply declarative and procedural knowledge. This will, in turn, allow players to enhance their understanding of the gameplay through applying metacognition (Price et al., 2019; 2020; 2015; Aquino, 2016; Giske et al., 2015; Tee, Ashford & Piggott, 2018).

The three studies in this thesis examined the coaches' declarative, procedural and conditional tactical knowledge at different stages of a Level 3 qualification. Study 1 (Chapter 5) explored a group of football coaches' tactical declarative and procedural knowledge, while Study 2 (Chapter 6) explored football coaches' declarative, procedural, and conditional tactical knowledge in practice,

through participant observation. The final study (Chapter 7) examined if a conceptual framework and GM could be applied as a support mechanism to develop coaches' conditional tactical knowledge in practice.

Measuring Tactical Knowledge in Practice

Coaches' lack of tactical knowledge will impact their decision-making ability to any given moment of practice or game situation and be one approach to measuring coaching knowledge. The decision-making knowledge paradigm was first presented through human cognitive processes before being adapted to measure the expertise in sport. Within cognitive psychology, decision making is developed and carried out through knowledge structures built and stored within the human memory (Anderson, 1982; Chi & Rees, 1983; French & Thomas, 1987; McPherson & Thomas, 1989).

The coaches' development and/or lack of knowledge will impact their ability to make the correct or incorrect decision within any given moment of practice or game situation. This could result in a haphazard decision-making process due to the coaches' inability to identify relevant cues (Kaya, 2014; Horrocks et al., 2016). A less experienced coach may make abrupt or inconsistent decisions in practice because of their inability to identify relevant cues. Therefore, they are unable to see the whole picture (i.e., players' positions away from the ball) which could be due to the lack of procedural and conditional knowledge (Kaya, 2014). In contrast, experts' sophisticated knowledge structures allow them to know how and when to apply this knowledge in a wide variety of situations (Singer & Janelle, 1999; Thomas & Thomas, 1994; Vergeer & Lyle, 2009; Kaya, 2014; Price et al., 2019; 2020; Lenoir, Philippaerts & Williams, 2007; Nash et al., 2006; Wright et al., 2007; MacDonald et al., Côté, 2008; Stoszkowskia et al., 2015).

Decision making is a significant attribute that may define expert or advanced coaching skills, however, a coach's decisions are often evaluated based on the outcome of the decision rather than on the intention of their choice (Kaya, 2014). Experienced coaches with developed conditional knowledge can provide information at the correct time and focus on critical aspects of performance and skill acquisition. Despite the growing recognition of the importance of decision making in the

complex process of coaching, there is still a limited amount of literature around the topic (Abraham et al., 2006; Vergeer et al., 2009; Kaya, 2014; Price et al., 2019; 2020). The vast majority of research in the field has explored the novice vs expert paradigm with little focus on intermediate level coaches and how they can develop their knowledge from novice to intermediate and then to expert (Galanter & Patel, 2005; Lyle, 2005; Vergeer & Lyle, 2009; Kaya, 2014). Some studies have explored how coaches develop knowledge and what knowledge is required to aid the decision-making process that leads to correct decisions at the appropriate time. The development of extensive tactical knowledge is considered to be a significant characteristic for coaches on their journey from novice to elite (Nash et al., 2006; Wright et al., 2007; MacDonald, & Côté, 2008; Stoszkowskia et al., 2015; Stodter et al., 2017).

Assessing coaches' knowledge on coach education courses has been and still is a challenge for coach educators. Pre 2016 courses required a coach to demonstrate specific knowledge, behaviour, and skills against set criteria. As the coach educator observed the session, they would tick off each set criteria once the coach had demonstrated the competency. At the end of the session, a coach would be deemed competent if they had ticked off each specific criteria on the checklist. The one-off isolated coaching session at the end of the course deemed whether or not the coach either passed or failed the course, and did not recognise or consider the change and application of new knowledge learned throughout the course (Cushion, et al., 2003; Cassidy, Jones & Potrac, 2004; Chesterfield et al., 2010; Chapman et al., 2019; Griffiths et al., 2016; Coldwell & Simkins, 2011; Stodter et al., 2017; Partington et al., 2013; Cushion, Ford & Williams, 2012). However, the new course approach allows coaches to demonstrate their knowledge at three different checkpoints throughout the course during the in-situ visits (Chapman et al., 2019; McCallum, 2017; FA Level 3 in Coaching Football, 2016).

To acquire a true reflection of how learning takes place and measure knowledge in formal coach education situations, research needs to consider a multi-dimensional approach and apply several methods to supplement data collection. More recent studies have applied a mixed-methods approach using participant observation, video analysis and field notes to capture coaches in their natural setting

to ascertain and measure coaches' knowledge development (Stodter et al., 2017; 2020; Chesterfield et al., 2010; Piggott, 2012; Vella, Crowe & Oades, 2013). Moreover, a critical element to consider is the coaches' pre-course baseline knowledge, changes in knowledge, and meaningful assessment to track the impact of coach education over a sustained period. Therefore, longitudinal studies could provide insight into the knowledge and behaviour change in coaches from the start to the completion of the course (Cushion et al., 2010; Metzler & Blankenship, 2008; Coldwell et al., 2011; Stodter et al., 2017; 2020).

Chapter Summary

The review of the literature illustrates that technical and tactical concepts of sport-specific knowledge are underexplored areas within the field with an absence of academic papers. This has led to educators and coaches being drawn to technical reports, coaching syllabus, analysis reports, and commercial texts to advance their knowledge. The technical and tactical concepts are areas requiring further investigation. In addition, the literature suggests that existing research has not provided adequate attention to how coaches develop tactical knowledge.

Although several authors have criticised traditional coach education courses for being too focused upon professional knowledge, recently designed coach education courses in football have seen a shift in the opposite direction (Gilbert et al., Trudel, 2004; Nash et al., 2006; Schempp, McCullick & Mason, 2006; Côté et al., 2009; Cassidy et al., 2009; Nash et al., 2009; Cushion et al., 2009). Both candidates and coach educators alike suggest the current courses do not have enough focus on sport-specific knowledge, which could have a negative impact on the Level 3 course success rate over the last few years. As of June 2019, circa 900 coaches studying the course were still deemed not yet competent and still had not completed Level 3 from the 2017/18 or 2018/19 season (FA Education, 2019).

Moreover, a Physical Education teacher would be required to study at University for four years, then teach for a year as a newly qualified teacher (NQT) before being signed off with qualified teacher status (QTS). In contrast, although it may be advantageous for coaches to develop knowledge

across the different disciplines, it is unrealistic for a coach to acquire sufficient knowledge across all the disciplines from attending a Level 3 course that only consists of nine days of face-to-face delivery. (Nelson et al., 2013; Côté & Gilbert, 2009).

Although the author appreciates that the three main disciplines of sport-specific knowledge, knowledge of the "ologies" sport science disciplines such as; Physiology, Psychology, Sociology, and Kinesiology, and pedagogical knowledge of the learning approaches are fundamental to the coaches' knowledge development, the main objective of the thesis is to explore how coaches develop sport-specific knowledge, specifically tactical knowledge (Kreber et al., 1997; Nash et al., 2006; Côté et al., 2009; Price et al., 2019; 2020).

The next chapter explores the design and development of the conceptual model and framework which underpinned the thesis.

Chapter 3: Conceptual Framework and Model

The importance of a Conceptual Framework and Model in the thesis

Within the literature, the authors present several different interpretations of the role a conceptual framework or model plays in the research process. Miles and Huberman (1984) suggest conceptual frameworks and models are flexible tools that may develop as the research evolves through the data analysis process. Additionally, Weaver-Hart (1988) suggests a conceptual framework is a 'tool' for researchers to organise, guide, and support the research providing a theoretical overview of the process (Leshema & Trafford, 2007). Equally, Berger and Patchener (1988) suggest that a conceptual model or framework should relate to the research problem and research question, and be underpinned by the literature.

A conceptual framework or model should guide the research process and demonstrate a clear link between theory, the aim and the observed findings within the study. Rudestam and Newton (1992) further advocate that generalisations can be made on the findings and be drawn back to the framework, leading to additional areas of investigation. Furthermore, several authors suggest a conceptual framework helps link theory to practice and something that can often be overlooked by doctoral students when conducting research (Rudestam et al., 1992; Leshema et al., 2007; Berger et al., 1988; Cohen, Lawrence, & Morrison, 2000). Berger et al., (1988) suggest studies informed by a conceptual framework or model, raise and demonstrate the critical thinking of doctoral-level researchers.

The conceptual framework guides the researcher within the field of study, as concepts become more defined, the framework was refined, however, it did not change its relevance to the field of study. Similarly, this defined process illustrated the researcher's understanding and personal development towards the concepts within the field (Bryman, 1988; Bouma, 1993; Salmon, 1992; Leshema et al., 2007). Several authors view conceptual frameworks and models from a discipline based standpoint, suggesting they support the researcher to interpret the findings of studies in the systematic study of particular phenomena in which social theory plays a significant role (Salmon,

1992; May, 1993; Leshema et al., 2007). Conceptualisation is integral in the research process as theory informs our decisions and allows us to make sense of the field of study. A conceptual model and framework forced the researcher to be explicit in the research process and informed interpretations and meaning towards the appropriate methods to collect and analyse the data (Cohen, et al., 2000; Leshema et al., 2007; Salmon, 1992; May, 1993).

Overall, a framework or model provides a scaffold for the researcher as it illustrates theory, the research strategy and supports the fieldwork process. They form a theoretical link between existing research, current theories, research design and interpretations of the findings. In addition, they can illustrate the conceptualisation of theories and outline how conclusions can be drawn from the findings of the studies. The conceptual framework and model applied within the research investigation attempted to solve the gap in coaches' tactical knowledge development (Cohen et al., 2000; Leshema et al., 2007).

Finally, researchers suggest conceptual frameworks play two significant roles; firstly, they provide a sound theoretical explanation of what the researcher intends to explore and secondly, they allow the reader clarity and confidence in what the researcher is exploring and how they will achieve it (Cohen et al., 2000; Leshema et al., 2007; Salmon, 1992; May 1993; Bryman, 1988; Bouma, 1993; Berger et al., 1988; Miles et al., 1984; Weaver-Hart, 1988).

The Development of the Conceptual Framework and Model in the thesis

The next part of the chapter discusses the design and development of the conceptual framework and model. Figures 3.2, 3.5 and 3.6 illustrate the cycles that the model and framework went through during the study, with the final version of the framework and model presented in figures 3.7 and 3.8, respectively.

The thesis analysed coaches' tactical knowledge exploring what, how and when novice football coaches develop their tactical knowledge. In addition, it examined if a Game Model may be useful in supporting coaches to develop tactical knowledge. A key part of the assessment criteria on the Level 3 course, requires coaches to complete a project. The project entails coaches designing what is called a 'Model of Performance'. The model consists of two key concepts: 'How we play', and 'How we support'. 'How we play' asks coaches to consider their style and system of play across the in and out of possession moments of the game (see Chapter 2). 'How we support' asks coaches to 'assess' and 'analyse' how the team performs the system and style of play across 18 games and training sessions.

The model of performance in essence is a version of the Game Model, however, it does not contain several concepts contained within the Delgado-Bordonau et al., (2012) model. Moreover, across the nine days of the course, insufficient time is dedicated to exploring the tactical concepts of the game (see Chapter 2). Furthermore, there can be a variation of course delivery across the country due to the range of coach educators' knowledge and experiences. In addition, Study 1 illustrated the differentiation in coaches' baseline knowledge at the start of a course. Consequently, coaches are expected to undertake non-formal learning away from the course to support their tactical knowledge development. Therefore, the model and framework can support coaches and provide them with a framework away from the course to build their performance model.



Figure 3.1. Factors that influence in designing and building up a Game Model (Delgado-Bordonau & Mendez-Villanueva, 2012, Adapted from Oliveira, 2007).

Delgado-Bordonau et al., (2012) model in figure 3.1 may serve as a tool for coaches to explore and develop tactical knowledge, however, this model is more appropriate for experienced/expert coaches and managers as several factors (i.e., terminology, concepts, application and guidance) might be too advanced for less experienced coaches to build a model. In addition, the range of terminology applied to tactical knowledge concepts can be confusing for coaches as it might not reflect terms applied across the game (i.e., grassroots, professional game) or in academic literature. Subsequently, it may be challenging for coaches to access the required information to develop their knowledge (The FA, 2016).

Figure 3.2 illustrates the first cycle, which incorporated an extensive review of the literature before building the conceptual model and framework. In the process of designing the model, it was vital to identify the relationships between the ranges of theories and reduce the key theories into a model form to guide the research.



Figure 3.2. Cycle 1 of the design of the conceptual model.

The next step involved investigating the concepts in the model to sense check the correct concepts aligned with the coaches' tactical knowledge requirements. Following critical analysis of the Delgado-Bordonau et al., (2012) model, academic research and key concepts of the Level 3 syllabus, an adapted model was created with more suitable terminology and concepts. The concepts would be more relatable with coaches on the course. Figure 3.3 illustrates the first version of the model which encompasses 5 tactical concepts: moments of the game, principles of play, styles of play, systems of play, strategies and tactics.





To support the model a conceptual framework (table 3.1) was developed to offer a theoretical underpinning to the area investigated. The first version formed the essential criteria applied in the data collection and data analysis stage within the first two studies, and key concepts and behavioural descriptions aligned with the Level 3 assessment guidelines.

Table 3.1. Conceptual Framework for study 1 and 2.

Concepts	Behavioural description	UEFA B Assessment Guidelines
1. Moments of the game	In Possession – Attacking in open play The transition from defence to attack Set plays - free-kicks, thrown-ins, goal kicks and corner kicks. Out of possession - defending in an organised The transition from attack (dis-organised) Defending set plays - free-kicks, goal kicks, thrown-ins and corner kicks.	Observation - Technical / Tactical Corner Observe how teams are performing against Principles of Play to support the topic.
2. Principles of Play	In Possession: Penetration, Create Space, Movement, Support, Creativity Out Possession: Press, Delay, Cover and Balance, Compactness, Control and Restraint Transition: Attack to Defence, Defence to attack	Observation - Observe how teams are performing against Principles of Play to support the topic.
3. Styles of Play	Possession based, build-up play, playing through the thirds, playing direct, maintenance, total football, Tika-Taka, playing in wide areas (crossing), counterattacking, fast tempo, sustained threat, progress and penetration, high press, mid press, low press, defending deep and forcing play, counter-pressing, low block, zonal, manto-man	Observation - Observe how teams are performing against Principles of Play to support the topic. Observation - Technical Corner observe a small number of Individuals evaluating strategy and tactics around a few coaching key points in relation to Primary Player, Primary Unit and Secondary Unit
4. System of Play	1-4-4-2, 1-3-5-2, 1-4-3-3, 1-4-2-3-1, 1-3-4-3, 1-2-3-2-3, 1-3-2-3-2, 1-4-5-1, 1-4-6-0, 13-2-5, 1-2-3-5	Observation - Technical Corner observe a small number of Individuals evaluating strategy and tactics around a few coaching key points in relation to Primary Player, Primary Unit and Secondary Unit
5. a) Strategies	Retain & Build, Progress & Penetrate, Counter Attack, Defensive, Midfield, and Attacking third. Wide, Central areas, Specific Players. Round, Through, Into, Onto, Beyond.	Observation - Evaluating strategy and tactics around a few coaching key points to Primary Player, Primary Unit and Secondary Unit
b) Tactics	In Possession : playing out from the back, playing through the thirds, playing direct, playing in wide areas, and counter-attacking Out Possession : high press, mid press, low press defending deep and forcing play Overlaps, underlaps, interchanging positions, crosses, dribbling, combination play, and switch play, through balls, combination play, dribbling, and hold up play.	Evaluating strategy and tactics around a few coaching key points to Primary Player, Primary Unit and Secondary Unit

The findings from the first study allowed the researcher to review the concepts within the model and framework before the second study and refine where necessary. Based upon study findings, an additional concept was added defined as sub-moments of the game (see below section).



Figure 3.4. Adapted Game Model with addition concepts (adapted from Delgado-Bordonau & Mendez-Villanueva, 2012).

The sub-moment of the game concept referred to the different areas of the pitch and can be explored from both a vertical and horizontal perspective. For example, the pitch is split into the defensive phase, midfield phase and attacking phase, and left, right and central channels (see later in the chapter for more detail).



Figure 3.5. Cycle 2 is the adaptation of the conceptual model and the design of a conceptual framework.

Figure 3.5 illustrates the second cycle of the process, which followed the same path as the previous cycle. Following Study 2, the model and framework were analysed and cross-checked with findings from the first two studies, identifying theoretical links between practice and theory that were adapted for investigation in the final third study. Moreover, the interpretations of findings and conceptual conclusions aided the next stage, which extends the model and conceptual framework as a tool to support the development of coaches' tactical knowledge. The concepts of the conceptual model and framework are explored in greater depth later in the chapter.

The final cycle shown in figure 3.6 demonstrates the final stage of the process through the findings identified in the third study. The final version drew on coherence between practical observations and conceptual conclusions and brought unity and consolidation within appropriate theories to both the conceptual model and framework.



Figure 3.6. Cycle 3 the adaptation of the conceptual model and conceptual framework.

The final version of the Game Model figure 3.7 is grounded on findings from the thesis. The model is a modified version, which is more relevant to coaches working at grassroots, semi-professional football, or professional game.



Coach's Ideas & Vision of the Game

Figure 3.7. Concepts of a Game Model (adapted from Delgado-Bordonau & Mendez-Villanueva, 2012).

The model was adapted following critical reflection on its practicality and suitability, drawing on key findings from the three studies. The six tactical concepts encompass the moments of the game; principles of play; styles of play; systems of play; sub-moments of the game (areas of the pitch); strategies and tactics and are built on the coaches' ideas of the game. In addition, the model has some external considerations for a coach such as their coaching domain (Côté, & Vierimaa, 2014; LaraBercial, Hämäläinen, Oltmanns, Minkhorst, & Petrovic, 2017; Lyle, 2020; Lyle, & Cushion, 2017), the player's capabilities (Giske et al., 2015; Price et al., 2020; Richards et al., 2012; 2017) and the influence of significant other (Cherubini, 2019; Cushion, 2010; Cushion et al., 2006; Amorose, 2007; Horn, 2002; Smoll & Smith 2002). Figure 3.7 illustrates, the adaptation of the model and figure 3.8 shows the amended conceptual framework. Both have been refined and cross referenced with the appropriate academic literature based on studies 1 and 2 findings. Therefore, the framework modified for Study 3 supported tactical knowledge development across additional concepts.

The coaches' tactical knowledge of the game should develop and evolve, hence so should the Game Model. Consequently, the framework is flexible to adapt, enhance and change as a coach continues to develop and refine their knowledge and understanding (see figure 3.8). A key consideration for the coach is how their ideas and visions of the game fit their current coaching domain and how it will meet the players' capabilities. For example, a coach may want to play a direct style of play into a big target striker, however, the player who plays striker within the team may be small, quick and unable to hold the ball up. This means the coach would have to adapt to meet the capabilities of the players to be successful.

Stages	Concepts	External factors
	Coaches Idea's & Vision of the Game	
Stage 1	The Moments of the Game	
Stage 2	The Principles of Play	
Stage 3	Style(s) of Play	Coaching Domain
Stage 4	System(s) of Play	Player Capabilities
Stage 5	Sub-Moments of the Game (Areas of the Pitch)	Significant others
Stage 6	Strategies & Tactics	

Each concept is explained below in the next part of the chapter which explores each stage of the framework to support coaches understand what is required within each of the concepts. Each concept is supported by relevant academic literature, coaching practice models, and linked to the current coach education curriculum. The proposed model supports the development of the coaches' knowledge across the areas shown in table 3.2. Declarative knowledge is the understanding of 'what to do' and acquiring knowledge in terms of the aims and objectives of the game (i.e., principles of play, strategies and tactics). Whereas, Procedural knowledge is the understanding 'how to do it' and

developing the knowledge to select the most appropriate skill or tactical action for a particular moment in the game. By applying declarative and procedural knowledge in practice via repetition and critical reflection, coaches can refine and advance their knowledge in practice, thus displaying conditional knowledge across each concept. Conditional knowledge in practice can be defined as knowing when and why to implement specific strategies and tactics at the correct moment, highlighted in table 3.2 (Brunning et al., 2004; Reynolds, 1992; MacIntyre et al., 2014; Werthner et al., 2006; McPherson, 1994; Kreber et al., 2000; Nash et al., 2006; Kannekens et al., 2009; Stodter et al., 2017; Walker et al., 2019; Toner, 2017; Prince et al., 2019; 2020).

Type of Knowledge	Example of Knowledge	Coaches' Considerations
Declarative; knowing "What to do"	Developing knowledge around the aims and objectives of the game such as laws, moments, principles, tactics, and techniques.	For example, understanding the attacking principles of play
Procedural; knowing "how to do" something	Procedural knowledge is the steps that need to be performed to select the most appropriate skill or tactical action for a particular moment of the game.	How the back 4 unit will apply the attacking principles when playing out from the back. Game considerations (own player units alongside opposition position on the pitch), and state of the game (time remaining, score line, weather conditions, number of players).
Conditional; knowing "when, how where and why" to apply declarative	Knowledge is the awareness of knowing when, where, why, and how to apply different strategies. (Apply the most appropriate strategy and tactics at the correct time and moment).	Awareness of how to control and regulate the learning process. When, where, how, and why to play out vs when, where, how, and why not to play out. Game considerations (own player units alongside opposition position on the pitch), and state of the game (time remaining, score line, weather conditions, number of players).

Table 3.2. Knowledge Bases for Coaching Football (adapted from Price et al., 2020).

How to build a Game Model for practice: The Development of a Game Model approach to advance tactical knowledge.

The next part of the chapter explores the key concepts of a modified Game Model (GM) and supporting conceptual framework. The proposed terminology hopes to unify and simplify meaning for coaches, which in turn aids the dissemination of more understandable concepts to players, thus allowing players to learn, develop and enhance their tactical knowledge. Furthermore, the chapter will illustrate how coaches explore each concept of the framework and the knowledge required to construct their GM (Delgado-Bordonau et al., 2012; 2018; Tamarit, 2015; Tee et al., 2018; Price, et al., 2020).

Every coach will have their idea and vision of the game which will impact the development of a GM. The GM encompasses six tactical knowledge concepts that require a coach to obtain knowledge that frames the development of their vision of the game. In addition, when developing each tactical concept, a coach is required to consider their coaching domain, the players' capabilities and significant others involved in their coaching. The conceptual framework has been designed to cultivate coaches' tactical knowledge to support their GM development. The framework consists of six stages, as knowledge is developed across one stage it impacts other tactical concepts (figure 3.8, final version of the detailed framework can be found in Chapter 8).

It would be beneficial for a coach to start at stage one and work through each stage sequentially, however, knowledge gained at previous stages facilitates knowledge development at the next. Once a coach advances their knowledge of a concept, it will also support their knowledge development across other concepts. During this process, a coach's tactical knowledge should advance and evolve, hence so should their model, therefore, the framework is flexible as a coach enhances their knowledge they can revisit previous stages to adapt and refine accordingly.

The Concepts of the Game Model and Framework

Coaches Ideas

As suggested in Chapter 2, coaches' ideas should encompass all tactical concepts and are the model's foundation rather than being one concept within the model for consideration. The coaches' ideas form an integral part in the designing of a GM as it relates to how a coach views the game and wants their team to play. Each coach will have several specific game ideas that impact their GM such as beliefs, preferred principles, systems and styles of play. A key consideration is how their ideas and visions of the game fit with their current coaching domain and the players' capabilities. Coaches are required to understand the concepts of each stage of the framework so that they can create a GM that is clear, precise and enables them to translate their way of playing effectively to the players (Giske et al., 2015; Price et al., 2020; Richards et al., 2012; 2017; Martins, 2003; Frade, 2004; DelgadoBordonau et al., 2012; Tamarit, 2015; Tee et al., 2018).

Moments of the game

Several authors recommend that strategies and tactics should be acquired based on the logical structure of the game, defined as the moments of the game. Delgado-Bordonau et al., (2012) and Hewitt et al., (2016) have proposed different models of the moments of the game displayed in Chapter 2. The moments of the game are a significant factor for a coach when designing a GM. Therefore, taking into consideration previous research and current trends within the game, figure 3.9 presents modified moments of the game for consideration. This version includes an additional sixth moment, with set plays split into attacking and defending, rather than one suggested by other authors (Frade, 2004; Delgado-Bordonau et al., 2012; Hewitt et al., 2016).



Figure 3.9. The 6 'Moments of the Game'.

Coaches must consider each of the six moments, the three in-possession moments, the transition from defence to attack (counter-attacking), attacking in open play, and set plays which include free-kicks, thrown-ins, goal-kicks, corner kicks and penalty kicks. For out of possession, the coach must consider how to defend in the transition from attack (dis-organised), defending in an organised state, and defending set plays. A coach must have a clear vision of how the team needs to apply themselves in each moment of the game. This vision should be underpinned by relevant principles of play which inform their specific strategies and tactics across each of the moments. Once achieved, the coach considers the most effective and appropriate approach to designing training programmes and practices for the specific moments, thus bringing the GM to life for the players (Hewitt et al., 2016; FernandezNavarro et al., 2016; 2018; Delgado-Bordonau et al., 2012; Tee et al., 2018).

Principles of Play

The literature illustrated five key principles of play for both the attacking and defending moments of the game, and for each attacking principle, there is a counteracting defending principle. The principles of play are fundamental to the moments of the game and are applied to every attacking, defending, and transition moment. The principles are a significant concept in the development of tactical knowledge and game understanding, and fundamental for an effective GM. The attacking principles are established when a team attempts to form an attack through the maintenance of possession to create a goal-scoring opportunity. Through the five attacking principles (penetration, support, create space, movement and creativity), coaches are attempting to strategically position players around the pitch to create space by increasing the surface area of the pitch that the attacking team covers. The team aims to dis-organise and unbalance the opposition in critical areas of the pitch to gain territory, exploiting the space created to produce goal-scoring opportunities (Bangsbo, 2000; Costa et al., 2009; Piltz et al., 2013; Hewitt et al., 2016; The FA, 2016; FernandezNavarro et al., 2016; Wade; 1967; 1996; Lago-Ballesteros et al., 2010; Tenga et al., 2011).

In contrast, defensive principles of play (press, delay, compactness, balance, control and restraint) are established when a team is out of possession of the ball. The defending team aims to achieve a balanced organised structure, designed to reduce space and time by delaying the attacking team from moving forward and gaining territory. Once the team is in an organised position, the aim is to restrict the attacking team's time on the ball by applying defensive pressure and limiting the attacking team's passing options by increasing the numerical advantage in specific parts of the pitch. The final aim is to force the attacking team away from the goal to play in less critical areas to prevent goal-scoring opportunities and ultimately attempt to regain possession (Wade, 1996; Bangsbo et al., 2002; Costa et al., 2009; Piltz et al., 2013; Clemente et al., 2014; Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2016; The FA, 2016).

The two transition moments attack-to-defence and defence-to-attack are integral to the modern game (Hewitt et al., 2016; The FA, 2016; Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2016; Hughes & Lovell, 2018). In the transition from attack to defence, a team is often disorganised and attempts to regain a balanced, defensive structure based on their organised defensive system through effective recovery runs, while at the same time trying to delay the attack by restricting the opposition's time and space. This transition state includes key principles such as transition speed, preventing forward passing, increasing the number of passes, denying ball speed, intercept, and spoil or tackle. During the transition from defence to attack, a team attempts to exploit the opposition's disorganised state through playing forward quickly and exploiting space, which has been exposed by the opposition

alongside maintaining a balanced team (Hewitt et al., 2016; The FA, 2016; Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2016; Hughes et al., 2018; The FA, 2016).

The principles of play are an integral part of developing and building a model and impact all stages of knowledge development. Coaches must develop their knowledge and understanding of the principles of play so they can apply the principles associated with each moment of the game.

Style(s) of Play

A style of play can be described as the team's overall behaviour when attacking or defending in an attempt to achieve their objectives and game plan (Hewitt et al., 2016; Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2018; Delgado-Bordonau et al., 2012). Teams employ specific tactical behaviours that inform their in and out of possession strategies, with teams utilising a specific style of play when attacking and another when defending. The style of play imposed on the team is influenced by the coaches' views and ideas of the game, however, this should also be influenced by their current domain and team's overall objectives (Nelson et al., 2006; Carless et al., 2011).

For coaches on the Level 3, a style of play would fall under the "How We Play" element of the course. This section requires coaches to consider how they want their team to play both in and out of possession (The FA, 2016). Chapter 2 identified several attacking and defending styles of play. The favoured attacking styles include possession-based, build-up play, playing direct, Tika-Taka and counter-attacking. Examples of defending playing styles include high-press, mid-press, defending deep and counter-pressing. Several defensive styles relate to the specific area of the pitch a team applies defensive pressure. Furthermore, as possession might be lost or gained at any stage of the attack or defence, some authors have identified counter-attacking and counter-pressing as examples of transition styles of play, however, this is still an area requiring further investigation (FernandezNavarro et al., 2018). Coaches need to recognise how styles of play need to be flexible across different formats of the game, as literature has been criticised for several misinterpretations of the styles of play, with a lack of clear definitions and conflicting assumptions across studies (Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2018).

Within dynamical systems such as football, there are too many variables and degrees of freedom to suggest a definitive style of play will guarantee success. However, research advocates that to increase the chance of success, an effective style of play employed by coaches enhances the players' characteristics and strengths, alongside considering the opposition's styles, strategies and tactics to the game (Reep et al., 1968; Grehaigne et al., 1997; Tenga et al., 2003; Hughes et al., 2005a; Lago, 2009; Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2018).

Coaches are required to evaluate the different styles of play both in possession, out of possession, and transition before deciding on their preferred approach. In addition, they are required to consider several other game variables, such as home advantage, winning vs development, the type of match, score-line, time left in the game, a player sent off, player injury, weather or pitch condition (Gréhaigne et al., 1997; Garganta, 2009). Coaches need to be flexible in their approach to overcome problems posed by the opposition. For example, a coach may want a possession-based style, playing through the thirds, however, if the opposition employed a high-pressing style, the coach is required to decide to either continue with the chosen strategy and tactics or employ a different approach to overcome the opposition. The key for coaches is to have variable styles, to recognise when to play into, through onto or around the opposition. To employ an alternative approach, coaches need to allow players to become familiar with the alternative approaches in training. With the ultimate aim to allow the players during games to recognise the situation and employ the appropriate strategies and tactics of their own accord (Gréhaigne et al., 1997; Garganta, 2009).

System(s) of play

As discussed in Chapter 2, the terms structural organisation or formation refers to the spatial arrangements of how the individual players within a team are positioned on the pitch. The positions are split into three tactical groupings or subsidiary units such as; defenders, midfielders, and attackers. The different combinations of players in these set roles describe the different systems of play. Exploring the 1-4-3-3 system of play, this would include, in principle, a defending unit back four, a midfield unit of three, and an attacking unit of three. However, several authors suggest that the

static notation or numerical schemes of describing a team's formation is no more than a convenient approach to generalise the organisation of the tactical grouping of players. This approach is perceived to be too simplistic and does not replicate the dynamical nature of football with the constant interchanging and switching of players' roles in relation to the ball position on the pitch. The term 'system of play' has been identified as a more appropriate term to discuss how a team sets up during a game. Recent research has attempted to explore systems of play and detect system changes when a team is in or out of possession. Studies have presented several system analytical tools to discover the in-game variations and distinguish between in possession and out of possession systems, which will see player roles and responsibilities change significantly within the different moments of the game. In addition, current analytical providers have started using tracking data, such as GPS, to cluster a team's overall positions within games and, in some reports, highlight a team's overall average positions both in and out of possession (see Chapter 2 for more detail) (Müller-Budack et al., 2019; Bialkowski et al., 2016; Sridharan et al., 2016; Lucey et al., 2013; Machado et al., 2017; Wu et al., 2019).

For coaches, it is vital to research and develop an understanding of the different systems of play, the benefits of each, and the weaknesses of each alongside when and why to employ a certain system. Furthermore, it is important to consider the key roles and responsibilities of the players in different positions. The individual player positions, roles, and responsibilities will all be influenced by the coach's interpretations, knowledge of the game and preferred style of play. A coach will have an interpretation of the type of player they would like to have in each position and will have set characteristics and skillsets associated with each position (for example, a centre back who is tall and strong with physical attributes but who is also good technically on the ball to play out). The players' characteristics in each position and desired roles and responsibilities have a significant impact on the team's preferred style of play, strategies, tactics and behaviours when attacking, defending and in transition. It is important when exploring preferred systems for a coach to consider how best to initially set the team up in possession and then out of possession. In addition, a coach will explore

how the system switches between in possession to out of possession and how the team will transition from attack to defence and defence to attack.

Sub-Moments of the Game (Areas of the pitch)

Until recently, the game was largely considered to be broken into two areas of the pitch: attacking and defending. However, several authors and coaches have started to explore pitch geography and geometry by dividing the pitch into several segments such as thirds, channels and quadrants from a horizontal, a vertical or combined viewpoint (Lebzygold, 2017; Den Kategorien, 2014; Soccertutor.com, 2017; Delgado-Bordonau et al., 2016; Herold, Goes, Nopp, Bauer, Thompson & Meyer, 2019).

Figure 3.10 illustrates the pitch divided into six-by-three grids, with 18 segments for consideration. Some authors have highlighted 'Zone 14' as the optimal area for creating goal-scoring opportunities, therefore it is a common focus for several teams' strategies and tactics (Herold et al., 2019).



Figure 3.10. 18 zones on the pitch (Herold et al., 2019).

Moreover, Eldridge, Pulling and Robins (2013) split the pitch into 12 areas, horizontally defensive, pre-defensive, pre-attacking and attacking, and vertically left, central and right channels (figure 3.11).

Direction of Attack				
Defensive Left (DL)	Pre Defensive Left (PDL)	Pre Attacking Left (PAL)	Attacking Left (AL)	4
Defensive Centre (DC)	Pre Defensive Centre (PDC)	Pre Attacking Centre (PAC)	Attacking Centre (AC)	
Defensive Right (DR)	Pre Defensive Right (PDR)	Pre Attacking Right (PAR)	Attacking Right (AR)	

Figure 3.11. The Pitch is divided into 12 areas of the pitch (Eldridge, Pulling & Robins, 2013). Further analysis of the game has evolved with the inclusion of five channels. Half-spaces displayed in figure 3.12 emerged as another strategic area to create goal-scoring opportunities.





Research suggests that less experienced coaches while observing games often have a narrow observational focus, being drawn to the ball, the player on the ball or the intended player to receive the ball. When starting to move away from the ball and focus on other aspects of the game, studies have shown coaches are less likely to select the most appropriate response to the situation, making more abrupt or inconsistent decisions by being drawn to less relevant cues (Singer et al., 1999; Thomas et al., 1994; Galanter et al., 2005; Vergeer et al., 2009; Kaya, 2014; Price et al., 2020; Horrocks et al., 2016; Bootroom, 2020; Nash et al, 2006; Stoszkowskia et al., 2015; Walker et al., 2019).
Due to the highly complex and random nature of football, the six moments identified earlier support coaches develop their tactical knowledge, however, it is proposed each moment be broken down further into smaller and more manageable areas defined as sub-moments of the game. By dividing the pitch into the three sub-moments, coaches can focus on individual players and units within each specific sub-moment. Therefore, it is proposed that coaches should initially divide the game into three horizontal phases when designing their GM. These three phases of the game are comprised of the defending third, midfield third and attacking third, which form the sub-moments of the game shown in figure 3.13.



Figure 3.13. Sub-Moments of the game (defensive, midfield and attacking thirds).

Once a coach has set up the team in each horizontal sub-moment, they should then consider the three vertical sub-moments of the game. The coach may need to consider if the team applies different approaches in the centre of the pitch compared to the left or right channel. Figure 3.14 illustrates the sub-moments broken down into both horizontal thirds and vertical channels of the pitch.



Figure 3.14. Demonstrating both vertical and horizontal sub-phases of the game.

As discussed previously, a system of play is not rigid, they change and adapt when teams are attacking or defending. However, the structure changes depending on which sub-moment the ball is in. The team's system changes and adapts to create and exploit space when in possession or restrict and deny space when out of possession. In both instances, the team aims to try and achieve numerical superiority over the opposition. Therefore, the sub-moments aim to reduce and refine the unpredictability of the game for both the coach and the players alike (Lucey et al., 2013; Machado et al., 2017; Müller-Budack et al., 2019; Bialkowski et al., 2016; Wu et al., 2019).

Within each moment of the game, the coach has a structural setup adapted from the preferred system of play. However, only the set-play moments of the game allow an organised static structure of the system of play both in and out of possession. When the ball comes back into play in the restart phase, players are required to adapt to the ball position and create an adapted system. How the team shape adapts is initially controlled by the coach's desired strategy and tactics, however, players will make their own decisions and adapt in real-time when situations change on the pitch. Hence, a coach needs to extend the teams system and style to each of the sub-moments of the game. The adapted shape allows players added to organised units or units from different groups to create new units and additional units that often see teams extend into four or five units as opposed to the traditional three units of defenders, midfielders and attackers (Yiannakos et al., 2006; Carling et al.,

2007; FernandezNavarro et al., 2016; Garganta, 2009; Grehaigne et al., 1995; 1997; Rein & Memmert, 2016; Price et al., 2020).

After considering the four open moments and sub-moments of the game, the closed moments of the game are equally important. A coach is required to focus upon set-plays both in and out of possession such as corner-kicks, free kicks, throw-ins or goal kicks, and decide the teams' organisation in each of the sub-moments and sub-sub-moments. Due to the moments being static, set plays may be easier to plan due to the laws of the game preventing the opposition from applying immediate pressure to the ball, which allows the team in possession more time and freedom of passing options from the restart. However, out of possession set-plays are more difficult to control due to the tactics of the opposition, although more variables can be controlled such as which players mark the opposition players, or if a team decides to select man-to-man or zonal marking (Bouthier, 1988; Delgado-Bordonau et al., 2012; Tamarit, 2015; Tee et al., 2018).

Strategies and Tactics

Instead of sub-principles and sub-sub-principles of play, strategies and tactics are considered more applicable concepts to consider. Strategies and tactics are two very important aspects of team play but can often be misconceived terms.

A strategy is the plan of action used to achieve an overall outcome or approach to a game, whereas tactics are the means to achieve the overall aim or outcome (Gréhaigne et al., 1995; 1999; Bouthier, 1988; Yiannakos et al., 2006; Carling et al., 2007; Price et al., 2020). A team's strategy refers to predetermined plans, which impact how a team, units and individual players interact and coordinate planned, intended actions during a game. Strategies are influenced by the coach's preferred style and system of play that impacts the team's application of the attacking, defending and transition principles of play. The team's strategy should mirror the coach's preferred playing style and be built around the moments and sub-moments of the game in conjunction with the appropriate principles of play. For example, a coach who has a possession-based approach may consider applying strategies such as; playing out from the back, retaining and building, progressing and penetrating, or

a combination of the three depending upon the area of the pitch in which the team have possession or have regained possession. When devising a strategy for any given game, the coach should consider their preferred style of play, the overall team, the individual player strengths, and player availability. Furthermore, coaches should consider the opposition's system of play, style of play, and the team's strengths and areas of weaknesses. These considerations allow the coach to plan the most appropriate strategy to exploit the opposition's weaknesses during the game.

Tactics are the instructions provided by coaches to achieve the team's objective when applying the principles of play. Tactics influence the team's strategy and are the bridge between the coach's playing style and systems of play. How a coach employs tactics will determine how individual players, units and teams function to manage factors such as space, time and organisation (Gréhaigne et al., 1995; 1999; Bouthier, 1988; Yiannakos et al., 2006; Carling et al., 2007; Price et al., 2020; Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2016; Garganta, 2009; Rein et al., 2016). Tactics are pre-planned to allow players to recognise specific patterns of play and team configurations rehearsed in training to develop efficient tactical behaviours to outperform the opposition in each of the moments and sub moments of the game. Players are required to select and apply the most appropriate tactical decision and execute the appropriate skill (pass, dribble, shoot etc.) at the right moment based on a) the team's tactical considerations, b) individual position on the pitch, c) own team mates' positions, d) the opposition. However, individual players, units and the team must be able to respond to unexpected situations created by the opposition and be able to adapt and apply the voluntary tactical decision to combat the unexpected situation posed through finding new, appropriate solutions (Grehaigne et al., 1995; Pill, 2013; Carling et al., 2007; Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2016; Garganta, 2009; Grehaigne et al., 1999; Price et al., 2020).

This process can be developed through effective planning by a coach drawing upon several scenarios in practice and adapting strategies and tactics in training that allow players to recognise specific situations earlier and coordinate a timely response. During the game, a coach will change or amend tactics to gain an advantage through exploiting a specific situation or causing a perturbation that changes the attacking or defensive flow of the game. For example, to protect a narrow winning

margin with time running out in the game, a coach may decide to change the system and personnel by substituting an attacking player for a more defensive player (Rein & Memmert, 2016; Gréhaigne et al., 1997; McGarry et al., 2002; Garganta, 2009; Grehaigne et al., 1999).

External factors

Once a coach has considered the tactical concepts of the game, the next step is to contemplate three external factors, the coaching domain, the player's capabilities and the influence of significant others. These three factors can all have a notable impact on the design and implementation of an effective GM. This next step integrates the club structure and aims, football culture and players' capabilities from the Delgado-Bordonau et al., (2012) model.

Within the coaching literature, there has been a gradual interest in sports coaching domains (Côté et al., 2014; Lara-Bercial et al., 2017; Lyle, 2020; Lyle et al., 2017). A coaching domain can be described as discrete populations that share distinct characteristics, behaviours, technical ability, performance standards, motivations, competition formats, and social constraints. For example, beginners would have different requirements in contrast to expert performers (Lyle, 2020; Lyle et al., 2017). However, there has been much deliberation over the most applicable categorisation of these domains (Côté et al., 2014; Lara-Bercial et al., 2017). Coaches work across different domains, therefore they need to consider additional contextual factors (i.e., age groups and playing level). The players' age can impact the implementation of the coach's GM, requiring the coach to consider the different characteristics and capabilities when coaching players in the Foundation phase (5-11) compared to the Youth development phase (12-16), the Professional development phase (17+) and adults (The Football League, 2012; Roddy, 2011; Bootroom, 2017). Furthermore, the coach needs to carefully consider the players' needs across different levels such as grassroots (initiation or beginner), semi-professional football (performance), or the professional game (elite) (Lyle, 2020; Lyle et al., 2017; Côté et al., 2014; Lara-Bercial et al., 2017).

Several key areas such as technical, tactical, psychological, physiological and sociological skills make up characteristics of a football player (Reilly, Bangsbo, & Franks, 2000a; Rienzi, Drust, Reilly, Carter, & Martin, 2000; Reilly, 2001; Reilly, Williams, Nevill, & Franks, 2000b). Each coach has a subjective view of their preferred type of player, alongside the playing attributes they require to fulfil specific roles and responsibilities of each position. Coaches are required to reflect and assess if players are capable of effectively applying their chosen system and styles of play or have the characteristics and capabilities to apply the coach's tactical ideas and vision of the game. If the players are not capable, the coach's initial ideas may have to be adapted to meet the players' capabilities (Carling, Le Gall, Reilly, & Williams, 2009; Elferink-Gemser, Visscher, Lemmink, & Mulder, 2004a; Savelsbergh, Haans, Kooijman, & Van Kampen, 2010; Horne & Williams, 2004; Tee et al., 2018; Giske et al., 2015; Price et al., 2020; Richards et al., 2017).

Technical and tactical skills and effective execution of skills such as ball control, passing, dribbling, and shooting skills are deemed critical for successful performance in football. These technical and tactical skills are fundamental to certain styles of play, for example, a possession-based approach would require players to have good ball control alongside good passing execution. This would allow a team to maintain sustained periods of possession required to break down the opposition. More specifically, in terms of positional characteristics, a coach may want a centre back who is physically strong and who has other physical attributes such as power and speed to defend but who is also good technically on the ball to play out (Ericsson et al, 1993; Bangsbo, 1994; Reilly et al, 2000a; Rienzi et al., 2000; Reilly, 2001; Reilly et al., 2000b; Carling et al., 2009; Elferink-Gemser et al., 2004a; Savelsbergh et al., 2010; Horne et al., 2004; Williams & Hodges, 2005; Passos, Araújo, Davids & Shuttleworth, 2008; Christensen, 2009).

In contrast, some coaches may prefer players with advanced physiological characteristics such as aerobic or anaerobic capabilities to meet the high intensity or intermittent demands that a player would require in a high-pressing style out of possession. Furthermore, these characteristics

would be required in a more direct or counter-attacking approach, demanding players who can run box-to-box (Hoff, 2005; Mohr, Krustrup, & Bangsbo, 2005; Lawrence, 2010; Christenson, 2009; Bangsbo, 1994; Reilly et al., 2000a; Rienzi et al., 2000; Reilly, 2001).

Significant others play a crucial role within coaches' sporting, educational and life experiences. These significant others all impact the coaches' behaviours, ideas, values and beliefs. The head coach, managers, other coaches, players, parents, sports science or medical support, the board and fans have been identified as key significant others impacting the coaches' practice (Reilly *et al.*, 2000; Burgess & Naughton, 2010).

Significant others will set the club's overall season aims and objectives such as to win the league, finish mid-table, avoid relegation, play an attractive style of football, or give youth a chance to develop, therefore, it is essential a coach's aims and objectives align with the club. The club's aim will be dependent upon the level and age group, and all aspects will have a significant influence on the coach's GM. The key aspect of developing an effective GM is to identify individual players' strengths, physical characteristics, technical ability, and game understanding before establishing which style and system of play would suit the group of players and enhance the chance of success of achieving the club's, team's and coach's desired aims and objectives. Moreover, communication between key stakeholders is essential in the application of an effecting GM to enhance team performance (Cherubini, 2019; Cushion, 2010; Cushion et al., 2006; Amorose, 2007; Giske et al., 2015; Price et al., 2020; Richards et al., 2017).

Chapter Summary

The crucial aspect within the GM for a coach is applying the specific strategy and tactics for each of the moments and sub-moments of the game, linking into their overarching systems and styles of play. In essence, the tactics in each moment and sub-moment of the game are how a coach is going to apply the principles of play related to their preferred system of play, style of play and strategy. The first step for a coach is to decide which moment of the game to explore and then subsequently break each moment down into the three sub-moments. Once a coach has designed their GM, the next stage is to consider how they bring the model to life through the designing of effective coaching sessions and practices. Although the aim of this chapter is not to explore the pedagogical approaches of coaching practices, a coach is required to get their ideas across to the team. Practices should replicate the moments of the game, the team's systems of play and style of play to shape specific team behaviours through the appropriately designed strategies and tactics (Martins, 2003; Frade, 2004; Casarin & Oliveira, 2010; Delgado-Bordonau et al., 2012, Tamarit, 2015; Tee, et al., 2020).

An integral part is the effective planning of conditioned practice, which replicates game situations. Coaches can manipulate practice conditions through changing constraints, such as the number of players, size or shape of the pitch, rules or time constraints to promote desired behaviours. This approach aligns with more modern pedagogical approaches of training such as 'Teaching Game for Understanding' or constraint lead approaches which allow players to develop their tactical knowledge and game understanding (Williams et al., 2005; Araujo et al., 2008; Williams et al., 2001; Thorpe et al., 2018; Martins, 2003; Frade, 2004; Delgado-Bordonau et al., 2012; Tamarit, 2015; Tee et al., 2018).

The GM approach takes into account many considerations: findings from the thesis, discussions with fellow coach educators, observing and mentoring coaches, the limited number of studies in the field, and also how topics are presented and delivered across different settings. Once a coach has established a sound tactical understanding across each of the moments and sub-moments of the game, the coach can add on and explore the advanced tactical dimensions of the game, such as half-spaces which are often explored at the advanced levels of coaching qualifications (Bootroom, 2020, FA Education, 2016; Nash et al, 2006; MacDonald et al., 2008; Stoszkowskia et al., 2015; Stodter et al., 2017; Walker et al., 2019; Kaya, 2014).

The conceptual model and framework supported the researcher to be explicit in the research process and informed the interpretation and meaning towards selecting the most appropriate methods to collect and analyse the data. The next chapter explores the different research concepts of ontology, epistemology, methodology and methods applied across the thesis (Cohen, et al., 2000; Leshema et al., 2007).

Chapter 4: General overview of Methodology

The following chapter explores the different research concepts of ontology, epistemology and methodology applied across the Professional Doctorate thesis. The methodological process is a complex phenomenon, which should not merely be labelled as a qualitative or quantitative research approach. There are several underlying philosophical beliefs defined as paradigms that underpin the research process. Therefore, it is paramount for a researcher to understand the different paradigms and ascertain the best approach to collate, analyse and present the data and research findings (Ritchie & Lewis, 2003; Gratton & Jones, 2005; Morgan, 2007; Sparkes & Smith, 2014 Denzin & Lincoln, 1994, 2000; 2011).

Paradigm

A research paradigm can be described as a set of common beliefs or linked assumptions of the world, or how individuals view the world. All scientific inquiry is deemed to be based upon a paradigm philosophical view, with similar disciplines sharing the same cognitive perspective (Kuhn, 1962; Sale, Lohfeld, & Brazil, 2002; Slevitch, 2011; Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Johnson & Christensen, 2012). The quantitative and qualitative research paradigms debate has endured for more than a century, with several key advocates on both fronts (Lincoln et al., 1985; 2000; Maxwell & Delaney, 2004; Bryman & Burgess, 1984; Hall, 2013; Johnson & Christensen, 2012). Quantitative and qualitative approaches derive from two major philosophical paradigms known as positivist and interpretative. Both approaches have different epistemological and ontological assumptions, in essence, the fundamental difference between quantitative and qualitative research lies in ontology and epistemology beliefs. These beliefs will have a significant impact upon the approach adopted by the researcher (Gratton & Jones, 2005; Morgan, 2007; Lincoln et al., 1985 Maxwell et al., 2004; Guba, 1987; Slevitch, 2011; Sparkes et al., 2014).

A positivist's philosophy viewpoint is more likely to apply a quantitative method approach to a research question. As a positivist believes there is a single truth or reality which can be known and measured, they see the world consisting of real objects and universal laws. Therefore, they focus upon reliable and validated tools and techniques to find the information through objective methods (Johnson & Onwuegbuzie 2004; Sparkes et al., 2014; Gratton et al., 2005; Hall, 2013; Johnson et al., 2012). However, an interpretative philosophy viewpoint is more likely to apply a qualitative method approach. Interpretative approaches can also be classified as constructivist; they believe there is no single truth or reality, and that truth is required to be understood through qualitative approaches that add meaning and context to the multiple realities (Burke & Onwuegbuzie 2004; Sparkes et al., 2014; Gratton et al., 2005; Hall, 2013; Johnson et al., 2012).

Moreover, during the last three decades, several other paradigm interpretations have emerged within the literature which consist of constructivism, subjectivism, objectivism, post-positivism, postmodernism, pragmatism, idealism, relativism, critical realism, critical theory, post-colonialism, humanism, and hermeneutics. These different paradigm approaches all shape the researcher's views about the world and influence which methodology to adopt for collecting, analysing and interpreting data. Paradigms are crucial as they guide both the research question alongside the appropriate methods employed to answer the research question. Selecting the most appropriate philosophical standpoint and methodological approach will enhance and support the quality of research produced (Gratton et al., 2004; Armour & Macdonald, 2012; Denzin et al., 2000; 2011; Morgan, 2007; Sparkes & Smith, 2014; Johnson et al., 2012; Slevitch, 2011; Lincoln et al., 2000; Smith, 1983; 1984; Kuhn, 1962; Johnson et al., 2012; Sparkes et al., 2014).

Underlying Beliefs and Philosophy

It is suggested that to carry out good and effective research, a researcher needs to understand their underlying beliefs and philosophies, and ensure they align to the most appropriate paradigm framework. Therefore, it is critical for a researcher to understand the complex positions of ontology, epistemology, methodology and methods (Kuhn, 1962; Sale et al., 2002; Slevitch, 2011; Lincoln et al., 1985; Johnson et al., 2012; Sparkes et al., 2014).

All scientific paradigms are grounded by ontological assumptions. Ontology can be described as the philosophical study of the nature of reality or things that comprise reality. Ontology can be referred to as knowing what exists or is said to have existed alongside the different relationships that occur between the objects which exist or existed. Our ontological position forms our process of knowing whether an objective reality exists or not. Moreover, epistemology can be described as the study of knowledge or the theory of the nature of knowledge. According to Guba and Lincoln (1994), epistemology addresses the fundamental question: 'What is the relationship between the researcher and the known and how can you know reality?' Epistemology explores the nature and source of legitimate knowledge, and the ability of objectives to possess knowledge (Childers & Hentzi, 1995; Guba et al., 1994; Slevitch, 2011; Sale et al., 2002; Lincoln et al., 1985; Johnson et al., 2012; Sparkes et al., 2014; Creswell, 2003; 2014).

The methodology can be described as the theoretical perspective and philosophical system that structures the way research is conducted. It asks the researcher to consider the approach they use to know something, and how do they go about finding out. Each methodology is based on a particular set of assumptions and theories based upon human nature, society, and reality, what beliefs are important to study, and finally, what establishes authentic knowledge and meaningful data. Each methodology has its own procedures, techniques, or processes that should be employed within the chosen mode of scientific enquiry. However, at times, methodology and methods are implied incorrectly and often interchangeably despite the fact they have two different meanings. Cook and Fonow (1986) define methodology as not simply the specific techniques themselves, but the study of methods. The methodologies determine which methods will be used to collect data. In other words, methods are the research tool that collects the data based upon the ontology (nature of reality) and the epistemology (what knowledge) (Childers & Hentzi, 1995; Guba, 1990; Sale et al., 2002; Guba et al., 1989; Slevitch, 2011; Lincoln et al., 1985; Johnson et al., 2012; Sparkes et al., 2014).

The principles of scientific inquiry denote the key relationship that occurs amongst these complex positions. Our beliefs about reality will determine what we believe as genuine knowledge and how we acquire that knowledge. Therefore, our chosen ontology will define our epistemology, which in turn will outline our methodology, which finally defines our chosen research method (Guba et al., 1994; Slevitch, 2011; Johnson et al., 2012). Positivists and interpretivism have completely different

views of epistemology and ontology. The difference in their beliefs and philosophical stance has led to contentious debates within the social and behavioural sciences (Childers & Hentzi, 1995; Guba, 1990; Sale et al., 2002; Guba et al., 1989; Slevitch, 2011; Lincoln et al., 1985; Johnson et al., 2012; Sparkes et al., 2014).

Chosen Paradigm

Pragmatism is a paradigm philosophy that has been around for many years and was first explored in the early twentieth century in America through the work of William James (1907). James' (1907) pragmatism approach endeavoured to provide practical solutions to contemporary issues which were experienced by people in the real world (Gage, 1989; Howe, 1988; Patton, 1988: Giacobbi, Poczwardowski & Hager, 2005; Morgan, 2013; Grecic & Grundy, 2016). Additionally, the work of John Dewey (1931), whose concept of experience explored what works in human experiences, had a significant influence on the pragmatist paradigm, moving philosophical views away from abstract concerns and more towards the importance of human experience (Morgan, 2013; Dewey, 2008). Dewey (2008) had two inseparable standpoints upon which he built his approach: What are the sources of our beliefs? And what are the meanings of our actions? See figure 4.1 below.



Figure 4.1. Dewey's model of experience.

Dewey's model of experience highlights how reflecting on beliefs to choose actions and reflecting on actions to choose beliefs are cyclical, both of which underpin human experiences.

Experiences bring our actions and beliefs together, which in turn create meaning within our practice. Within Dewey's approach, research is a form of inquiry into everyday life and experiences (Morgan, 2014; Dewey, 2008). A further advocate of pragmatism was Rorty (1982), who attempted to find methods or theories which help address practical problems within specific contexts through the concept of different types of knowledge. In turn, the types of knowledge would help individuals within their environment (Rorty, 1982; 1990; 1991; Giacobbi, Poczwardowski & Hager, 2005).

Within social research, the more recent pursuit of pragmatism methods has been formed with the adoption of mixed-method approaches, which has brought the paradigm back into the limelight (Johnson & Onwuegbuzie, 2004; Maxcy, 2003; Biesta, 2010; Hall, 2013; Morgan, 2007; 2013; Pearce, 2012; Tashakkori & Teddlie, 2010). The pragmatism paradigm can be seen as a relatively new philosophical approach in the philosophy of knowledge for social research. The strength of pragmatism to social research is how it appreciates ontology, epistemology, and methodology alongside how it offers a solution of practicality in its research approach irrespective of the application of qualitative, quantitative, or mixed methods (Guba, 1990; Guba & Lincoln, 2005; Lincoln, 2010; Morgan, 2013 Giacobbi et al., 2005; Grecic & Grundy, 2016). Pragmatists consider the nature of the inquiry, the specific context, and the research question more imperative than the philosophical traditions of the chosen method of a pragmatist is one that is deemed most appropriate to answer the specific research question (Howe, 1988; Rorty, 1982; Giacobbi et al., 2005; Creswell, 2003).

As discussed earlier, ontology and epistemology are vital to pragmatism and underpin the philosophical approach (Childers & Hentzi, 1995; Creswell, 1994; Giacobbi et al., 2005). Creswell (2003) highlighted that pragmatism does not align with any one philosophical approach. Where a positivist approach would adopt an objective epistemological view, in contrast, a constructivist or interpretive approach would adopt a subjective epistemological view which would be individualised and context-specific (Lincoln & Guba, 2000). However, a pragmatist approach would argue that a continuum exists between subjective and objective, and the epistemological view would be determined by the research question and the overall aim of the research (Creswell, 2003; Tashakkori & Teddlie, 2010).

Pragmatism is the application of the most appropriate approach to understand the research problem and one which provides the most insights into answering the research question with no allegiance to any alternative paradigm (Creswell, 2003). Pragmatists hold the research question as the central focus and opt for methods and theories that are more useful to them within specific contexts and answer the practical problems through the most appropriate data collection and analysis methods (Giacobbi et al., 2005; Glasgow & Chambers, 2012; Grecic & Grundy, 2016). The fundamental element of pragmatic research is that knowledge construction should be at the forefront of the approach and should offer useful, workable, and practical solutions in an applied research setting.

Glasgow (2013) defined an 'Intelligent Practice' approach, whereby knowledge gained should make an impact upon practice through extracting theory from practice, then applying the newly formed knowledge back into practice (Dewey, 1931; Giacobbi et al., 2005; Grecic & Grundy, 2016; Morgan, 2013; Bryant, 2009).

The pragmatism paradigm does not come without limitation to its research approach and has endured much criticism from several other paradigm philosophies. Both positivist and interpretivist argue against the pragmatic stance, that a continuum exists between objective and subjective perspectives and the nature of the research problem will guide the approach (Creswell, 2003; Tashakkori & Teddlie, 1998; 2003). Moreover, pragmatists have been condemned for considering the research question to be more important in selecting a method rather than the underlying philosophical alignment to a paradigm (Doyle et al. 2009). In addition, further criticism of the pragmatic philosophy is the combination of contrasting approaches (i.e., qualitative, and quantitative methods) to investigate the research problem (Onwuegbuzie et al. 2009).

A final area of contention for pragmatism is the perceived lack of apperception of ontological assumptions, alternatively favouring reality, and the influence of reality on experiences, and its focus on practical solutions to deal with real-life problems (Johnson & Onwuegbuzie 2004; McCready 2010; Morgan, 2007).

The thesis explored what, when and how coaches develop tactical knowledge in their real-life coaching environment through the duration of a professional Level 3 qualification. The series of studies provided a conceptual framework and model (Game Model) to help future coaches develop their tactical knowledge. Therefore, the research philosophy aligned directly with a pragmatic paradigm philosophy, thus the studies within the current thesis adopted a pragmatic research paradigm adopting scientific realism and pragmatism as the ontological and epistemological foundation as highlighted in table 4.1 (Bryant, 2009; Grecic & Grundy, 2016; Giacobbi et al., 2005; Glasgow et al., 2012 Dewey, 2008; James, 1907; Johnson & Onwuegbuzie, 2004).

The thesis aimed to capture as much knowledge as possible about when, how, and what tactical knowledge coaches develop within their 'real world' (Lincoln, Lynham, & Guba, 2011). The pragmatic approach allowed the researcher to be driven by the aims and chosen research questions, which allowed the researcher to explore practitioners at work and discover what was working and what required further support in the coaches' knowledge development.

Table 4.1 highlights the researcher's approach to collecting data based upon their own ontological and epistemological standpoints. The methodology and methods were selected based on the most appropriate approach in capturing coaches' knowledge development and answering the specific research questions (Bryant, 2009; Grecic & Grundy, 2016; Giacobbi et al., 2005; Glasgow et al., 2012; Dewey, 2008; James, 1907; Johnson et al., 2004).

Danadiam	Ontology	Enistemology	
	11	e	

Table 4.1. Researchers approach to collecting data.

Paradigm	Ontology	Epistemology	Methodology	Method
Pragmatism	Reality can be continually debated and interpreted through extracting theory from practice then applying the newly formed knowledge back into practice	The best method is the one that answers the research question and looks to solve the research problem	Action Research Design-based approach.	Focus groups, object learning, reflective practice, Participant observation, Stimulated recall interviews.

Action Research

Lewin (1944) and Collier (1945) were seen as the first advocates of Action Research, exploring how research could bring about a change in action or action on research. Action Research (AR) is a methodology associated and applied within social sciences that focuses upon the transformative change of practice or the justification and understanding of one's practice through self-reflection. The approach combines critical reflection, practice, and theory to bring about a change or improvement to enhance performance (Carr & Kemmis; 1986; Adelman, 1993; Avison, Lau, Myers, & Nielsen, 1999; Alder & Alder, 1994; McNiff, 2016; 2013).

The ontological stance of action researchers is shaped by the view that people create their own identities and have multiple perspectives on the same situation. In terms of the epistemology of how we understand and acquire knowledge, an AR perspective deems knowledge as something which people create through their own lived experiences. They view knowledge as a continuous learning process of growth through the evolving development of new knowledge (McNiff, 2016; 2013). Action research is an iterative process; to self-reflect upon one's practice involves practitioners and researchers working together on a specific series of events, which includes a diagnosis of a problem, interventions, followed by reflective learning (Denzin & Lincoln, 2000; McNiff, 2016; Avison, 1999).

Action Research allows practitioners in applied settings to overcome obstacles and challenge assumptions within their current practice through drawing on the experiences of participants as researchers to develop their knowledge, which in turn will bring about a change and improvement to practice (McNiff, 2016). As perceived within other similar professions such as nursing, social work and teaching, AR can have a clear benefit to coach educators and coaches when working together in the field to enhance practice (Morgan, 2019). Although several benefits can be drawn from AR, there is still a limited number of papers exploring the benefits of this approach in coaching practice and education (Clements & Morgan, 2015; Chapron & Morgan, 2020).

Even though AR has been applied within a few coaching contexts (see Ahlberg, Mallett, & Tinning, 2008; Clements & Morgan, 2015; Evans & Light, 2007; Chapron & Morgan, 2020), it is still an underutilised field of study. Recent studies have continued to form a theoretical perspective applying theory to practice, rather than allowing the practice to bring about changes in knowledge. The development of new knowledge in practice can therefore generate new theories (Chapron et al., 2020; Holter & Schwartz-Barcott, 1993; Kincheloe, 1991; McKernan, 1991).

The practical approach to AR is beneficial to practitioners and can be empowering as it places the practitioner at the heart of the process. AR allows engagement in critical reflection to develop knowledge and further understanding through learning in- and on-action. The creation of new knowledge concepts is generated through the recurring process of design, data collection, analysis, and reflection upon action, practice, and theory to bring about the change in knowledge (Berg, 2004; Evans & Light 2007; Clements et al., 2015; McNiff, 2016; 2013; Bradbury, 2015; Glanz, 1998; Chapron et al., 2020).

The original aims of the study did not set out for the thesis to become an action research project, however, with the pragmatic paradigms and through meta-reflection and reflexivity, it became apparent that findings from each study had an impact on the author as a coach educator and mentor. The critical reflexive and meta-reflection pause after each study allowed the author to review the impact of practice in his current delivery of coach education. Findings from the studies, alongside several observations carried out through the data collection methods, led the author to arrange several meetings with the other coach educators delivering on the course. The meetings explored findings from the studies and, as a group of educators, explored how they could implement some changes in their practice. Due to the research time frame, several adaptations to practice were applied during the research process to enhance the learners' experiences on the course and impact their knowledge development (McNiff, 2016; Chapron et al., 2020).

Methods Overview

The research question centred on how novice coaches develop their declarative, procedural and conditional tactical knowledge in practice as they transition into intermediate level football coaches. As such, methods that explore the existence, nature and development of knowledge were selected. These methods were from the interpretative approach and included focus groups, object learning, participant observation, reflective practice, systematic observation, stimulated recall interviews and case studies (Bryant, 2009; Grecic et al., 2016; Giacobbi et al., 2005; Glasgow et al., 2012; Dewey, 2008; James, 1907; Chatterji, 2004; Johnson et al., 2004; Dewey, 1931; 2008; Morgan, 2014; Creswell, 2003).

With a pragmatic standpoint and the adaptation of some traditional methods, the researcher felt small-scale pilot studies before each study would serve useful to ensure the chosen methods functioned in practice (Yin, 2010; Locke et al., 2000; van Teijlingen & Hundley, 2002; Prescott & Soeken, 1989). The pilot study allowed the researcher to adjust, revise processes, and reflect on certain approaches to data collection and analysis. Despite the clear benefits of pilot studies to qualitative research, there are limited studies advocating the advantages of the approach (Yin, 2010; Locke et al., 2000; van Teijlingen et al., 2002; Prescott et al., 1989; Beebe, 2007; Padgett, 2008). The detailed approach of each method of data collection and analysis is captured with each of the individual studies themselves, Chapters 5, 6 and 7.

Research Quality

Several authors suggest consistency and rigour are essential aspects for both qualitative and quantitative methods in the pursuit of quality research (Tracey, 2010; Sparkes & Smith, 2014; Noble & Smith 2015). For research to be applied within practical coaching settings, it is essential that the quality of the research is scrutinised (Noble et al., 2015).

Qualitative approaches are frequently open to criticism due to a lack of scientific rigour, a failure to give numerical data to support findings, inadequate justification of the methods adopted across studies, and a lack of transparency in the analysis process. The criteria applied to form a judgement on the quality of research are concepts such as validity, generalisability and reliability. Although these terms are more connected with quantitative research, there is a growing agreement that comparable processes can be applied within qualitative approaches to ensure rigour, credibility and integrity (Sparkes et al., 2014; Noble et al., 2015; Smith & McGannon, 2018; Patton, 2000; Thomas & Nelson, 2001; Rolfe, 2006; Tracey, 2010).

Although there has been much debate as to whether such terms as validity, generalisability and reliability can be applied to evaluate qualitative methods, several authors advocate that these terms may also be applicable in ensuring quality in qualitative methods. Qualitative enquiry has moved towards alternative terminologies such as trustworthiness and authenticity in place of reliability and validity to ensure the quality of the research. Trustworthiness and authenticity take into consideration different realities, interests and perspectives, with findings viewed through different paradigmatic lenses (Long, Johnson, Rigour, 2000; Thomas et al., 2001; Lincoln et al., 1985; 2005; Noble et al., 2015; Patton, 2002).

More recently, terminology such as credibility, generalisability, neutrality, applicability, reflexivity, consistency and truth value has been applied across multiple settings to ensure rigour and quality within the research process (Long et al., 2000; Lincoln et al., 2005; Noble et al., 2015; Berger, 2015; Townsend & Cushion, 2020). Therefore, the next part of the chapter will illustrate how the researcher ensured rigour and quality in the thesis through generalisability, credibility, reflexivity and reflection.

Generalisability

Generalisability is a term more normally associated with quantitative research when discussing the transferability of the data from one study to another of a similar context. Conversely, applicability is a more common term applied within qualitative approaches, which refers to the consideration of whether findings can be applicable in and across similar settings (Noble & Smith 2015; Smith, 2018). However, Smith (2018) offers arguments for the consideration of generalisability within qualitative studies and for sport and exercise science researchers not just to be drawn down the negative path of only associating generalisability as a limitation of studies.

The thesis carried out a comprehensive investigation into a small group of football coaches' tactical knowledge, rather than an extensive group, studying on a Level 3 coaching qualification. The six coaches in the thesis studied the Level 3 qualification across five different County Football Associations (CFA) in the Northwest of England. The marker of quality research is the impact that the findings can have within a chosen field of study or specific context settings (Smith, 2018). The findings from the thesis highlighted some vital areas of practice that required attention to support the coaches' knowledge development. Furthermore, this had a significant impact on the researcher as a coach educator and brought about a change in delivery on the Level 3 course. These findings gave some generalisability across courses in England and may also be comparable with other coach educators as the issues identified were similar across five CFA Level 3 courses based on the coaches within the thesis.

Although the findings could represent a similar cohort studying the same qualification, at the same stage and have the same experience and knowledge, from the researcher's own experiences as a coach educator it would be difficult to draw a definitive conclusion on generalisation (Smith, 2018; Sparkes & Smith, 2014; Chenail 2010). Any Level 3 course across the country may attract coaches with different backgrounds, knowledge, and experiences than the sample within the current thesis. Therefore, the cohort may not accurately represent the characteristics of all groups of coaches undertaking the qualification across the county.

Therefore, some findings may provide evidence towards certain types of generalisation, such as the level of expected tactical knowledge novice and intermediate coaches have at the start of the course, or the tactical knowledge displayed in practice by coaches may allow comparisons to be drawn. Nevertheless, the researcher encourages coach educators, educators, and coaches to reflect

upon the findings across the studies and consider how the conclusions are transferable to their coaching domain to develop tactical knowledge (Smith, 2018; Chenail 2010).

Credibility

A further consideration for the research was around credibility. Credibility has become a common term used when addressing issues such as 'trustworthiness' or 'truth value' (Noble et al., 2015). A researcher is required to ensure the research process is transparent and assure the reader that what is written is a truly accurate account of what occurred.

Several strategies were employed to ensure the credibility of the findings. Firstly, this chapter explored the researcher's philosophical position on concepts of ontology, epistemology, methodology and methods applied across the thesis to counteract any methodological bias. Furthermore, Chapter 1 discussed the researcher's personal experiences drawn from coaching practice, coach education and academic background over twenty-four years within the specific context of the study.

Secondly, several strategies were employed to ensure the accounts given throughout the thesis were an accurate interpretation of the coaches' thoughts, actions and constructions of reality. Firstly, across all studies, rich texts of verbatim were included in the results and discussions to demonstrate the coaches' views, behaviours and knowledge. The inclusion of a range of coaches' interpretations, dialogues, and demonstrations from the multiple methods of data collection (focus groups, object learning, participant observation, stimulated recall) give a holistic perspective of each coach in and across studies to examine the comparisons and differences between each of the coaches (Sparkes et al., 2014; Morse, 2002; Slevin, 2002; Nobel et al., 2015). These multiple methods of enquiry are often described as methodological triangulation (Denzin & Lincoln 2000; Patton, 2002).

Further modes of triangulation within the thesis were employed through data triangulation and theory triangulation. Both modes helped form the conceptual framework discussed in Chapter 3, which was designed through a variety of sources (Denzin, 1978). Several authors suggest that a conceptual framework aids the researcher interpret the findings of studies in the systematic study of particular phenomena in which social theory plays a significant aspect (Salmon, 1992; May, 1993; Leshema et al., 2007). Conceptualisation was integral in the research process as theory informed the decisions and allowed the researcher to make sense of the field of study. The conceptual framework and model encouraged the researcher to be explicit in the research process and inform interpretation and meaning towards the appropriate analysis of the data (Cohen, Lawrence, & Morrison, 2000; Leshema et al., 2007; Salmon, 1992; May, 1993).

Another strategy applied to ensure rigour and trustworthiness was member checking or member reflections and a critical friend (Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Birt, Scott, Cavers, Campbell, & Walter, 2016). Birt et al., (2016) suggested member checking can add credibility to study findings and results. The coaches were sent and asked to review the data transcripts and recordings to validate the truthfulness and that what had been written reflected an accurate account. Furthermore, at certain times within the data analysis, coaches were individually emailed to clarify or expand on specific explanations or demonstrations which required additional clarification. Applying member checking controlled the subjective bias of the researcher in the data analysis process (Birt et al., 2016; Smith & McGannon, 2018; Lincoln et al., 1985).

To further assure rigour, trustworthiness, and credibility a critical friend with over 30 years of experience in the field as a coach and coach educator engaged in the data collection and analysis process (Lincoln et al., 1985; Birt, Scott et al., 2016; Noble et al., 2015). The critical friend provided honest and critical feedback on several stages of the analysis process, checking definitions, observing the coaches' actions, alongside examining the primary and sub-themes of each study, making several minor recommendations.

Reflective Practice

The notion of reflection first appeared in the work of Dewey (1931), an educationalist and advocate of pragmatism. He developed the concept of reflection drawn from experimental learning theories. In addition, Lewin (1951) later suggested a new higher level of knowledge could be developed through reflection, which in turn could reinforce learned behaviour (Ghaye & Lillyman

2000). Moreover, several other influential scholars have described the notion of reflective practice, however, it was not until the work of Schön (1983) that it came to the forefront of many professional practices. Schön (1983) advocated that practitioners should apply reflection when they encounter new circumstances or difficulties, whereby previously learned techniques or theories could not be applied, requiring practitioners to draw on previous knowledge or similar encountered experiences (Ghaye & Lillyman 2000).

Several professions such as nursing, social work, teaching, and the military had all received extensive research into the benefits of reflective practice as opposed to sports coaching, despite sharing several common characteristics (i.e. working with people, varying practical environments and making real-time decisions). However, reflective practice has only come to the forefront of sports coaching literature over the last 25 years (Knowles, Gilbourne, Borrie & Nevill, 2001; Knowles, Borrie & Telfer, 2005; Lee, Chesterfield, Shaw & Ghaye, 2009; Knowles, Tyler, Gilbourne & Eubank, 2006; Taylor & Garratt, 2008; Knowles, Gilbourne, Cropley & Dugdill, 2014; Cropley & Hanton, 2011; Cropley, Miles, & Peel, 2012).

During this period, several authors started to explore how sports coaches develop and learn effective reflective skills. Collins (1998) suggested they require effective cognitive skills which would allow coaches to think critically. Likewise, Saury and Durand (1998) and Knowles and Borrie, (1998) proposed that sports coaches learn from an amalgamation of practice and theory, whilst Cropley et al., (2011) propose that reflective practice is a crucial part of the learning process which allows practitioners to make sense of knowledge-in-action (Knowles et al., 2001; Cropley et al., 2012).

The reflective process enables coaches to improve the quality of their practice and gain an enhanced understanding of the complexity of practice. Through critically evaluating and drawing on past experiences, it allows practitioners to make a more informed decision within and upon practice. Thus, they can identify areas for improving knowledge and facilitate future learning (Lee et al., 2009;

Knowles et al., 2005; 2006; 2014; Cropley & Faull, 2009; Cropley et al., 2011; Cropley et al., 2012; Partington, Cushion, Cope & Harvey, 2015; Partington & Cushion, 2013; Cushion 2018).

The concept of reflective practice was initially introduced to the researcher via studying for an undergraduate coaching science degree. As Knowles et al., (2005; 2006) suggests, knowledge and skills of reflection were acquired from academic studies rather than coach education. Developing efficient and effective reflective skills has had a significant impact on the researcher's practice as a coach, coach educator, and lecturer and now as a researcher. Through becoming a reflective practitioner, it has formed an integral part of continued self-assessment. Critical reflection on practice has led to the development of a greater understanding of capabilities, self-knowledge and a greater self-awareness (Knowles et al., 2006; Culver et al., 2006; Cropley et al., 2011; Knowles, Katz & Gilbourne, 2012).

Critical reflection has facilitated personal growth and development by assessing capabilities and skills against specific criteria or identifying gaps in knowledge. This process has steered the researcher to acquire further qualifications in the form of a UEFA A Licence, PGCE, MA in Sports Coaching and currently a Professional Doctorate. These qualifications have enhanced and supported the development of both professional and craft knowledge, alongside advancing analytical and critical thinking skills to be a more effective practitioner (Lyle, 2002; Knowles., et al, 2005; 2006; 2014 Lee et al., 2009; Cassidy et al., 2008; Partington et al., 2015; 2013; Cushion 2018).

Through the years, several models of reflection (Dewey, 1933; Schön, 1983; John, 1993; Gibbs, 1998; Driscoll, 2007) have had a significant impact on the development of the researcher's reflective skills. Gibb's (1998) 'Reflective Cycle' served well as an undergraduate and novice coach, however, as the researcher's knowledge and skills developed, so did the reflective process. This in turn led to the adoption of Driscoll (2007) process. Driscoll (2007) process has been beneficial to the researcher's development as a lecturer, coach and coach educator. The model has been continually utilised over the last 10 years and continues to serve valuable in the reflective process. The process

facilitated learning across several areas including professional knowledge, pedagogical knowledge, coaching interventions, practice design, mentoring and coaching behaviours.

The three stages of 'What?', 'So What?' and 'What Now?' are worthwhile processes in daily reflections with most aspects justified or solved at the 'So what?' stage. However, the critical part of the process for the researcher was the 'What now?' This stage in the process could often take several days to solve or justify the initial approach applied to a situation (Driscoll, 2007). Through applying the model in practice, it became apparent that it is imperative to reflect on all experiences, both positive and negative aspects as an experience independent of reflection is not sufficient for learning to take place. Therefore, practitioners need to reflect upon all experiences to bring about a change, reinforce knowledge and consolidate good practice, which can enhance understanding and develop confidence (Lyle, 2002; Knowles et al., 2005; Lee et al., 2009; Cropley et al., 2012).

Meta-Reflection

Meta-reflection is a profound process that can be linked to core reflection, meta-awareness and metacognition. The process involves thinking about one's reflections and actions at a deeper level to show one's understanding, learning and development (de Freitas and Neumann, 2009; Korthagen & Vasalos, 2005; Thorpe & Garside, 2017).

Bengtsson (1995) suggests it is vital to break reflection down into stages that support the learning process, moving from descriptive to synthesis level. Bengtsson (1995) classifies four stages of reflection: self-reflection, thinking, reflecting for self-understanding, and distanced self-reflection. Similarly, Samuels and Betts (2007) identify four aspects of reflection: re-examining reflections, having structure, taking accountability, and metacognition (Thorpe & Garside, 2017). Metacognition is the understanding of cognition and the controlling of cognition. It is the awareness and understanding of one's knowledge and the ability to control and understand one's cognitive thought processes (Flavell, 1979; Ozturk, 2017; Michalsky, Mevarech, & Haibi, 2009; Veenman, Van HoutWolters & Afflerbach 2006). Meta-reflections can be described as the continuous process of

reflecting, re-examining, metacognition, analysis and synthesis of the applied methods, methodologies, data analysis, actions, professional practice and reflexivity to establish a deeper level of understanding and development of a topic (de Freitas et al., 2009; Korthagen et al., 2005; Thorpe et al., 2017).

As discussed earlier, Driscoll's (2007) three-stage model has served as a valuable process, with the critical part of the process the 'What Now?' This stage in the process required time, deeper levels of reflection, re-examining of reflections and metacognition. During the thesis, there have been numerous times where the researcher has been stuck at the 'What now?' stage but only through critical reflection, metacognition and reflexivity have managed to develop and move forward (Cropley & Faull, 2009; Lee et al., 2009; Knowles et al., 2006; Bengtsson, 1995; Samuels et al., 2007; Thorpe et al., 2017). Throughout the thesis, meta-reflections were applied on numerous occasions and stages within the research process, however, examples of meta-reflections and reflexive pauses are discussed in between the studies. The pauses were a summary of thoughts, feelings, and opinions along the journey and often were a conflict between the researcher as the practitioner and the researcher as the researcher in which reflexivity played an integral part.

Within previous studies and practice, journals were used to write notes to help facilitate learning (John, 2000) and at the start of the thesis, the researcher used a journal coinciding with Driscoll's (2007) process to aid reflections. The process allowed the researcher to write down thoughts and feelings straight after meetings, readings, observations, discussions or after each data collection point. However, nine months into the process, the approach changed and the researcher started making voice notes to record thoughts, as many reflections seemed to happen when driving in the car, out on a bike ride, or in the middle of the night. The best process was to record thoughts and then replay them at a more convenient time. The researcher reflected on both positive and negative aspects of the research, methods and data analysis, and kept formulating new concepts that could be then applied. It has been imperative to link theory and action by reviewing the aim of the thesis alongside continuing to relate how findings can impact practice. The whole reflective process,

supporting voice notes and writings helped the researcher to stay focused on the main aim of the research, which was to explore how coaches develop tactical knowledge and what we can do as educators to aid learners to do to develop tactical knowledge and improve practice (Whitehead, et al., 2016; Kolb, 1984; Lyle, 2002; Knowles., et al, 2005; 2006; 2014 Lee et al., 2009; Cassidy et al., 2008; Partington et al., 2015; Cushion 2018).

Reflexivity

The concept of reflexivity has been firmly rooted in social research for many years and is seen as a fundamental component of its qualitative approach. Despite its popularity within the social sciences, reflexivity takes numerous forms which all have various meanings, types and interpretations, with some scholars suggesting the area is still undefined (Pillow, 2003). The different perspectives of reflexivity in social research are grounded by the different ontology, epistemology and methodological standpoints. Moreover, several scholars suggest that reflexivity can be a challenging concept to put into practice due to the diverse classifications and approaches (Clifford & Marcus, 1986; Geertz, 1987; Denzin & Lincoln, 2011; Foley, 2002; Townsend & Cushion, 2020; Giddens, 1991, Beck & Beck-Gernsheim, 1995; Bauman, 2000).

Within the literature on reflexivity, there are several main schools of thought from a sociological perspective. However, several authors describe reflexivity as the process of how the researcher considers how their own beliefs, values, backgrounds and attitudes influence their interpretations and impact upon their research. Additionally, other scholars view reflexivity as how the researcher writes themselves into the text and then analyses their reflections to try and balance the subjectivity. This reflexivity approach is seen to add value and greater depth to the analysis process and gives meaning to the hidden insight through reflecting upon lived experiences or social and personal connections which enhance ethnographic research (Maton, 2003; Van Maanen 1988; Sparkes, 2002; Berger, 2015; Foley, 2002; Townsend et al., 2020; Kenwaya & McLeod, 2004; Pillow, 2003).

Giddens (1991), Beck and Beck-Gernsheim (1995) and Bauman (2000) were some of the first scholars to describe reflexivity from a contemporary autobiography perspective, exploring it from an ontological categorisation and a modernisation. They disputed that set roles, identities and classifications of society should be removed from outdated parameters through self-monitoring and individualisation. Moreover, post-positivist and critical realists argue that the strength of epistemological reflexivity for producing objective knowledge lies in the importance of the relationship between the knower, the known and the researcher's influence on the research process (Archer, 2010; Maton, 2003; Guba & Lincoln, 2005; Townsend & Cushion, 2020; Berger, 2015; Kenwaya & McLeod, 2004).

Although self-reflexivity has many strengths and is seen as an important process in social research, it does not come without criticism (Wacquant, 1989; Bourdieu and Wacquant, 1992 Bourdieu, 2003). The work of Bourdieu (2003) is perceived to have had a significant impact on reflexivity from an ethnographic and post-structural epistemology view perspective. Bourdieu (2003) discussed the requirement to practice reflexively in social research where a practitioner would find themselves in a dual role as a sociologist and scholar. Within the current thesis, the author played the role of the researcher and coach educator.

In contrast to other reflexive positions, this sociological method of reflexivity explored the notion of objectivity in research (Wacquant, 2004). It has been suggested that social scientists are required to question their academic position, scrutinising the theory alongside themselves as a researcher and as a practitioner within their context (Bourdieu, 2003). This approach requires ethnographic researchers to be transparent in their methods and ensure integrity and trustworthiness in data collection, analysis and representation of findings as valid claims (Foley, 2002; Bourdieu & Wacquant, 1992). Bourdieu's 'reflexive practice' indicates that practice should be continually analysed from both a theoretical and methodological perspective and practitioners are required to be aware of their personal, practitioner and research biases (Bourdieu, 2003; Bourdieu & Wacquant,

1992; Kenwaya & McLeod, 2004). Furthermore, several scholars such as Alvesson and Skoldberg, (2009) and Howe (2009) have advocated that reflexive practice adds value and should be more broadly applied across ethnographic research (Alvesson & Skoldberg, 2009; Howe, 2009).

Within the current thesis, the researcher felt that two main reflexivity standpoints were imperative for the write-up in the forms of self or personal reflexivity and cross-field reflexivity (Macbeth, 2001; Finlay, 2002; Berger, 2015; Bourdieu & Wacquant, 1992; Thorpe, Barbour and Bruce, 2011; Olive and Thorpe, 2011). Self-reflexivity identifies that the researcher is a key influence and essential to the data collection, interpretation and analysis process (Finlay, 2002; Berger, 2015). Etherington (2007) suggests that personal reflexivity allows the researcher to be visible at any stage within the research and that the researcher is transparent upon how their values and beliefs influence the research process.

Reflexivity allowed the researcher to add in their personal experiences and knowledge to support the data and provide a theoretical standpoint which shaped the methodological approaches and formed a vital part of the write-up process. It allowed the researcher to add context and meaning for the reader as in some parts within the data what the participants were explaining or demonstrating did not give full explanations, meaning the context could be lost. The approach at certain times became important when emphasising the different types of knowledge displayed within the practical settings and observations (Van Maanen 2011). The researcher's background in the field is discussed in Chapter 1.

At times, this process became challenging as not only did the study explore how what and when coaches develop knowledge, but it also looked at the researcher as a practitioner and educator. The findings throughout the studies brought about adaptations and changes to practices. Therefore, in order not to shift the balance within the thesis, a reflexive engagement approach was employed.

Within self-reflexivity, it is fundamental that the research focus does not shift too much upon the researcher and away from the participants, although writing in self-awareness enhances the research process (Finlay, 2002). Finlay (2002) described a reflexive engagement as a process that does not

overpower the findings of the research but gives the reader some accounts of what the researcher was thinking in their approach.

The second approach to reflexivity within the thesis drew upon cross-field reflexivity, which was influenced by Bourdieu's reflexive practice (Thorpe, Barbour and Bruce, 2011; Olive and Thorpe, 2011). The fields can be described as the social space or context in which the researcher finds themselves and the objective relationship between the researcher and the practitioner. Within the current thesis, the author can be identified as having many roles such as a researcher, coach educator, and mentor (Bourdieu & Wacquant, 1992; Thorpe et al., 2011; Townsend et al., 2020). It was vital that at different stages of the data collection the researcher stayed objective and formed the sole role of the researcher. Findings from the data collection enabled the author to examine themselves through the lens of a coach educator by reviewing practice through the action research approach, and secondly as a mentor to support the coaches with their development.

Although some authors highlight the significance of reflexivity or reflexive practice in ethnographic investigations, there is still a lack of literature and supporting research demonstrating how reflexivity can be applied in practice as a theoretical approach to enhance the research process (Berger, 2015; Townsend & Cushion, 2020). It was not until Townsend and Cushion (2020) applied Bourdieu's reflexive practice as a framework to show how sports coaching research could adopt a more relevant and critical approach to examine self-awareness within ethnographic research (Powis, 2018; Townsend et al., 2020). Townsend et al., (2020) highlighted how one of the authors was embedded within the coaching context as well as the research and how the author moved between the roles. Moreover, within the present thesis, the researcher crossed fields to a coach educator and then a mentor. The reflexive cross-field process balanced and restored any conflicts between the researcher as the coach educator and as the researcher himself, which enhanced self-awareness in both fields. This process within ethnography helps bring about authenticity and strikes a balance between objectivity and subjectivity through reflexive practice on the theory, researcher and practice (Thorpe, 2009; McNay, 1999; Wacquant, 2004; Olive & Thorpe, 2011).

Within the current study, the researcher positioned the 3 reflexive accounts within the meta reflection sections at the end of each study. Each engagement was a combination of thoughts, feelings and analysis from one specific moment in time and allowed the researcher to track changes across time and act as checkpoints within the research process. Furthermore, it allowed for self-critical reflection and made the researcher more aware of himself. It allowed the researcher to continue to refine his ontology, epistemology, methodology and methods in line with the main aim of the research, which was to focus on bringing about change in practice and applying methodologies and methods that would support findings and change rather than the be shackled by paradigm standpoints.

Chapter 5 (Study 1): An Investigation into the baseline tactical knowledge of Level 2 coaches at the start of their Level 3 journey.

Introduction

The literature review (Chapter 2) and the conceptual framework (Chapter 3) both illustrated several significant concepts which form sport-specific tactical knowledge. The tactical concepts can be defined as; the moments of the game, the principles of play, playing styles, systems of play, strategies and tactics. The importance of developing extensive tactical knowledge is considered an important characteristic for coaches on their journey from novice, intermediate to elite. However, the majority of studies in the field have explored the novice vs expert paradigm. Furthermore, there is a lack of research upon the concepts of tactical knowledge (Galanter et al., 2005; Lyle, 2005; Vergeer et al., 2009; Kaya, 2014; Stoszkowskia et al., 2015; Stodteret al., 2017; Walker et al., 2019).

Moreover, football coaches studying a Level 3 coaching course often come from diverse backgrounds with an array of coaching and educational experiences. Hence, the study explored the differential levels of tactical knowledge and understanding at the beginning of the course. To obtain pre-course baseline insights on the coaches' level of tactical knowledge would be advantageous for coach educators. It would enable learning to be planned around the needs of the coaches, rather than presume that coaches begin courses with the same level of knowledge and experience, without consideration of the different coaching and educational experiences.

The best way to gain a true reflection of coaches' pre-course baseline tactical knowledge is to assess and analyse the coaches' knowledge at the start of the Level 3 course. Therefore, the study explored a group of 6 football coaches' tactical declarative (what to do) and procedural (how to do it) knowledge through focus groups and an object learning pedagogical approach (Chatterjee & Hannan 2015; Nash et al., 2006; Price et al., 2019; 2020; Hewitt et al., 2016; DelgadoBordonau et al., 2016; Grehaigne et al., 2005; Pill, 2014; Stodter et al., 2017; 2020; Chesterfield et al., 2010; Piggott, 2012; Vella et al., 2013).

Method

Participant Selection

Previous research on coaching knowledge has used a combination of several criteria to select participants such as the number of years in coaching, playing level (i.e. professional, semiprofessional or amateur) and qualifications held (Côté et al., 1995b; Saury & Durand, 1998).

The coaches were selected based on the following criteria: a minimum of 4 years coaching experience, applied to study the Level 3 course during the 2018/19 season and coaching players (youth or adults) aged 11 or older in 9 vs 9 or 11 vs 11 formats of the game. Table 5.1 below displays the coaches' profiles.

The participants selected for the present study are six male youth football coaches as no females contacted responded to the invitation. The mean age of the coaches was 30.16 years with the youngest coach aged 22 and the oldest coach aged 41. The mean number of years of coaching was 7.33. Mark had the least number of years coaching and Roy had the greatest number of years coaching. The mean number of playing years was 13.16 with both Kenny and David having the least years of playing experience. Both Harry and Mark had the highest number of years of playing experience. The mean number of coaching hours per week was 4.58 with Roy coaching the most hours per week and Kenny coaching the least number of hours per week.

Ethical approval for this study was granted by Liverpool John Moores University Research Ethics Committee in January 2019 reference number **19/SPS/003**. Participants were informed of the procedures employed before providing written consent before participation and relative gatekeepers were informed and permission granted.

 Table 5.1. Coach Profiles

Age	23	41	33	39	22	23	181	30.16
No. of years coaching	6	10	12	7	5	6	44	7.33
Coaching hours per week	4	3	6.5	2.5	5.5	6	27.5	4.58
No. year playing	17	13	12	10	17	10	79	13.16
Other Coaching Qualifications	FA Youth Award module 1 & 2, Futsal level 1, Prozone 1-3, FA level 1 & 2	FA Youth Award module 1 & 2, Futsal level 1Basketball & Handball level 1 FA level 1 & 2	Futsal Level 1, Handball Level 1 and a Tennis qualification FA level 1 & 2	FA Youth Award module 1 & 2, Futsal level 1, FA level 1 & 2	FA Youth Award module 1 & 2, Futsal level 1, Prozone 1-3, FA level 1 & 2	FA Youth Award module 1 & 2, Futsal level 1, Prozone 1-3, FA level 1 & 2		
University degree	BSc coaching degree, currently studying an MSc in Football Coaching	BSc in Coaching and Sports Performance.	BSc coaching degree, currently studying an MSc in Football Coaching	None	BSc coaching degree, currently studying an MSc in Football Coaching	BSc coaching degree, currently studying an MSc in Football Coaching		

Data Collection

Focus groups were employed as the primary method of data collection to explore the baseline tactical knowledge of coaches at the start of the Level 3 course during the 2018/19 football season. The use of focus groups has become an increasingly accepted alternative to traditional one-to-one interviews within the qualitative research paradigm (Heary & Hennessy, 2002; 2006; Krueger & Casey, 2009; 2015; Barbour, 2008; Krueger, 1994; Pehrson & Stambulova, 2017). Focus groups have provided a new entity of enquiry for exploring and investigating participants' perspectives, rationales behind people's thoughts, knowledge, and behaviours towards the specific phenomenon. Literature suggests that focus groups are an effective methodology to allow researchers to discover the ideas and opinions of homogeneous groups (Krueger, 1994; Heary et al., 2002; 2006; Krueger et al., 2006; 2015).

Research suggests the optimum number for a focus group is six to eight participants, however, within the current study each focus group consisted of two participants. More than two subjects could lead to a loss in contextual meaning as it would not replicate the football coaching context, with two coaches competing against each other, trying to plot and exploit each other teams' weaknesses. Two participants permitted the coaches to interact with each other around the questions posed, allowing more comprehensive exploration of the coaches' tactical declarative and procedural knowledge. The main advantage of using focus groups was that it allowed the subjects to interact with each other around the questions posed. The approach stimulated and developed ideas, and permitted for a deeper level of critical discussion, allowing richer information to be gathered by the researcher around coaches' tactical knowledge. Moreover, it allowed the participants to question and challenge each other's perceptions and assumptions and generated a greater range of responses (Lewis, 1992; Heary et al., 2002; Hennink et al., 2011; Kvale, 1996; Gratton et al., 2004; Krueger et al., 2015; Pehrson et al., 2017).

Within the focus groups, a pedagogical approach called object-based learning was employed, an approach becoming increasingly used by academics in teaching and learning (Chatterjee & Hannan 2015). The pedagogical approach engaged learners and energised learning and teaching through the
use of objects. The objects were employed in several ways to enhance and draw out information and facilitate participants' observational skills and tactical knowledge. A Subbuteo set was used as the key object to allow the subjects to demonstrate their knowledge and understanding around questions posed within the focus group (figure 5.1).



Figure 5.1. Object Learning approach, Subbuteo figures and pitch.

Each participant had 11 Subbuteo players to display their system of play, strategies and tactics. It allowed them to demonstrate their application of tactical knowledge. The Subbuteo figures assisted the coaches to learn alongside further developing their knowledge via observing and engaging with each other's tactical setup (Reading, 2008; Chatterjee, 2010).

For the focus groups, a semi-structured discussion guide (see Appendix 11.1 p.255) was developed and employed by the moderator (the researcher) to guide discussions and ensure key topics of enquiry are covered (Krueger et al., 2000; 2015; Barbour, 2008; Heary et al., 2002; Hennink et al., 2011). The discussion guide, although structured in its design and approach to ask the participants key questions in a logical order, also allowed for passages of unstructured questioning and flexibility when required. The researcher's role in the process was to facilitate and guide the discussion, acting as a moderator and ensuring subjects remained focused on the topics to be covered. The role involved interacting with coaches while probing both cognitive responses and Subbuteo figure demonstrations (Gratton et al., 2004; Hennink et al., 2011; Krueger et al., 2000; 2006; 2015). The moderator was required to be more flexible at certain points to allow the discussion to flow and take a natural course, capturing a greater depth of enquiry around specific topics. The moderator's skill was to develop relevant questions during the focus group process itself. The focus groups were influential in

assessing individual coaches' perceptions and analysing their current tactical knowledge. The focus group started with questions around the coaches' background and development before progressing onto their understanding of the moments of the game, principles of play, styles of play, systems of play, strategies and tactics.

To gather and analyse information, the researcher required a means to collect the information. The use of a Dictaphone or digital video camera are two effective methods to obtain data as the whole focus group can be recorded and replayed to draw out significant points and themes. Within the study, data was collected through the use of a digital video camera (Panasonic HC-V770) to record the focus groups and to film the participants use of the Subbuteo pitch and figures to support the participants, facilitating them to demonstrate their explanations (Gratton et al., 2004; Krueger et al., 2006; 2015; Barbour, 2008; Heary et al., 2002).

Another vital means of collecting data during the focus group process was through making field notes. Field notes formed an essential activity for the researcher as they allowed the researcher to write down their thoughts, observations and reactions to situations that occurred during the focus groups. Incorporating reflective practice within the writing of field notes facilitated a greater understanding, which allowed the observer to review and study their notes and observations at different points in time, and aided the analysis processes (Ghaye & Lillyman, 2000; Hammersley & Atkinson, 1995; Kvale, 1996).

Data Analysis

Verbal data was transcribed verbatim producing separate transcripts for each of the focus groups. Due to the nature of the focus group, the researcher had to transcribe word-for-word each coach's explanation, followed by describing in certain sections what each coach had demonstrated through the Subbuteo figures, incorporating reflexive standpoint (see Chapter 4) (Chatterjee et al., 2015; Bourdieu et al., 1992; Berger, 2015). Primary screening was undertaken to remove references to the coaches and, to protect their identity thus for the study, key pseudonyms have been used for each coach (Lincoln et al., 1985; Patton, 1990; Sparkes et al., 2014).

The analysis of the focus groups went through several stages. Firstly, to generate familiarity with the data, the researcher read through the focus group transcripts on several occasions, making notes on some of the key themes. The researcher then employed a deductive approach using predetermined headings identified from the literature, the conceptual model and framework. The approach was useful to categorise themes under specific headings, and each theme was colour-coded within the focus group transcripts, creating links across the focus groups to the questions posed by the researcher. The same questions were asked across all focus groups, however, the order of questions varied slightly depending upon how the discussions flowed (Burnard et al., 2008; Sparkes et al., 2014).

Once primary themes were created the data required further coding to create sub-themes within each category. The researcher allowed the data to drive the structure of the analysis sections, highlighting key categories that emerged through the inductive thematic content analysis (Tables 5.2) (Braun et al., 2006; Sparkes et al., 2014). The content analysis led to the re-categorising and order of some primary themes through the creation of emerging sub-themes. This process continued until all links had been identified. Table 5.2 displays meaningful keywords taken from the extracted quotes linked to relevant sub-themes (Patton, 1990; Braun et al., 2006; Burnard et al., 2008; Sparkes et al., 2014).

To assure validity and trustworthiness, several quality checks took place (i.e. triangulation, member checking, critical friend). A critical friend with over 30 years of experience in the field as a coach and coach educator engaged in the final stage of the analysis process and examined the primary and sub-themes, making some minor recommendations. Furthermore, each coach was sent a copy of their interview transcripts for member checking, to check what the researcher had transcribed was an accurate account (see Chapter 4 for further detail) (Patton, 1990; Braun et al., 2006; Sparkes et al., 2014; Van der Mars, 1989).

Results and Discussion

The analysis of data in table 5.2 is presented as six primary higher-order themes, structured

from the conceptual model and framework, with lower-order themes with examples.

Table 5.2. Higher-order themes, lower-order themes and examples from the data.

Higher-order them	e Lower order theme	Examples			
Tactical Knowledge	Development of Knowledge	Courses, CPD, watching the game, other coaches, coaching experience, playing experience, reading Game understanding, principles of play, playing styles, formations, in possession, out of possession.			
Moments of the Game	Four Moments	In possession, out of possession, transition to defend, transition to attack			
Principles of Play	Attacking Principles	Creativity, exploit space, create space, stretch the play – height and width, score goals, create chance to score goals			
	Defending Principles	Delay, defend, deny space, deflect, pressure, cover, restrict space, play narrow Stay compact			
Styles of Play	Attacking Styles				
	Defending Styles	Possession-based, counter-attack, direct, playing long, over the top, play out from the back, play through the thirds, get the ball out wide, Northern European style, playing forward quickly Solid well organised, high block, deep block, organised and aggressive, high press Different styles, players' strengths, playing experience, opposition style and tactics.			
	Mixed style of play				
System of Play	Units In Possession Out of Possession	Defending units, attacking units, defensive, midfield, forwards, working units, primary unit, Secondary unit, horizontal units, the primary player 4-3-3, 4-2-4, 4-1-5, 4-2-3-1, 2-3-2-3 4-3-3, 4-1-4-1, 4-5-1,4-4-2			
Strategies and Tactics	In Possession / Out of Possession	Principles of play, playing styles, systems, in possession out of possession.			

In the following sections, each primary theme with exemplary quotes is presented to facilitate a deeper understanding of the investigated area.

Tactical Knowledge

All the coaches demonstrated some tactical declarative knowledge when questioned. They highlighted their perception of tactical knowledge and identified some fundamental concepts that underpin tactical knowledge (see Table 5.2). Furthermore, they demonstrated some procedural tactical knowledge of several concepts when demonstrating their teams' strategies and tactics.

When questioned on how they developed tactical knowledge, coaches across the board give similar responses in terms of their sources of knowledge:

"Going on all courses obviously helps and watching games helps. I just think the more you're involved in coaching football, watching football, reading about football, especially watching other games apart from your own team, you just pick up things." Kenny

"Through watching games, lots of games, listening to talks from coaches, University and the UEFA B licence. Just trying to absorb as much information as we can and try to put that into practice. It's alright just listening and reading, but by putting it into practice I think it helps us learn much more". **David**

The examples from Kenny and David highlighted several key factors which supported their knowledge development such as qualifications (i.e. university courses and coach education), playing experiences, learning from other coaches, observing games (i.e. live, on television) and social media. In addition, all coaches highlighted that applying what they had learned on the course or from observations in practice had the most significant impact upon their tactical knowledge development. The findings align with previous research upon coaches learning behaviour, with knowledge sourced and developed through a multifaceted combination of different experiences (Piggott, 2013; Werthner et al., 2009: Stodter et al., 2017; Walker et al., 2018; Deek et al., 2013; Søvik et al., 2017; Cushion, 2011; Culver et al., 2006; Trudel et al., 2004).

Moments of the Game

When directly questioned, none of the coaches could identify the specific moments of the game, which showed a lack of declarative knowledge. Several coaches had a misconception of the moments of the game, discussing other tactical concepts instead: *"The principles of play are obviously attacking, transition to defend, defending, and transition to attack"*. David

Conversely, when discussing other concepts, three coaches were able to define the moments of the game, demonstrating some procedural knowledge. Although coaches revealed some procedural knowledge they did not associate their explanations to the different moments, revealing a lack of declarative knowledge. The moments of the game are a significant tactical concept of invasion games such as football and are fundamental for a coach to understand to develop their tactical knowledge.

The moments of the game are considered to be broken down into four moments: in possession, out of possession, exploit the counter-attack (Transition) and defend the counter-attack. In addition, Hewitt et al., (2016) added set pieces as the fifth moment for consideration. Furthermore, several contemporary theories suggest that football tactics and strategies should be learned and built around the moments of the game. Therefore, it is imperative for coaches to develop moments of the game knowledge, and until they develop this declarative and procedural knowledge, they may find it challenging to advance knowledge across other tactical concepts (Wade, 1967; 1996; The FA, 2016; Martins, 2003; Frade, 2004; Gaiteiro, 2006; Delgado-Bordonau et al., 2012, 2018; Tamarit, 2015; Tee et al., 2018; Hewitt et al., 2016).

The Principles of Play

When questioned, findings showed that coaches were unable to identify all the attacking and defending principles. Furthermore, some coaches described other concepts of tactical knowledge rather than the principles of play. However, all coaches illustrated some procedural knowledge of the principles of play when explaining specific strategies and tactics, yet, often applied different terminology (Wade, 1967; 1996; Hewitt et al., 2016; Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2016; The FA, 2016).

All coaches demonstrated procedural attacking principles knowledge in the application through the object learning, and were able to describe at least one key principle or use similar terminology showing some declarative knowledge:

> "Creativity would be an attacking principle". Harry "Attacking: things like exploiting space, creativity". Mark

"Principles of play attacking wise is to create space, stretch the play with some height and width and also having a bit of security at the same time". **Steven**

The main attacking principle highlighted by the coaches was creating space. Furthermore, the coaches were able to demonstrate how they employed the attacking principles in practice through the use of Subbuteo figures displaying attacking principles procedural knowledge.



Figure 5.2. Example of the red team applying the attacking principles of play.

Figure 5.2 displays Steven employing attacking principles of play procedural knowledge by strategically positioning the players in locations that could create, maintain, and exploit space. Similarly, all coaches demonstrated procedural knowledge of creating space and support play principles when using the Subbuteo figures (Wade, 1967; 1996; Hewitt et al., 2016; Fernandez Navarro et al., 2016; The FA, 2016).

In terms of defending principles, all coaches revealed some understanding. However, not all coaches were able to describe the defending principles, the terminology used implied attempting to stop the opposition from moving forwards with the ball towards the goal alongside preventing the threat of a goal-scoring opportunity. Two coaches revealed more advanced knowledge of the defending principles than others when questioned:

"Defending principles of delay, defend and deny. Deny the space and stuff. Delay an opponent. Deflect a shot. Basically everything you can to stop them scoring a goal". Mark

"From a defensive point of view, you're looking to deny space and restrict space all the time giving the opposition less chance to play. Obviously, that's going to give you a better chance to hopefully win the ball back". **Roy**

Mark and Roy did not use the exact terminology, however, both were able to articulate several aspects associated with the defending principles, revealing their declarative knowledge. In addition, both illustrated procedural knowledge of the defending principles in practice through their demonstrations with the Subbuteo figures. Mark and Roy studied the same undergraduate degree and were both studying the same postgraduate course, however, despite their similarity in the defensive principles declarative and procedural knowledge, Mark had not been selected for the Level 3 course even though overall he displayed the most advanced principles of play knowledge (Wade, 1967; 1996; Nash et al., 2006; Price et al., 2019).

Equally, the other four coaches illustrated their procedural knowledge of the defending principles when demonstrating how to defend specific situations. Figure 5.3 displays how Kenny set up his team to defend (in blue) when the opposition was on the attack.



Figure 5.3. Example of the blue demonstrating the defending principles of play.

Kenny displayed his defending principles procedural knowledge in action through how the team were set up to defend the situation. Furthermore, through his chosen tactics: *"I would just have*

one trying to pressure him. I would let them have it there because to me there is no danger". [He placed his Striker on the edge of the box, splitting the two central defenders from the opposition and then moving his midfield unit up the pitch.]. He demonstrated how to restrict the attacking team's time on the ball and how to apply defensive pressure to limit the attacking team's passing options. This example was common for all coaches, who demonstrated defending principles procedural knowledge when explaining how they would defend (Wade, 1967; Bangsbo et al., 2002; Costa et al., 2009; Piltz et al., 2013; Clemente et al., 2014).

Findings suggest some coaches developed principles of play procedural knowledge but not necessarily established declarative knowledge. They were able to display procedural knowledge of the principles of play when demonstrating specific strategies and tactics associated with their style and system of play but were unable to identify when questioned (Nash et al., 2006; Price et al., 2019; 2020). The principles of play are a significant focus on the Level 2 course and form a key part of the assessment criteria. Moreover, coaches should have developed competent principles of play declarative and procedural knowledge before qualifying. Principles of play are fundamental to tactical knowledge development, therefore coaches are required to develop principles of play declarative and procedural knowledge associated with each moment of the game. Not developing sufficient knowledge and understanding of the principles will impact the knowledge development of other tactical concepts and areas of coaching practice (Wade, 1967; 1996; Lago-Ballesteros et al., 2010; Tenga et al., 2011; The FA, 2016; Nash et al., 2006; Price et al., 2019; 2020).

Styles of Play

All but one coach stated they had a definitive style of play, which they looked to employ in practice. The most popular style of play amongst the coaches was possession-based, however, one coach highlighted how they used a range of styles dependent upon the situation. Furthermore, one coach discussed both an in and out of possession style of play (Bate, 1988; Redwood-Brown, 2008; Ruiz-Ruiz et al., 2013; Tenga et al., 2010; Travassos et al., 2013; Hewitt et al., 2016; FernandezNavarro et al., 2018; The FA, 2016).

Steven's preferred style of play was possession-based, playing out from the back, through the thirds to build an attack. He showed a style of play declarative knowledge by explaining how and why he wanted to play this way. In addition, he was able to demonstrate how he would employ his style of play, linking his style of play with his preferred system. Furthermore, he demonstrated an alternative style dependent on the opposition approach: *"It depends on the style and the tactics used by the opposition. If they are playing a high press and we are trying to play out, sometimes if it's not on playing it short, can we play long and try and beat that press? So recognising the opposition's tactics [is important]. Are they playing a high press? If so, can we adapt? And also if sometimes they change their tactics and formation, we may have to change ours as well".*

Steven highlighted how the team would adapt their style depending on the opposition's tactics, revealing his playing styles declarative and procedural knowledge. In addition, he emphasised the biggest challenge to implementing a style of play was the fact he was only an assistant coach. Although he had some input into the team's style of play, it was ultimately the head coach's decision.

Harry, when questioned, suggested he had a definitive style of play, which was possession based:

"I would say my style of play is more possession-based. I like to have the ball, keep the ball, frustrate the opposition as much as I can, using the ball but then when we get into the final 3rd can we be creative, inventive to then look for opportunities?"

His description highlighted how he wanted to play out, being patient in the approach and playing into the midfield at the appropriate time, even when under pressure from the opposition he wanted to play this way. Harry, appeared to display a possession-based style of play, which he developed based upon his own positive experiences of playing a possession-based approach. However, later on, when discussing tactics, Harry stated it would be advantageous for players to understand different approaches and styles. Despite him recognising coaches may be required to adapt their style of play or strategy depending on the situation, he had not managed to associate this with his approach. This illustrated some underpinning styles of play declarative knowledge but a lack of procedural knowledge in practice.

Roy preferred a possession-based style of play and similar to Harry, his approach was based on his playing experience. However, his approach derived from negative playing experiences of playing a direct style, which has reinforced his possession-based approach. He exhibited style of play declarative knowledge by explaining how and why he wanted to play this way. In addition, he was able to demonstrate how he would employ his style of play, linking his style with his preferred system, illustrating styles of play procedural knowledge.

David displayed his declarative knowledge, acknowledging several different styles within the game. He did not define a distinct style, however, he wanted to play a mixed style of play. A possession-based style that looked to draw the opposition in to exploit the space created behind. David emphasised the style of play was based upon the current group of players' characteristics and he wanted to utilise the players' key attributes and strengths in how they play and align with an appropriate style. Furthermore, David exhibited his knowledge on how styles may change depending on the situation; *"The best thing about what we talked about is that the goalkeeper has a huge kick, so we said to him: 'Every game first few goal kicks look to play short if you can. Let's see if they come and press us. If they do just do that, he can kick well over the halfway line easily. The wingers are quick so if he can kick the ball over the top, then we are through on goal". I don't have a problem with that. It's entirely up to him. Whichever situation he sees fit, go for it".*

The quote once more highlighted his advanced knowledge of styles of play. He recognised that if the opposition chose to defend high and press, there would be space behind their defenders, so he encouraged the players to play a more direct approach depending (Bate, 1988; Redwood-Brown, 2008; Ruiz-Ruiz et al., 2013; Tenga et al., 2010; Travassos et al., 2013; Hewitt et al., 2016; The FA, 2016 Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2016).

When questioned, Kenny displayed some style of play declarative knowledge: "My preferred style of play is the Northern European style: fast, organised attacks" Defensively, they are solid and well-organised. Attacking, they get numbers forward in quick, fast, direct attacks. The team is organised and aggressive, with each player knowing their role".

In contrast to other coaches, his style of play was based on out of possession organised defence first, then a more direct approach in possession, attacking quickly in numbers. His approach was influenced by the number of goals the team conceded last season, so his main objective was to concede fewer goals and make the team difficult to beat. However, when illustrating his defensive style of play, he did not state a preferred defensive style. The explanation provided illustrated a mid-block in the middle third of the pitch, but he did not state this was his approach. This showed his procedural knowledge of defending styles without clear declarative knowledge.

Mark did not define a preferred style of play when questioned. He acknowledged and describe several styles, highlighting that he was not fixed to a particular style: *"It's difficult because it changes depending on who, what team it is, who we've got, the situations, external factors you can't really help, but I would say honestly it's ever-changing. I couldn't say I have a particular style of play"*.

Mark's approach is based on both his playing and coaching experiences, suggesting several factors that led him to not have one preferred style of play. He felt that different contexts required different styles, displaying his declarative knowledge of styles of play. He suggested playing styles should be aligned with the strengths of his players. Furthermore, he emphasised how he coached a range of different styles to accommodate the player's needs, alongside giving them the knowledge to adjust to playing different styles depending upon the game situation such as the opposition tactics or game state. In addition, he was able to demonstrate how he would employ a style of play, linking the style with his preferred system, revealing his procedural knowledge (Bate, 1988; Redwood-Brown, 2008; Ruiz-Ruiz et al., 2013; Tenga et al., 2010; Travassos et al., 2013; Hewitt et al., 2016; The FA, 2016 Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2016).

David and Mark also demonstrated more advanced tactical knowledge around their chosen style. Both justified their styles of play explaining how it was based around the needs and strengths of their current group of players, highlighting declarative and procedural knowledge of styles of play. As research suggests, coaches require the knowledge to be aware of how styles may need to be flexible in their approach across all levels of the game, with too many variables and degrees of freedom in

football to suggest a definitive style of play will guarantee success (Prince et al., 2020). Moreover, research suggests that for an increased chance of success, an effective style of play employed by a coach enhances the player characteristics, strengths of the team and considers several other game variables (i.e. context, score-line, time left in the game, opposition) (Reep et al., 1968; Tenga et al., 2003; 2010; Hughes et al., 2005a; Lago, 2009; Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2016; Gréhaigne et al., 1997; Garganta, 2009).

Systems of Play

The preferred system of play amongst the coaches was 4-2-3-1. Other favoured systems were 1-4-3-3, 1-4-1-4-1, 1-4-5-1 and 1-3-5-2. The systems employed were similar to the systems adopted by English Premier League teams during the 2018-19 season. During the focus group, coaches also referred to additional systems such as 1-4-4-2, 1-3-4-3, 1-4-1-5 and 1-4-2-4 (Bialkowski et al., 2016; Wilson, 2010; Optasportspro, 2019; Memmert et al., 2019).

When questioned upon the different system units, the coaches were able to identify and describe the different units as:

"You have got your defensive unit, midfield unit and your strikers so obviously you want them to work as a unit". **Roy**

"Yes, my understanding of the units is you're either working in pairs or working in banks if someone was playing a 4-4-2, 4 defenders 4 midfield players 2 attackers. You have got 3 different lines there". **Steven**

Four of the coaches demonstrated their understanding when discussing defensive, midfield and attacking units, alongside primary and secondary units. Three coaches further highlighted how training sessions are often focused on specific units and players, revealing declarative knowledge of the concept. Furthermore, coaches described how units could also exist from both a vertical and horizontal perspective across the pitch. The other three coaches revealed their knowledge of working with units in practice, however, without using the correct terminology. When questioned, three coaches discussed their system of play from an in possession perspective. Figure 5.4 example below illustrates how each coach set up and demonstrated their chosen system, with all set up to replicate the kick-off.



Figure 5.4. System of Play in possession from the kick-off.

The three coaches demonstrated underpinning declarative knowledge around their chosen system and also awareness of the players' roles and responsibilities. For example, Harry demonstrated knowledge about his preferred system: *"I like 4-2-3-1, I think. As I said previously, I have not had many opportunities to play that formation due to the nature of those players that I've got".*

Due to the coaching context, ability level and the characteristics of the players coached, he changed the system to 1-4-3-3 instead of his favoured 1-4-2-3-1. He was able to recognise the importance of players' characteristics and strengths rather than trying to make players fit a system imposed on them. This illustrated his declarative and procedural knowledge of the system of play. Moreover, when coaches were asked to demonstrate their system of play in different areas of the pitch, how the players were positioned did not replicate the chosen systems. Roy positioned the players on the pitch that represented a 1-3-3-4 rather than 1-3-5-2. Equally, figure 5.4 shows Steven's system to play out from the back. Once more how the players are positioned characterised a 1-2-4-3-1 rather than his preferred 1-4-2-3-1. This trend was also displayed by Harry with him setting up a different system to the one discussed.



Figure 5.5. System of play in possession: The red team playing out from the back.

The examples revealed, that all three coaches (Roy, Steven and Harry) were unable to detect how the system changed across the moments of the game and in different phases of the game. They all referenced a static fixed system rather than how it appeared on the pitch illustrating a lack of systems of play declarative and procedural knowledge (Wu et al., 2019; Machado et al., 2017; MüllerBudack et al., 2019; Bialkowski et al., 2016; Wilson, 2010; Bangsbo et al., 2000; Memmert et al., 2019).

Two coaches discussed their system of play from an out of possession perspective. Mark set up his system from kick-off (red team) shown in figure 5.6 in his preferred 4-3-3 stating: "*My favourite formation is ever-changing but at the moment 4-3-3. That's how I have set up, maybe not your traditional wide players. I like it quite tight and compact in here so back 4, 1 sitting in front, 2 in front and then a 3 quite wide and expansive*".



Figure 5.6. System of Play out of possession.

Mark, similar to the other coaches, demonstrated reasonable underpinning knowledge around his chosen system and awareness of the players' roles and responsibilities within the system. He highlighted and justified why the 3 strikers would stay high and not come back and defend, displaying his system of play declarative and procedural knowledge.

Likewise, David's preferred system of play was 1-4-1-4-1 and he also justified why he preferred this system: "We play 4-1-4-1. The beauty of 4-1-4-1 always seems to be that you can be sort of pretty solid without the ball, then your backline can stay compact and shift from side to side".

Once again, this revealed a good understanding of the roles and responsibilities of his chosen systems.

Moreover, when Mark, David and Kenny were asked to demonstrate their system with the ball positioned in different parts of the pitch, all three coaches continued to position the players in their preferred system, making sure that the players were always in the correct position no matter where the ball was on the pitch. This showed their declarative and procedural knowledge of systems of play, in contrast to the three coaches (Roy, Harry and Steven) from an in possession perspective. They were unable to identify or detect the change in the system displayed did not replicate their chosen system.

Kenny illustrated his system of play declarative and procedural knowledge, stating how the system may change depending on the areas of the pitch the ball is located. In addition, he highlighted how the system could change when the team are in possession: *"That changes into a 4-3-3 going forward or even a 4-2-4 or could even be a 4-1-5 going forward but I do want the back 4"*. Kenny revealed more advanced systems of play knowledge compared to the other coaches, emphasising how a team may change shape in the different moments of the game, from in to out of possession or in other areas of the pitch.

The findings illustrated how systems are not stable and change during the game, reflecting the dynamic nature of football. Furthermore, the generalisation of systems does not take into account the differences when a team is in possession as opposed to a team being out of possession, which will see player roles and responsibilities change significantly within the different moments of the game, with

only one coach displaying this knowledge. The coaches referred to the static formation classification rather than a system, not detecting how they can change when the ball is positioned in other areas of the pitch. Coaches demonstrating an out of possession system were more rigid and made sure that the players were positioned correctly, which reflected their chosen system. As highlighted within the literature, the term 'system of play' is a more suited terminology that reflects how the team will move and re-position in the different moments of the game (Wu et al., 2019; Machado et al., 2017; MüllerBudack et al., 2019; Bialkowski et al., 2016; Wilson, 2010; Memmert et al., 2019).

Further research is required to explore systems and detect how systems change within the moments of the game and when the ball is positioned in different parts of the pitch. Additional guidance and support for coaches is required to develop their observation and analysis skills, and knowledge of how to detect the changes between the different moments of the game (DelgadoBordonau, & Mendez-Villanueva, 2016; Bialkowski et al., 2016; Wu et al., 2019; Machado et al., 2017 Müller-Budack et al., 2019).

Strategies and Tactics

When questioned upon strategies and tactics knowledge, coaches gave mixed responses. Some coaches gave detailed explanations similar to David's below, while others gave examples of how they utilised strategies and tactics: "Objective first. What are you aiming for? Then you define your strategy: how are you going to do it? Then your tactics are sort of sub-principles of those strategies, so the smaller things. So related to the game, the objective could be to win the game. Your strategy could be to do so by playing long balls over their right back because he is really slow and bad. The tactics to that are how are you going to create the conditions to do so?" David

Both David and Mark displayed more advanced declarative and procedural knowledge of strategies and tactics through their explanations and application with the Subbuteo figures. All coaches discussed their predetermined strategies, tactics and playing style alongside their teams' preferred system, displaying declarative knowledge of the concepts. Furthermore, some coaches highlighted how the opposition setup, or their tactics, could impact their own team's tactics.

In terms of application with the Subbuteo figures, all coaches demonstrated how they would employ desired strategies and tactics in conjunction with the style and system of play from both an attacking and defending perspective. One coach would demonstrate specific tactics either in or out of possession, whilst the other coach would then attempt to counteract the approach by applying specific tactics to the situation. With this, some of the coaches adapted their tactics and actions, significantly influenced by the opposition tactics, while other coaches continued with their preferred tactics and had confidence that their tactics could exploit the opposition.

Research suggests coaches look to cause a perturbation, changing strategies and tactics to disturb the flow of a game to gain an advantage over the opposition. This change can be from either a defensive approach preventing the opposition from exploiting an area of weaknesses or attacking to expose a flaw in the opposition. Strategies and tactics play a vital role in informing the team, units and individual player tactical decision-making before and during games. Moreover, this illustrates the dilemma for coaches within dynamical systems, with two opposing teams competing against each other with the same objectives to score and not to concede goals (McGarry & Perl 2004; O'Donoghue, 2008; Garganta, 2009; Rein et al., 2016; Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2016; Gréhaigne et al., 1997; McGarry et al., 2002).

Coaching backgrounds

In terms of the coaches' backgrounds and profiles within the study, there was no significant difference between coaches. The knowledge displayed was sporadic with coaches showing more knowledge on certain concepts but less on others, and not displaying the same knowledge across concepts. Educational background, age, context and number of years playing did not have any impact upon the knowledge displayed by the coaches. Although Mark had the least number of coaching years, alongside David he demonstrated some advanced knowledge of certain concepts and more advanced knowledge across more concepts. However, he had not been selected for the Level 3 course. It would serve as useful to know the criteria applied when accepting candidates on the course. The findings illustrated that

despite coaches having similar knowledge and education, the two coaches not selected for the course only differed in terms of age and the number of years. An area for further investigation, therefore, would be to distinguish if age and the number of years coaching are the significant factors for measuring someone's suitability for the course, rather than considering the coaches' level of knowledge, playing and coaching experience and educational background.

Chapter Summary

Football coaches who undertake Level 3 coach education courses often come from diverse backgrounds with an array of coaching and educational experiences. Hence, the study aimed to explore the tactical knowledge of Level 2 novice coaches at the start of their Level 3 journey.

The findings suggest that the coaches within the current study demonstrated some levels of both declarative and procedural tactical knowledge for the current stage of their development. All the coaches demonstrated the application of some key areas of tactical knowledge in terms of moments of the game, principles of play, playing styles, systems of play, strategies and tactics with their teams in practice. Overall, both David and Mark displayed more advanced tactical declarative and procedural knowledge across concepts.

Coaches were unable to define key terminology at times used within the literature, however, they were able to display the application of the moments of the game alongside the principles of play. Moreover, coaches demonstrated how they applied the principles of play in both the attacking and defending moments of the game (Nash et al., 2006; Yiannakos et al., 2006; Carling et al., 2007; Tamarit, 2015; Delgado-Bordonau et al., 2012; Hewitt et al., 2016; Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2016; The FA, 2016).

The findings highlighted how all coaches only describe having a style of play for one moment of the game with the majority of coaches describing an attacking style of play. Although coaches discussed the importance of being able to adapt playing styles and tactics depending upon several situations (i.e. players' strengths, characteristics and opposition tactics) when demonstrating their preferred style, only two coaches adapted their playing style, strategy and tactics (Wade, 1996; Piltz et al., 2013; Clemente et al., 2014; Hewitt et al., 2016; Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2016; The FA, 2016).

While coaches had a clear understanding of their preferred system of play, all but one of the coaches still referred to their chosen system as a one-dimensional static classification and did not detect how the system of play changes depending on whether a team is in or out of possession of the ball. In addition, the coaches had not developed the observational skills or the knowledge to identify how the shape can change as their team changes from in-possession to out of possession.

Further research is required to explore systems of play to support coaches detect how systems change within the different moments of the game and area of the pitch. Further research is required to support coaches to recognise how styles or tactics may have to be adapted to a) suit the players' characteristics within their team, or b) adapt to the opposition's tactics and strategies. In addition, more guidance is required to assist coaches to develop their observation and analysis skills, to detect how systems changes between the different moments of the game (Delgado-Bordonau et al., 2012; Bialkowski et al., 2016; Wu et al., 2019; Machado et al., 2017 Müller-Budack et al., 2019; Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2016; Hewitt et al., 2016; The FA, 2016).

From a coach education perspective, more focus is required on courses to develop coaches' declarative and procedural knowledge of the moments of the game and the associated principles of play. The principles of play are the fundamental concepts of the game that have a significant impact upon the coaches overall tactical knowledge. They are the foundations to build and develop knowledge across the other concepts (styles, systems, strategies and tactics) (Wade, 1967, Price et al., 2019; 2020; Bangsbo et al., 2002; Piltz et al., Launder, 2013; Clemente et al., 2014; Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2016).

Limitations

As with many studies, several limitations or considerations can be reached. The researcher aimed to carry out the focus groups before the start of the Level 3 course for the 2018/19 season to

explore coaches' tactical knowledge. However, due to no uniformed approach across County Football Associations (CFAs) start dates for the Level 3 courses varied, with Block 1 delivered by some CFAs in August and early September 2019. In addition, the ethical approval process was longer than expected, which meant the research could not take place until approval. With this, the majority of CFAs had now delivered UEFA B Block 1 of learning, which meant changing the focus slightly to "*at the start of their level 3 journey*", with all focus groups carried out after Block 1 of the UEFA B. However, this did not have a significant impact on the study as Block 1 is an introduction to a number of the key topics, which are then covered in more depth as participants' progress through the other 3 Blocks across 9 months of the course.

Further consideration of this study relates to the methods applied. Through the meta-reflection process, it would have been advantageous for participants to engage in both focus groups and participant observation. This would have allowed the researcher to observe and analyse coaches' baseline declarative and procedural knowledge in practice, thus comparing their knowledge developed over time (Sparkes & Smith, 2014).

Meta-Reflection 1

The first 12 months of the thesis I found the most challenging on several fronts, especially from a method and methodology perspective. Primarily, I struggled to comprehend and lacked knowledge of the different paradigms and the associated ontology and epistemology with each. I went into the doctorate with the idea to carry out one positivist approach and one interpretive approach to develop skills as a researcher in both fields and then decide on the best method for the third study.

Previous research I had carried out during my postgraduate came from an interpretive approach. Therefore, this swayed me to stick with what I knew as a safe option, so for the first study, I decided to conduct interviews to gather the data. With this, I began to explore the relevant literature in the field and wrote the methodology and methods sections for the first study.

While awaiting feedback on the draft proposal for study and the ethics form, I came across a creative approach to collect data from the practice. During a seminar with postgraduate coaching

students, I paired up the students to carry out a task applying an approach called object learning. The task involved a Subbuteo set (see Chapter 3) and some questions around the tactical aspects of the game, which had been developed through the key concepts within the literature review around tactical knowledge.

It was during this seminar that I had a 'eureka moment' based on the students' interactions within the task. For example, within the task, although a student was unable to answer the direct questions posed verbally, when they were asked to demonstrate in action with the Subbuteo set they were able to illustrate some knowledge of the concept. Therefore, I decided that this approach would be equally effective in collecting data with coaches in the first study to identify the coaches' baseline tactical knowledge. With this, I started to explore the relevant literature but was unable to discover an appropriate method to apply that would support this approach. The only method which had any similarity to the approach was in the form of focus groups. However, when exploring the literature around focus groups, several authors suggested that the sample size would be too small which could be a major hurdle to the data collection process.

Moreover, within my practice as a coach, coach educator and lecturer, I am a pragmatist. I constantly explore different approaches in practice, often trying to find the most apt approach to overcome a certain issue, meet session goals or develop learners. Yet within my research approach, I was very fixed to the boundaries and attempted to fit the research question with the research philosophy rather than use the most appropriate method to explore and answer the research question.

After some discussion with colleagues about my approach, I went down the rabbit hole of exploring the different paradigms. Exploring the literature on the different paradigms illustrated my lack of knowledge on the subject, with my knowledge previously limited to positivist and interpretative approaches. I continued to read the literature and discover several paradigms with a range of underpinning beliefs. Through reading and dissecting the literature, my knowledge and understanding started to develop in terms of methodology, ontology, epistemology and methods (see Chapter 4). Establishing and tying down ontological and epistemology with underpinning beliefs aided my knowledge development around the paradigms and gave me the confidence to apply the most suitable 130 approach to answer the research question. Through critical reflection discussions, I was drawn to a paradigm that best reflected me as a person and aligned with a pragmatic standpoint (See Chapter 4). I continued to wrestle with a pragmatic approach through reflections and metacognition but now felt confident with my approach, as now I felt I knew who I was as a researcher.

I now had a clear justification and rationale for a focus group containing only two participants, the use of a video camera to record data collection and applying an object learning method during the focus group. After a final discussion with the research team around the methodology and methods, I submitted the ethics form. Once ethical approval was granted, I carried out a pilot with two coaches. After reviewing the process, I was pleased with the outcome and decided to stick with the approach, although a few amendments to the discussion guide were made (i.e. order and types of questions) before commencing with the study.

The next challenge in the first study related to transcribing the focus groups and the data analysis process. Although I had transcribed interviews before, transcribing focus groups was a completely different challenge. Each focus group generated circa 7000 words and 10 minutes of video clip equalled 60 minutes of write-up time. The most demanding part of transcribing involved translating two different coaches alongside trying to explain each coaches' actions and demonstrations with the Subbuteo figures.

A critical aspect in transcribing the focus group was from a reflexive position. Reflexivity had become another new concept I had to grasp. Within the literature, upon reflexivity, there are several main schools of thought from a sociological perspective. However, several authors describe reflexivity as the process of how the researcher considers how their own beliefs, values, backgrounds and attitudes influence their interpretations and impact upon their research. Additionally, other scholars view reflexivity as how the researcher writes themselves into the text and then analyses their reflections to try and balance the subjectivity.

Within the study, I had to endeavour to be impartial at this stage, explain exactly what the coaches were demonstrating with their actions and explanations and not be drawn into whether what

the coaches demonstrated were accurate or not. This process involved self-reflecting on the videos, interpreting the video and making sure my account aligned with exactly what took place in the video.

After being too fixated initially as a researcher and focusing on methods and processes in the data collection stage, I fell back into the trap in the write-up and data analysis stage. A further area of reflexivity I found difficult was the process of crossing fields. This concept was new to me as all previous research had come from a researcher perspective. Previous data analysis had been applied through thematic, inductive content analysis and this is the approach I started to apply. I spent many hours coding and using thematic content analysis applying inductive themes to analyse the data. I focused solely from a researcher perspective forgetting the aim of the study and I was driven by processes.

However, as I attempted to bring themes together and critically reflect on the data it became apparent that I was not focusing on the specifics of the research question. I focused solely on a researcher's perspective forgetting the aim of the study was also to have an impact on my practice as a coach educator. Moreover, I already had the main themes set out in the form of the conceptual framework and model. I quickly moved to a deductive manner positioning the coaches' responses under the key concepts of the framework. Not all was wasted with the inductive approach as revisiting allowed the sub-themes to emerge alongside me changing the order of the concepts in the framework to form a more logical order.

During the data analysis stage, I revisited the course material and a quote caught my attention. I thus decided to write it down, Smith's (2009) definition of a professional doctorate and stick it on the inside of my notebook:

"Investigation of a professional practice issue and the generation of new knowledge and expertise, using research strategies developed and applied by the professional practitioner themselves, while practicing in that setting" (P.10, Smith, 2009).

Whenever I got stuck on the 'What now' in reflection or struggled with my standpoint, I revisited the above quote. This process allowed for the self-critical reflection and made me more aware of myself;

it enabled me to keep refining my ontology, epistemology methodology and methods in line with the main aim of the research, which was to focus on applying methodologies and methods that would support findings and bring about change, rather than the shackles of one paradigm standpoint. Whenever I felt tensions between what I wanted to do as a practitioner and applying a method or approach, it was time to reflect. This often occurred after a meeting with my supervisor where I would justify what I wanted to do and why and thus, at times, reconsider the approach I had started to undertake. Reflecting on the 'what?', 'so what?' and 'what now?' was a critical tool through the process. The 'what now?' stage always brought me back to consider 'how does this affect practice and is this approach going to answer the research question?' At times, reading too much academic literature became a hindrance as I would find new approaches and meanings and at times be drawn to new ways, although they would not help in answering the research question. I felt the first study challenged me but also helped me to develop and challenge myself which is the main reason why I decided to undertake the professional doctorate.

Chapter 6 (Study 2): The analysis of coaches' tactical knowledge in practice

Introduction

Despite the growth in popularity of coaching, the literature review (see Chapter 2) highlighted a lack of research covering the concepts of technical and tactical knowledge, with both concepts being underexplored areas within the field, and requiring further investigation. Moreover, enquiry into how coaches gain, learn, and develop knowledge has seemingly been more focused and disseminated to the academic world, rather than circulated to coaches and coach educators on the grass. Consequently, for research to have more of an impact upon coaching practice, coaches and coach educators alike, research needs to inform, guide, and help develop both practice and education (Trudel et al., 2006; 2013; Cushion et al., 2010; Abraham & Collins, 2011; Purdy et al., 2013; Piggott, 2013; Stodter et al., 2017).

Several authors suggest knowledge may be built around a hierarchical structure (see Chapter 2). A coach would acquire declarative knowledge of a concept, develop and consolidate this knowledge to form a solid base. Declarative knowledge is an individual's awareness of what to do and affects their cognitions, this includes task, strategy, variables, or people. Within a football context, this would consist of the laws, technical and tactical actions and executions (i.e. understanding what the principles of play are) (Veenman et al., 2006; Nash et al., 2006; Price et al., 2019; 2020; McPherson et al., 2004; 2007).

The next stage would be the development of procedural knowledge through applying and developing this knowledge during their coaching experiences. Procedural knowledge relates to the process taken to select the most appropriate skill or tactical action in a specific context. Within a football context, having tactical awareness is to select the most appropriate tactical action for a particular moment in the game. For example, the strategies and tactics of the in possession team when attempting to play out from the back. In addition, a coach would also be required to take into account several game considerations such as his players' capabilities, team units, the position of his team and opposition on the pitch, and game state (time remaining, score line, weather conditions). However,

findings from study one suggest that coaches may develop tactical procedural knowledge in practice without developing the required declarative knowledge (i.e. understanding of the tactical concepts) (McPherson, 1994; 2000; Nash et al., 2006; Walker et al., 2019; Price et al., 2019; 2020; McPherson et al., 2004; 2007).

The final component, conditional knowledge is knowing when, why, where, and how to apply declarative and procedural knowledge in practice. Within coaching, this would be an awareness of knowing when, where, why, and how to apply different strategies and tactics in action. In addition, being able to provide players with the knowledge to apply the most appropriate strategies and tactics at the correct moment, such as when to play out short or when to play a more direct, will be governed by the several game considerations discussed above (MacIntyre et al., 2014; Werthner et al., 2006; Cushion et al., 2003; Thomas et al., 1994; Price et al., 2019; 2020; McPherson et al., 2004; 2007; McPherson, 1994).

Therefore, the study explored 4 football coaches' declarative, procedural and conditional tactical knowledge in practice, through participant observation. The observations occurred between Block 3 and Block 4 of the Level 3 course, aligning with the time frame of the final in situ observation (Nash et al., 2006; Price et al., 2019; 2020).

Methods

Participant Selection

Four of the six coaches from Study 1 were selected to investigate their tactical knowledge development at a later stage of the course. All coaches were studying the Level 3 course during the 2018/19 season with one of the County Football Associations across North West England and had completed Blocks 1, 2 and 3 of the course. Two coaches from Study 1 were not accepted onto the Level 3 course for the 2018/19 season, therefore did not meet the study inclusion criteria (Krueger & Casey, 2015; Cushion & Jones, 2012).

Primary screening was undertaken to remove references to the coaches and to protect their identity by using pseudonyms for each coach (Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Patton, 1990; Sparkes & Smith,

2014). Table 6.1 shows the coach profiles which includes age, numbers of years coaching, number of years playing, the number of coaching hours per week, coaching qualifications, coaching context, and higher education qualifications.

The mean age of the coaches was 34 years with the youngest coach aged 23 and the oldest coach aged 41. The mean number of years of coaching was 8.75. David had the least number of years of coaching, whereas Roy had the greatest number of years of coaching. The mean number of playing years was 11.25 with both David and Kenny having the least and Steven the highest number of years playing experience. The mean number of coaching hours per week was 4.5 with Roy coaching the most hours per week and Kenny coaching the least number of hours per week.

Ethical approval was granted by Liverpool John Moores University Research Ethics Committee in March 2019 19/SPS/021. Participants were informed of the procedures employed before providing written consent, and relative gatekeepers were informed, and permission granted.

Table 6.1. Coach Profiles.

Pseudonym	Steven	Roy	Kenny	David	Mean
Age	41	33	39	23	34
No. of years coaching	10	12	7	6	8.75
Coaching hours per week	3	6.5	2.5	6	4.5
No. year playing	13	12	10	10	11.25
Other Coaching Qualifications	FA Youth Award module 1 & 2, Futsal level 1Basketball & Handball level 1 FA level 1 & 2	Futsal Level 1, Handball Level 1 and a Tennis qualification FA level 1 & 2	FA Youth Award module 1 & 2, Futsal level 1, FA level 1 & 2	FA Youth Award module 1 & 2, Futsal level 1, Prozone 1-3, FA level 1 & 2	l
University degree	BSc in Coaching and Sports Performance.	BSc coaching degree, currently studying an MSc in Football Coaching	None	BSc coaching degree, currently studying an MSc in Football Coaching	,
Coaching Context	Open Age Semi- Professional	Open Age Semi- Professional	Grassroots U15's	Academy U11's	

Data Collection

Participant observation was considered the best approach to gain an understanding of the coaches' knowledge in practice; therefore, it was employed as the primary method of data collection. Participant observation is commonly used in sports-based ethnographic studies and has emerged from anthropology and embraced as a qualitative approach within the social sciences (Alder & Alder, 1994; Gratton et al., 2004; Denzin & Lincoln, 2000; 2011; Sparkes & Smith, 2014). Participant observation allowed the researcher to investigate and learn from the coaches' actions and behaviours and assisted the researcher to gain a more complete view of coaches' learning experiences and application of tactical knowledge in practice (Patton, 1990; Gratton et al., 2004; Long 2007; Silk et al., 2005; Denzin et al., 2011; Naidoo, 2015). Moreover, it allowed the researcher to experience the social interactions between the coach and the players so that their actions and behaviours could be analysed and interpreted through observing subjects in their natural setting on several occasions during the football season (Patton, 1990; Smith, 2003; Gratton et al., 2004; Sparkes & Smith, 2014).

The nature of observation is described as a continuum from insider to outsider although the majority of field research is often somewhere in between the extremes. The role of the researcher in the study can be described as an overt insider to the group. The researcher knew the coaching domain and research investigation was known by the groups. Although the groups were aware of the researcher, he had no membership or relationship to any of the groups (Dandelion, 1995; Creswell, 1998; Hammersley & Atkinson, 2007; Sparkes & Smith, 2014).

The observations occurred between March 2019 and May 2019 after each coach had completed Block 3 and before Block 4 of the Level 3 course. This period was selected as it aligned with the final in situ observation of each coach. The observed sessions took place in the coach's own context and on their preferred date and time. To support the observation process and provide a greater depth of analysis, each session was recorded using a digital camera (Panasonic HC-V770). The digital camera was placed in multiple locations so that it captured the area of the pitch each coach was working in. Each coach wore a wireless microphone (Sennheiser, SK100 G4) and the researcher wore a headset throughout the observation to listen to the coach's dialogue with the players. In addition, the

researcher made several field notes during each of the coaching sessions to support the writing-up process. Field notes formed an essential activity as they allowed the researcher to write down some critical moments and episodes of enquiry to be analysed (Ghaye et al., 2000; Hammersley et al., 2007 Sparkes et al., 2014).

Data Analysis

The use of technology allowed the researcher to review each coaching session on several occasions and incorporate the field notes obtained from the live observations. The researcher chose the term "episode" to describe a moment when a coach demonstrated knowledge around technical or tactical concepts of the game. The first stage involved coding each session, using a modified systematic observation method, and clipping coaching episodes of technical and tactical knowledge (Cushion, Harvey, Muir & Nelson, 2012; Bloom, Allain & Gillbert, 2017). To clip each episode, an analysis software tool (NacSports) was used to create a playlist of episodes. Knowledge episodes were demonstrated during behaviour categories such as feedback, questioning, demonstration, instruction, praise, modelling and talking or thinking aloud (Ford, Yates & Williams, 2010; Franks, Hodges & More, 2001; Cushion & Jones, 2001; Smith & Cushion, 2006; Whitehead et al., 2016). The second stage was to systematically categorise the type of information provided by each coach, using content analysis. Coding key concepts as they occurred during the observation and applying a deductive analysis approach. The concepts are drawn from the conceptual model and framework (see Chapter 3, Figure 3.7 and 3.8). The concepts served as a set of guidelines to observe, record and analyse the coaching episodes categorised based on six main themes; the moments of the game, the principles of play, style(s) of play, system(s) of play, and strategies and tactics. Chapter 3,

Table 3.2 illustrates the concepts, behavioural descriptions and how they relate to the Level 3 assessment guidelines (Braun et al., 2006; Burnard et al., 2008; Sparkes et al., 2014). The third stage explored trends within the data grounded from the observations, recordings and content analysis. To analyse the data a case study approach was deemed the most appropriate method.

Case studies

A case study approach can be regarded as a naturalistic design rather than an experimental design and is an established method of enquiry used across several disciplines (Crowe et al., 2011; Yin, 2003; 2009; Miles & Huberman, 1994; Veal & Darcey, 2014; Stake, 1995). The work of Stake (1995) has been influential in case studies becoming significant within scientific enquiry through distinguishing different types of case study approaches. Yin (2009) highlights how case studies are used to understand and explain everyday events that occur in specific contexts. A case study can undertake several forms and may incorporate several cases; however, some authors suggest case studies usually explore a single event or specific phenomenon in its natural setting over a sustained period (Veal et al., 2014; Crowe et al., 2011; Yin 2003; 2009; Stake 1995; Gerring, 2007).

Case studies do not usually encompass participant observations; however, Jorgensen (2015) suggests participant observation findings are largely presented in the form of case studies and follow a similar approach (Jorgensen, 2015; Becker, 1968). In this study, the researcher was interested in the context of what the coaches said or demonstrated in terms of tactical knowledge concerning the specific technical and tactical knowledge rather than the types of coded behaviour. Therefore, to explore trends within the data, cross-case studies were employed. The four cross-case studies provide an intensive authentic and interpreted description and analysis of what transpired within each of the coaching sessions concerning the coaches' tactical knowledge in practice. The cross-case study narratives discussed the key themes, explanations, actions, and behaviours that had been analysed (Merriam, 2009; Pickard, 2013; Ponelis, 2015; Yin, 2007; Ghauri, 2004; Miles et al., 1994; Gerring, 2007).

Gerring (2007) suggests when dealing with multiple case studies the emphasis changes from an individual case to a sample of cases defined as a cross-case study (Gerring, 2007). Four case studies were created from the examined observations and recordings for each of the coaching sessions. The case studies developed a meaningful understanding of what the coaches did in the session and explored how they operated within their given context.

When carrying out analysis using a case study approach, several authors, particularly Yin (2007), advocate a staged process. The first stage of the case study process involved building narratives of the participant observation by reviewing, in chronological order of the session, the video clips with the researcher's field notes. The process started very descriptively and simplistically; it involved watching each episode and making notes to generate discussion and further understand the coaches' procedural and conditional knowledge (Bernard 1988; Ghauri et al., 2002; Miles et al., 1994; Yin 1997; 2003; 2007; Ghauri, 2004; Hammersley et al., 2007; Denzin et al., 2011).

The second stage of the process involved content analysis, coding key themes as they occurred in time during the observation, and applying a deductive analysis approach. The deductive approach formed part of a new case study narrative, which was classified by the six key concepts developed through the conceptual model and framework. The new case study narrative had the key themes, explanations, actions, and behaviours, which were analysed and underpinned with theory generated from classifications (see Chapter 8) (Ghauri, 2004; Miles et al., 1994; Hammersley & Atkinson, 2007; Denzin & Lincoln, 2011).

The cross-case studies were then compared, contrasted, and analysed to determine the differences in knowledge displayed by each coach at the same point on the Level 3 course. The distinct case studies enabled a specific examination of the real-life phenomenon of learning and explored different types of procedural and conditional knowledge displayed in terms of tactical knowledge. Furthermore, it provided insights into the coaches' specific development of technical and tactical game knowledge (Harvey et al., 2013; Potrac et al., 2002; Smith & Cushion, 2006; Yin, 2007; Ghauri, 2004; Miles et al., 1994; Gerring, 2007).

Results and Discussion

The best way to understand what and how coaches learn is to observe and monitor them in their natural environment. Therefore, the study explored coaches' declarative, procedural and conditional tactical knowledge in practice. The observations occurred between Block 3 and Block 4 of the Level 3 course, aligning with the time frame of the final in situ observation.

Four cross-case studies permitted the researcher to describe and explain the session context and draw out the different levels and concepts of tactical knowledge displayed (i.e. moments of the game, principles of play, styles of play, systems of play, strategies and tactics).

Moments of the Game

All coaches demonstrated moments of the game knowledge, with all sessions illustrating a clear emphasis relating to a specific moment. All coaches delivered an in possession attacking moment rather than out of possession or transition, although two coaches referred to the other moments of the game. In addition, not all coaches referenced a specific sub-moment of the game or area of the pitch, however, when observing the sessions, it was evident each coach focused on at least one specific sub-moment.

Roy specifically referenced the attacking moment of the game (in-possession) and went into greater depth highlighting the focus of the session, playing in the final third. This illustrated his understanding of the sub-moments of the game as well as his declarative knowledge development. Equally, Kenny displayed moment and sub-moment declarative knowledge of the game that focused on in-possession and attacking play in the final third. In addition, he displayed further sub-moment knowledge by only concentrating on the central area and right channel of the pitch. Therefore, this underlined Kenny had developed declarative and procedural knowledge since the start of the course.

Steven's session focused on an in possession moment, specifically switching play. Although he did not specify a sub-moment as the key area of focus, the emphasis was on the central midfield players' role and responsibility of playing through the middle third of the pitch, a sub-moment of the game. Although there was no sub-moment declarative knowledge displayed he showed his procedural knowledge development with the session including both a moment and sub-moment focus.

David illustrated moments of the game knowledge with a clear focus to retain or penetrate which he reinforced throughout the session. He did not state an overall sub-moment, although through his interventions he displayed declarative and procedural sub-moments knowledge. For example, he identified when playing out from the back in the defensive third, the team did not set up how he wanted. Therefore, he intervened at the next opportunity: "*Can you show me where you would be from a goal kick*"? In response, the players moved to different strategic positions on the pitch. One player was still not in the preferred position, so he followed up with another question: "*Where is the halfway line, Alex? [Go] as high as you can*". The players received minimal information regarding their positions but were able to adjust to the correct position within the sub-moment, highlighting that the specific sub-moment had previously been coached.

Overall, all coaches displayed procedural moments and sub-moments of the game knowledge throughout the sessions. Not all coaches illustrated declarative sub-moments knowledge, however, it was evident all sessions were focused on a sub-moment. Findings suggest that all coaches had developed sufficient knowledge to plan and deliver sessions focused on moments and sub-moments of the game (Wade, 1967; 1996; Hewitt et al., 2016; The FA, 2016; Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2016). *Principles of play*

All coaches revealed declarative attacking principles of play knowledge, specifically creating space, movement and support play. However, not all were able to display consistent procedural and conditional knowledge in practice. Moreover, two coaches (Steven and David) displayed procedural and conditional defending principles (i.e. cover and balance) knowledge although the sessions' focused on attacking play. Both observed that a loss of possession could lead to a transition in play, therefore they intervened to stop the threat of a counter-attack (Wade, 1996; The FA, 2016; Ward et al., 2011; Costa et al., 2009; Piltz et al., 2013; Hewitt et al., 2016; Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2016; Price et al., 2019; 2020).

Steven illustrated procedural and conditional principles of play knowledge on several occasions and within the first few episodes. The first significant episode which showed this knowledge involved the central midfielders (CM) position to support the ball to switch the play: *"Jake try and make sure if they go out wide there [to the right winger] I want you to sit in here [centre of the pitch on the edge of the centre circle] because they can bounce the ball off you or if you can feed the ball long try and switch the play ok?"*

This was just one example of several throughout that illustrated support play attacking principle conditional knowledge. Furthermore, the specifics of how he wanted the team to switch the play through the CM as the primary player. He further demonstrated conditional attacking principles knowledge concerning support play, creating space and movement, intervening with prompts or little reminders. In addition, he displayed procedural and conditional defending principles knowledge in terms of both cover and balance, highlighting the development of principles of play knowledge.

Kenny displayed inconsistent procedural attacking principles knowledge. At the start of the session, he focused too heavily upon the player on the ball or receiving. The narrow focus did not allow him to detect players taking up incorrect positions, which negatively impacted other players'. As a result, the team were unable to apply the creating space principle, which on several occasions caused a loss of possession. Research suggests less experienced coaches may often be unable to perceive the whole picture and be drawn to less relevant cues (Vergeer et al., 2009; Kaya, 2014; Price et al., 2019; 2020; Nash et al., 2006; Wright et al., 2007; Stoszkowskia et al., 2015).

Nevertheless, as the session progressed, Kenny started to coach away from the ball and observe the positions of certain players. With this he started to intervene, for example, he asked the right-midfield (RM) player: "*Can you hug the touchline to stretch the play*?" while emphasising the height principle by asking the striker to stay high. This demonstrated some procedural attacking principles knowledge, specifically creating space through width and height. However, a prominent example of Kenny's inconsistent procedural and conditional attacking principles knowledge revolved around a coaching point with the striker: "*Bobby I know you're playing centrally and that's fine. You're looking to score, but if possible, if you can see the space towards the corner flag, yeah try and make that run that will hopefully take a few defenders with you*". The intervention illustrated his lack of attacking principles declarative and procedural knowledge. Furthermore, it contradicted the earlier strategy and tactics employed with his desired style of play. Overall, Kenny demonstrated some
progress in his knowledge development of the attacking principles, however, he had not established sufficient declarative and procedural knowledge, which impacted other tactical knowledge concepts.

Roy, illustrated conditional attacking principles knowledge, specifically movement, creating space and creativity. Early on in the session he did not show explicit knowledge, for example, Roy intervened to highlight the players' movement into the final third: *"What I want to see is the movement in [the end zone] after the pass has gone okay? So the run's happening, then the pass goes, then we are connecting"*. The early interventions were missing the knowledge around when, how and why players should make the runs. However, as the session progressed he began to encourage players to create space and emphasised players' movement into the end zone, specifying the types and timing of runs. In addition, he reinforced the triggers the players were required to consider when attempting to make supporting runs, illustrating attacking principles conditional knowledge. He showed further procedural and conditional attacking principles knowledge development through his interventions, coaching support play, creating space and movement.

David displayed consistent conditional attacking principles knowledge throughout the session and on several occasions, showed advanced tactical knowledge. Although appearing simple in context, the example below illustrated his advanced tactical knowledge of the game:

David: "Remember in possession, how many lanes?"

Players: "5"

David "How many lanes out of possession?"

Players: "3"

The pitch is considered as five channels that have emerged over recent years associated with the concept defined as 'Half-spaces' (See figure 3.12) usually associated with Level 4 coaches (Lebzygold, 2017; Herold et al., 2019). Through strategic positioning of players across the five channels, the team in possession can play in-between the lines and units of the opposition. This enables the attacking team to distort the defending team's units and organise their system in an

attempt to exploit space. The above example illustrated David's conditional knowledge through his ability to take the concept and apply it in simple enough terms for players aged 11 to understand and, allow them to begin to think strategically. In addition, David demonstrated defensive principles (cover and balance) and transition conditional knowledge by intervening to ask the centre back if he would leave the opposition centre forward unopposed. This showed he was not just focused on the session aim but also the realism of the practice and to prevent the opposition striker from a direct route to goal if possession was lost.

The principles of play are viewed as the fundamental foundation for building attacking and defensive team play. Principles of play are essential concepts for coaches to understand as they underpin the development of tactical knowledge concepts. Therefore, coaches at this stage of the course would be expected to have developed significant knowledge and understanding of the principles and consistently displayed procedural and conditional knowledge during practice. All coaches had developed declarative and procedural principles of play knowledge, however, only three displayed consistent conditional knowledge during observed sessions (Wade, 1996; The FA, 2016; Price et al., 2019; 2020; Lago-Ballesteros et al., 2010; Tenga et al., 2011; Ward et al., 2011; Côté et al., 2009; Stoszkowski et al., 2016; Hewitt et al., 2016; Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2016).

Styles of play

None of the coaches defined a specific style of play, which was unexpected considering 'How we play' is a significant focus of the Level 3 course. However, through observing the coaches' instructions and desired tactics in the session, it was apparent each coach had a desired style of play (Travassos et al., 2013; Bangsbo et al., 2000; Hewitt et al., 2016; Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2016; The FA, 2016; Redwood-Brown, 2008; Reep et al., 1968; Tenga et al., 2003; Hughes et al., 2005a; Lago, 2009; Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2018).

Steven did not reveal a specific style of play, but he displayed a possession-based approach. Throughout the session, he provided technical and tactical information that encouraged players to retain possession or recycle the ball in an attempt to maintain possession. On several occasions, he

displayed procedural and conditional styles of play knowledge by intervening to discuss player on ball decisions or movement when possession was lost, or if there was a better decision or option for consideration.

Likewise, Roy did not define his style of play, however, at the start of the session, it was unclear if he had developed the declarative or procedural knowledge of the concept. An example to support this came when Roy observed players dropping back to play in the defensive third to create depth in the play. He consequently intervened in the practice and stated: *"I don't really want you playing in there because if they win it in there then the game is dead, but just get it out. I want to see the runs in"*. The initial thought was a lack of declarative and procedural attacking principles and style of play knowledge. However, as the session progressed the instructions given and associated strategies and tactics aligned with a direct style of play. In addition, Roy's instructions and desired behaviours to play into the striker early continued to illustrate a direct style that he imposed throughout. On several occasions, he demonstrated his preferred style, illustrating styles of play conditional knowledge which he had developed throughout the course (Hewitt et al., 2016; Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2016; The FA, 2016; Redwood-Brown, 2008; Price et al., 2019; 2020).

David exhibited conditional style of play knowledge throughout the session. His desired approach portrayed a mixed style of play in possession, which was portrayed by several of his interventions, for example:

David: "If we cannot penetrate straight away, what do we need to do?"

Players: "Keep possession"

David: "Yes, keep possession, backwards and sideways".

David asked questions after observing the players lose possession by trying to force passes forward. He encouraged the players to take ownership of when they could penetrate early, attack more directly, or when to retain the ball and build up the play. David showed he was able to develop the

players' awareness so they could make better strategic decisions for their current situation, based on the teams' style of play.

Kenny demonstrated declarative and procedural styles of play knowledge at the beginning of the session. His approach was possession-based that involved building up the play in the middle and final thirds. However, he then imposed a direct approach, changing the strategy and tactics despite achieving success with the possession-based approach. Nonetheless, unlike David, Kenny's mixed approach came from a lack of declarative and procedural knowledge of how he wanted to play rather than extensive knowledge. The change in a style related to earlier instructions discussed with the striker, this revealed an absence of procedural attacking principles knowledge. This had a negative impact on the understanding of how he wanted to achieve his style of play. Consequently, he had not developed adequate declarative and procedural knowledge for this stage of the course.

An effective style of play for a coach considers both their team strengths and weaknesses alongside an awareness of the style of the opposition. Three of the coaches revealed clear knowledge development in regards to styles of play. Two coaches early in the session illustrated a clear style of play that was maintained throughout. Whereas Roy did not define a style of play until midway through the session. The players would have benefited from establishing the style earlier in the session so that desired strategies and tactics could be understood and achieved.

Kenny displayed the least developed style of play knowledge and changed from one approach to another without a clear rationale for the change, which showed his lack of knowledge of the concept (Reep et al., 1968; Tenga et al., 2003; Lago, 2009; Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2018; Hewitt et al., 2016; Wade, 1967; Gréhaigne et al., 1995; 1999; Bouthier, 1988; Yiannakos et al., 2006; Price, et al., 2020; Travassos et al., 2013; The FA, 2016; Redwood-Brown, 2008).

Systems of Play

All coaches demonstrated declarative system of play knowledge. Three coaches highlighted their preferred system of play at the beginning of the session, which set the scene for the players.

However, Roy did not establish a definitive system until midway through the session. It once more would have been beneficial for the players, if he had linked the system and style of play earlier in the session. Despite this, he displayed declarative knowledge of his preferred system.

Steven and Roy employed a 1-4-3-3 system, while Kenny preferred a 1-4-5-1. The preferred systems employed were favoured systems used by Premier League teams during the 2018-19 season (Bialkowski et al., 2016; Wilson, 2010; Optasportspro, 2019; Memmert et al., 2019). David working in the 9 vs 9 formats of the game did not have an 11 vs 11 system. However, his chosen 1-2-3-3 revealed a declarative and procedural system of play knowledge based on this game format. In addition, all coaches set up the opposition in a preferred system of play when it came to the game related practice. This showed that the coaches were aware of how the opposition system and style of play can challenge, affect and impact their approach to the game (Reep et al., 1968; Tenga et al., 2003; Hughes et al., 2009; Prince et al., 2020).

Moreover, coaches displayed declarative and procedural systems of play knowledge in terms of in possession, however, none of the coaches demonstrated how their system would change from in possession to out-of-possession. All coaches referred to a static formation classification and did not distinguish if the system changed. Furthermore, none of the coaches differentiated if the system changed based upon the ball location across different sub-moments, displaying a lack of declarative knowledge.

Only David revealed some procedural knowledge of how the system changed across the different sub-moments. Recent studies have explored how systems are not stable and often change across the different game moments and sub-moments, reflecting the dynamical nature of football. The generalisation of systems being static does not take into consideration the differences when a team is in-possession as opposed to out-of-possession, which will see players' roles and responsibilities change significantly within the different moments (Wu et al., 2019; Machado et al., 2017; MüllerBudack et al., 2019; Bialkowski et al., 2016; Wilson, 2010).

In terms of working with units, all coaches displayed procedural knowledge of working with the primary player and units. All coaches worked with the primary and secondary players when intervening displaying declarative, procedural and condition knowledge. However, only Roy and Steven coached full team units.

Roy on several occasions demonstrated conditional knowledge when working with units, for example, he coached the front 3 (no.7, 9 &11) and the 2 supporting midfield units (no.8 & 10). The primary focus is highlighted in the following quote: *"The ball's zipping in [to the no.9]. My 10 and my 8 just stood and watched. When that pass is going in when you see Gibbs [no. 9], open up. You're moving on to support straight away. As soon as you see that ball going in, you're going in to support. I don't want you standing off"*. Roy by connecting the attacking principles, style of play, and appropriate strategy and tactics of when and where to play into the striker, alongside showing the wide players (No.7 & 11) where to move, how to create space and support the play displayed his conditional knowledge of working with units and working with two groups of units.

Steven's knowledge of working with units was illustrated through a pattern of play he set up with the players; "*Ritchie out to Tom, then Tom will come back this time to JP. When the ball comes out to you (RCM) here mate, I want to see if you can, after the switch across, slide it in for the winger to come onto so in between the channel can we get in behind them*".

Steven showed exactly how he wanted the team to play and how he wanted the units to combine and work together to create an opening. This demonstrated his conditional working with the unit's knowledge.

Both examples above revealed they had developed the knowledge to coach units within in a system of play, consequently displaying procedural conditional knowledge of the concept (Gréhaigne et al., 1997; McGarry et al., 2002; Garganta, 2009; Price et al., 2019; 2020; The FA, 2016).

Strategy and Tactics

All coaches demonstrated declarative strategy and tactic knowledge which aligned to their desired style and system of play. Three coaches showed their procedural knowledge, which had a significant impact on the players' actions and behaviours. The coaches predetermined strategy and tactics were built around the principles of play influenced how the team, primary units, secondary units and individual players all interacted to form tactical decisions within the sessions (Yiannakos et al., 2006; Carling et al., 2007; Hewitt et al., 2016; Tamarit, 2015; Delgado-Bordonau et al., 2016; Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2016; Garganta, 2009; Grehaigne et al., 1995; 1997; Rein et al., 2016).

Steven modelled his tactics, the CM moved the ball from the centre of the pitch out to the LW, before switching back to the CM, followed by another pass out wide to allow the RW to attack. Once the players were able to achieve this tactic, he then worked on the movement and timing of the RW's run: "*McGrath, JP will travel with the ball. Can you then come from out wide and try and cut in? Because he is going to slide you in between the FB and CB" [which had been created during the switch in the play].* Steven's strategies and tactics disorganised the opposition by creating space for the wingers to exploit, using players within the units demonstrated an understanding of the attacking principles and advanced knowledge of tactical concepts.

Roy displayed procedural and conditional knowledge by illustrating his desired style of play that involved hitting the striker (no.9) early linking how players should support the play, for example; *"What we are looking to do is hit the frontman, hitting the 9 as he has got his back to goal on the defensive line. Can we drop it back into the 10 and can our wide players [No.7 and 11] run in?"*

He focused on working with how he wanted the striker (no.9) as the primary player and the supporting midfield players (No.10 and No.8) and wingers (No.7 and No.11) to combine. This exemplified Roy's understanding of applying appropriate strategies and tactics which relate to the team's style of play

Only Kenny displayed inconsistent strategies and tactics knowledge and on several occasions, they did not align with his chosen style of play. In addition, David and Steven displayed further

knowledge through the implementation of opposition strategies and tactics during the session so that it replicated a more realistic game situation.

Unless a coach has established declarative, procedural and conditional principles of play knowledge it can be challenging to align appropriate strategies and tactics with their preferred style and system of play. Without this, it can often lead to inconsistent behaviours and a lack of clarity of information provided to players (Wade, 1996; 1967; Travassos et al., 2013; Bangsbo et al., 2000; Hewitt et al., 2016; Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2016; The FA, 2016; Redwood-Brown, 2008).

In terms of overall Level 3 competency, all coaches required further development of knowledge on systems of play in the different moments of the game. David, Roy and Steven were on track to be deemed competent, however, based on the observation, Kenny would not be deemed competent. He had not developed sufficient declarative and procedural knowledge on several concepts especially the principles of play which then impacted other concepts of tactical knowledge.

In terms of the coaches' backgrounds and profiles, findings suggest that coaching hours, coaching domain and education could have had an impact upon the coaches' knowledge development. The coach who displayed the least developed knowledge had the least across all three areas. It is difficult for a coach to develop procedural and conditional tactical knowledge without spending extensive time coaching. Kenny coached the least amount of hours per week compared to the other coaches. This meant at this stage of the course he had spent less time on the pitch delivering the tactical concepts in practice. It is difficult for a coach to develop procedural and conditional tactical knowledge without spending extensive time coaching.

Furthermore, in comparison to the other three coaches, Kenny coached an under 15's grassroots team as opposed to Roy and Steven who coached at semi-professional level and David at Academy level despite him working at 9 vs 9 formats of the game. The coaching domain could have an impact on the coaches' knowledge development. David in an academy setting would be working with Level 3 and 4 coaches which could allow him to learn and develop his knowledge. Similarly, Roy and Steven at a semi-professional level would be exposed to players with developed tactical

knowledge of several of the concepts, alongside both worked with a level 3 coach. Kenny in contrast worked with grass-roots players with less tactical knowledge alongside his co-coach lacked knowledge and experience.

The final difference between Kenny and the other coaches was that the other three coaches all had studied a University coaching degree programme while Kenny's highest level of qualification was Level 3. Therefore, the other three coaches through the education may have developed additional declarative knowledge and been more familiar with several of the concepts of tactical knowledge. However, as illustrated in study 1 this was not likely to be a significant factor.

Finally, age, number of years coaching and number of playing years had no significance on the coaches' knowledge within the present study. David who had the least in all three categories displayed the greatest depth of tactical knowledge overall (Blackett et al., 2017; Stodter et al., 2017).

Chapter Summary

The study explored coaches' tactical knowledge in practice between Block 3 and Block 4 of the Level 3 course. The key findings related to six key concepts of tactical knowledge concerning the conceptual framework and model: the moments of the game, principles of play, styles of play, systems of play (including working with units), and strategies and tactics.

The findings suggest that the coaches with more advanced tactical knowledge demonstrated more episodes of procedural and conditional principles of play knowledge during practice. A coach requires sufficient principles of play knowledge to be able to link to styles and systems of play with the appropriate strategies and tactics across each moment and sub-moment of the game (Wade, 1996; Hewitt et al., 2016; FA Education 2016; Price et al., 2019; 2020; Nash et al., 2006; Côté et al., 2009; Stoszkowski et al., 2016; Price et al., 2019; 2020).

In addition, coaches are at the same stage of the Level 3 course, however, the knowledge displayed in practice emphasised they are at different stages in their tactical knowledge development. Coaches with more advanced knowledge were able to display more consistent episodes of conditional tactical

knowledge during practice. In contrast, coaches with less developed knowledge illustrated fewer episodes of both procedural and conditional tactical knowledge.

Finally, the number of hours of coaching per week, the coaching domain, and the educational background of the coach could be factors in the present study. The coaches working at the academy and semi-professional level displayed more conditional knowledge and spent more time coaching on the pitch. (Nash et al., 2006; Price et al., 2019; 2020; Vergeer et al., 2009; Kaya, 2014; Wright et al., 2008; Stoszkowskia et al., 2015).

Limitations

Further consideration of the study was the lack of similar or previous research on the a) novice and intermediate coaches in football and b) tactical knowledge of coaches at this level. Although some recent studies have started to explore how coaches develop knowledge and what knowledge they require, there is limited research on tactical knowledge or how novice coaches develop their knowledge as they progress to an intermediate level. However, this was identified as an important opportunity for the researcher to explore gaps within the current literature and present findings for further studies.

As discussed in Chapter 5 limitations, it would have been advantageous for participants to engage in both focus groups and participant observation. This would have allowed the researcher to observe and analyse coaches' baseline declarative and procedural knowledge in practice, thus comparing their knowledge developed over time (Sparkes & Smith, 2014).

Meta-Reflection 2

In developing knowledge of the different paradigms and establishing an understanding of ontological and epistemology with underpinning beliefs, I felt that I was in a good place moving into study two. I completed the writing of methodology and methods sections alongside ethical approval and commenced with the study. Through a pragmatic approach employing participant observation was the most apt approach to collect the data. Also, recording sessions proved advantageous as it

allowed the sessions to be reviewed on several occasions to facilitate the analysis of the coaches' actions and behaviours.

As eluded to earlier in meta-reflection 1, too much reading at times sent me down the wrong path. I still had not mastered the art of reflexivity and continued to wear the hat of a researcher and was unable to balance crossing fields. In the data analysis stage, I once more got caught in the trap of being solely focused from a researcher's perspective. I was focused on a mixed-method approach which I was drawn to upon recommendations within the literature. The first part involved systematic observation applying themes from the conceptual framework coding coaching behaviours and placing the data in tables and graphs and exploring statistical approaches to present the data. Secondly, through a deductive approach began to categorise the coaches' actions under themes. Critically reflective on the write-up stage the work had become very descriptive with too much focus on the data, which a) did not tell the story or answer the research question or b) would add to or impact practice. Following a review with the research team, the data analysis section was amended accordingly. My endeavours had not gone to waste. The clipped videos which I termed episodes, which critical incidences within the session when the coach had or had not displayed tactical knowledge. The clips allowed me to review each clip and transcribe the coaches' actions, demonstrations or explanations in terms of technical and tactical knowledge. Once all the episodes were coded against the framework concepts through a deductive approach the next decision was to decide how best to present the data.

Many consideration of the best approach to present the findings was explored (i.e. IPA, case studies) however, the best approach considered to present the data was through cross-case studies. The coded clips were then put together in chronological order to tell the story of how each coaching session unfolded and how the coaches showed their tactical knowledge in practice.

I felt this approach was important to illustrate the differences and similarities between the coaches at this stage of their development but also demonstrate how as the sessions progressed the coaches' displayed different episodes of knowledge. Furthermore, from a reflexive perspective,

reflexivity, allowed the researcher to add in their personal experiences and knowledge to support the data and provide a theoretical standpoint which shaped the methodological approaches and formed a vital part of the write-up linked to the framework and model. It allowed the researcher to add context and meaning for the reader as in some parts within the data what the participants were explaining or demonstrating did not give full explanations, meaning the context could be lost. The approach at certain times became important when emphasising the different types of knowledge displayed within the practical observations. Moreover, the process became challenging as not only did the study explore how what and when coaches develop knowledge, but it also looked at the researcher as a practitioner and educator. The findings throughout the studies looked to bring about adaptations and changes to my practices in coach education.

The profound met-reflection process of re-examining reflections, actions and methods alongside metacognitions across the thesis has supported my development and knowledge as both a practitioner and a researcher. A significant realisation in the research process is that I write for understanding. Whether that be through reading literature or analysing data. I read, write, reflect, analyse, re-write, reflect and synthesise until I fully understand a specific concept. This at times has impacted the word count in several chapters in the thesis which have been required to be refined. Moreover, as I concluded the write up of the final study and revisited several of my reflections such as the position of the chapters within the thesis, it dawned on me that an integral concept throughout the thesis has been the development and adaptation of the Conceptual Framework (CF) and Game Model (GM). Yet I had positioned them as the final chapters. Despite the continuous re-examining and metacognition encounters, deliberating where the framework and model should be positioned within the thesis proved challenging.

The framework facilitated the link between practice and theory. It looked to illustrate a clear link between the findings of each study, professional practice and the literature, with some authors suggesting this can often be overlooked by doctoral students conducting research. Furthermore, it had been suggested that studies informed by conceptual frameworks or models exhibit greater critical thinking and meta-reflection skills of doctoral-level researchers. It was not until the write up of study 3 and the continuous meta-reflections I understood where and why the framework and model should be positioned within the thesis. Until this point, they had been positioned and re-positioned throughout the thesis. The conceptual framework and model guided the thesis, as my knowledge developed concepts become more defined and my understanding grew. This further illustrated my personal development and growth towards the concepts within the field of study. I had developed a thorough understanding of the journey I had taken and a clear vision of how the thesis should be constructed to tell the story.

The framework and model have evolved and been refined throughout the thesis, based upon findings across each study. Meta-reflections through reflecting, re-examining, analyse and synthesis on the design of the framework and model have been imperative, as illustrated in Chapter 3. The framework and model have served as an essential instrument to guide and support the research questions and analyse the data via providing a theoretical overview of the research process underpinned by the literature. The framework and model needed to be introduced in Chapter 3 following the literature review section outlining the importance of the framework and model to the thesis. This chapter discussed the background to the design and development of the model and the adaptation of the new Game Model and adapted Conceptual Framework. Furthermore, it illustrated the importance of all the studies in the thesis. Chapter 3 needed to outline how the researcher came to the design and development of the conceptual model and framework and explain the cycles the model and framework went through in which the final version is presented the final study.

The framework and model supported the thesis aim to analyse coaches' tactical knowledge and game understanding and looked to help solve the gap in coaches' tactical knowledge development. The framework changed from an instrument to collect and analyse data around tactical knowledge to a tool that may serve as useful in supporting coaches to develop tactical knowledge. The framework and model played two significant roles; firstly, it provided a sound theoretical explanation of what the researcher intends to explore and secondly, it should hopefully give the reader clarity and confidence in what the researcher was looking to explore and how they achieved it. Chapter 3 in the thesis now explored both the detail behind the development and design of a GM approach, alongside illustrating how the model can support the development of tactical knowledge and game understanding of football coaches. The chapter explored each concept of the model and framework supported by appropriate literature. The final versions of the model have been revised based on the findings across the three studies exploring coaches' tactical knowledge and mow sat in Chapter 8. I had not been explicit in my writing concerning the framework and model even though it had played a significant factor in the whole thesis from selecting the appropriate methods to analyse the data. Therefore, the framework and GM could not sit at the end, it was required to be split between two different chapters. Critically reflecting on the model's practicality and suitability drawn from some key findings from the three studies the module was therefore adapted. It was vital to Chapter 3 to illustrate the importance of the model and framework to the overall thesis, but also imperative in the final chapter to demonstrate the final model.

Furthermore, the model was applied and considered with postgraduate students, studying an MSc in Football Coaching and Analysis. The coaches had a range of coaching experiences and knowledge and were asked to build a Game Model. After multiple discussions and feedback with the coaching students, it was decided to amend some of the terminologies. In addition, through reflecting on the chapter a significant element that would serve useful for coaches and education alike is an example of how a coach would start to develop a model for practice. A step-by-step guide of the process was required to demonstrate and inform coaches how each stage is built and developed for the model to be applied in practice.

Re-examining and analysing the chapter with the guide in place meant the chapter had become more beneficial to practising coaches, not just academics or educators. It would now allow coaches to take the guide and put their ideas, ideology and visions of the game down on paper to review their tactical knowledge and build their knowledge and understanding in the creation of a clear game model to help reduce the uncertainty for players and allow coaches to operationalise their styles and systems of play on the team to improve the teams' tactical cohesion and improve practice.

Chapter 7 (Study 3): The use of an intervention strategy to support the development of Coaches' tactical knowledge.

Introduction

The review of the literature (Chapter 2) suggests that existing research has not provided adequate attention to the concept of tactical knowledge or how coaches develop this knowledge. Furthermore, there is a lack of empirical evidence in team sports supporting the application of metacognition, exploring how and when coaches develop their strategic understanding of gameplay and tactical knowledge. The field is still a very much underexplored area of research within the coaching literature (McPherson et al., 2004; 2007; Dail, 2014; MacIntyre et al., 2014; Price et al., 2019; 2020; Kinnerk et al., 2018; O'Connor et al., 2018).

Several authors discuss the different types of knowledge development in terms of declarative, procedural, and conditional knowledge (see Chapter 2) (Veenman et al., 2006; Nash et al., 2006; Price et al., 2019; 2020; McPherson et al., 2004; 2007). Declarative knowledge is an individual's awareness of what to do and affects their cognition; this includes task, strategy, variables, or people. Procedural knowledge relates to the process taken to select the most appropriate skill or tactical action in a specific context (i.e., the tactical awareness is to select the most appropriate tactical action for a particular moment in the game). The final component, conditional knowledge, is knowing when, why, where, and how to apply declarative and procedural knowledge in practice. Within coaching, this would be an awareness of knowing when, where, why, and how to apply different strategies and tactics in action. In addition, it is being able to provide players with the knowledge to apply the most appropriate strategies and tactics at the correct moment (MacIntyre et al., 2014; Werthner et al., 2006; Cushion et al., 2003; Thomas et al., 1994; Price et al., 2019; 2020; McPherson et al., 2004; 2007; McPherson, 1994).

As of June 2019, circa 900 coaches studying the Level 3 course were deemed not yet competent (NYC) and have not completed the course from the 2017/18 or 2018/19 season (FA Education, 2019). With this, all Level 3 courses were suspended until March 2020 to allow coach

educators to focus on supporting coaches to develop their tactical knowledge and practical skills to complete the course (FA Education, 2019). Moreover, during the last five years as a coach educator and an academic lecturer, a trend has been observed of coaches displaying a lack of tactical knowledge. This trend has been observed when both delivering coach education courses (i.e., Level 2 and 3) and on undergraduate coaching degree programmes. Likewise, this view has been shared and discussed amongst coach educators alike. Emerging coaches seem able to discuss different tactical concepts and apply football jargon, however, many lack the underlining declarative and procedural knowledge of the different tactical concepts. In addition, findings from study 1 (Chapter 5) also revealed a variation in coaches' baseline tactical knowledge at the start of a Level 3 course. Thus, this has impacted the development and application of conditional knowledge in practice.

Within the researcher's local County FA, as of September 2020, only 60% of learners had completed the course. The main issue with the coaches deemed NYC within the researchers' County FA was their lack of tactical knowledge, specifically conditional knowledge in practice. Several coach educators argue that the current courses do not contain enough sport-specific knowledge or spend enough time and/or depth focussing on tactical knowledge such as the concepts highlighted in the conceptual framework and model (see Chapter 3 and Chapter 8). Subsequently, this, in turn, has had a negative impact on the success rates of the Level 3 course over the last few years in England.

To support coaches develop tactical knowledge on the Level 3 course, the researcher proposed the design and construction of a Game Model (GM), which may serve as an effective approach to enhance coaches' knowledge. As discussed previously, the Delgado-Bordonau et al., (2012; 2018) GM may be too advanced for less experienced coaches. In addition, the range of terminology applied to discuss tactical knowledge concepts does not reflect terms applied across the game (i.e., grassroots, professional game, coach education) or academic literature. Subsequently, it may be challenging for coaches to access the required information to develop their tactical knowledge.

Chapter 3 illustrated six key concepts of the adapted GM and framework. The chapter illustrated how coaches may apply the framework to construct a GM by exploring each concept of the model in depth to support their tactical knowledge development. Findings across studies 1 and 2 required the researcher to add in additional concepts which are explored within this chapter. The adapted GM permitted the coach to break down the game into the different moments (i.e., in possession, out of possession, the transition from defence to attack, and transition from attack to defence) and sub-moments (i.e., defensive third, midfield third, attacking third, left channel, right channel and central channel) by focusing on smaller manageable moments. It also encouraged the coach to focus on the application of strategies and tactics based on their chosen style and system of play in each of the specific moments and sub-moments of the game, applying the applicable principles of play (Wade; 1967; 1996; Lago-Ballesteros et al., 2010; Tenga et al., 2011; The FA, 2016; Hewitt et al., 2016; Delgado-Bordonau et al., 2012; 2018; Tamarit, 2015; Tee et al., 2018; Price, et al., 2019; 2020).

Current research suggests that to gain a better understanding of coaches' behaviours and actions in practice, further research is required with the use of Technology-Enhanced Learning (TEL). TEL is becoming increasingly widespread within the coaching environment as it can aid coaches' development through supporting reflective practice, and metacognition to bridge cognitive dissonance (Cushion et al., 2018; Cope et al., 2017; Stodter et al., 2020). In addition, research has revealed that using video clips can provide an opportunity for reflection which in turn brings about a behaviour change (Partington et al., 2015). To support coaches to reflect, video Stimulated Recall (SR) was applied to capture the change of declarative, procedural, and conditional knowledge over a sustained period (Stodter & Cushion, 2020; Cope, Partington & Harvey (2017).

Alongside the GM and SR approach, a pedagogical object learning approach was applied in the form of a Subbuteo set or tactics board. Within Study 1, this pedagogical object learning approach was applied that engaged and energised the learner and served as a useful tool to extract and capture coaches' tactical knowledge that they could not articulate. The use of Subbuteo figures as the key object encouraged participants to demonstrate their tactical knowledge and understanding. Each participant had 11 Subbuteo players, allowing them to display their application of tactical knowledge through demonstrating their system and style of play with specific strategies and tactics (Reading, 2008; Chatterjee, 2010; Chatterjee & Hannan 2015). The Subbuteo set or tactics board acted as a key mechanism for the coach to display and recreate situations observed and recorded in practice through the SR process. The combination of object learning and the SR process allowed the coach to bring the GM to life and supported the reflection process. Furthermore, it supported his development of observation, cognition, and decision-making skills in practice. The coach was able to construct new knowledge and meanings, developing his understanding through the interactions created via the object learning and SR process. Subsequently, this brought a change to his tactical knowledge in demonstrating conditional knowledge in practice. Furthermore, it permitted the researcher to strive and capture the change of declarative, procedural and conditional knowledge over a sustained period (Stodter et al., 2020; Cope et al., 2017; Chatterjee et al., 2015; Reading, 2008; 2020; Price et al., 2014; Price et al., 2019; 2020; Kinnerk et al., 2018; O'Connor et al., 2018).

Therefore, the present study explored the application of an intervention strategy as a support mechanism to develop the conditional tactical knowledge of a Level 3 coach deemed NYC during the 2018/19 course. The intervention strategy comprised of the development of a GM and a conceptual framework, Stimulated Recall (SR) in conjunction with a pedagogical object learning approach.

Methods

Participant observation, stimulated recall and object learning were the most suitable approaches to examine the development of football coaches' tactical knowledge and gameplay over a sustained period as they applied the Game Model and Conceptual Framework.

Participants

Coaches were included based on their participation in both studies 1 and 2. From the previous study, two coaches successfully passed the Level 3 course, therefore two coaches deemed not yet competent (NYC) were selected for the study (Patton, 2015; O'Donoghue, 2010; Gratton & Jones,

2005). Due to Steven's lack of confidence with his Game Model, he decided to delay the start of the intervention strategy until the New Year (2020), however, the Covid-19 pandemic led to the cancellation of his observations in March 2019. After a discussion with the research team, it was decided that the study would continue with one coach (Kenny) as an individual longitudinal study.

Ethical approval was granted by Liverpool John Moores University Research Ethics Committee in January 2019 **19/SPS/003** and March 2019 **19/SPS/021**. Participants were informed of the procedures employed before providing written consent, and relative gatekeepers were informed and permission granted.

Data collection

To develop a thorough understanding of when and how football coaches develop tactical knowledge, several qualitative data approaches have been employed. The use of multiple data sources is viewed as good practice to ensure internal validity through data triangulation (Starkes, 1995; Lincoln & Guba, 1985; Patton, 1990; Smith, 2003; Gratton & Jones, 2004; Veal et al., 2014; Crowe et al., 2011). Therefore, the study followed a three-stage process in the form of an intervention strategy; Game Model (GM), participant observation, video-stimulated recall with object learning to collect the data (see figure 7.1) (Patton, 1990; Smith, 2003; Gratton et al., 2004; O'Reilly, 2012; Sparkes et al., 2014; Cope et al, 2017; Stodter & Cushion, 2020: Yin, 2003; 2009; Veal et al., 2014).



Figure 7.1. The data collection process in Study 3.

The researcher reflected and reviewed the process after each stage before moving on to the next stage. This involved an action research approach that allowed the researcher to interchange or cross-fields between practitioner and researcher to support the coach's development of tactical knowledge (Mills, 2000; McNiff, 2002; Bourdieu & Wacquant, 1992; Thorpe et al., 2011; Townsend

et al., 2020).

Figure 7.2 illustrates the data collection points. It is to be noted that the data collection points within this study started in June 2019 at the start of the intervention strategy. However, pre-data collection from Studies 1 and 2 was included to show the journey the coach had taken from the start of the Level 3 course until he completed the course. At this point, the intervention strategy stopped, and no further data was collected (for further information, please refer to Chapters 5 and 6).

						2019														2020				
	Stage of Research	Sep	Oct	Nov	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mar A	pr Ma	y Jun Ju	l Au	g Sep
	UEFA B Course																			Lockdo	wn			
	Block 1																							
	Block 2																							
	Block 3																							
	Block 4																							
Study 1	Focus Group																							
Study 2	Participant Observation																							
Study 3: Intervention	Game Model																							
Strategy	Observation 1																							
	Observation 2																							
	Observation 3																							
	Observation 4																							
	Observation 5																							
	Observation 6																							
	Observation 7																							
	Post-intervention SR Interview																							
Study 3	Data Analysis																							

Figure 7.2. Gannt chart illustrating data collection points throughout the study.

Stage One: Game Model design

Stage one involved a meeting between the researcher and the coach (Kenny) to discuss the Game Model intervention strategy. Kenny was asked to consider concepts of the conceptual framework when creating his GM (see Chapter 3). The conceptual framework in Chapter 3 illustrates the stages a coach is required to go through to construct their model. The concepts have several questions under the headings 'key considerations' and 'further considerations' (see Chapter 3) for the coach to consider. At this stage, the researcher had a dual role as a researcher and educator when supporting Kenny to develop his GM. Once he felt ready to proceed, he was asked to contact the researcher to arrange the first observation, which started stage two of the data collection.

At this stage, the researcher was required to be aware of crossing fields (Thorpe, Barbour & Bruce, 2011; Olive & Thorpe, 2011). The fields within reflexivity can be described as the social space or context in which the researcher finds themselves to hold a dual role as a researcher and practitioner. Within the current thesis, the author can be identified as both a researcher and coach educator (Bourdieu et al., 1992; Thorpe et al., 2011; Townsend et al., 2020). Moreover, at certain points in the data collection stage, it was vital the researcher stayed objective and formed the sole role of the researcher. Conversely, the findings from the data collection then allowed the researcher to examine themselves through the lens of a coach educator and practitioner through the action research approach, and to support Kenny with his tactical knowledge development.

Stage Two: Participant Observation

Participant observation alongside other methods of data collection was applied. The participant observation process followed a similar process to the second study, allowing the observer to investigate and learn from the coaches' actions and behaviours over a sustained period. Observing the coaching session as a method of data collection helped the observer gain a more complete view of coaches' learning experiences and development of tactical conditional knowledge in practice (Patton, 1990, Long 2007; Silk, Andrews & Mason, 2005; Price et al., 2019; 2020).

Participant observation allowed the observer to investigate and learn from the coach's actions and behaviours. Moreover, it allowed the researcher to experience the social interactions between the coach and the players so that their actions and behaviours could be analysed and interpreted through observing the coach's application of tactical knowledge (Alder & Alder, 1994; Gratton et al., 2004; Denzin & Lincoln, 2000; 2011; Sparkes & Smith, 2014). Observing the coaching session as a method of data collection helped the observer gain a more complete view of participants' learning experiences and application of conditional knowledge in practice (Patton, 1990, Long 2007; Silk, Andrews & Mason, 2005; Price et al., 2019; 2020). The nature of observation is described as being on a continuum from insider to outsider although the majority of field research is often somewhere in between the extremes. The role of the researcher in both studies can be described as an overt insider to the group. The researcher knew the coaching context, and the research investigation was known by the groups. Although the groups were aware of the researcher, he had no membership or relationship to the groups (Dandelion, 1995; Creswell, 1998; Hammersley & Atkinson, 2007; Sparkes & Smith, 2014).

To support the participant observation process and provide a greater depth of analysis, each session was recorded using a digital camera (Panasonic HC-V770). Participant observations occurred in Kenny's coaching context and were arranged around his preferred dates and times between September 2019 and September 2020. Kenny wore a wireless microphone (Sennheiser, SK100 G4)

and was recorded using a digital camera (Panasonic HC-V770) during seven, 60-minute coaching sessions. The digital camera was placed in multiple locations so that it captured the area of the pitch

Kenny was working in. The observer wore a headset throughout the observation to listen to Kenny's dialogue. An additional five observations occurred, two games and three training sessions but the researcher just observed Kenny, without any dialogue or discussion around the session outcomes or pre-knowledge of the sessions. The purpose of the un-recorded observations was to observe Kenny's progress without the camera being present.

During the participant observation process, the researcher made many field notes during each of the coaching sessions (including the un-recorded sessions) to support the writing-up process. Field notes formed an essential activity as they allowed the researcher to write down some critical moments and episodes of enquiry to be analysed and formed part of the stimulated recall process in stage three (Ghaye et al., 2000; Hammersley et al., 2007; Sparkes et al., 2014).

Before recorded sessions, Kenny was asked to supply the researcher with a coaching session plan of the moment of the game and session topic, alongside a short video using a tactics board. The object-based learning pedagogical approach using the tactics board allowed Kenny to demonstrate how he wanted his team to play within that moment, and the individual player and unit strategies and tactics employed (Chatterjee et al., 2015; Wade, 1996; Hewitt et al., 2016).

Stage Three: Stimulated recall

The third stage of the data collection process applied video-stimulated recall (SR). Stodter and Cushion (2020) and Cope, Partington, and Harvey (2017) highlight the limited number of studies that explore the specific knowledge requirements coaches develop, and how knowledge changes over time. The SR interviews within the study captured the change of declarative, procedural, and conditional knowledge over a sustained period, and the development of Kenny's observational skills, cognition, and decision-making skills in practice (Stodter & Cushion, 2020; Cope et al., 2017). Recent studies have utilised video clips of coaching behaviours and practice as part of a stimulated recall method to gain insight into the rationale behind the observed behaviours while providing additional meaning based on the contextual situation (Bloom, Allain & Gillbert, 2017). Although some studies have provided an insight into the benefits of TEL, the implementation of technology such as video feedback is still at an early stage and an underdeveloped research area in coaching (Cushion & Townsend, 2018; Wright et al., 2014; Butterworth et al., 2014; Groom et al., 2011). Moreover, Partington et al. (2015) suggested that using video clips can provide an opportunity for reflection, which in turn results in coach behaviour change.

The use of technology allowed the researcher to retrospectively review the coaching session, using a NacSports analysis software tool to a) code incidents; and b) clip scenarios for video stimulated recall reviews with the coach post-session (Bloom, Allain & Gillbert, 2017). Exploring the coach's interpretations of their observed behaviours and actions or asking questions upon observed tactical elements of the game allows a greater understanding of the complex process of coaching practice. For the stimulated recall video feedback, the coach reviewed edited clips to identify and analyse tactical concepts. A tactics board was present to allow the coach and the researcher to demonstrate solutions or set scenarios for the coach to demonstrate his knowledge (Partington & Cushion 2013; Cushion & Townsend, 2018).

Due to the flexibility of SR, the process was designed and adapted accordingly to achieve the study aim (Cushion et al., 2018; Lyle, 2003; Cope et al., 2017; Stodter et al., 2020; Bernier, Cordon, Thienot & Fournier, 2011). SR approach was chosen rather than other contemporary methods such as 'Think Aloud' protocols, as the coach within the current study may have limited self-awareness and ability to verbalise thoughts during practice without interfering or impacting on their coaching practice (Lyle, 2003; Whitehead, Cropley, Huntley, Miles, Quayle & Knowles, 2016; Stodter et al., 2020). After each coaching session, the researcher reviewed the video recording and edited 30-second video clips of five to seven critical incidents based on the coach's chosen topic and planned tactical outcomes. The clips were categorised into three distinct areas of enquiry a) the coach intervened with

a specific coaching point and gave technical and tactical information, which was correct, b) the coach intervened with a specific coaching point but gave incorrect information or partially correct information or c) the coach did not identify or missed an opportunity to intervene. Furthermore, each category involved the coach applying some form of tactical knowledge such as principles of play, individual player or unit instructions, or specifics around the strategies and tactics concerning the coach's chosen style and system of play. The field notes played an essential aspect as they allowed the researcher to record the particular incidents to review so that SR clips could be used to support the coach.

Within seven days of the observed coaching session and before the coaches' next coaching session, the researcher arranged a specific time and venue to meet with the coach (Kenny) and go through the video clips (Stodter et al., 2020; Gilbert & Trudel, 1999; 2001; Cushion et al., 2018). The initial process involved Kenny and the researcher observing the clips together on a laptop with a tactics board of 22 magnetic players to assist in recreating situations that had arisen. The researcher played each clip to the coach and invited the coach to recall the incident within the session. The researcher asked the coach to explain what they observed or what happened in the clip. The follow-up questions involved asking the coach to compare how they wanted their team to play out and what happened within the video clip (Lyle, 2003). They were then asked to recreate the specific moment on the tactics board and explain what they wanted to happen based on strategies and tactics associated with their preferred system and style of play. Although the researcher asked several preprepared questions, follow-up questions were asked based on the coach's responses. The tactics board allowed the coach and researcher to demonstrate solutions or set scenarios for Kenny to demonstrate his knowledge (Partington et al., 2013; Cushion et al., 2018; Lyle, 2003; Cope et al., 2017; Stodter et al., 2020; Bernier et al., 2011).

The SR process went through several stages and as Kenny became more familiar with the process, the approach adapted accordingly. There had been a five-week gap in-between the first and second coaching observation and a three-week gap between the first SR intervention and the second coaching observation. The intention was to carry out an observation every four to six weeks and carry 169

out the SR process within one week of the recorded session. The aim of the 7-day time frame between the observed session and SR process was to minimise Kenny's cognitive deterioration of the session (Cushion et al., 2018; Lyle, 2003; Cope et al., 2017; Stodter et al., 2020; Bernier et al., 2011). However, due to Kenny's and the researcher's availability, the time required to upload the footage, and code the clips using NacSports impacted upon the timeframe between the first session and SR interview. Through critically reflecting (*see meta-reflection section below*) on the SR applied in the first intervention strategy, an adapted approach was applied for the second intervention.

The next observed session was coded and clipped within a 7-day time frame and sent through to Kenny with additional questions to allow him to review each clip in his preferred private location. Kenny reviewed each clip in chronological order and described exactly what happened within each clip, applying a think-aloud approach through audio recording his thoughts using voice notes or a camera. Once he had described each incident, Kenny compared and contrasted what happened in the clip with what he planned in his pre-session video. The pre-session video replicated his desired strategies and tactics within the sub-moment of the game. To support Kenny's explanations, he was encouraged to make use of a tactics board (object learning) to demonstrate his observations and tactical knowledge within the associated clip. If Kenny required any further prompting on his reflections or strayed away from what happened within the clip, a follow-up question would be sent via email, text, or voice note to trigger the reflection and keep him focused upon the specific clip.

The final SR interview followed a more traditional approach in the form of face-to-face dialogue. The format asked several set questions from the observation period alongside reviewing several clips for an open discussion on some key areas identified within the observations (Cushion et al., 2018; Lyle, 2003; Cope et al., 2017; Stodter et al., 2020; Bernier et al., 2011).

Data Analysis

A case study approach was applied to examine findings from the participant observations and stimulated recall reflections and analyse Kenny's change in knowledge. Case study approaches can be regarded as a naturalistic design rather than an experimental design and is an established method of enquiry used across several disciplines (Crowe et al., 2011; Yin, 2003; 2009; Miles & Huberman, 1994; Veal & Darcey, 2014; Stake, 1995). The work of Stake (1995) has been influential in case studies becoming significant within scientific enquiry through distinguishing different types of case study approaches. Yin (2009) highlights how case studies are used to understand and explain everyday events that occur in specific contexts. A case study can undertake several forms and may incorporate several cases, however, some authors suggest case studies usually explore a single event or specific phenomenon in its natural setting over a sustained period (Veal et al., 2014; Crowe et al., 2011; Yin 2003; 2009; Stake 1995; Gerring, 2007). While case studies do not usually encompass the method of participant observations, Jorgensen (2015) suggests the findings of participant observation are essentially presented in the form of case studies and follow a similar approach. Therefore, a case study approach was applied to generate a detailed account and in-depth understanding of when, what, and how a coach develops their tactical knowledge through the duration of studying a professional qualification in their real-life coaching environment (Crowe et al., 2011; Yin, 2003; 2007; Veal et al., 2014; Hammersley et al., 2007; Denzin et al., 2011; Jorgensen, 2014; Becker, 1968). This approach allowed the researcher to review and change the data collection methods as discussed in the SR reflection section. Therefore, this allowed theory to develop alongside the data collection, which led to additional lines of enquiry embedded within the analysis (Ghauri et al., 2002; Grønhaug 1985; Gratton et al., 2005; Hammersley et al., 2007; Denzin et al., 2011).

Analysing case studies can be a difficult process and should not simply be storytelling. The data is required to be authentic and interpreted in relation to the context and theory behind the study. The data collection and analysis is required to be interrelated during the duration of research, and analysis should not be a process at the end of the collection period. Moreover, this approach allowed the researcher to review, change, and amend the data collection methods. This allowed theory to develop alongside the data collection which led to additional lines of enquiry embedded within the analysis (Ghauri & Grønhaug 2002; Gratton et al., 2005; Hammersley et al., 2007; Denzin et al., 2011; Silverman, 1989).

The first stage of the case study process involved building narratives of the participant observation and SR process, embedded with the researcher's field notes in chronological order from the start of the course until the end of the intervention strategy. The process was very descriptive and simplistic; it involved transcribing all voice notes, recordings, and discussions to try and understand what, how, and if the coach's knowledge had changed over time. This process is particularly important within longitudinal studies over a sustained period. The data was transcribed verbatim producing one narrative transcript. For validity, on several occasions, the researcher sent the participant transcribed narratives to clarify the interpretation and sense check that it was an accurate account of what happened (Bernard 1988; Ghauri et al., 2002; Miles et al., 1994; Yin 1997; 2003; 2007; Ghauri, 2004; Hammersley et al., 2007; Denzin et al., 2011; Patton, 1990; Sparkes et al., 2014).

The second stage of the process involved content analysis, coding key themes as they occurred in time during the observation, using deductive analysis. The deductive approach formed part of a new case study narrative that was classified into seven key concepts; moments of the game, principles of play, style(s) of play, system(s) of play, sub-moments of the game, strategies, and tactics. The new case study narrative had key themes, explanations, actions, and behaviours that were analysed and underpinned with theory generated from the GM and conceptual framework (see Chapter 3) (Braun et al., 2006; Burnard et al., 2008; Sparkes et al., 2014; Ghauri, 2004; Miles et al., 1994; Hammersley et al., 2007; Denzin et al., 2011).

Several authors suggest that the second stage of analysis should be a shift from a chronological process to a more conceptual process. However, it was felt that highlighting the impact and change of knowledge in chronological order was more appropriate but have the deductive themes within each moment to interpret the data and research question. The categorised coded themes and examples started to demonstrate trends, relationships, and key findings within the data. Furthermore, they demonstrated the key changes and gaps in knowledge (Ghauri 1983; 2004; Yin, 2007; Hammersley et al., 2007; Denzin et al., 2011; Veal et al., 2014; Miles et al., 1994).

Some of the key themes identified several key questions for the post-intervention strategy to examine if the findings aligned with Kenny's opinions. An integral part of the analysis process was cross-checking for commonality and consistencies across the different timed events within the case study and final SR interview, but also to compare the incidents within each event (Ghauri 1983; 2004; Yin, 2007; Hammersley et al., 2007; Denzin et al., 2011).

Results

The study explored the impact of applying a Game Model (GM) in combination with stimulated recall (SR) and a pedagogical object learning approach to capture the development of the coaches' declarative, procedural, and conditional tactical knowledge.

Case Study

Prior Knowledge

Study 1 revealed Kenny's absence of moments of the game declarative and procedural knowledge knowledge. Kenny also displayed marginal principles of play declarative and procedural knowledge when questioned, however, his demonstrations (with the Subbuteo) illustrated some knowledge of the attacking (i.e., width) and defending (i.e., compactness, pressure and cover) principles. While he did not apply the correct terminology, his explanation showed some understanding of both the attacking and defending principles. In addition, Kenny illustrated some principles of play procedural knowledge, when showing the team's organisation and strategy to defend against an opponent playing out from the back. Although Kenny was unable to define the principles, he displayed some basic attacking and defending principles procedural knowledge. In terms of system of play, one notable aspect of his procedural knowledge was how he emphasised how his team's system of play changed between in or out of possession. Furthermore, he discussed how the ball's location on the pitch could influence the system so adaptations were required.

The first study highlighted Kenny's lack of declarative knowledge of several concepts when questioned, however, when demonstrating specific knowledge such as strategies and tactics in

different moments of the game he displayed some procedural knowledge through the specific actions displayed.

However, the majority of Kenny's knowledge displayed appeared to be reactive to the opposition, with him not yet capable of explaining his own tactical decisions and actions. The second study illustrated some changes in Kenny's tactical knowledge. He showed some declarative knowledge around the moments and sub-moments of the game through the session plan provided. While Kenny had developed some declarative knowledge of the different moments on paper, he had not developed this knowledge in practice as he was unable at this point on the course to apply different skills or strategies within the given moment of the game. Kenny's lack of procedural knowledge hindered the opportunity to demonstrate conditional knowledge. What Kenny attempted to coach with his correctly identified primary and secondary players (centre-forward and right-winger) did not factor in the ball location on the pitch. The tactics he wanted to employ related to a different moment of the game. This led to some indifferent coaching which confused the players, with Kenny coaching what he had in his head rather than what was happening on the pitch within the relevant moment and sub-moments.

The observation revealed some developed knowledge in terms of the principles of play in both his declarative and procedural knowledge. In addition, Kenny displayed some attacking principles procedural knowledge such as coaching the right-winger (no.7) to provide the width and create space when the team is attacking, support play when coaching the centre-forward to occupy the two central defenders, and creating height in the attack for centre-midfielder to exploit the space. These two examples emphasised both some level of declarative and procedural knowledge, however, the conditional aspect of knowledge was missing within the session as often the information provided was given retrospectively and was not concurrent when the incident occurred.

Following on from Block 4 of the Level 3 course, Kenny was deemed not yet competent, requiring further support and guidance to advance his knowledge, develop his coaching skills and complete the course.

Intervention strategy: 1st July 2019

The intervention strategy started after Kenny had been deemed not yet competent. The initial stage was a discussion about the Game Model (GM) and the supporting conceptual framework between the researcher and Kenny (see chapter 3).

23rd September 2019

With the offseason running across July and early August, it gave Kenny time to build his GM for the new season. Before the first observation, Kenny sent through his GM examples and began to consider some concepts:

"I am thinking of playing out from the back from a goal kick. This I have not worked on, so with the new law change this season, this would be a good introduction to them. Looking to split the CB's inside the box, have the FB's wide and have the CDM drop deep as to support. Preferably I would like the FB's to play down the line then back into the central area".

Kenny had demonstrated positive changes in his declarative and procedural knowledge since his last observation on the courses. He illustrated declarative knowledge concerning the new goal kick law and some procedural tactical knowledge about his new style of play (a more possessionbased approach) and strategy to play out from the back. In addition, Kenny focused on how he wanted to play rather than react to the opposition, as identified in the first study. Through constructing the GM, Kenny had started to consider the tactical concepts in more depth and how the concepts interlinked. The GM illustrated more focus upon his style of play in and out of possession, the preferred system of play with several strategies and tactics on how to execute the playing style. In addition, he started to consider his coaching domain, an under 15's team in division four of the local league. Kenny only began coaching the team in the 2018/19 season. Initially, he chose a 1-4-5-1 system of play in an attempt to reduce the goals the team had conceded.

Kenny decided to change to a 1-4-3-3 system for the 2019/20 season, having significantly reduced conceded goals. He highlighted how the set-up was quite defensive, however, when the team

gained possession, he wanted his wide players to push up high and wide to create a 1-4-3-3 system when attacking. This system change in the different moments of the game revealed his systems of play declarative and procedural knowledge development.

23rd September 2019

The first observation focused on an in possession moment, which was playing out from a goal kick in the defensive third (sub-moment). Through the GM construction, Kenny continued to highlight his declarative knowledge of different moments by showing how he planned to focus on only one specific moment within each session.

The rationale for the focus of the session playing out from a goal kick is linked with Kenny's new style of play which focused on a more possession-based approach rather than the direct approach employed previously. Figure 7.3 shows a diagram from the coaching session plan provided for the session.



Figure 7.3. Diagram from the coaching session plan for the session on 23rd September 2019.

Kenny had started to consider how the team would play in possession. Moreover, he began to understand 'why' he wanted to play this way adding justification for the change in the style of play. Furthermore, the plan illustrated the system of play he wanted to employ in possession which was a 14-3-3, with each position labelled within the plan. Both these changes allowed the team to become more attacking when in possession. During the observation, it became apparent there had been a shift in Kenny's tactical knowledge compared to previous observations. The first few coaching interventions illustrated this knowledge through the application of several attacking principles and relevant tactics: "John where could we get now? Yeah, get as wide as possible, wide [and] as high as possible yeah. Look at the space you're in here yet they've not even come [towards you] you're actually stretching their midfield unit massively OK. So if you could be in this position from the goal kick yeah massive amounts of space OK so just stay out high and wide".

This displayed a change in his actions and behaviour; Kenny coached in relation to what had happened in the exact moment. He demonstrated how and why he wanted his team to play out from the back, recreating situations while giving players specific tactical detail and justification. This revealed how he had developed his declarative and procedural knowledge of several attacking principles. Kenny demonstrated many instances of how his tactical knowledge had developed since previously being observed, especially style(s) of play and the appropriate strategies and tactics to achieve this. Whilst Kenny had demonstrated some positive change in his knowledge, there were still several instances where he had either missed the player's incorrect actions, coached an incident that went against the principles of play, or how he wanted to play. In addition, Kenny often only coached one player in isolation, rather than primary and secondary players together or how units work together to achieve the desired tactics. The observation revealed several concepts which required further development, especially around the principle of depth in the new style of play.

8th October 2019

The first SR interview, two weeks after the first session, involved Kenny reviewing several video clips before explaining and/or demonstrating on the tactics board what he observed. The first clip related to the left-backs starting position, a situation Kenny did not rectify but occurred on several occasions (Figure 7.4).



Figure 7.4. Left Back's start position in relation to the moment of the game.

From watching the clip, Kenny shared his observations in the example below: "*He is still not out wide* with that ball he played, then he has played it to John's feet. Obviously, he is going to be receiving under pressure. If he could have stayed out wide there, the guy could have clipped it obviously to the wide channel because he would have been in space but he has come in because the ball has been down this side. So, I mean I could ask him to come in and get back out again". "I don't really think that pass was back on there. Maybe he could have gone back to the CB. Initially the problem is the starting position; he is too in, he should be out wide".

Kenny had started to develop his principles of play declarative and procedural knowledge, however, he was unable to see the situation in real-time and intervene during the session. Kenny's session aim was on an attacking moment of the game, however, on several occasions when the team regained possession, he coached the team to apply defensive principles: *"The centre back's there as that ball's moving forward. Can we get out to the edge of the box there?" "Trying to play a high line OK, so when we've got the ball, was it, Trent, you put Mo in. Just recreate that, so as you put Mo in boys as that ball is getting played into, Mo, you two [CB's] are in charge of this back four-unit OK?". "So as soon as he plays it forward, you want to push out. You got that Alan? Obviously as well and on the left-back right back out to the edge of the box".*

Kenny still lacked principles of play procedural knowledge as this situation reoccurred on several occasions, and had a negative impact on the team attempting to play out from the back. At

first, Kenny did not see the issues when instructing the back four-unit to push up as he felt it was something the team needed to work on and develop. After a few moments of reflection and questions posed by the researcher, he started to realise he was not focusing on the aim of the session. Although Kenny seemed to agree what he coached did not support the team playing out, he still struggled to accept what he coached was incorrect within that moment. However, after Kenny observed the next two clips, he realised he had given the incorrect information to players within that moment, identifying what he had coached negatively affected the play: *"Because I have asked the 2 CB's to push out, he has played that dangerous ball. He has played a dangerous ball really because I have asked them to push up to the line where he could have been an option"*.

By coaching the back four-unit to move up the pitch and hold a tight line within the current situation, he had overlooked a key area of support play by not considering the depth principle. On both occasions following his intervention, the team lost possession, due to the back four-unit stepping up and condensing pitch space for the midfield player on the ball. Kenny's principles of play declarative and procedural knowledge had developed in some areas, however, he had not fully developed knowledge of support play. Kenny focused on the players in advance of the ball, overlooking the players supporting the play behind the ball.

In terms of tactics, Kenny did not illustrate any alternative tactics when the opposition pressed his team, causing them problems to play out from the back. On several occasions, Kenny was unable to identify and rectify the issues due to a lack of procedural knowledge, however, with the session plan he detailed an alternative solution (declarative knowledge). By reviewing additional clips and using the tactics board to recreate the incidents, Kenny explored why the depth support principle is critical to play out from the back in a possession-based approach. With Kenny going through alternative solutions on the tactics board, he appeared to grasp the concept and show some procedural knowledge around support play behind the ball: *"The depth, so if he drops back to get the pass off him"*. *"I have got depth now"*. *[CB to support the player on the ball to play backwards]*. *"In that defensive third obviously out of possession they're trying to win the ball. As soon as they get the ball back there then have to be options anywhere in that third. They're not trying to go forward, they're* just trying to move the ball forward. He is going backwards as he has to go back to go forward or playback. So it's the depth that I need to be coaching there." "Ok, so definitely depth is something that I need to work on in that session. In possession obviously now what do I want the RB to do, or the primary player closest to the ball? What I have come in and coached was his only option because I haven't coached the shape enough from the transition".

Kenny showed a change in support play knowledge as he identified the importance of creating depth behind the player on the ball if passing options going forward are not available.

Furthermore, Kenny developed additional tactics to play out and overcome the opposition's defensive approach by linking units and how player positions affects the next player during the moment and tactics.

29th October 2019

Before the second observation, Kenny sent through a session plan accompanied by some short video clips using the tactics board to demonstrate the specific strategies and tactics based on his style and system of play. The first clip showed the team's overall system of play across the whole pitch rather than just the players in the specific moment and sub-moment of the game, although he was advised to concentrate on the key units and players involved within the specific moment and submoments. Nevertheless, in the second clip he acknowledged the session would focus on the primary units within the sub-moment: "*Ok, so the GK would start with the ball taking the goal-kick. He would hit [pass the ball] to the RCB ok, then RCB would then hit the RB with a pass. After he has made that pass, he would make a support run towards the player with the ball. The CDM would definitely come towards the ball and show and be an option. And then the LCB, he would come across centrally to the edge of the box. The LB, I was looking for him just to come back and just tuck in to probably to that area there [just outside and in line with the 18-yard box] so that was sort of the shape that I wanted last week from a goal-kick going out to the right. The RB there has got a number of options; he can play it back to the right CB, he can hit the CDM, he can play it down the line preferable to the RW if he is on, he can hit the AM., and He can drop into the CF. If he is under*
pressure. He has got that option as well to hit the RCB then over to the LCB and hopefully we can get the ball attacking down the left-side from that shape that hopefully is being created from the goalkick".

Kenny's developed moments and sub-moments of the game knowledge allowed him to explain the teams' approach to playing out from the back with a clear strategy and appropriate associated tactics with each scenario during the sub-sub-moments of the game. In addition, Kenny displayed developed attacking principles declarative and procedural knowledge related to supporting play and creating space. Moreover, Kenny integrated the depth principle from the previous observation by securing team passing options through height and width but now also creating depth in the attack. He illustrated how the back four-unit would provide depth to support the play, a concept he struggled with during the first SR intervention. There was a clear change in declarative and procedural knowledge related to support and creating space concepts of the attacking principles. During the observed session, Kenny showed more focus on the session topic and application of the attacking principles. Kenny demonstrated his declarative and procedural knowledge had improved in terms of the attacking principles and on several occasions which resulted in some conditional knowledge through his application and justification to the players in terms of support play and creating space. Although Kenny missed a couple of incidents during the session, his overall knowledge had improved from the first session.

7th November 2019

Before Kenny received the video clips from the second observation, he sent through some of his reflections from the session shown in figure 7.5. His reflections highlighted how, on some occasions, he over-coached the depth principle in an attempt to demonstrate his knowledge: "*I* stopped the play and asked LCB to drop back and give depth and to receive the pass deep from LB. No need to create depth here, as the angle of the pass is on and the distance from any pressure is quite far."



Figure 7.5. Diagram of reflection point (D- distance PA- passing angle).

Kenny's reflections showed a change in his support and creating space principles procedural knowledge, compared to the last observation. He was able to justify why and when players needed to support the ball. Furthermore, he displayed some incidents of support play and creating space conditional knowledge. The reflections Kenny sent through in response to each video clip showed he had developed a greater grasp of the attacking principles. This, in turn, had a positive impact on him establishing more defined and specific strategies and tactics linked to his style of play across each moment and sub-moment. For example: *"So the first thing I noticed is the LB position. There it is obviously not high and wide enough ok so I need to work on that. His first touch as well, it has taken him back towards goal, back towards the pressure when there is clearly space in front for him to drive into so he could have opened up his body and drove down the line there".*

Within the session, Kenny did not pick up upon the initial technical and tactical errors on the ball, which led to the loss of possession, only intervening on the incorrect pass. However, observing the video clips back, Kenny identified the incorrect starting position of the LB alongside the player's poor first touch. Another example that further supports how reflecting on the clips allowed Kenny to start to compare and contrast what happened in the clips with how he wanted the team to be positioned is evidenced here: "*Goes back to the keeper here, I am looking for the LCB to split as soon*

as he [GK] gets the ball and the LB to split as well. I can see the RCB is starting to split and I can see the RB, well I'm hoping, is going to try and get high and wide as well once the GK has secured the ball. So, there was a gap there for the GK between the opposing two players, a split pass, so he has found the CDM which is fine. Again, I think the LB could be high and wide a little bit more. The LCB obviously could have split as well a little bit to give a bit more depth but overall the GK made a good split pass there to the CDM and we began to move the ball forward and yet it finished off there. Just one point on there, I do see the RB and LB come in centrally a lot and it is not really how I want to play. I don't really want to see the LB and RB in the centre of the field in line with the CB's position so again they're coming inside the pitch a bit too far for me. So again I would need to work on the LB and RB position in relation to the way I play and the video I sent on the tactics board a while back ago".

Kenny's development of declarative strategies, tactics and players' specific positioning knowledge within the moment and sub-moment signified his developed knowledge of the principles of play and style of play. Moreover, he became critical of some players not in the desired position despite the team having played out successfully. The SR clips started to show the development of his tactical knowledge and observational skills because he started to focus on the players and actions off the ball. Having fewer players in the sub-moment of the game allowed him to focus upon how he wanted the team to play.

The tactics board was a valuable tool within the SR process as it allowed him to reflect and illustrate what he wanted to achieve and consolidate what had happened. Within SR reflections, Kenny demonstrated a significant change in his tactical declarative and procedural knowledge. Within the five-week timeframe with the support of applying a GM approach, he had developed his knowledge of the moments, sub-moments, and sub-sub-moments of the game alongside associated principles of play. Furthermore, Kenny identified his style of play and applied some strategies and tactics linked to his style of play within the moments and sub-moments of the game.

There was a significant difference in Kenny's knowledge between the first and second SR processes. Within a short space of time, he had developed his declarative and procedural knowledge of the moments of the game, alongside providing clarity about the desired player behaviours he desired within each moment and sub-moment of the game. Through SR videos, he compared and contrasted what he wanted to happen to the actions performed by the players. However, within some practice instances, he lacked conditional knowledge and was unable to identify player actions that did not align with the desired tactical behaviours. The most significant change during the second intervention was Kenny's knowledge of the attacking principles. Kenny had developed declarative and procedural knowledge of the depth principle, which allowed him to address several issues with both the CB's and FB's at different times within the session. The principles of play are fundamental to game understanding; until a coach has developed this knowledge, it is challenging for a coach to decide on the appropriate strategy and tactics.

28th November 2019

Observation three and SR highlighted the clear development of Kenny's declarative and procedural knowledge of the moments and sub-moment of the game, system of play, and style of play. Furthermore, it highlighted the continued development of principles of play conditional knowledge.

Kenny had started to explore different sub-moments of the game, specifically the attacking third. During the pre-session videos and within the session, he continued to show his developed understanding of the attacking principles of play and clear team tactics required in the attacking third. Kenny's knowledge within the pre-session videos demonstrated how he split the sub-moments further into sub-sub-moments of the game and explained the tactics employed when attacking the right and left channels: "Pattern and play here starting with the number 10, the left attacking midfielder. Looking at the defensive unit here [of the opposition], the RB again is going to be key in this movement on his decision. If the right-back stays where he is, the left-winger is going to be in a space to receive the ball down the left channel and we can start the attack from there". "What I am looking

for is for the 10 to recognise this with my two attacking midfielders. I know they can as if the rightback has marked the left-winger too closely, the pass behind the right-back is on straight away for the left winger to get in behind. So that is just working on the left attacking midfielder and leftwinger. Just two different options there depending on what the right-back does".

This illustrates the layers of procedural knowledge Kenny had started to develop and build upon since the start of the intervention, with a specific focus on the sub-moments of the game and definitive strategies and tactics. Kenny demonstrated how he would coach the left side after explaining the tactics down the right side and splitting the game down into sub-sub-moments. In addition, he gave players the option to decide on the appropriate pass depending on the actions of the opposition players.

8th January 2020

At observation four, Kenny continued to exhibit sustained declarative knowledge around key tactical knowledge concepts, continuing to add additional layers of procedural knowledge into his demonstration, explanations and reflections. Once more, the fourth session focused upon an attacking sub-moment and the additional sub-sub-moments. He explained the team's overall system of play before specifically focusing on the player and units within the sub-moment. A key example of the additional layer was how he added thoughts about the opposition: *"Attacking in high and wide areas I have got it set up here on the tactics board. I will just go through my formation: it's a GK 4-3-3-against a team GK 4-4-2"*.

The third session only focused on his system of play (1-4-3-3) without considering the opponents' system, however now he started to explore how the team would employ the appropriate strategies and tactics against a team playing a specific way. Moreover, Kenny displayed some conditional knowledge as he was able to justify different actions required to combat the actions and behaviours of the opposition when using his approach.

Kenny revealed his tactical knowledge through several interventions, making some good attacking principles coaching points about his desired strategies and tactics, linked to his style and

system of play. In addition, within his SR reflection, he justified his approach to stepping in and coaching a particular moment with the centre forward (No.9) in terms of support play with the other players: "When the cross comes in, LW hits a good cross into the near post area. The CF happened to be Ian at the time. He controls the ball, he takes a touch and he has now got his back to goal so he had no time to turn. He probably could have laid the AM off, but he tried to turn or do something and he just lost possession". "So, I said it was a great run to get across the CB and he received the ball but once he started going away from the goal he was trapped by the CB. I just said simply put it back to the LW". "Just play it back to the LW and then spin-off maybe back post or centrally because that winger is still going to put the ball into the dangerous area. So I just said in that moment try and do the simple thing. If you can't turn and shoot or lay it back for anyone just play it back to where it came from and it came from the LW. So that was a point for my CF, the primary player".

This highlighted his conditional knowledge in terms of the attacking principles and support play and creating space and ability to work with the primary player (CF No.9) and supporting secondary players to retain possession.

In terms of detail and terminology, Kenny used more appropriate terminology and showed more depth and detail in his justifications and explanations. Overall, he demonstrated more clarity in strategies and tactics employed, players' actions, and the players' roles and responsibilities within the team's style of play. The first four observations revealed several critical incidents that illustrated a significant change in his moments of the game, sub-moments, principles of play, strategies, and tactics knowledge. However, within the next couple of observations, the rapid change in knowledge had plateaued. Nevertheless, what Kenny had started to demonstrate is more consistent knowledge across a number of the game model main concepts within the practice.

During the fourth SR interview, Kenny was asked how he was finding the SR process; "The videos helped massively to see what I had missed during the session". "It helped out, especially to show which players are out of position with how I want to play. When I did the session again, I was waiting for the FB's to come inside in possession and then obviously I went in and

coached them. For me, as a coach, I was looking a lot less at the ball on Tuesday and just drilled into watching the centre-backs and full-backs in and out of possession".

The SR process had become a useful tool for Kenny as it allowed him to focus clearly upon specific moments of the game and the preferred strategies and tactics. He had become more critical in his observations and reflections. As Kenny's knowledge developed, he became clearer and more concise with his interventions.

28th January 2020

Since the beginning of January, Kenny had begun to send through weekly pre-session videos, session plans, and also post-session reflections of incidents of his own accord. Kenny had now established a connection between his GM, what the team had worked on in training, and if the players had executed the desired strategies and tactics within the game. For example, *"Match-day reflection video: just a couple of points I want to make from Sunday's game away to Orford. Their formation was 1-4-4-2. The formation we played was 1-4-3-3, so the last couple of weeks we have been working on attacking from wide areas".*

This reflection video quote showed how he had analysed the opposition's system of play and worked on the team's strategy and tactics in preparation for the game. Furthermore, Kenny set up a scenario for the team in training to play against a 1-4-4-2 system, within a specific sub-moment and subsubmoments (playing in wide areas). This developed knowledge permitted Kenny to reflect on the different situations that occurred during the game and analyse the players' actions to the desired strategies and tactics. His developed declarative and procedural tactical knowledge across several of the concepts allowed him to create different game scenarios in training.

Kenny continued to develop his observational skills within the specific moments and submoments of the game: "The right-winger (RW) had the ball and the right-back (RB) made a good overlapping run. The RW put the RB in down the line and the RB just put it into that area. It got cleared by the defender, it went ahead of the striker (S). The Left winger (LW) was coming in the back post as it just got cleared. What I did notice was the two attacking midfielders (AM) weren't getting up so none of them were getting into the box. It was just the S and LW".

Figures 7.6 and 7.7 and supporting quotes taken from the session plan showed how Kenny was able to distinguish the players' positions and actions in specific sub-moments of the game which he had developed within previous training sessions and deemed them correct or incorrect.



Figure 7.6. Example 1



Figure 7.7. Example 2

"As soon as the 7 has received the pass, this should trigger the 10 to start getting in centrally into the box". "The 7 is now just about to cross the ball. This should trigger the 9 to make a near-post run or a central goalmouth run depending on where he thinks the best possible space is to attack into. Timing of the run is important as he doesn't want to make this run early and wait as long as possible to have more of a chance to reach the ball first from any defenders marking him".

Despite Kenny's accelerated development of declarative and procedural knowledge of the moments, principles of play, systems, styles, strategies, and tactics over the last few months, there have still been some lapses in practice. Although within some of the sub-moments of the game he has started to develop conditional knowledge, with other topics or newer concepts there is still some

disconnect between what he wanted and what actually happened during practice. However, it is also important to mention that learning is not a linear process, and at times it can be expected for intermediate coaches to have some relapses in knowledge, even within successful periods of knowledge development.

4th February 2020

In contrast to the start of the intervention, Kenny's knowledge has developed. Through applying the game model, he has segmented the game down into the sub-moments and subsubmoments of the game and his associated strategy and tactics within each moment. Although Kenny had not worked on the support and movement of the attacking players identified from last week's game, it was encouraging to see his continued focus upon this sub-moment of the game and follow up on his observation before the next game discussing with the two attacking midfield players how he wanted them to attack and support the ball. "On Sunday, I spoke to the 10 and 8 before the game about last week's match and just went through on a miniature tactics board about trying to react quickly to get into the box if the CF or winger gets close to the by-line and looks like they will cross the ball in". "Jordan said he would make this run just before the delivery of the cross. I just informed him it may be a bit late to get in then and to try to make this run earlier, well before he is about to cross, maybe when he's receiving the ball".

Through the use of a tactics board, Kenny was able to demonstrate how he wanted both the attacking midfielders to make an attacking run to support the ball. For Kenny to apply this approach with the players showed his confidence and belief in his knowledge developed and more specifically how and when he wanted the players to support the ball. Moreover, he further justified his explanation by describing why the player would have to make an earlier run than the player suggested. Although Kenny did not work on two key players during the observation, he was able to demonstrate his continued development of declarative and procedural knowledge around his team's style of play, strategy, and tactics. Furthermore, continuing to show his knowledge and understanding of players within the particular sub-moments. He had continued to show much more consistency with

what and how in practice and also identify the player's decisions and actions in games. To further develop, he needs to identify in both practices and games the situations as they occur to impact the players' actions.

26th February 2020

Kenny sent through an interesting post-match day reflection from the cup game in which his team lost 3-2 but discussed how he had changed the system during the game. "We went 1-0 up quite early on from Ian scoring back post from a corner. We hit the bar and had a goal ruled out for offside, had chances to make it 2-0 but never took them. It was the first time that we have changed the formation during a game with 10mins to go from a 1-4-33 to 1-4-4-2". While Kenny had changed his preferred system of play during the course, this was the first time he had decided to change his system of play during a game to affect the outcome of the game. The decision came around due to the time left in the game and the score line:

"I liked how taking out the 6 and then going with two up front didn't really disrupt the shape much, and from crosses out wide, there were now 2 strikers attacking the cross, which is how we got the 2nd goal". "I wouldn't necessarily now change to a 1-4-4-2 but it looks like quite a good adjustment to make sometimes during a game, just to get more players into the box from crosses".

Moreover, Kenny was able to justify changes made to the team's system of play for the final 10 minutes of the game to try and get an equaliser in the game. He discussed what he liked about the change and how it allowed him to keep two strikers up the field, however, stating how he would not change to a new system of play at present.

Tuesday 17th March 2020

The next observation was planned for Tuesday 17th March, however, due to the Covid-19 pandemic all coaching ceased and the intervention strategy paused until August once the Football

Association had given the green light for grassroots football to commence. The researcher contacted Kenny in mid-August, but Kenny asked for a couple of weeks to get back onto the grass coaching before arranging the next observation as he had not coached since March and felt out of practice.

Tuesday 25th August 2020

The researcher was concerned that Kenny's declarative and procedural knowledge would have regressed due to the long break from coaching. However, Kenny sent through several pre and post-session clips from the first few sessions since lockdown, and the level of detail and how he wanted the team to play was not only consistent but he had added more advanced knowledge around several tactical concepts. In the first post-session reflection, Kenny highlighted his system of play during the transition from defence to attack moment, which was a new topic for him. The choice of topic demonstrated his developed knowledge across the different moments of the game, and new confidence in his approach. The session focused on the primary and secondary players involved in the session, demonstrated continued knowledge of the principles of play, and his application of strategies and tactics linked to his desired style of play.

"What I did was I stopped it once the right-back was receiving the ball and the right-winger was central again. He was not getting out wide as soon as the right-back was receiving the ball. So what I did was I just went in and I explained and said as soon as the right-back has got the ball, I'm looking for you to be as far wide as possible on the touchline to be able to get onto the lofted pass over the top".

Again, Kenny had a clear idea of how he wanted to play within the moment of the game and gave tactical instructions for players to perform. His preserved knowledge was further observed when he identified the right-wing did not apply the width attacking principle by creating space for the rightback to play the ball.

9th September 2020

Kenny sent a reflection video, using the tactics board to highlight the moment of the game (topic) and primary players. He had another section with the title of the attacking principles in which he highlighted four out of the five attacking principles. Moreover, next to each of the principles he had the players' numbers and their roles within the specific moment: *"What I noticed was when the RB was getting high and wide, the other LB was actually mirroring it so they were both getting high and wide so it was good to see the LB recognise what the RB was doing. So, the RB has given me width there as he had received the ball. The secondary player RW was making an in-to-out run, getting out wide, looking across the line staying well onside. He is a fast player so his speed is obviously going to be key for him to penetrate or exploit the space in behind down that right channel".*

Kenny's knowledge in action was observed as he clearly allocated players to the desired tactics and the actions and behaviours required. More significantly, it demonstrated Kenny's clear declarative and procedural knowledge of the attacking principles and how these principles are employed within his style of play. Moreover, session clips demonstrated a deeper understanding of multiple key areas of Level 3. His observation skills had improved and within each moment, he understood what was required of the players to achieve his strategies and tactics. It would appear that through lock-down, Kenny had consolidated his knowledge and had a chance to reflect on the key areas of the GM and develop his tactical knowledge of the game.

15th of September 2020

The excerpt below was taken from the pre-observation video, illustrating the clear transformation of Kenny's overall tactical knowledge that he developed over the last 12 months: *"Primary player CF no.9, secondary player LAM no.10. So again, on the transition, as soon as the GK has got the ball the two FB's should be splitting. They have been working on this so hopefully, they will be doing this tomorrow night. The GK is going to throw the ball to the RB as soon as the RB has received the ball. The right-winger is getting high and wide so is the left-winger. At this moment,*

what I am looking to happen is the no.2 [RB] to travel with the ball. Then, the no.9 is going to show for the ball. He is going to drop in, in-between the lines. He is going to receive the ball off the no.2. He is going to control it and shield the ball if he is under pressure. Then he is going to lay it off to the no.10. He [no.9] is going to spin centrally forward. Then no.10 is going to receive the ball. Hopefully, it is going to be on his preferred foot, which is his left. I think it's far easier to try and hit the diagonal either over the top for the winger to get in or even better along the floor for the winger to get in [rightwinger]".

The specific technical and tactical detail Kenny highlighted during the moment and submoment of the game showed his tactical declarative and procedural knowledge development. There was a significant change in the use of terminology to explain specific tactics with an enhanced level of detail to the players. The specific tactics, knowledge, and terminology used when explaining how he wanted the striker (no.9) to play displayed an advanced knowledge: "*The no.9 is going to show for the ball. He is going to drop in in-between the line. He is going to receive the ball off the no.2. Then he is going to control it, shield the ball if he is under pressure and then he is going to lay it off to the no.10 and he is going to spin centrally forward*".

He had started to apply football-specific jargon and terminology such as players 'splitting', 'travelling' with the ball, 'shielding' the ball, and 'in between the lines'. Sometimes, when coaches use football 'jargon', it is picked up from other coaches and media platforms without an actual understanding of the meaning or application (procedural knowledge). However, Kenny demonstrated a clear understanding and application of the specific tactic. The level of detail in the tactical explanation observed further illustrated his progressive knowledge and understanding in practice. The development of knowledge was further verified when Kenny recreated a scenario that happened in the practice involving the no.9 and highlighted how the striker had dropped in-between the lines to show for the ball: *"Fantastic play CF no.9, dropping in showing for the ball. I like that bit of movement there. You got the ball, you turned sharply, and you laid-off"*.

Moreover, a significant moment occurred when his knowledge was demonstrated in dialogue with the other coach (John).

John "Only a thought, I don't want to interrupt".

Kenny "Go on, tell me".

John "How about switch Max, as he will be holding his position better?"

Kenny "Well, I will just stick with Max because he is the 9 today. I'm working with him. If I just suddenly change him out wide, I mean it's just going to confuse him".

John "Well, yes, but it's just he is playing like a midfielder isn't he?

Kenny *"Well he is dropping in, isn't he? He is coming short for the ball, so that's fine"*. This moment was significant because, in earlier observations when discussing incidents, Kenny would often take on board John's advice or recommendations. John was seen as more senior by both the players and Kenny, however, Kenny delivered most of the sessions. The relationship replicated John as the manager, who picked the team, and Kenny the coach, who delivered all the sessions.

Moreover, with this incident, there seemed a power shift due to Kenny's advanced tactical knowledge of the game. John did not understand what Kenny was trying to achieve or understand the principle of the striker playing in-between two units to try and disrupt the opposition defence. Kenny demonstrated his conditional knowledge and stood by his chosen tactical decision of how he wanted the striker to play in that specific moment of the game.

Discussion

Principles of play

The most significant change in Kenny's tactical knowledge related to principles of play. This change was observed by the researcher and Kenny during the post-stimulated-recall interview. When asked what the most important change was in his tactical knowledge, he replied: *"When I understood attacking principles and defensive principles and read up on them. Understanding principles. The*

most important thing is understanding the principles of play and just knowing exactly what they are. I mean, I've heard of them. I thought I knew, but I am actually understanding them now".

Furthermore, Kenny acknowledged at beginning of the course he thought he knew the principles of play but soon recognised his lack of knowledge. The second observation and SR interview illustrated the most prevalent change in his attacking principles declarative and procedural knowledge. Before the second observation, Kenny was asked to send through a session plan focusing upon one specific moment and sub-moment of the game. This was followed by short videos demonstrating his specific strategies and tactics of how he wanted the team to play through the use of a tactics board implementing object learning (Reading, 2008; Chatterjee, 2010 Chatterjee et al., 2015).

Through the tactics board explanation, Kenny illustrated a greater understanding of the attacking principles of support play and creating space. He focused on creating passing options through pitch height and width but also depth in the attack provided by the positions of the back fourunit. The depth principle is a concept he lacked knowledge of within the first SR, thus highlighting a change of attacking principles declarative and procedural knowledge of support and creating space (Wade, 1996; Hewitt et al., 2016; Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2016; The FA, 2016; Price et al., 2019; 2020; Nash et al., 2006).

The change in principles of play knowledge had a positive impact on the development of his strategic and tactical knowledge. Kenny was able to state all the attacking principles of play when questioned in the post-intervention interview, further confirming his developed declarative knowledge. By the end of the intervention strategy, Kenny was able to link both the attacking and defensive principles of play to the different moments and sub-moments of the game and demonstrated conditional knowledge in practice. The changes in principles of play declarative and procedural knowledge were evident throughout the study, even more so within the intervention time frame. Furthermore, at the post-intervention interview, he felt that understanding the principles of play was imperative in improving his overall tactical knowledge. This evidence suggests that to learn

the different tactical concepts of the game, the staged approach in the GM and conceptual framework acts as a positive approach. Moreover, until a coach has developed sufficient knowledge of the principles of play, it is difficult for them to decide on the appropriate preferred style of play and chosen system. Furthermore, the success of the coach's strategies and tactics with their team is directly related to their understanding of applying the principles of play (Price et al., 2019; 2020; Wade, 1967; 1996; The FA, 2016; Hewitt et al., 2016; Delgado-Bordonau, et al., 2012; Tee et al., 2018; Gréhaigne et al., 1995; 1999; Bouthier, 1988; Yiannakos et al., 2006; Carling et al., 2007).

Systems of play

Kenny stated that he was unaware of a number of the topics, especially in terms of units, primary players, and secondary players at the start of the course: *"I know others on the course were asking, 'can we have more information on primary and secondary players'. [I don't know] whether I was in the same boat as anyone else on the course, but it was just completely new to me. I don't even think there's anything explaining it online or anything".*

Kenny highlighted how he was not the only person lacking knowledge of the primary and secondary players. Additionally, Kenny felt alongside understanding the principles of play, the Eureka moment in his knowledge development was the ability to identify the primary and secondary players in each specific moment of the game. Kenny also identified the understanding of how styles and systems of play entwine as another significant area of knowledge development on the course: *"Having a focus on exactly how I want to play, I had an idea but sort of dissecting exactly what you want to do in possession and out of possession with my formation changing from 41-4-1 to a 1-4-3-3. I just think, again, I had an idea how to play it, but I never just went and just focused absolutely on transitions like the fullbacks and wingers from in possessions to out of possession coming in and out".*

The extract supports findings relating to Kenny's change in knowledge about how he wanted to play in each of the moments and sub-moments of the game. Kenny highlighted he initially employed a 451 system of play out of possession, which turned into a 4-3-3 when in possession. However, the 4-141 system had emerged through his research and was followed by him adapting the system to meet the players' characteristics. This meant that out of possession, the team employed a 4-1-4-1, but in possession changed to a 1-4-3-3 or depending on the sub-moment of the game to a 1-4-1-5 (Wu et al., 2019; Machado et al., 2017; Müller-Budack et al., 2019; Bialkowski et al., 2016; Wilson, 2010; Bangsbo & Peitersen, 2000).

Styles of play

The change in system aligned with his preferred style of play: *"The style of play was a sort of fast, direct, organised attack - the northern European style"*. Kenny had read up on several styles of play such as tikka taka and long ball but decided upon a fast, direct style, which involved getting the ball in behind or in the channels based upon a German style of play that he felt suited his players. However, with the new goal-kick law change and the improvement in his team, he decided upon a more possession-based approach (Bate, 1988; Hughes et al., 2005a; Redwood-Brown, 2008; Ruiz-Ruiz et al., 2013; Tenga, et al., 2010; Travassos et al., 2013; Hewitt et al., 2016; Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2018; 2016; The FA, 2016).

Within the intervention process, once Kenny understood the attacking principles, he started to develop his knowledge around how principles, styles, and systems of play, strategies, and tactics in relation to the primary and secondary players within the specific moments all interlinked.

"I thought the principles of play, attacking and defending, are about how your style fits in with the principles and then the primary and secondary players. I think that was the one that jumped out where it was just so hard to understand".

Once Kenny started to understand the principles of play, this cascaded into the development of the other tactical concepts. He started to illustrate this around the second observation, when linking styles to the principles of play, he showed how he wanted to play within each moment and submoment. In addition, he identified and understood which primary unit to work with, and the primary and secondary players in each sub-moment. This was seen as a significant moment that facilitated his development of tactical knowledge. This was further reflected by Kenny; *"I think once you nail down* exactly how you want to play, it just becomes a lot easier - once you start understanding all the attacking and defensive principles. It's just you can word it better. You understand it better. You know the players are getting the message."

Kenny emphasised that once he understood exactly how he wanted to play, it was easier to get the information across to players. Subsequently, players started to process the information, which lead to an improvement in the team's performance. The players had started to develop principles of play knowledge via Kenny's chosen strategies and tactics, which focused upon the importance of when in possession, the team making the pitch wide, and out of possession, making the pitch narrow and compact. The actions and behaviours of the players were also observed by the researcher during training and games (Delgado-Bordonau et al., 2012; Giske et al., 2015; Richards et al., 2017; Price et al., 2019; 2020).

A prominent example of Kenny's systems and styles of play knowledge development occurred through a match day reflection: "We went 1-0 up quite early on from Ian scoring from the back post from a corner. We hit the bar and had a goal ruled out for offside. We had chances to make it 2-0 but never took them. It was the first time that we have changed the formation during a game with 10 minutes to go from a 1-4-3-3 to 1-4-4-2" (**26th February 2020**).

Although Kenny changed his preferred system of play during the course, this was the first time he had decided to change his system of play during a game, to affect the outcome of the game. The decision came about due to the time left in the game and the score line: *"I liked how taking out the 6 and then going with two upfront didn't really disrupt the shape much, and from crosses out wide, there were now 2 strikers attacking the cross, which is how we got the 2nd goal". "I wouldn't necessarily now change to a 1-4-4-2 but it looks like quite a good adjustment to make sometimes during a game, just to get more players into the box from crosses" (26th February 2020).*

Kenny showed his knowledge by justifying the changes made to the team's system of play for the final 10 minutes of the game in an attempt to equalise. He discussed the merits of the change, concluding how the change allowed the team to keep two strikers up the field both in and out of possession. However, he stated at present he would not change to a new system of play (Price et al., 2019; 2020; Hewitt et al., 2016; Bouthier, 1988; Yiannakos et al., 2006; Carling et al., 2007; Grehaigne et al., 1999).

From the first observation, Kenny revealed a key action was to develop his tactical knowledge of the game. With this, he started to study and explore a range of different sources such as books, online sources, playing football-related video games, all of which allowed him to expand his knowledge and explore systems of play. As aligned to the literature, authors suggest coaches are deemed to construct knowledge through a range of both informal and non-formal learning platforms (Nash et al., 2006; Cushion, 2011; Gilbert et al., 2009; Stoszkowskia et al., 2015).

The first three observations demonstrated Kenny's accelerated development of his moments, principles, systems and styles of play declarative and procedural knowledge, however, between observations three and four there had been some lapses in practice. Although within some of the submoments of the game he started to develop conditional knowledge with other topics or newer concepts, there was still some disconnect between what he wanted to happen and what was happening in practice. Moreover, as learning is not a linear process, at times it would be expected for intermediate coaches to have some bumps along the way even within successful periods of knowledge development (Veenman et al., 2006; 2014; Nash et al., 2006; Price et al., 2019; 2020; McPherson et al., 2004; 2007; Kreber et al., 2000).

Whilst acknowledging that he knew the course would not be easy, Kenny stated that he found the Level 3 journey a more challenging experience than he initially thought. At times he felt it was very difficult, consuming, and full-on, and as a result of this, he struggled. However, he felt that his tactical knowledge and game understanding had significantly developed and improved over the two years completing the course (Anderson, 1982; Kreber et al., 2000; Nelson et al., 2013; Nash et al., 2006; Côté et al., 2009; Stoszkowski et al., 2016; Price et al., 2019; 2020).

Game Model

Another key finding highlighted the significant impact of the GM on Kenny's tactical knowledge development: "Well, I think that's the key. When you break it down and drill into something [sub-moments] specifically and then you move on to the next one and then after five or six of them it all links into how you want to play. So I've got to say, I thought it was really good that game model that you sent me, it really helped".

The GM allowed Kenny to break the game into sub-moments and sub-sub-moments, and focus specifically on how he wanted his team to play in each moment and the player's tactics and strategies required. Furthermore, the process assisted Kenny to identify which unit to work with and who the primary and secondary players were within the sub-moments. This change in knowledge correlated with the start of the intervention strategy and when he started to create his GM (Hewitt et al., 2016; Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2016; 2018; Delgado-Bordonau et al., 2012, 2016; Tamarit, 2015; Tee et al., 2018). Moreover, as the intervention strategy progressed, Kenny displayed a greater understanding across each sub-moment of the game. The GM allowed him to deconstruct the game into more manageable moments, before demonstrating the knowledge to build the moments back up into 11 vs 11 games. He was now able to focus on aspects away from the ball, providing further tactical actions for other player positions and units within the current sub-moment and subsequently understand how the moments linked together (Price et al., 2019; 2020; Wade, 1967; 1996; The FA, 2016; Hewitt et al., 2016; Delgado-Bordonau et al., 2012).

Intervention Strategy

Kenny felt that the SR had a significant impact on his development as a coach in the last year. Kenny felt using technology to film the sessions helped him to reflect and develop as a coach as he had never seen himself coach before. Moreover, he found the process enjoyable, in particular sending videos to the researcher demonstrating on the tactics boards how he wanted the team to play. He further enjoyed analysing the clips from the session sent through from the researcher and reflecting

and comparing them to his earlier clips (Cushion et al., 2018; Lyle, 2003; Cope et al., 2017; Stodter et al., 2020; Bernier et al., 2011; Wolcott, 1995).

The SR became an instrumental tool for Kenny, as it permitted him to focus upon preferred strategies and tactics within specific moments of the game. He had become more critical in his observations and analysis skills, which led to clearer and more concise reflections as his knowledge developed. Moreover, after the fourth observation (January 2019), Kenny's confidence had grown; he started to send through weekly pre-session videos, session plans, and post-session reflections of incidents of his own accord. In addition, he started to focus on matches, sending through his reflections and demonstrating incidents he had identified within the game that became the focus of the next practice session. The SR process had, therefore, shifted from researcher-led to coach-led.

Kenny's declarative, procedural, and conditional knowledge significantly changed throughout the course but more considerably over the intervention strategy time frame. Kenny, supported by the development of his game model had developed his knowledge of how he wanted to play in each moment of the game, he developed specific strategies and tactics for each sub-moment and integrated his desired style and system of play. Moreover, Kenny felt that the biggest change of knowledge occurred over the last 6 months, but believed it was not until a year into the course he started to grasp the concepts (Brunning et al., 2004; Reynolds, 1992; MacIntyre et al., 2014; Cushion et al., 2003; McPherson, 1994; Price et al., 2019; 2020).

Chapter Summary

The study explored whether an adapted Game Model might serve as a useful conceptual framework for the development of intermediate football coaches' tactical knowledge and game understanding. Findings suggest that the GM had a noteworthy impact on the coach's knowledge in this longitudinal case study. The paramount change in tactical knowledge occurred after the start of the intervention strategy and once the coach had started to construct the GM. The GM model allowed the coach to break the game down into more manageable components. This allowed him to focus specifically on selected strategies and tactics and how he wanted to play across the different moments

of the game, which in turn had a positive impact upon the team's performance (Delgado-Bordonau et al., 2012, 2018; Tamarit, 2015; Tee et al., 2018; Giske et al., 2015; Richards et al., 2017).

Furthermore, findings suggest the intervention strategy had a positive impact on the coach's development. The SR process with the use of technology and object learning allowed the coach to reflect and analyse their practice and compare what he wanted to happen against what happened in practice (Cushion et al., 2018; Lyle, 2003; Cope et al., 2017; Stodter et al., 2020; Bernier et al., 2011; Wolcott, 1995).

Finally, the findings of the current study suggest the most significant change and impact upon the coach's tactical knowledge were understanding the principles of play. A coach needs to be able to demonstrate both declarative and procedural knowledge and apply the principles in practice to show conditional knowledge. Moreover, this change in knowledge had a significant impact on the development of the other tactical knowledge components. The findings highlight that once the coach understood the principles of play, he was then able to link the principles to his style and system of play, which in turn enabled him to develop his desired strategies and tactics within each moment and sub-moment of the game (Wade, 1996; Hewitt, et al., 2016; Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2016; The FA, 2017; Price et al., 2019; 2020; Gréhaigne et al., 1995; 1999; Yiannakos et al., 2006; Carling et al., 2007).

Meta-Reflection 3

Throughout the study, engaging in both critical reflection and reflexivity gave insight into my interpretations made throughout the study and also key feelings during the process. Transcribing the participant observations and SR process was once again very time consuming and a challenging process and involved trying to explain what the coach demonstrated or explained at times due to the brief descriptions given. The data collections methods produced circa 100,000 words across the intervention strategy. From a reflexive position, I had to endeavour to explain exactly what the coach demonstrated with their actions and explanations but also how this related to the principles of the game. Furthermore, my interpretations were based on observations and wording by the coach and

anything I was unsure with I asked for clarification rather than just making judgement. Analysing the data after each event served well in the analysis process, however, with gaps in between the analysis and final write up it was important to revisit study notes, reflections and the video clips in sections that required further clarity or to recall incidents. An area of reflexivity I continued to find challenging was the process of crossing fields. As with studies one and two, I was too focused as a researcher in the first SR interview and following protocols and process-driven.

Through critically reflecting on the SR process applied in the first intervention strategy, an adapted approach was applied for the second intervention. Firstly, although the first SR intervention took place in a private room at the coaching venue arranged by Kenny, it was felt that Kenny may have felt under pressure from being observed or overheard by the other coaches, players, or the parents. Furthermore, due to Kenny's level of experience, it was felt by the researcher that asking the questions in the environment may have added pressure to the process when being put on the spot. With this, it was felt an adaptation to the process would allow Kenny to feel under less pressure and focus more on the clips in his own space and time and also speed up the process. The adapted process had been introduced before the second coaching session through a phone conversation between Kenny and the researcher. Nevertheless, it was felt that a short guide with a step-by-step process would benefit Kenny in the reflection process. A further consideration that supported the amended process of the SR process was down to the location.

Further meta-reflection on the SR process, the role of the researcher was to be an active listener, however, at times within SR 1, the coach switched between the active listener and coach educator to support and guide Kenny as he seemed to freeze through either lack of knowledge or the pressure he felt within the situation and location. Moreover, I wanted to create a process I could apply in the real world and that other coach educators and mentors could employ to support coaches' development and also something that the coaches could do. The first SR process was too timeintensive and delayed the process alongside not being practical. From this point forward within the study I was now able to strike a balance between researchers and coach educators. The SR process is something I continued to do in practice as a coach educator away from the study and continue to apply. The use of recording the coach served well and support the coaching process. Even the recording of small chunks on a mobile phone has served useful for the coaches I have supported and mentored. The approach has even permitted coaches to be recorded by fellow coaches or parents and served as a key reflection tool. It has further allowed coaches to send through clips that have been recorded for them to illustrate their progress, ask for support on specific areas of practice or gain general feedback on their coaching practice.

Chapter 8: General Discussion

Purpose of the Research

Modern coaching pedagogies advocate the proposition that variable, random and gamerelated approaches result in greater accuracy and consistency of skills as opposed to traditional methods of deliberate and constant practices (Williams et al., 2005; Passos et al., 2008; Davids et al., 2001; 2010; Christensen, 2009; Renshaw et al., 2018; Lee et al., 1985; Light et al., 2010; 2015; Pill, 2016). However, for game-based approaches to be an effective method of practice, it is paramount for coaches to have sufficient tactical knowledge of the game (i.e., moments of the game, principles of play, styles and systems of play). Furthermore, they are required to understand the significant impact and challenges that space, time and organisation pose on a team's strategies and tactics across the different moments and sub-moments of the game (Gréhaigne et al., 1997; O'Donoghue, 2008; Garganta, 2009; Wade, 1967; 1996; Delgado-Bordonau, et al., 2012; Hewitt et al., 2016).

Although previous research has explored how and what knowledge coaches require, the majority of studies in the field have explored the novice vs expert paradigm. There is still a considerable lack of studies around how novice and intermediate level coaches' best develop their knowledge. Moreover, despite the increased interest in coaching practice, concepts of sport-specific knowledge are an underexplored area of research that requires further investigation, as existing research has not given adequate attention to what tactical knowledge football coaches require and how coaches develop tactical knowledge. The importance of developing extensive tactical knowledge is considered a significant factor for coaches on their journey from novice to elite (Galanter et al., 2005; Lyle, 2005; Vergeer & Lyle, 2009; Kaya, 2014; Stoszkowskia et al., 2015; Walker et al., 2018; Nash et al., 2006; Wright et al., 2007; MacDonald et al., 2008; Stodter et al., 2017).

Therefore, the overall aim of the thesis was to analyse, support and develop football coaches' tactical knowledge in practice, exploring what, how and when novice/intermediate football coaches develop their tactical knowledge. Furthermore, it aimed to explore if a conceptual model and

framework could act as a support mechanism to aid tactical knowledge development of football coaches.

The overarching purpose was achieved by working on the following four definitive objectives: 1) The development of a conceptual framework and model to advance tactical knowledge; 2) An investigation into the baseline tactical knowledge of coaches at the start of a Level 3 course; 3) The analysis of coaches' tactical conditional knowledge in practice; 4) The use of an intervention strategy to support the development of coaches' tactical knowledge.

The findings in this chapter will be presented as follows: 1) The key findings of the thesis in relation to existing literature and current knowledge; 2) Limitations and future research opportunities; 3) The key findings concerning the impact on practice.

Key Findings

Tactical Knowledge

The key findings from the thesis suggest the moments of the game and principles of play are the most significant concepts of tactical knowledge. Coaches are required to demonstrate and apply both declarative and procedural knowledge of the moments of the game and associated principles of play in order to display conditional knowledge in practice. Findings illustrated that coaches who displayed more advanced knowledge of the moments of the game and principles of play were able to demonstrate greater knowledge of the other concepts of tactical knowledge. Hence once a coach understands these two key concepts, they are more capable of applying the principles of play to appropriate styles and systems of play, which in turn enables coaches to develop desired strategies and tactics across each moment and sub-moment of the game (Wade, 1996; Hewitt, et al., 2016; Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2016; The FA, 2017; Price et al., 2019; 2020; Gréhaigne et al., 1995; 1999; Yiannakos et al., 2006; Carling et al., 2007).

Baseline Knowledge

Findings from Study 1 illustrated that the majority of coaches were unable to define key terminology used within the literature and coach education to discuss key concepts of tactical knowledge when questioned. However, all coaches were able to exhibit the application of several tactical concepts of the game when demonstrating how to apply the principles of play, systems and styles of play in the moments of the game. Although coaches were able to display the application of the attacking and defending principles, they revealed a lack of declarative knowledge when attempting to define the principles of play (Nash et al., 2006; Yiannakos et al., 2006; Carling et al., 2007; Tamarit, 2015; Delgado-Bordonau et al., 2012; Hewitt et al., 2016; Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2016; The FA, 2016). This variability further illustrated that not having universal terminology or language across different practice settings and academia impacts coaches' knowledge development and understanding of the terms. Hence one of the aims of the conceptual framework and Game Model in chapter 2 was to align the concepts under the tactical knowledge umbrella to support knowledge development.

A second key finding of the study highlighted that at the start of the course, coaches described having one style of play and only considered one moment of the game. The majority of coaches described having an attacking style of play such as direct or possession based. The coaches argued the importance of being able to adapt playing styles depending upon several game situations, however, all but one of the coaches had a fixed approach towards their playing style and associated strategies and tactics employed (Wade, 1996; Piltz et al., 2013; Clemente et al., 2014; Hewitt et al., 2016; Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2016; The FA, 2016).

Similarly, coaches showed a clear understanding of their preferred system of play, however, all but one of the coaches still referred to a chosen system as a one-dimensional static classification, with little or no appreciation of how systems of play change depending on whether the team is in or out of possession. They had not developed the tactical knowledge or the observational skills to identify how styles and systems of play may change across the different

moments and sub-moments of the game. Further research is required to explore systems and styles of play to aid coaches and analysts to detect how systems change within the moments of the game and present how systems change when the ball is in different areas of the pitch (sub-moments). In addition, more guidance is required to support their knowledge development, observational and analytical skills to recognise how styles of play, strategies and tactics may have to be adapted to a) suit the players' characteristics within their team, or b) adapt to the opposition's tactics and strategies (Delgado-Bordonau et al., 2012; Bialkowski et al., 2016; Wu et al., 2019; Machado et al., 2017; Müller-Budack et al., 2019; Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2016; Hewitt et al., 2016; The FA, 2016).

In terms of the coaches' backgrounds and profiles, findings showed no difference between coaches in the first Study. The knowledge displayed was sporadic; a coach would show more knowledge on one concept but less on another, and coaches did not display similar knowledge across all concepts. Educational background, age, context and number of years playing did not have any impact upon the knowledge displayed by the coaches. However, the coach with the least number of years coaching, joint youngest and had not been selected for the Level 3 course, demonstrated more advanced knowledge across all concepts. The findings illustrated that despite coaches having similar knowledge and education, coaches not selected for the Level 3 course only differed in terms of age and the number of years of coaching are more significant factors to measure someone's suitability for the course, rather than the level of knowledge, playing and coaching experience, and educational background.

Finally, from a coach education perspective, more focus on developing coaches' declarative and procedural knowledge of the moments of the game and the associated principles of play is required. These two fundamental concepts have a significant impact upon the coaches' overall tactical knowledge and the other key concepts such as styles, systems, strategies and tactics (Wade,

1967, Price et al., 2019; 2020; Bangsbo et al., 2002; Piltz et al., Launder, 2013; Clemente et al., 2014; Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2016).

Tactical Knowledge in Practice

The findings from Study 2, observing coaches in practice between Block 3 and 4 of the course, demonstrated coaches with more advanced tactical knowledge displayed more episodes of procedural and conditional tactical knowledge in practice. This revealed that, although coaches were at the same stage of the Level 3 course, the knowledge displayed in practice indicated how knowledge development and learning is non-linear with coaches on different trajectories in their tactical knowledge development. Furthermore, the study revealed that although coaches had developed some competent declarative and procedural knowledge of the principles of play, in theory, not all coaches displayed consistent levels of procedural and conditional knowledge of the principles in practice, with some inconsistencies of when and why to intervene.

All coaches displayed competent levels of attacking principles declarative and procedural knowledge, with all demonstrating their procedural knowledge in practice on several occasions when coaching creating space, movement and support play. However, only three of the coaches displayed a consistent level of procedural and conditional knowledge around the attacking principles in practice, demonstrating when and why to intervene. In addition, two coaches illustrated more advanced principles of play knowledge by considering and displaying conditional knowledge of the defensive principles (Wade, 1967; 1996; Côté et al., 2009; Stoszkowski et al., 2016; Price et al., 2019; 2020; The FA, 2016; Hewitt et al., 2016; Fernandez-Navarro et al., 2016; Bangsbo, 2000; Costa et al., 2009; Piltz et al., 2013; Nash et al., 2006).

Moreover, it would be expected at this stage of the course (between Block 3 and Block 4) that coaches would have developed significant knowledge and understanding around the principles of play and could display conditional knowledge in practice. Further findings suggest the number of coaching hours per week and the coaching context had an impact on the coaches' tactical knowledge development. The coach displaying the least advanced tactical knowledge coached the least number of hours and at a lower level (grassroots). In contrast, the other coaches in the study coached at the semi-professional or Academy level. The coaching domain could have an impact on the coaches' tactical knowledge development. Within an academy setting, a coach would be coaching alongside Level 3 and 4 coaches that could facilitate some knowledge transfer through observation and feedback supporting the coach to learn and develop their knowledge. In addition, at a semi-professional level they could be exposed to players with developed tactical knowledge of several of the concepts, alongside working with another Level 3 coach (Blackett et al., 2017; Stodter et al., 2017; Nash et al., 2006; Price et al., 2019; 2020; Vergeer et al., 2009; Kaya, 2014; Wright et al., 2008; Stoszkowskia et al., 2015).

A final finding revealed that despite the stage of the course, none of the coaches differentiated changes in the system of play during different moments of the game, with all coaches still referring to an overall static formation classification (Wu et al., 2019; Machado et al., 2017; Müller-Budack et al., 2019; Bialkowski et al., 2016; Wilson, 2010).

The Game Model

The findings suggest that the development of a Game Model (GM) had a significant impact on the coach's tactical knowledge development. The greatest change in tactical knowledge occurred once the intervention strategy had begun and the coach started to construct the GM. The GM allowed the coach to break the game down into more manageable concepts, permitting the coach to focus specifically on desired strategies and tactics across the different moments and sub-moments of the game. Moreover, findings illustrated that once the coach understood exactly how he wanted the team to play, it became easier to communicate information to the players. Subsequently, players started to process this information, which consequently led to an improvement in team performance.

Figure 8.1 illustrates the final version of the Game Model following the three studies. The creation of a clear GM allowed a coach to operationalise their team's styles and systems of play, which reduced player uncertainty and improved tactical cohesion. Furthermore, it helped players

understand their roles and responsibilities during appropriately designed game-related practices focusing on different moments and sub-moments of the game (Martins, 2003; Frade, 2004; DelgadoBordonau et al., 2012; Tamarit, 2015; Tee et al., 2018; Giske et al., 2015; Price et al., 2019; 2020; Richards et al., 2012; 2017).



Coaches' Ideas & Vision of the Game

Figure 8.1. Concepts of a Game Model (adapted from Delgado-Bordonau & Mendez-Villanueva, 2012).

The coach had worked through each stage of the conceptual framework shown in Table 8.1 and as the intervention strategy progressed in Study 3, he displayed a greater understanding across each of the concepts. For example, the coach started to specifically focus on the primary units and players within the sub-moments of the game showing how he wanted the team to play, with the desired strategies and tactics aligned to the style and system of play.

Table 8.1 Conceptual Framework: How to build a Game Model, stages, key considerations and further considerations.

Game Model Components	Key Considerations	External considerations
Coaches' Ideas & Vision of the Game	Form an integral part in the designing of a GM. How do you view and what are your ideas of the game? How would you want your team to play?	Beliefs, preferred principles, systems of play and styles of play
	What is your preferred type of player?	Coaching Domain, Player Capabilities and Significant others
Stage 1: Moments of Game	How do you want your team to play in each of the moments of the game?	Game circumstances - home advantage, type of match, score-line, time left in the game, a
In possession – attacking in open play Transition from defence to attack	How does your system of play change in each moment of the game?	player sent off, player injury, weather or pitch condition
Set plays - free-kicks, thrown-ins and corner kicks.	Who are the key players and units in each moment of	Opposition strategy & testing the system of
Transition from attack to defence (dis-organised)	How do the principles of play link to each moment of	play player characteristics areas of strength
Defending set plays - free-kicks, thrown-ins and corner kicks.	the game?	and weakness.
		Coaching Domain, Player Capabilities and Significant others
Stage 2: Principles of Play	What is your understanding of the principles of play? How do you apply attacking principles of play?	
Attacking Principles of Play		
Penetration, Support, Creating, Space, Movement,		
Creativity		
Defending Principles of Play		
Press	How do you apply defending principles of play?	
Delay		
Compactness		
Balance		
Control / Restraint		

Defence to Attack Transition Principles of Play Transition speed Strategy to win the ball back Strategy to launch the attack Balance of the team		
Attack to Defence Transition Principles of Play Transition Speed Prevent Immediate Forward Action Willingness to Recover/Explosive Running Denying/Preventing Quick Ball Speed Increase the Number of Passes Swift Solutions (win/delay) Intercepts/Spoils/Tackles	How do you apply the principles of transition?	
Stage 3: Style of play Possession based, build-up play, playing through the thirds, playing direct, maintenance, total football, Tika-Taka, playing in wide areas (crossing), counter-	What is your preferred style(s) of play in possession? (Possession-based, direct, counter-attacking etc.) Why? Do you employ this style of play with your current	Coaching Domain - winning vs development Players' characteristics & capabilities Significant others
attacking, fast tempo, sustained threat, progress and penetration, high press, mid press, low press defending deep and forcing play, counter-pressing, low block.	team? If so, how? What is your preferred style(s) of play out of possession? (High press, defending deep etc.) Do you employ this style of play with your current team? If so, how?	Game circumstances - home advantage, type of match, score-line, time left in the game, a player sent off, player injury, weather or pitch condition
	Do you have other preferred styles of play?	Significant others
	Consider the game circumstances and opposition, how will they affect your style(s) of play?	Opposition – strategy & tactics, the system of play, player characteristics, areas of strength and weakness.

1-4-4-2, 1-3-5-2, 1-4-3-3, 1-4-2-3-1, 1-3-4-3, 1-2-3- 2-3, 1-3-2-3-2, 1-4-5-1, 1-4-6-0, 1-3-2-5, 1-2-3-5.	 What is your preferred system of play? What are your preferred player characteristics for each position? Do you have the players to play this system of play? Does your system of play change whether you are in possession or out of possession? Why? How? Does your system of play fit with your preferred style of play? Why? Consider the game circumstances and opposition, how will they affect your system(s) of play? 	Create player profiles for each position with key roles, responsibilities and specific attributes. Coaching Domain - winning vs development Players' characteristics & capabilities Significant others Game circumstances - home advantage, type of match, score-line, time left in the game, a player sent off, player injury, weather or pitch condition Opposition - strategy & tactics, the system of play, player characteristics, areas of strength and weakness.
Stage 5: Sub-Moments of the Game (Pitch	How do you want your team to play in each of the	
location)	moments and sub-moments of the game?	Coaching Domain - winning vs development
	How does your system of play change in each moment	Players' characteristics & capabilities
Thirds	and sub-moment of the game?	Significant others
Defensive third	who are the key players and units in each sub-moment	Company to the standard to the
Attacking third	of the game?	of motoh score line time left in the some
Attacking third	How do the units and player position change in each sub-moment in relation to the overall system?	of match, score-line, time left in the game, a player sent off player injury weather or
Channels	How do the strategies and tactics change in each sub-	pitch condition
Left Chanel	moment of the game?	r
Right Chanel		Opposition – Strategy & tactics, the system
Central Chanel	Does your approach change in the different sub-	of play, player characteristics, areas of
	moments of the game?	strength and weakness.

Stage 6: Strategies & Tactics	What strategies and tactics do you use with your players to achieve your attacking style of play?	Linked to the Principles of Play
Strategies Retain & Build, Progress & Penetrate, Counter Attack, Defensive, Midfield, Attacking third. Wide, Central areas, Specific Players.	What strategies and tactics do you use with your players to achieve your defending style(s) of play?	Coaching Domain - winning vs development Players' characteristics & capabilities Significant others
to-man marking. Tactics - Overlaps, underlaps, interchanging positions, crosses, dribbling, combination play,	How do the strategies and tactics change in each moment & sub-moment of the game?	Game circumstances- home advantage, type of match, score-line, time left in the game, a player sent off, player injury, weather or
switching play, through balls, combination play, dribbling, inverted wingers, false 9 and hold up play.	How do your strategies change in each of the moments & sub-moments of the game? Why do they change?	pitch condition
arrooming, involted wingers, fuise y and nord up pray.	How do the units and player position change in each sub-moment in relation to the overall system?	Opposition – strategy & tactics, the system of play, player characteristics, areas of strength and weakness.
		Create profiles of the players in your team.
External Factors: Coaching Domain, Player	What domain do you coach at?	
Characteristics Capabilities and Significant others	What is the club's or team's purpose? What are the club's aims?	Profile your players for the things that they are good at and the things they find difficult
Coaching Domain: Professional Game, Academy,	What are your aims?	or need developing (across the 4 corners)
Grassroots	What impact do significant others have on your GM?	
Semi-Professional, Foundation Phase, Youth		Compare and contrast your players with the
Development Phase	How does your game model fit into the coaching	roles and responsibilities of how you want to
Professional Development Phase, Male / Female.	domain and consider the players' capabilities? (i.e. style, system, strategies and tactics)	play.
Player Capabilities: Technical, tactical, psychological, physiological and sociological skills	What are the players' characteristics and strengths?	
	What are the limitations?	
Significant others: The head coach, managers, other coaches, players, parents, sports science or medical	What factors can you not implement?	
support, the board and fans.		
The conceptual framework, "How to build a Game Model" facilitated the coach to deconstruct the game into more manageable moments, before demonstrating the knowledge to build the moments back up into a full 11 vs 11 game. With this, he was now able to work more effectively away from the ball, observing the positions and behaviours of other players and units in the different sub-moments across the pitch. The GM and conceptual framework had supported the coach to develop their declarative, procedural and conditional tactical knowledge of the game through exploring and reflecting on the different concepts of the model and applying them in practice (Price et al., 2019; 2020; Wade, 1967; 1996; The FA, 2016; Hewitt et al., 2016; Delgado-Bordonau et al., 2012; Giske et al., 2015; Richards et al., 2012; 2017; Tee et al., 2018).

Stimulated Recall

Findings propose that the stimulated recall (SR) process had a noteworthy impact on the coach's tactical knowledge development. The SR process, with the use of technology and tactics board (object learning), allowed the coach to reflect, analyse and refine their practice. The SR process had become an instrumental tool as it permitted the coach to focus upon preferred strategies and tactics within the specific moments of the game. It allowed the coach to become more critical in the observation process and develop greater analytical skills. This led to clearer and more concise reflections as knowledge developed. For example, the coach began to send through their reflections from the session before receiving the footage for the SR process. Moreover, as the coach's knowledge developed and confidence grew, they began to send through weekly pre-session videos, session plans, and post-session reflections of incidents of his own accord. This showed the SR process had, therefore, shifted from a researcher-led to a coach-led process (Cushion et al., 2018; Lyle, 2003; Cope et al., 2017; Stodter et al., 2020; Bernier et al., 2011; Wolcott, 1995).

A final finding of the thesis supports findings from previous research suggesting that coaches are deemed to construct knowledge through a range of both informal and non-formal learning platforms such as books, online sources, playing football-related video games, watching matches and

observing other coaches alongside course content (Vosniadou et al., 2003; Nash et al., 2006; Cushion, 2011; Gilbert et al 2009; Stoszkowskia et al., 2015).

Study considerations

As with many studies, several limitations or considerations can be reached, with the current Thesis without exception. The researcher aimed to carry out the focus groups before the start of the Level 3 course for the 2018/19 season to explore coaches' tactical knowledge. However, due to no uniformed approach across County Football Associations (CFAs), start dates for the Level 3 courses varied, with Block 1 delivered by some CFAs in August and early September 2019. In addition, the ethical approval process was longer than expected, which meant the research could not take place until approval. With this, the majority of CFAs had now delivered UEFA B Block 1 of learning, which meant changing the focus slightly to "*at the start of their level 3 journey*", with all focus groups carried out after Block 1 of the UEFA B. However, this did not have a significant impact on the study as Block 1 is an introduction to a number of the key topics, which are then covered in more depth as coaches' progress through the other 3 Blocks across 9 months of the course.

Further consideration of the study was the lack of similar or previous research on the a) novice and intermediate coaches in football, b) tactical knowledge, and c) tactical knowledge of coaches at this level. Although some recent studies have started to explore how coaches develop knowledge and what knowledge they require, there is limited research on tactical knowledge or how novice coaches develop their knowledge as they progress to an intermediate level. However, this was identified as an important opportunity for the researcher to explore gaps within the current literature and present findings for further studies.

The findings from the current thesis have a significant value to the researcher's practice as a coach educator and may also be compared with other coach educators. However, given the nature of the studies within the thesis and the small sample size of coaches across studies, the researcher is not drawn into an overall generalisation of the thesis findings, with generalisation another limitation.

However, this was not a limitation within the thesis as the research pragmatic paradigm gave the researcher a greater depth into understanding how coaches develop tactical knowledge that then informed practice (Smith, 2018).

The thesis carried out a comprehensive investigation into a small group of football coaches' tactical knowledge, rather than an extensive group, studying on a Level 3 coaching qualification. The six coaches in the thesis studied the Level 3 qualification across five different County Football Associations (CFA) in the North West of England. The marker of quality research is the impact that the findings can have within a chosen field of study or specific context settings (Smith, 2018). The findings from the thesis highlighted some vital areas of practice that required attention to support the coaches' knowledge development. Furthermore, this had a significant impact on the researcher as a coach educator and brought about a change in delivery on the Level 3 course. These findings gave some generalisability across courses in England and may also be compared with other coach educators as the issues identified were similar across five CFA Level 3 courses based on the coaches within the thesis.

Any Level 3 course across the country may attract coaches with different backgrounds, knowledge and experiences than the sample within the current thesis. Therefore, the cohort may not accurately represent the characteristics of other groups of coaches undertaking the qualification. However, some of the findings may provide evidence towards certain types of generalisation, such as the level of expected tactical knowledge novice and intermediate coaches have at the start of the course, or the tactical knowledge displayed in practice by coaches throughout. This may allow comparisons to be drawn, however, the researcher encourages coach educators, educators and coaches to reflect upon the findings across the studies and consider how the conclusions are transferable to their coaching context when developing tactical knowledge (Smith, 2018; Chenail 2010).

Further consideration of this research relates to the methods across the first two studies. Through the meta-reflection process, it would have been advantageous for participants to engage in both focus groups and participant observation across the first two studies. This could have proved beneficial in assessing their declarative, procedural and conditional knowledge in terms of coaches' baseline knowledge and change in knowledge over time, especially in a practical setting. In addition, it could have been beneficial to expand the sample size for the longitudinal study to include more participants to observe the change in knowledge (Sparkes & Smith, 2014).

Implications for practice

The findings illustrated several practical considerations to take forward into future delivery of coach education courses, alongside practice as a coach educator and lecturer.

Coach Education

With the studies running parallel to the delivery of the 2018/19 course, it was difficult to make fundamental changes to the course delivery. However, findings highlighted some vital areas which required attention to support the learners on the course.

Sharing findings with other coach educators delivering on the course, coupled with their observations of coaches, it became evident that the moments of the game and the principles of play were required to be revisited to support the majority of learners before the next course block. A workshop was designed and delivered to ensure all learners had a competent level of attacking, defending and transition moments of the game, and associated principles of play declarative and procedural knowledge. Furthermore, it was felt that more emphasis should be placed upon supporting coaches with their project with a particular focus upon their GM or model of performance. The researcher delivered a workshop on how to build a GM that allowed coaches to reflect and explore some of the key concepts from the conceptual framework.

With circa 900 coaches still to complete the Level 3 for 2017/18 and 2018/19 and the suspension of the course until March 2020, the findings from the thesis helped to confirm but also provide new insights into different approaches which could be applied within the delivery of the Level 3 course during the 2019/20 football season. The key recommendations would support the

researcher's local County Football Association (CFA) and be implemented for 2019/20 with the plan to share the findings with the FA and other counties following a pilot.

Findings were presented to coach educators and coach development officers at the CFA at the end of the 2018/19 season. After several discussions, amendments were made to the delivery of the course for the following season.

First, coach educators received the applicants' biographies pre-course from the CFA to assess backgrounds, playing and coaching experience, education and levels of coaching, as findings from the thesis suggested that some coaches had not been selected without a thorough check into their backgrounds and were possibly excluded due to age and number of years coaching.

Second, before starting Block 1 for the 2019/20 course, candidates were asked to complete several pre-course tasks devised from the concepts within the conceptual framework and GM. The conceptual framework was divided into smaller, manageable tasks to help coaches develop, explore or extend their tactical knowledge and begin the process of developing a GM before the course. The tasks guided and supported coaches to consider each of the concepts from the model. Once each coach completed a task, they were asked to email the task in before the next task would be set, allowing coaches to work at their own pace. This approach enhanced the planning and delivery process for effective learning, through gaining insight into the coaches' technical and tactical knowledge baseline knowledge before the course. Furthermore, the information provided by the coaches across each task permitted the coach educators to group coaches based upon gaps in their knowledge around the different concepts. This then allowed the coach educators to differentiate the delivery of Block 1 of the course and apply a learner-centred approach based upon the coaches' needs, rather than a general approach. The tasks from the framework became a live working document for coaches, with them updating sections based on gaining additional knowledge throughout the course.

The third recommendation proposed was to extend the length of the course from 9 months to 14 months. Extending the course would allow learners more time to complete the course and allow

the three in-situ visits to be more spaced out and differentiate the learning journey for each coach based upon their needs. For many coaches, the first visit after Block 1 came too early in terms of their practical delivery as shown within the findings from the first study, which highlighted the contrast in coaches' baseline tactical knowledge.

Although the pre-course tasks and the planning for learning attempted to develop coaches' levels of declarative tactical knowledge, not all coaches would be able to apply it in practice. It is an unreal expectation to consider coaches to be at the same level in their practical delivery, especially if they are only coaching 2 to 3 hours per week. Therefore, in an attempt to remove the pressure on coaches, extending the course allows in-situ visits to be carried out at different points in the learner's journey and more importantly when they felt ready for a visit. Furthermore, extending the course allowed learners more time to complete their project, which included 30 session plans, games and reflective logs as some coaches' teams did not play 30 games within the 9-month time frame.

Coach observations

The adapted stimulated recall and object learning are two intervention strategies that have been adopted and continually applied to support coaches in practice. The initial SR process required modification to become more practical and an instrument that could be applied within the real-world coaching setting by coach educators and coaches to support the reflection process. For the SR process to be effective and impact on coaches' development in practice, it required a quick turnaround ideally before the next session or game to minimise cognitive deterioration from the delivered session (Cushion et al., 2018; Lyle, 2003; Cope et al., 2017; Stodter et al., 2020; Bernier et al., 2011).

Therefore, before each observation, coaches are asked to provide a session plan and are encouraged to make use of a tactics board or other objects to demonstrate their preferred tactical behaviours of the players and units within the session. The pre-observation task has given a greater indication of the session-specific tactical outcome and player behaviours the coach hopes to achieve.

This has allowed observations and feedback to be more focused on the coach's chosen tactical outcomes of the session and support their knowledge development through the reflective process. Moreover, the SR process has not been exclusively applied for tactical knowledge development alone, but also applied to support other areas of coaching practice (i.e., exploring coaching behaviours, interventions and feedback) applying a similar approach.

Finally, the intervention strategy, once shared with fellow coach educators, has been applied within their observations. Feedback provided suggests the SR has permitted coaches to become more critical in their reflections with a more specific focus on the key aspects of practice. In addition, the SR process found coaches to be more engaged in the approach, reflecting and responding in a shorter time frame, which has a positive impact on their knowledge development in practice.

Module Development

A significant impact and development on my practice as a lecturer has been the design and implantation of a new Level 7, 30 credit module 'Applying Football Principles'. The module formed part of the validation process on the new Postgraduate MSc Football Coaching courses at UCFB, which started in September 2020. A key requirement in the development of the course and module was the mapping of learning outcomes to the Framework for Higher Education Qualifications and to the relevant QAA subject benchmark statements. Both set out the expectations and standards of Level 7 programme subject areas. The module was scrutinised at several stages, firstly through the quality team and internal scrutiny panel, and secondly by the validating partner's quality team, before being sent off to be reviewed by two external examiners. One of the selected examiners was required to be an academic from another Higher Education Institution, whilst the other was required to be an industry expert in the field of football coaching. In the final stage, the validation event approved and validated the course and subsequent module. The module is currently being delivered for the first time during the 2020/21 academic year, and also received a commendation from the awarding University for its research informed approach.

The module is based upon several findings of the thesis and incorporates the key concepts of the conceptual framework and GM. The conceptual framework became the curriculum for the module and informed the indicative content and the learning outcomes. The module supports students to develop and expand tactical knowledge and consolidate their underlying declarative and procedural knowledge of the different tactical concepts of the game. This, in turn, impacts the application of conditional knowledge in practice when delivering the different concepts to their players (Nash et al., 2006; Price et al., 2019; 2020).

The module guides students through key concepts of the conceptual framework while supporting them to design a GM encompassing a holistic approach that they can integrate into effective planning for team performance. It further requires students to become critical in the analysis of strategies and tactics applied by teams, examining how teams employ different approaches in the different moments of the game and the associated principles of play.

The first component of the assessment strategy requires students to exhibit their procedural and conditional knowledge in practice by demonstrating a critical understanding of the principles of play in a practical setting. Each student is required to critically justify their selected principles of play, style of play, and desired system of play with the appropriate strategies and tactics for a specific moment of the game. The second component of the assessment strategy is an oral assessment and presentation where students justify their GM approach and critically explore some of the challenges faced in implementing their GM into their coaching environment.

The current group of postgraduate students are in the process of designing a GM for the second assessment. The students are required to present their game module via an oral presentation in July 2021, with the assessment worth 50% of the overall module mark. Once the students have completed the module, feedback will be gauged through the University module evaluation and feedback process. However, after completion of this module, the focus will be given to the content of the module and the concepts within the GM to gain feedback from students on the design and development of a GM. The current group of students have a diverse range of experiences from a first

team coach at an English Football League Championship club to community coaches working within Premier League clubs.

It is hoped the students can give some critical feedback that can enhance both the module and the model going forward, and form part of a study investigating the impact of developing a GM. Informal feedback thus far from coaches on the courses has stated that none of the coaches has ever studied the tactical concepts of the game in such depth in other settings (i.e., coach education, university courses).

My development as a researcher

The first module of the professional doctorate, Professional Planning and Training in Applied Sports and Exercise Science, required critical reflection in the form of a self-audit on one's personal growth and development. Both self-knowledge and self-awareness have been highlighted as two significant factors for personal growth and self-development (Taylor, Werthner, Culver, & Callary, 2015; Whetten & Cameron 2007). The self-audit critically examined personal skills, academic competency and researcher competency against three frameworks.

The first framework assessed personal characteristics, utilising 'The Behavioural Profile' report developed by PDA International (2004). This is commonly utilised within the professional practice field and is a recognised method of assessing behavioural characteristics for the selection, management and development of talent. The second framework explored effective academic performance, applying "The UK Professional Standards Framework for teaching and supporting learning in higher education". The final framework assessed my research skills using Vitae Researcher Development Framework (2010). Vitae is structured in four domains and twelve subdomains, encompassing a range of skills, qualities and techniques.

Through analysing my skills, the reports highlighted two distinct areas requiring selfdevelopment, which overlapped across the competency frameworks and assessments. The two areas were academic writing and research skills development.

Academic Writing

The Vitae Researcher Development Framework and The UK Professional Standards Framework illustrated the requirement to develop a writing style appropriate for level 8, through the use of appropriate language and applying the correct technical or scientific writing in research for this level. In addition, the behavioural profile report highlighted I often provide more information than is required in an attempt to be complete and accurate (PDA International, 2004).

Critically reflecting upon the findings of the report, frameworks and throughout the write-up of the thesis, I spent numerous hours reading, planning, thinking about problems and situations by gathering as much information as possible. A significant realisation in the research process is that I write for understanding, whether that be through reading literature or analysing data. I read, write, reflect, analyse, re-write, reflect and synthesise until I fully understand a specific concept. This, at times, has impacted the word count in several chapters in the thesis, which have been required to be refined. This quest for perfection and accuracy has often been an area of weakness and slowed the writing process down. Within the four study chapters, I provided more information than was required at times, being too descriptive with a lack of analysis and synthesis. This, at times, impacted the flow of the writing meaning it would have been difficult for the reader to ascertain the key findings of the studies.

However, throughout the professional doctorate, I feel I have developed an effective writing style and the writing skills that allow me to construct an effective argument by being more precise and concise only addressing the key points through communicating more clearly. I found this process initially easier when synthesising the literature review, methods and methodology sections, however, less so when attempting to analyse and synthesise my findings. Furthermore, feedback from the research team played a pivotal role (Gillet & Hammond, 2009). As highlighted earlier in the personal development section, I had become aware that I was required to be more critical and specific when making relevant points. I have been able to develop these skills through reading a wide range of academic journals and published studies, through designing and writing up the four studies and also through receiving constructive feedback and guidance from the supervision team. Developing

academic literacy skills has been a continuous process throughout the professional doctorate and something I need to continue to develop and refine as I look to publish some of the thesis findings (Gillet & Hammond, 2009).

Academic Research

Both the Vitae researcher development framework and professional standards framework illustrated a lack of evidence-informed approaches carrying out academic research, scholarly activity and employing a range of appropriate methods and techniques with confidence. Although I am very active in terms of professional practice, carrying out regular continued professional development in my subject discipline through attending coaching CPD events and coaching conferences, the area required the most development is the research and scholarship activity, which can inform and develop my professional practice and carry more credibility as an academic. Despite over twenty years of coaching experience across academy football and coach education, from an academic perspective, I lack experience in research and scholarly activity in the research world. For my development as a Higher Education academic, it is important to be able to use evidence-informed research to support my professional practice background and a significant reason why I decided to carry out the professional doctorate. Although I have yet to publish, once I have passed the Viva and made amendments to the thesis, I plan to publish the studies with the support of the research team.

Moreover, Chapter 4 explored the different research concepts of ontology, epistemology, methodology and methods applied across the Professional Doctorate thesis. The methodological process is a complex phenomenon, with several underlying philosophical beliefs and paradigms that underpin the research process. It was paramount for a researcher to understand the different paradigms and ascertain the best approaches to collate, analyse, and present the data and research findings with several employed across the thesis. The researcher's philosophy aligned directly with a pragmatic paradigm philosophy, thus the studies within the thesis adopted a pragmatic research paradigm adopting scientific realism and pragmatism as the ontological and epistemological foundation. Moreover, this has also had a positive impact on my academic delivery when delivering

to students upon paradigms, methodologies and methods (Bryant, 2009; Grecic & Grundy, 2016; Giacobbi et al., 2005; Glasgow et al., 2012; Dewey, 2008; James, 1907; Johnson & Onwuegbuzie, 2004). This knowledge development has been explored throughout the meta-reflections of the thesis. (Ritchie & Lewis, 2003; Gratton & Jones, 2005; Morgan, 2007; Sparkes & Smith, 2014 Denzin & Lincoln, 1994, 2000; 2011).

In summary, to further develop as an academic, it is essential to contribute to the body of knowledge in my area of coaching and coach education. To do this, I need to carry out and publish my high-quality research, network and collaborate with others (both internally and externally), and optimise the value and relevance of the research being produced to build my reputation in the coaching field.

CHAPTER 9 REFRENCES

Abraham, A., & Collins, D. (1998). Examining and extending research in coach development. *Quest*, **50**, 59–79.

Abraham, A., & Collins, D. (2011). Taking the next step: Ways forward for coaching science, *Quest*, **63**(4), 366–384. doi: 10.1080/00336297.

Abraham, A., Collins, D., & Martindale, R. (2006) The coaching schematic: Validation through expert coach consensus, *Journal of Sports Sciences*, **24** (06), 549-564, DOI: 10.1080/02640410500189173.

Almeida, C. H., Ferreira, A. P., & Volossovitch, A. (2014). Effects of Match Location, Match Status and Quality of Opposition on Regaining Possession in UEFA Champions League. *Journal of Human Kinetics*, **41** (1), 203-214.

Almond, L. (1986). Primary and secondary rules in games. In R. Thorpe, D. Bunker, & L. Almond (Eds.), *Rethinking games teaching* (pp. 73–74). Loughborough, UK: Loughborough University of Technology.

Ahlberg, M., Mallett, C. J., & Tinning, R. (2008). Developing autonomy supportive coaching behaviours: An action research approach to coach development. *International Journal of Coaching Science*, **2** (2), 1–20.

Alder, P.A. and Adler, P. (1994). Observational Techniques. *In the Handbook of Qualitative Research*. (Eds. N.K. Denzin and Y.S. Lincoln), 110-136. London, Sage Publications. 2011.10483687

Adelman, C. (1993) Kurt Lewin and the Origins of Action Research, *Educational Action Research*, **1** (1), 7-24, DOI: 10.1080/0965079930010102

Alvesson, M., & Skoldberg, K. (2000). Reflexive Methodology. London: Sage

Anderson, J.R. (1982). Acquisition of cognitive skills. *Psychological Review*, 89, 369-406.

Anderson, A. G., Knowles, Z., & Gilbourne, D. (2004). Reflective practice for sports psychologists: Concepts, models, practical implications, and thoughts on dissemination. *The Sport Psychologist*, **18** (2), 188–203.

Araújo, D., Davids, K., Bennett, S., Button, C., & Chapman, G. (2004). *Emergence of sport skills under constraint*. In A. M. Williams & N. J. Hodges (Eds.), Skill Acquisition in Sport: Research, Theory and Practice (pp. 409-433), London: Routledge, Taylor & Francis.

Araújo, D., & Davids, K., (2011). What Exactly is Acquired During Skill Acquisition? *Journal of Consciousness Studies*, **18**, 7-23.

Araújo, D., Davids, K., & McGivern, P. (2018). The irreducible embeddedness of action choice in sport. In M. L. Cappuccio (Ed.), *Handbook of Embodied Cognition and Sport Psychology* (pp. 537654 556). MIT Press: Cambridge, MA.

Araújo, D., Hristovski, R., Seifert, L., Carvalho, J., & Davids, K. (2019). Ecological cognition: expert 656 decision-making behaviour in sport. *International Review of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, 657 **12**(1), 1-25. doi:10.1080/1750984X.2017.1349826

Araújo, R., Mesquita, I., Hastie, P., & Pereira, C. (2016). Students' game performance improvements 659 during a hybrid sport education-step-game-approach volleyball unit. *European Physical Education Review*, **22**(2), 185-200. doi:10.1177/1356336X15597927

Armatas, V., Yiannakos, A. & Sileloglou, P. (2007). Relationship between time and goal scoring in soccer games: Analysis of three World Cups. *International Journal of Performance Analysis in Sport*, **7**, 48-58.

Armour, K.M., & Macdonald, D. (2012). What is your research question – and why? In: K. Armour & D. Macdonald (Eds.), *Research Methods in Physical Education and Youth Sport*, pp. 3-15. Abingdon, UK: Routledge.

Avison, D. E., Lau, F., Myers, M. D., & Nielsen, P. A. (1999). Action research. *Communications of the* ACM, **42**(1), 94-97.

Aquino R, Vieira LHP, Carling C, Martins GH, Alves IS, Puggina EF. (2017) Effects of competitive standard, team formation and playing position on match running performance of Brazilian professional soccer players. *International Journal Performance Analysis in Sport*.**17** (5): 695–705

Aquino R, Cruz Gonçalves LG, Palucci Vieira LH, Oliveira LP, Alves GF, Pereira Santiago PR & Puggina EF. (2016). Periodization training focused on technical-tactical ability in young soccer players positively affects biochemical markers and game performance. *J Strength Cond Res* **30**:2723 - 2732

Bangsbo, J. (1998). The physiological profile of soccer players. *Sports Exercise and Injury*, **4**, 144-150.

Bangsbo, J., Mohr, M., & Krustrup, P. (2006). Physical and metabolic demands of training and match-play in the elite football player. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, **24**(7), 665-674.

Bangsbo, J., & Peitersen, B. (2000). Soccer Systems and Strategies. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics.

Baptista J., Travassos B., Gonçalves B., Mourão P., Viana J. L., & Sampaio J. (2018). Exploring the effects of playing formations on tactical behaviour and external workload during football small-sided games. *Journal of strength and conditioning research*. - PubMed

Barreira, D., Garganta, J., Pinto, T., Valente, J., & Anguera, M. T. (2013). Do attacking game patterns differ between first and second halves of soccer matches in the 2010 FIFA World Cup? In H. Nunome, B. Drust & B. Dawson (Eds.), *Science and Football VII* (pp. 193-198). London: Routledge.

Bartlett, R., Button, C., Robins, M., Dutt-Mazumder, A., & Kennedy, G. (2012). Analysing Team Coordination Patterns from Player Movement Trajectories in Soccer: Methodological Considerations. *International Journal of Performance Analysis in Sport*, **12**(2), 398-424.

Bate, R. (1988). Football chance: Tactics and strategy. In T. Reilly, A. Lees, K. Davids & W. J. Murphy (Eds.), *Science and Football* (pp. 293-301). London: E & FN Spon.

Bauman, Z. (2000) Liquid Modernity. Cambridge: Polity

Baxter, P., & Jack, S. (2008). Qualitative case study methodology: Study design and implementation for novice researchers. The Qualitative Report, **13**(4), 544-559. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR13-4/baxter.pdf

Beck, U. (1992) Risk Society: Towards a New Modernity, London, Sage.

Beck, U. & Beck-Gernsheim, E. (1995) *The normal chaos of love* (M. Ritter & J. Weibel, Trans.) (Cambridge, Polity Press).

Bell-Walker, J., McRobert, A., Ford, P., & Williams, A. M. (2006). A Quantitative Analysis of Successful Teams at the 2006 World Cup Finals. *Insight: The F.A. Coaches Association Journal, Autumn/Winter*, 36-43.

Bengtsson J (1995) What is reflection? On reflection in the teaching profession and teacher education. *Teachers and Teaching* 1(1): 23–32.

Bernier, M., Cordon, R., Thienot, E., & Fournier, J.F. (2011). The attentional focus of 482 expert golfers in training and competition: A naturalistic investigation. *Journal of Applied Sport Psychology*, **23**, 326-341.

Berg, B. L. (2004). Methods for the social sciences. *Qualitative Research Methods for the Social Sciences*. Boston: Pearson Education.

Berger, R. (2013). Now I see it, now I don't: researcher's position and reflexivity in qualitative research *Qualitative Research* $\mathbf{0}$ (0) 1–16.

Berger, R. (2015). Now I see it, now I don't: researcher's position and reflexivity in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*. 15(2): 219-234.

Berger, R. M. & Patchener, M. A. (1988) Implementing the research plan. London: Sage.

Bialkowski, A., Lucey, P., Carr, P., Matthews, I., Sridharan, S., and Fookes, C., (2016). Discovering Team Structures in Soccer from Spatiotemporal Data. *IEEE Transactions* on Knowledge and Data Engineering **28** (10),2596–2605.

Bialkowski, A., Lucey, P., Carr, P., Matthews, I., Sridharan, S., (2014). Identifying Team Style in Soccer Using Formations Learned from Spatiotemporal Tracking Data. *In IEEE International Conference on Data Mining Workshop*. IEEE, 9–14.

Biesta, G. (2010). Pragmatism and the philosophical foundations of mixed methods research. Tashakkori, A. & Teddlie, C. (Eds.), *Handbook of mixed methods research for the social & behavioural sciences* (2nd ed. pp. 95-118). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.

Biesta, G., & Barbules, N. (2004). *Pragmatism and educational research*. New York, NY: Rowman & Littlefield.

Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking: A tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation? *Qualitative Health Research*, **26**, 1802-1811.

Bloom, G.A., Crumpton, R., & Anderson, J.E. (1999). A systematic observation study of the teaching behaviours of an expert basketball coach. *The Sport Psychologist*, **13**, 157-170.

Bloom, G., Allain, J. & Gilbert, W. (2017). Successful High Performance Ice Hockey Coaches' Intermission Routines and Situational Factors that Guide Implementation. *The Sports Psychologist*, 1-35.

Bloomfield, J., Polman, R., Butterly, R. & O'Donoghue, P. (2005). Analysis of age, stature, body mass, BMI and quality of elite soccer players from 4 European Leagues. *The Journal of Sports Medicine and Physical Fitness*, **45**, 58-67.

Bloomfield, J., Polman, R. & O'Donoghue, P. (2005). Effects of score-line on team strategies in FA Premier League Soccer. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, **23**, 192-193.

Bouma, G. D. (1993) The research process. Oxford, Oxford University Press.

Bourdieu P and Wacquant LJD (1992) *An invitation to reflexive sociology*. Cambridge: Polity 663 Press.

Bourdieu, P. (2003) Participant Objectivation. *Journal of the Royal Anthropological Institute*. **9**, 281-294

Bourdieu P (1996) Masculine Domination Revisited. Berkeley Journal of Sociology 41,189-661

Bradley, P. S., Carling, C., Archer, D., Roberts, J., Dodds, A., Di Mascio, M., Krustrup, P. (2011). The effect of playing formation on high-intensity running and technical profiles in English FA Premier League soccer matches. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, **29** (8), 821-830.

Bradley, P. S., Lago-Penas, C., Rey, E. & Gomez Diaz, A. (2013). The effect of high and low percentage ball possession on physical and technical profiles in English FA Premier League soccer matches. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, **31**, 1261-1270.

Bradley, P. S., Lago-Peñas, C., Rey, E., & Sampaio, J. (2014). The influence of situational variables on ball possession in the English Premier League. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, **32** (20), 1867-1873.

Bradley, P. S. & Noakes, T. D. (2013). Match running performance fluctuations in elite soccer: indicative of fatigue, pacing or situational influences? *Journal of Sports Sciences* 31, 1627-1638.

Brustad, R. & Ritter Taylor, M. (1997). Applying social psychological perspectives to the sport psychology consulting process. *Sport Psychologist*, **11**, 107-119.

Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, **3**, 77–101. <u>doi:10.1191/1478088706qp0630a</u>

Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2013). Successful qualitative research: A practical guide for beginners. London: Sage.

Braun, V., Clarke, V., & Weate, P. (2016). Using thematic analysis in sport and exercise research. In B. Smith, & A. Sparkes (Eds.), *Routledge handbook of qualitative research methods in sport and exercise* (pp. 191-205). London: Routledge.

Bruner, J.S. (1960). The process of education. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

Bryman, A. (1988) Quantity and quality in social research London: Routledge

Bryman, A. (2001) Social research methods. Oxford, Oxford University Press.

Bryman, A. and Burgess, R. (eds) (1994) Analyzing Qualitative Data, London: Routledge

Bryant, A. (2009). Grounded theory and pragmatism: The curious case of Anselm Strauss. Forum: *Qualitative Social Research*, **10** (3) 2-17

Burke, S. (2016). Rethinking 'validity' and 'trustworthiness' in qualitative inquiry: How might we judge the quality of qualitative research in sport and exercise sciences?

Burke, R., J & Onwuegbuzie, A., J (2004) Mixed Methods Research: A Research Paradigm Whose Time Has Come. *American Educational Research Association*, **33** (7), 14-26.

Bunker, D., & Thorpe, R. (1982). A model for the teaching of games in secondary schools. *Bulletin of physical education*, **18** (1), 5-8.

Burnard, P., Gill, P., Stewart, K., Treasure, E., & Chadwick, B. (2008). Analysing and presenting qualitative data. *British Dental Journal.* **8**, 204.

Camerino, O., Chaverri, J., Anguera, M. T., & Jonsson, G. K. (2012). Dynamics of the game in soccer: Detection of T-patterns. *European Journal of Sport Science*, **12** (3), 216-224.

Carling, C., Williams, A. M., & Reilly, T. (2005). *Handbook of Soccer Match Analysis. A Systematic Approach to Improving Performance*. London: Routledge.

Carling, C. (2011). Influence of opposition team formation on physical and skill-related performance in a professional soccer team. *European Journal of Sport Science*, **11**, 155-164.

Carling, C., Bloomfield, J., Nelsen, L. & Reilly, T. (2008). The Role of Motion Analysis in Elite Soccer Contemporary Performance Measurement Techniques and Work Rate Data. *Sports Medicine*, **38**, 839-862.

Cassidy, T., Jones, R. & Potrac, P. (2009) Understanding Sports Coaching: The Social, Cultural and Pedagogical Foundations of Coaching Practice. 2nd edition. London: Routledge

Carr, W., & Kemmis, S. (1986). *Becoming Critical: Education, knowledge and action research*. Hoboken: Taylor and Francis.

Casarin, R. V., & Oliveira, R. (2010). Tactical periodization: structuring principles and methodological errors in its application in soccer. *efdeportes.com* **15**,144.

Castellano, J., Casamichana, D. & Lago, C. (2012). The Use of Match Statistics that Discriminate Between Successful and Unsuccessful Soccer Teams. *Journal of Human Kinetics*, **31**, 139-147.

Castellano, J., Alvarez, D., Figueira, B., Coutinho, D., & Sampaio, J. (2013). Identifying the effects from the quality of opposition in a Football team positioning strategy. *International Journal of Performance Analysis in Sport*, **13** (3), 822-832.

Castellano, J., Blanco-Villasenor, A., & Alvarez, D. (2011). Contextual Variables and Time-Motion Analysis in Soccer. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, **32** (6), 415-421.

Chesterfield, G., Potrac, P., & Jones, R. (2010). 'Studentship' and 'impression management' in an advanced soccer coach education award. Sport, Education and Society, **15** (3), 299-314.

Chatterji, M. (2004). Evidence on "what works": An argument for extended-term mixed-method (ETMM) evaluation designs. *Educational Researcher*, **33** (9), 313

Christensen, M. (2009). "An Eye for Talent": Talent Identification and the "Practical Sense" of Top-Level Soccer Coaches. *Sociology of Sport Journal*, **26**, 365-382.

Clemente, F. M., Couceiro, M. S., Martins, F. M. L., Mendes, R. S., & Figueiredo, A. J. (2014). Practical Implementation of Computational Tactical Metrics for the Football Game: Towards an Augmenting Perception of Coaches and Sport Analysts. In Murgante, Misra, Rocha, Torre, Falcão, Taniar, ... Gervasi (Eds.), *Computational Science and Its Applications* (pp. 712–727). Springer.

Chapman, R., Richardson, D. J., Cope, E., & Cronin, C. J., (2019). Learning from the past; a Freirean analysis of FA coach education since 1967. *Sport, Education and Society*. ISSN 1357-3322

Chapron, J., & Morgan, K. (2020) Action research within an elite rugby union coaching group to influence change in coach learning and pedagogic practice, *Sports Coaching Review*, **9** (3), 296-320, DOI: 10.1080/21640629.2019.1670931

Chatterjee, Helen J. and Leonie Hannan. 2015. *Engaging the Senses: Object-Based Learning in Higher Education*. Farnham, UK and Burlington, USA: Ashgate Publishing Ltd.

Chi, M. T. H. (1997). Quantifying qualitative analyses of verbal data: A practical guide. *Journal of the Learning Sciences*, **6**, 271–315

Childers, J., & Hentzi, G. (1995). *The Columbia dictionary of modern literary and cultural criticism.* New York: Columbia University Press.

Chow, J. Y., Davids, K., Button, C., Shuttleworth, R., & Araújo, D. (2007). The Role of Nonlinear Pedagogy in Physical Education. *Educational Research*, **7**(3), 251-278.

Clements, D. and Morgan, K. (2015). Coach development through collaborative action research: enhancing the learning environment within a national talent development system. *Sports Coaching Review*, **4** (2), pp.139-161.

Cohen, L., Lawrence, M. & Morrison, K. (2000). *Research methods in education* (5th edn) London: Routledge.

Coldwell, M., & Simkins, T. (2011). Level models of continuing professional development evaluation: a grounded review and critique. *Professional Development in Education*, **37** (1), 143-157.

Collet, C. (2013). The possession game? A comparative analysis of ball retention and team success in European and international football, 2007-2010. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, **31** (2), 123-136.

Cropley, B., Miles, A., & Nichols, N. (2015). *Learning to learn: The coach as a reflective practitioner*. In J. Wallis & J. Lambert (Eds.), Becoming a sports coach (pp. 11-26). London: Routledge.

Cropley, B., Miles, A., & Peel, J. (2012). *Reflective practice: Value, issues, and developments within sports coaching.* Sports Coach UK original research. Leeds, UK: SCUK.

Cropley, B., Hanton, S., Miles, A. & Niven, A., (2010). Exploring the Relationship Between Effective and Reflective Practice in Applied Sport Psychology. *The Sport Psychologist*, **24**(4), pp. 521-541.

Cropley., B, Miles., A, Hanton., S, & Niven., A. (2007) Improving the delivery of applied psychology support throughout reflective practice. *The sport psychologist*, **21**, 475-495.

Cummins, C., Orr, R., O'Connor, H. & West, C. (2013). Global positioning systems (GPS) and micro technology sensors in team sports: a systematic review. *Sports Medicine*, **43**, 1025-1042.

Cushion, C., Harvey, S., Muir, B. & Nelson, L. (2012). Developing the Coach Analysis and Intervention System (CAIS): Establishing validity and reliability of a computerised systematic observation instrument. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, **30** (2), 201-216.

Co^{te'}, J., Salmela, J.H., Trudel, P., Baria, A., & Russell, S. (1995). The coaching model: A grounded assessment of expert gymnastic coaches' knowledge. *Journal of Sport & Exercise Psychology*, **17**, 1–17.

Cope, E., Partington, M., & Harvey, S. (2017). A review of the use of a systematic observation method in coaching research between 1997 and 2016. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, **35**(20), 2042-2050. DOI: 10.1080/02640414.2016.1252463 492

Creswell, J.W. (2003). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Creswell, J.W. (2007). *Research design*: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Creswell, J. W. (2014). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage publications.

Culver, D., & Trudel, P. (2006). Cultivating coaches' communities of practice: Developing the potential for learning through interactions, in: Jones, R. L. (Ed.) *The sports coach as educator: Reconceptualising sports coaching* (pp. 97112). London: Routledge.

Culver, D., & Trudel, P. (2008). Clarifying the concept of communities of practice in sport. *International Journal of Sports Science & Coaching*, **3** (1), 1-10

Culver, D., Trudel, P., & Werthner, P. (2009). A sport leader's attempt to foster a coaches' community of practice. *International Journal of Sports Science & Coaching*, **4**(3), 365-383.

Cushion, C.J. (2007). Modelling the complexities of the coaching process. *International Journal of Sports Science and Coaching*, **2**, 395–401.

Cushion, C.J. (2010). Coach Behaviour. In J. Lyle & C.J. Cushion (Eds.), *Sports coaching professionalization and practice*, 243–253. London: Elsevier.

Cushion, C.J. (2013). Applying Game Centred Approaches in coaching: a critical analysis of the 'dilemmas of practice' impacting change. *Sports Coaching Evidencing the Impact of Coaches' Learning* Review, **2** (1), 61-76.

Cushion, C.J., Armour, K.M., & Jones, R.L. (2003). Coach education and continuing professional development: Experience and learning to coach. *Quest*, **55**, 215-230.

Cushion, C.J., & Jones, R.L. (2001). A systematic observation of professional top-level youth soccer coaches. *Journal of Sport Behaviour*, **24**, 1–23.

Cushion, C.J., & Nelson, L. (2013). Coach education and learning: developing the field. In P. Potrac, W. Gilbert & J. Denison (Eds.), *Routledge Handbook of Sports Coaching* (pp. 359-374). Abingdon: Routledge.

Cushion, C.J., Nelson, L., Armour, K.M., Lyle, J., Jones, R.L., Sandford, R., & O'Callaghan, R. (2010). *Coach learning & development: A review of the literature*. Leeds: Sports Coach UK.

Cushion, C.J., Ford, P.R., & Williams, A.M. (2012a). Coach behaviours and practice structures in youth soccer: Implications for talent development. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, **30** (15), 1631-1641.

Cushion, C.J., Harvey, S., Muir, B., & Nelson, L. (2012b). Developing the Coach Analysis and Intervention System (CAIS): Establishing validity and reliability 504 of a computerised systematic observation instrument. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, **30** (2), 203-218

Cushion, C.J., & Townsend, R.C. (2018). Technology-enhanced learning in coaching: a review of the literature. *Educational Review*, 1-19.

Dail, T.K. (2014). Metacognition and coaching: How to develop a thinking athlete. Journal of Physical Education, Recreation & Dance, **85**(5), 49–51. doi:10.1080/07303084.2014.897577

Davids, K., Araujo, D., Vilar, L., & Renshaw, I. (2013). An ecological dynamics approach to skill acquisition: Implications for the development of talent in sport. Talent Development and Excellence, **5**, 21–34.

Davids, K., Button, C., & Bennett, S. J. (2007). Acquiring movement skill: A Constraints-Led perspective. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics.

Davids, K., Araújo, D., & Shuttleworth, R. (2005). Applications of Dynamical Systems Theory to 675 Football. In T. Reilly, J. Cabri, & D. Araújo (Eds.), *Science and Footbal* (pp. 539-550). London: Routledge, Taylor & Francis.

Davids, K., Handford, C., & Williams, A.M. (1994). The natural physical alternative to cognitive theories of motor behaviour: An invitation for interdisciplinary research in sports science? Journal of Sports Sciences, **12**(6), 495–528. doi:10.1080/02640419408732202

Davids, K., Shuttleworth, R., Araújo, D., & Renshaw, I. (2003). Understanding constraints on physical activity: Implications for motor learning theory. In R. Arellano & A. Oria (Ed.), *Proceedings of Second World Congress on Science of Physical Activity and Sports. Spain: University of Granada Press.*

Davids, K., Williams, M., Button, C., & Court, M. (2001). An integrative modelling approach to the study of intentional and movement behavior. In R. Singer, H. Housenblas & C. Janelle (Eds.), *Handbook of sport psychology* (pp. 144-173). New York: John Wiley.

de Andrés Martínez, C. 2012. "Developing Metacognition at a Distance: Sharing Students' Learning Strategies on a Reflective Blog." *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, **25** (2), 199–212

De Baranda, P. S. & Lopez-Riquelme, D. (2012). Analysis of corner kicks in relation to match status in the 2006 World Cup. *European Journal of Sport Science*, **12**, 121-129.

Deek, D., Werthner, P., Paquette, K.J., and Culver, D., 2013. Impact of a large-scale coach education program from a lifelong-learning perspective. Journal of Coaching Education, **6**(1), 23-42.

de Freitas S and Neumann T (2009) The use of 'exploratory learning' for supporting immersive learning in virtual environments. *Computers and Education* **52** (2): 343–352.

Dellal A., Owen A., Wong D. P., Krustrup P., van Exsel M., & Mallo J. (2012). Technical and physical demands of small vs. large sided games in relation to playing position in elite soccer. *Human movement science*, **31**(4), 957–969.

Delgado-Bordonau, J. & Mendez-Villanueva, A. (2012). Tactical periodization: Mourinho's best-kept secret. *Soccer NSCAA Journal*, **3**, 28-34.

Delgado-Bordonau, J., & Mendez-Villanueva, A. (2018). Tactical periodization: a proven successful training model. London: SoccerTutor.com.

Dellal, A., Chamari, K., Wong, D. P., Ahmaidi, S., Keller, D., Barros, R., Bisciotti, G. N. & Carling, C. (2011). Comparison of physical and technical performance in European soccer match-play: FA Premier League and La Liga. *European Journal of Sport Science*, **11**, 51-59.

Denzin, N. K. & Lincoln, Y. S. (1994). Introduction: Entering the field of qualitative research. In N. K. Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), *Handbook of qualitative research* (pp. 1–17). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Denzin, N.K. and Lincoln, Y.S. (eds) (2000) *Handbook of Qualitative Research*, 2nd edition, Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage

Denzin, N. K. (2012). Triangulation. Journal of Mixed Methods Research, 6(2), 80-88.

Denzin NK & Lincoln YS [eds.] (2011) Sage Handbook of Qualitative Research, [4th ed.] Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Dewey, J. (2008). The influence of Darwinism on philosophy. In J. Boydston & L. Hahn (Eds.), *The middle works of John Dewey*, 1899-1924 (4, pp. 1-215). Carbondale: Southern Illinois University Press. (Original work published 1910b)

Dewey, J. (1931). The development of pragmatism. In H.S. Thayer (Ed.), *Pragmatism: The classic writings* (pp. 23-40). Indianapolis, IN: Hackett.

Di Salvo, V., Baron, R., Tschan, H., Calderon Montero, F. J., Bachl, N., & Pigozzi, F. (2007). Performance Characteristics According to Playing Position in Elite Soccer. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, **28** (3), 222-227.

Di Salvo, V., Gregson, W., Atkinson, G., Tordoff, P., & Drust, B. (2009). Analysis of High Intensity Activity in Premier League Soccer. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, **30**(3), 205-212.

Drust, B., Atkinson, G., & Reilly, T. (2007). Future perspectives in the evaluation of the physiological demands of soccer. *SportMedicine*, **37**, 783–805

Dobson, S., & Goddard, J. (2010). Optimizing strategic behaviour in a dynamic setting in professional team sports. *European Journal of Operational Research*, **205**(3), 661-669.

Duarte, R., Araujo, D., Correia, V., & Davids, K. (2012). Sports Teams as Superorganisms Implications of Sociobiological Models of Behaviour for Research and Practice in Team Sports Performance Analysis. *Sports Medicine*, **42**(8), 633-642.

Duarte, R., Araujo, D., Folgado, H., Esteves, P. T., Marques, P., & Davids, K. (2013). Capturing complex, non-linear team behaviours during competitive football performance. *Journal of Systems Science & Complexity*, **26**(1), 62-72.

Dunn, A., Ford, P., & Williams, A. M. (2003). A technical profile of different playing positions. *Insight: The F.A. Coaches Association Journal*, **6**(4), 41-45.

Ennis, C. D. (2014). What goes around comes around ... or does it? Disrupting the cycle of traditional, sport-based physical education. *Kinesiology Review*, **3**, 63-70.

Entwistle, N.J., & Peterson, E.R. (2004). Conceptions of learning and knowledge in higher education: relationships with study behaviour and influences of learning environments. International Journal of Educational Research, **41**, 407-428.

Etherington, K. (2007). Ethical Research in Reflexive Relationships. *Qualitative Inquiry*,**13** (5) 599-616

Evans, J.R. and Light, R.L. (2007). Coach development through collaborative action research: A rugby coach's implementation of game sense pedagogy. *Asian Journal of Exercise & Sports Science*, **5** (1), pp.31-37.

FA Learning (2018). FA Learning National Courses 2018.

Faull, A, Cropley., B. (2009) Reflective learning in sport: a case study of a senior level triathlete. *Reflective practice*, **10** (3), pp. 325-339.

Fernandez-Navarro, J., Fradua, L., Zubillaga, A., Ford, P. R., & McRobert, A. P. (2016). Attacking and defensive styles of play in soccer: Analysis of Spanish and English elite teams. Journal of Sports Sciences, **34**(24), 2195–2204. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02640414.2016.1169309 [14]</u>

Flavell, J. H. (1979). Metacognition and cognitive monitoring: A new area of cognitive developmental inquiry. American Psychologist, **34**(10), 906–911.

Finlay, L. (2002). Negotiating the Swamp: The Opportunity and Challenge of Reflexivity in Research Practice. *Qualitative Research - QUAL RES.* **2**. 209-230. 10.1177/146879410200200205.

Ford, P.R., Coughlan, E., & Williams, M. (2009). The expert performance approach as a framework for understanding and enhancing coaching performance expertise and learning. *International Journal of Sport Science and Coaching*, **4**, 451–463.

Ford, P.R., Yates, I., & Williams, M.A. (2010). An analysis of practice activities and instructional behaviours used by youth soccer coaches during practice: Exploring the link between science and application. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, **28**, 483–495.

Frade, V. in Borges, P. H. (2015). Periodização tática: fundamentos e perspectivas. Entrevista com Dr. Vitor Manuel da Costa Frade. *Conexões: Revista Da Faculdade De Educação Física Da UNICAMP*, **13** (1), 180–204. doi: 10.20396/conex.v13i1.2155.

Frencken, W., De Poel, H., Visscher, C. & Lemmink, K. (2012). Variability of inter-team distances associated with match events in elite-standard soccer. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, **30**, 1207-1213.

Frencken, W., Lemmink, K., Delleman, N. & Visscher, C. (2011). Oscillations of centroid position and surface area of soccer teams in small-sided games. *European Journal of Sport Science*, **11**, 215-223.

Frencken W, Lemmink K, Delleman N, Visscher C. (2011). Oscillations of centroid position and surface area of soccer teams in small-sided games. *Eur J Sport Sci.* **11**(4): 215–223

French, K. E., & McPherson, S. L. (2004). Development of expertise in sport. In M. R. Weiss (Ed.), *Developmental sport and exercise psychology*: A lifespan perspective (pp. 403 – 423). Morgantown, WV: Fitness Information Technology

Foley, D.E. (2002). Critical ethnography: The reflexive turn. *International Journal of Qualitative* 671 *Studies in Education*. **15** (4): 469-490.

Folgado, H., Duarte, R., Marques, P., & Sampaio, J. (2015). The effects of congested fixtures period on tactical and physical performance in elite football. Journal of Sports Sciences, **33**(12), 1238–1247. https://doi.org/10.1080/02640414.2015.1022576

Gage, N. L. (1989). The paradigm wars and their aftermath: A "historical" sketch of research and teaching since 1989. *Educational Researcher*, *18*, 4-10.

Garganta, J., Maia, J., Basto, F., Reilly, T., Bangsbo, J. & Hughes, M. (1997). Analysis of goal-scoring patterns in European top-level soccer teams. *Science and football III*, 246-250.

Ghaye, T. (2001) Reflective practice. Faster Higher stronger, 10, 9-12.

Ghaye., T, & Lillyman., S. (2000) Learning journals and critical incidents: *reflective practice foe healthcare professionals*. Salisbury: Quay books.

Gee, J.P. (2007). *Good video games and good learning* (New literacies and digital epistemologies). New York, NY: Peter Lang Publishing, Inc.

Gerring, John. 2007. *Case Study Research: Principles and Practices*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Ghauri P. and K. Grønhaug (2002), Research Methods in Business Studies: A Practical Guide, Harlow, UK: Financial Times and Prentice Hall.

Ghauri PN (2004) Conducting and analysing case studies in international business. In: Piekkari R, Welch C (eds) Handbook of qualitative research methods for international business. Edward Elgar, Cheltenham

Giacobbi, P.R., Poczwardowski, A. and Hager, P.F. (2005) A pragmatic research philosophy For sport psychology. *Sport Psychologist*, **19** (1), 18-31.

Giacobbi, P.R., Jr., Hausenblas, H.A., & Frye, N. (2005). A naturalistic assessment of the relationship between personality, daily life event, leisure-time physical activity, and mood. *Psychology of Sport & Exercise*, **6**, 67-81.

Gibbs, G. (1988). Learning by Doing: A guide to teaching and learning methods Further Education Unit. Oxford Polytechnic.

Gilbourne, D. (1999). *Collaboration and reflection:* Adopting action research themes and processes to promote adherence to changing practice. Chichester, England: John Wiley & Sons Ltd.

Gilbert & J. Denison (Eds.), (2003). *Routledge handbook of sports coaching*, pp.309-320. Routledge: Abingdon, UK.

Gilbert, Gallimore, R. & Trudel, P. (2009) A learning community approach to coach development in youth sport. Journal of Coaching Education **2** (2), 1-21.

Gilbert, W., & Trudel, P. (2001). Learning to coach through experience: Reflection in 533 model youth sport coaches. *Journal of Teaching in Physical Education*, **21**(16)- 534 34.

Gilbert, W., & Trudel, P. (1999). An evaluation strategy for coach education programs. *Journal of Sport Behavior*, **22**, 234-250.

Gilbert, W., & Trudel, P. (2004). Analysis of coaching science research published from 1970-2001. *Research Quarterly for Exercise & Sport*, **75**(4), 388-399.

Gilbert, W., Côté, J., & Mallett, C. (2006). The talented coach: developmental paths and activities of sport coaches. *International Journal of Sports Science and Coaching*, **1**(1), 69-75.

Giske, R., Rodahl, S.E., & Høigaard, R. (2015). Shared mental task models in elite ice hockey and handball teams: Does it exist and how does the coach intervene to make an impact? *Journal of Applied Sport Psychology*, **27** (1), 20–34. doi:10.1080/10413200.2014.940431

Glasgow, R.E. and Chambers, D. (2012) Developing robust, sustainable, implementation systems using rigorous, rapid, relevant science. *Clinical and Translational Science*, **5**, 48-55.

Glasgow, R.E. (2013) What does it mean to be pragmatic? pragmatic methods, measures, and models to facilitate research translation. *Health Education and Behavior* **40**, 3, 257-265.

Gonçalves B., Esteves P., Folgado H., Ric A., Torrents C., & Sampaio J. (2017). Effects of pitch arearestrictions on tactical behavior, physical, and physiological performances in soccer large-sided games. *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*, **31**(9), 2398–2408. – PubMed

Goodman, C., Evans, C., (2015). Focus Groups. In: Gerrish K, Lathlean J, editors. *The Research Process in Nursing*. Oxford: Wiley Blackwell; 401-12.

Gorman, A. D., Abernethy, B., & Farrow, D. (2018). Reduced attentional focus and the influence on expert anticipatory perception. *Attention, Perception, and Psychophysics*, **80**(1), 166-176. 689 doi:10.3758/s13414-017-1429-z

Grant, A., Reilly, T., Williams, A. M. & Borrie, P. (1998). Analysis of the goals scored in the 1998 World Cup. Insight **1**, 18-20. Grant, A. & Williams, A. M. (1998). Analysis of corner kicks. *Insight*, **1**, 25-26.

Garganta, J., (2009). Trends of tactical performance analysis in team sports: bridging the gap between research, training and competition. *Revista Portuguesa de Ciências do Desporto* **9** (1), 81–89.

Gratton, C., & Jones, I. (2004). Research methods for sport studies. London, UK: Routledge.

Gratton, C. & Jones, I. (2005). Research methods for sport studies. London, UK: Routledge.

Gray, D.E. (2007) Facilitating Management Learning: Developing Critical Reflection Through Reflective Tools. *Management Learning*, **38**, 495-517

Grecic, D., & Grundy, A. (2016) Pragmatic research in sport: coaching philosophies in action - a values chain to inform practice. *Journal of Qualitative Research in Sport Studies*, **10** (1), 211-232. ISSN 1754-2375

Gregson W, Drust B, Atkinson G, Salvo VD. (2010) Match-to-match variability of high-speed activities in premier league soccer. *Int J Sports Med*, **31**(4): 237–242. 10.1055/s-0030-1247546 - DOI - PubMed

Grehaigne, J.F., Bouthier, D., & David, B. (1997). Dynamic-system analysis of opponent relationships in collective actions in soccer. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, **15** (2), 137–149. PubMed ID: 9258844 doi:10.1080/026404197367416

Grehaigne, J.F., & Godbout, P. (1995). Tactical knowledge in team sports from a constructivist and cognitivist perspective. *Quest*, **47**, 490–505.

Grehaigne, J.F., & Godbout, P. (1998). Formative assessment in team sports in a tactical approach context. *Journal of Physical Education, Recreation & Dance*, **69**, 46–51.

Grehaigne, J.F., Godbout, P., & Bouthier, D. (1997). Performance assessment in team sports. *Journal of Teaching in Physical Education*, **16** (4), 500–516. doi:10.1123/jtpe.16.4.500

Grehaigne, J.F., Godbout, P., & Bouthier, D. (1999). The foundations of tactics and strategy in team sport. *Journal of Teaching in Physical Education*, **18**, 159–174.

Grehaigne, J.F., Godbout, P., & Bouthier, D. (2005). The teaching and learning of decision making in team sports. *Quest*, **53**, 59–76.

Gréhaigne, J.F, Marchal, D. & Duprat, E. (2002). Regaining possession of the ball in the defensive area in soccer. *Science and Football IV*, 112.

Gréhaigne, J. F., Wallian, N., & Godbout, P. (2005). Tactical-decision learning model and students' practices. *Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy*, **10**, 255-269. doi: 10.1080/17408980500340869

Guba, E. (1987). What have we learned about naturalistic evaluation? *Evaluation Practice*, **8**, 23–43.

Hall, R. F. (2013). Mixed methods: In search of a paradigm. In T. Le, & Q. Le (Eds.), *Conducting research in a changing and challenging world* (pp. 71-78). New York: Nova Science Publishers Inc.

Hammersley M, Atkinson P (1993) Ethnography: principles in practice. Tavistock, London

Hammersley, M. & Atkinson, P. (2007). *Ethnography: Principles in Practice (3rd Edition)*. Routledge: New York

Harvey, S., Cushion, C.J., Cope, E., & Muir, B. (2013). A season long investigation into coaching behaviours as a function of practice state: the case of three collegiate coaches. *Sports Coaching Review*. DOI: 10.1080/21640629.2013.837238.

Harvey, S., Cushion, C.J., Wegis, H.M., & Massa-Gonzalez, A.N. (2010). Teaching games for understanding in American high-school soccer: A quantitative data analysis using the game performance assessment instrument. *Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy*, **15**(1), 29–54. doi:10.1080/17408980902729354

Heary, C., & Hennessy, E. (2006). Focus groups versus individual interviews with children: A comparison of data. *The Irish Journal of Psychology*, **27**, 58–68.

Hewitt, A., Norton, K. & Lyons, K. (2014). Movement profiles of elite women soccer players during international matches and the effect of opposition's team ranking. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 1-7.

Hewitt, A., Greenham, G., Norton, K. (2016). Game style in Soccer: what is it and can we quantify it? *International Journal of Performance Analysis in Sport*, **16** (1), 355-372.

Holter, I., M. and Schwartz-Barcott, D. (1993). Action research: what is it? How has it been 731 used and how can it be used in nursing? *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, **18**, 298-304.

Horrocks, D. E., McKenna, J., Whitehead, A. E., Taylor, P. J., Morley, A. M., & Lawrence, I. (2016) Preparation, structured deliberate practice and decision making in elite level football: The case study of Gary Neville (Manchester United FC and England. *International journal of sports science & coaching* **11** (*5*), 673-682.,

Howe, K. R. (1988). Against the quantitative-qualitative incompatibility thesis or dogmas die hard. *Educational Researcher*, **17**, 10-16.

Howe, P. D. (2009). Reflexive ethnography, impairment and the pub. *Leisure Studies*, **28** (4): 682 489-496.

Hughes, M. D., & Bartlett, R. M. (2002). The use of performance indicators in performance analysis. *Journal of sports sciences*, **20** (10), 739-754.

Hughes, M., Caudrelier, T., James, N., Donnelly, I., Kirkbride, A., & Duschesne, C. (2012). Moneyball and soccer - an analysis of the key performance indicators of elite male soccer players by position. *Journal of Human Sport & Exercise*, **7**, 402-412.

Hughes, M., & Churchill, S. (2005). Attacking Profiles of Successful and Unsuccessful Teams in Copa America 2001. In T. Reilly, J. Cabri & D. Araujo (Eds.), *Science and Football V* (pp. 221-224). London: Routledge.

Hughes, M., & Franks, I. (2005a). Analysis of passing sequences, shots and goals in soccer. Journal of Sports Sciences, 23(5), 509-514.

Hughes, M., & Franks, I. (2005b). *Notational Analysis of Sport:* Systems for Better Coaching and Performance in Sport (2nd ed.). London: Routledge.

Hughes, M., & Franks, I. (2008). *The Essentials of Performance Analysis*: An Introduction. London: Taylor and Francis.

Hughes, M., Robertson, K., & Nicholson, A. (1988). Comparison of patterns of play of successful and unsuccessful teams in the 1986 World Cup for soccer. In T.Reilly, A. Lees, K. Davids & W. J. Murphy (Eds.), *Science and Football* (pp. 363-367). London: E & FN Spon.

Hughes, M. T., Hughes, M. D., Williams, J., James, N., Vuckovic, G., & Locke, D. (2012). Performance indicators in rugby union. *Journal of Human Sport & Exercise*, **7**, 383-401.

Hunt, C. (2005) "Reflective Practice." In Human Resource Development, by J.P. Wilson. London: Kogan Page

Irwin., G, Hanton., S, & Kerwin., D. (2004) Reflective practice and the origins of elite coaching knowledge. *Reflective practice*, 5(3), pp. 425-442.

James, N., Mellalieu, S. D., & Hollely, C. (2002). Analysis of strategies in soccer as a function of European and domestic competition. *International Journal of Performance Analysis in Sport*, **2** (1), 85-103.

James, N., Mellalieu, S. D., & Jones, N. M. P. (2005). The development of position-specific performance indicators in professional rugby union. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, **23** (1), 63-72.

Johns., C. (2000) Becoming a reflective practitioner: a reflective and holistic approach to clinical nursing, practice development and clinical supervision. London: Blackwell Science.

Johnson, B., & Christensen, L. (2012). *Educational research: quantitative, qualitative, and mixed approaches* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage publications.

Johnson, R. B., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2004). Mixed methods research: A research paradigm whose time has come. *Educational Researcher*, **33** (7), 14-26. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X033007014</u>

Johnson, R. B., Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Turner, L. A. (2007). Toward a definition of mixed methods research. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, **1**,112-133. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1558689806298224</u>

Jorgensen, D.L. (2015). "Participant Observation." Pp. 1–15 in R. A. Scott and S. M. Kosslyn, eds. *Emerging Trends in the Social and Behavioral Sciences*. Hoboken, NY: John Wiley and Sons. <u>doi:</u> 10.1002/9781118900772

Jones, P., James, N. & Mellalieu, S. D. (2004). Possession as a performance indicator in soccer. *International Journal of Performance Analysis in Sport*, **4**, 98-102.

Jones, P. D., James, N., & Mellalieu, S. D. (2004). Possession as a performance indicator in soccer. *International Journal of Performance Analysis in Sport*, **4**(1), 98-102.

Junge, A. and J. Dvorak (2004). Soccer injuries. Sports Medicine, 34, 929-938.

Kahan, D. (1999). Coaching behaviour: a review of the systematic observation research literature. *Applied Research in Coaching and Athletics Annual*, *14*, 17-58.

Kannekens, Rianne & Elferink-Gemser, Marije & Visscher, Chris. (2009). Tactical skills of world-class youth soccer teams. *Journal of sports sciences*. **27**. 807-12. 10.1080/02640410902894339.

Kaya, A. (2014). Decision Making by Coaches and Athletes in Sport. *Procedia social and behavioural sciences*, **152**, 333-338.

Kempe M, Vogelbein M, Memmert D, Nopp S. (2014). Possession vs. Direct Play: Evaluating Tactical Behavior in Elite Soccer. *Int J Sports Sci.* **4**(6A): 35–41. 10.5923/s.sports.201401.05 - DOI

Kincheloe, J. (1991). *Teachers as researchers: Qualitative inquiry as a path to empowerment*. London: The Falmer Press.

Kinnerk, P., Harvey, S., MacDonncha, C., & Lyons, M. (2018). A review of the game-based approaches to coaching literature in competitive Strategic Understandings for Soccer team sport settings. *Quest*, **70**(4), 401–418.

Kirk, J. and Miller, M.L. (1986) Reliability and Validity in Qualitative Research, London: Sage

Kitzinger, J. and Barbour, R. (1999) 'Introduction: the challenge and promise of focus groups' in R. Barbour and J. Kitzinger (eds) *Developing Focus Group Research: Politics, Theory and Practice,* London: Sage

Knowles, Z., Borrie, A., &Telfer, H. (2005). Towards the reflective sports coach: Issues of context, education and application. *Ergonomics*, **48** (11), 1711-1720.

Knowles, Z., Katz, J., & Gilbourne, D. (2012). Reflective practice within elite consultancy: Diary extracts and further discussion on a personal and elusive process. *The Sport Psychologist*, **26** (3), 454-469.

Knowles, Z., Tyler, G., Gilbourne, G., & Eubank, M. (2006) Reflecting on reflection: exploring the practices of sports coaching graduates. Reflective practice, **7** (2), 163-179

Knowles, Z., Gilbourne, D., Borrie, A., & Nevill, A. (2001). Developing the reflective sports coach: a study exploring the processes of reflective practice within a higher education coaching programme. *Reflective Practice: International and Multidisciplinary Perspectives*, *2*(2), 185-207.

Kolb, D. A. (2014). Experiential learning: Experience as the source of learning and development.New Jersey, NY: Pearson FT press.

Korthagen, F.A. J., & Vasalos, A. (2005). Levels in reflection: Core reflection as a means to enhance professional growth. *Teachers and Teaching* **11** (1): 47–71.

Kreber, C. & Cranton, P.A. (1997). Teaching as scholarship: A model for instructional development. *Issues and Inquiry in College Learning and Teaching*, **19**, 4-13.

Kreber, C. & Cranton, P.A. (2000). Exploring the scholarship of teaching. *The Journal of Higher Education*, **71**, 476-495.

Krueger, R.A. and Casey, M.A. (2000) *Focus Groups: A Practical Guide for Applied Research*, 3rd edition. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage

Krueger R, Casey M. (2009) *Focus Groups: A Practical Guide for Applied Research*. 4th ed. Thousand Oaks, California: Sage

Krueger, R., & Casey, M. (2015). Focus groups: A practical guide for applied research (5th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage

Krippendorf, K. (2012). *Content analysis: An introduction to its methodology* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Kuhn, T. (1962). The structure of scientific revolutions. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.

Kvale, S. (1996) Interviews: An Introduction to Qualitative Research Interviewing, Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage

Lago, C. (2007). Are winners different from losers? Performance and chance in the FIFA World Cup Germany 2006. *International Journal of Performance Analysis in Sport*, **7**, 36-47.

Lago, C. (2009). The influence of match location, quality of opposition, and match status on possession strategies in professional association football. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, **27**, 1463.

Lago, C., Casais, L., Dominguez, E. & Sampaio, J. (2010). The effects of situational variables on distance covered at various speeds in elite soccer. *European Journal of Sport Science*, **10**, 103-109.

Lago, C. & Martín, R. (2007). Determinants of possession of the ball in soccer. Journal of Sports Sciences, 25, 969-974.

Lago-Ballesteros, J. & Lago-Penas, C. (2010). Performance in team sports: Identifying the keys to success in soccer. *Journal of Human Kinetics*, **25**, 85-91.

Lago-Ballesteros, J., Lago-Peñas, C. & Rey, E. (2012). The effect of playing tactics and situational variables on achieving score-box possessions in a professional soccer team. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, **30**, 1455-1461.

Lago-Penas, C. & Dellal, A. (2010). Ball possession strategies in elite soccer according to the evolution of the match-score: the influence of situational variables. *Journal of Human Kinetics*, **25**, 93-100.

Lago-Penas, C., Lago-Ballesteros, J., Dellal, A. & Gomez, M. (2010). Game-related statistics that discriminated winning, drawing and losing teams from the Spanish soccer league. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, **9**, 288-293.

Leshem, S., & Trafford, V. (2007). Overlooking the conceptual framework. *Innovations in Education & Teaching International* **44** (1), 93–105.

Lai, E. R. (2011). Metacognition: A Literature review research report. Research Reports. New York, NY: Pearson. Retrieved from <u>http://www.datec.org.uk/CHAT/chatmeta1.htm</u>

Laird, P. & Waters, L. (2008). Eyewitness recollection of sport coaches. *International Journal of Performance Analysis in Sport*, **8**, 76-84.

Lees, A. & Nolan, L. (1998). The biomechanics of soccer: a review. *Journal of Sports Sciences* 16, 211-234.

Lee, S., Chesterfield, G., Shaw, D.J., Ghaye, T. (2009). 'Exploring the potential of reflective learning in sport', *Reflective Practice*, **10** (3), 285-293.

Light, R. & Wallian, N. (2007). A Constructivist-Informed Approach to Teaching Swimming. *Quest*, 1-30.

Light, R. (2008). Complex learning theory – its epistemology and its assumptions about learning: Implications for physical education. *Journal of Teaching in Physical Education*, **27**, 21-37.

Light, R., & Robert, J.E. (2010). The impact of game sense pedagogy on Australian rugby coaches' practice: a question of pedagogy. *Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy*, **15**(2), 103-115.

Light, R. & Wallian, N. (2008). A Constructivist-Informed Approach to Teaching Swimming. *Quest.* **60**. 387-404. 10.1080/00336297.2008.10483588.

Light, R.L., Harvey, S., & Mouchet, A. (2014). Improving 'at-action' decision-making in team sports through a holistic coaching approach. *Sport, Education and Society*, **19** (3), 258–275. doi:10.1080/

Light, R. L. (2013). Game Sense: Pedagogy for performance, participation and enjoyment. London & New York: Routledge

Lincoln, Y.S. & Guba, E.G. (1985). Naturalistic Inquiry. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.

Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (2000). Paradigmatic controversies, contradictions, and emerging confluences. revisited. In: N.K. Denzin & Y.S. Lincoln (Eds.), *The SAGE Handbook of Qualitative Research (2nd Edition)*, pp. 97-128. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage

Lincoln, Y.S., Lynham, S.A., & Guba, E.G. (2011). Paradigmatic controversies, contradictions, and emerging confluences revisited. In: N.K. Denzin & Y.S. Lincoln (Eds.), *The SAGE Handbook of Qualitative Research (4th Edition)*, pp. 97-128. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Liu, H. Y., Gomez, M. A., Lago-Peñas, C., & Sampaio, J. (2015). Match statistics related to winning in the group stage of 2014 Brazil FIFA World Cup. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, **33** (12), 1205-1213.

Lyle, J. (2003). Stimulated recall: a report on its use in naturalistic research. *British Educational Research Journal*, **29** (6), 861-878

Lyle J. & Cushion, C. (2010) *Sports Coaching: Professionalisation and Practice*. 1st edition. London: Churchill Livingstone

MacIntyre, T.E., Igou, E.R., Campbell, M.J., Moran, A.P., & Matthews, J. (2014). Metacognition and action: A new pathway to understanding social and cognitive aspects of expertise in sport. *Frontiers in Psychology*, **5** (115), 1–12.

Mackenzie, R. & Cushion, C. (2013). Performance analysis in football: a critical review and implications for future research. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, **31**, 639-676.

Macquet, A. C. (2009). Recognition within the decision-making process: A case study of expert volleyball players. Journal of Applied Sport Psychology, 21(1), 64–79. doi:10.1080/10413200802575759

Mallo, J. (2015). Complex Football: From Seirul-los structured training to Frades tactical periodisation (1st ed.). Spain: Topprosoccer S.L.

Mandigo, J., Butler, J., and Hopper, T. (2009). *What is Teaching Games for Understanding? A Canadian perspective*. In T. Hopper, J. Butler and B. Storey (Eds) TGfU...simply good pedagogy: Understanding a complex challenge (pp. 11-22) Toronto: HPE Canada.

Martins, F. (2003). The tactical periodization according to Vítor Fradé. More than a concept, a way of being and reflecting football. *Thesis- University of Porto*.

Maxwell, S. E., & Delaney, H. D. (2004). *Designing experiments and analyzing data*. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.

Maxcy, S. (2003). Pragmatic threads in mixed methods research in the social sciences: The search for multiple modes of inquiry and the end of the philosophy of formalism. In A. Tashakkori, & C. Teddlie (Eds.), *Handbook of Mixed Methods in the Social and Behavioural Sciences* (pp. 51-89). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage

May, T. (1993) Social research: issues, methods and process. Buckingham: Open University Press.

McCullick, B.A., Schempp, P., Mason, I., Foo, C., Vickers, B., & Connolly, G. (2009). A scrutiny of the coaching education program scholarship since 1995. *Quest*, **61**, 322-335.

McGarry T, O'Donoghue P, de Eira Sampaio AJ, Sampaio J. (2013). *Routledge Handbook of Sports Performance Analysis*. Abingdon: Routledge.

McGarry, T. & Perl, J. (2004). Models of sports contests – Markov processes, dynamical systems and neural networks. In M. Hughes & I. Franks (Eds.), *Notational Analysis of Sport* (2nd edition, pp. 227-242). London: Routledge.

McNamee, M.J., Olivier, S. and Wainwright, P. (2006). *Research ethics in exercise, health and sports sciences*. London: Routledge.

McKernan, J. (1991). Curriculum Action Research: A Handbook of Methods and Resources for the Reflective Practitioner. London: Kogan Publishers.

McNay L (1999) Gender, habitus and the field: Pierre Bourdieu and the limits of reflexivity. 693 *Theory, Culture & Society* **16** (1): 95–117.

McNiff, J. (2013). Action research: Principles and practice. London: Routledge.

McNiff, J. (2016). You and your action research project, Fourth Edition. New York: Routledge.

McNiff, J., Lomax, P., & Whitehead, J. (2003). *You and your action research project* (2nd ed.). Oxon: Routledge Falmer.

McPherson, S. (2008). Tactics - *Using knowledge to enhance sport performance*. In D. Farrow, J. Baker, 703 & C. MacMahon (Eds.), Developing sport expertise (pp. 155-171). London: Routledge.

McPherson, S., & Thomas, J. (1989). Relation of knowledge and performance in boys' tennis: age and 705 expertise. Journal of Experimental *Child Psychology*, **48** (2), 190-211.

McPherson, S. L., & Vickers, J. N. (2004). Cognitive issues in motor expertise. *International Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, **2**, 274 – 300.

McPherson, S. L., (1994) The Development of Sport Expertise: Mapping the Tactical Domain, *Quest*, **46** (2), 223-240, DOI: 10.1080/00336297.1994.10484123

McPherson, S. L., & Kernodle, M. (2007) Mapping two new points on the tennis expertise continuum: Tactical skills of adult advanced beginners and entry level professionals during competition, *Journal of Sports Sciences*, **25** (8), 945-959, DOI:10.1080/02640410600908035

Meletakos, P., Vagenas, G., & Bayios, I. (2011). A multivariate assessment of offensive performance indicators in Men's Handball: Trends and differences in the World Championships. International Journal of Performance Analysis in Sport, 11(2), 284-294.

Memmert, D. (2006). The effects of eye movement, age, and expertise on intentional blindness. *Consciousness and Cognition*, **15** (3), 620–627. PubMed ID:16487725

Memmert D, Raabe D, Schwab S, Rein R. (2019) A tactical comparison of the 4-2-3-1 and 3-5-2 formation in soccer: A theory-oriented, experimental approach based on positional data in an 11 vs. 11 game set-up. *PLoS* One. **14** (1). PMID: 30699148; PMCID:

Memmert D, Raabe D. (2018). *Data Analytics in Football Positional Data Collection, Modelling and Analysis*. Abingdon: Routledge.

Merriam, S. B. (1998). *Qualitative research and case study applications in education*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Metzler, M.W., & Blankenship, B.T. (2008). Taking the next step: connecting teacher education, research on teaching, and programme assessment. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 24, 1098-1111.

Michalsky, T., Mevarech, Z. R., & Haibi, L. (2009). Elementary school children reading scientific texts: Effects of metacognitive instruction. The Journal of Educational Research, 102(5), 363–376. https://doi.org/10.3200/JOER.102.5.363-376

Miles, M. B., & Huberman, A. M. (1994). *Qualitative data analysis: An expanded sourcebook*. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.

Miles, M. B. & Huberman, A. M. (1984) *Qualitative data analysis: a sourcebook of new methods* (London, Sage).

Morgan, D. L. (2007). Paradigms lost and pragmatism regained: Methodological implications of combining qualitative and quantitative methods. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, **1**, 48 76. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2345678906292462</u>

Morgan, D. L. (2013). *Integrating qualitative and quantitative methods: A pragmatic approach*. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.

Maton, K. (2003). Reflexivity, relationism, & research: Pierre Bourdieu and the epistemic 691 conditions of social scientific knowledge. *Space and Culture* **6** (1): 52-65.

Moura, F. A., Martins, L. E. B., Anido, R. O., Ruffino, P. R. C., Barros, R. M. & Cunha, S. A. (2013). A spectral analysis of team dynamics and tactics in Brazilian football. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, **31**, 1568-1577.

Nash, C., & Collins, D. (2006). Tacit knowledge in expert coaching: Science or art? *Quest*, **58**, 465–477.10.1080/00336297.2006.10491894.

Nelson, L., Cushion, C., & Potrac, P. (2006). Formal, Non-formal and Informal Coach Learning: A Holistic Conceptualisation. *International Journal of Sports Science & Coaching*, **1**(3), 247–259. doi:10.1260/174795406778604627

Nelson, L., Cushion, C., Potrac, P., & Groom, R. (2014). Carl Rogers, Learning and Educational Practice: Critical Considerations and Applications in Sports Coaching. *Sport, Education and Society*, **19** (19), 513–531. doi:13573322.2012.689256

Nevill, A., Balmer, N. & Wolfson, S. (2005) The extent and causes of home advantage: Some recent insights. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, **23**, 335-336.

Noble, H., Smith, J. (2015) Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evidence Based Nursing*, **18**, (2): 34-35.

O'Connor, D., Larkin, P., & Williams, M.A. (2018). Observations of youth football training: How do coaches structure training sessions for player development? *Journal of Sports Sciences*, **36** (1), 39–47. PubMed ID: 28065123 doi:10.1080/02640414.2016.1277034

O'Connor, D., Wardak, D., Goodyear, P., Larkin, P., & Williams, M. (2018). Conceptualising decisionmaking and its development: A phenomenographic analysis. *Science & Medicine in Football*, **2** (4), 261–271. doi:10.1080/24733938.2018.1472388

O'Donoghue, P. (2008). Principal Components Analysis in the selection of Key Performance Indicators in Sport. International *Journal of Performance Analysis in Sport*, **8**(3), 145-155.

Oberstone, J. (2009). Differentiating the top English Premier League football clubs from the rest of the pack: Identifying the keys to success. *Journal of Quantitative Analysis in Sports*, 5(3).

Olsen, E., & Larsen, O. (1997). Use of match analysis by coaches. In J. Bangsbo, T. Reilly & A

Oliveira, J. G. (2004). Conhecimento específico em futebol: contributos para a definição de uma matriz dinâmica do processo ensino aprendizagem-treino do jogo (Specific knowledge in football: contributions to the definition of a dynamic array of the teaching -learning training game).

OptaSports. 2019. OptaSports. https://www.optasports.com

Ozturk, N. (2017). Assessing Metacognition: Theory and Practices. *International Journal of Assessment Tools in Education*. **4.** 134-134. 10.21449/ijate.298299.

Ozturk, N. (2016). An analysis of pre-service elementary teachers' understanding of metacognition and pedagogies of metacognition. *Journal of Teacher Education and Educators*, **5** (1), 47–68.

Passos P, Araujo D, Davids K, Shuttleworth R. (2008). Manipulating constraints to train decision making in rugby union. *Int. J. Sports Sci. Coach.* **3**:125-140

Patton, M. (1988). Paradigms and pragmatism. In D. Fetterman (Ed.), *Qualitative approaches to evaluation in educational research* (pp. 116-137). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.

Patton, M.Q. (2002). Qualitative research and evaluation methods. Thousand Oaks, 590 CA: Sage.

Partington, M., and Cushion, C.J., (2013). An investigation of the practice activities and coaching behaviours of professional top-level youth soccer coaches. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine and Science in Sports*, **23**(3), 373-382.

Partington, M., Cushion, C. & Harvey, S. (2014). An investigation of the effect of athletes' age on the coaching behaviours of professional top-level youth coaches. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, **32** (5), 403-414.

Partington, M., C. J. Cushion, E. Cope, and S. Harvey. (2015). "The Impact of Video Feedback on Professional Youth Football Coaches' Reflection and Practice Behaviour: A Longitudinal Investigation of Behaviour Change." *Reflective Practice*, **16** (5), 700–716.

Patton, M. Q. (2015). Qualitative research and evaluation methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Pintrich, P. R., Wolters, C., and Baxter, G. (2000). *Assessing metacognition and self-regulated learning*. In Schraw, G., and Impara, J. (eds.), Issues in the Measurement of Metacognition, Buros Institute of Mental Measurements, Lincoln, NE.

Pill, S. (2014). Informing game sense pedagogy with constraints led theory for coaching in Australian football. *Sports Coaching Review*, **3** (1), 46–62. doi:10.1080/21640629.2014.890778

Plitz, W. Launder, A. (2013). Play practice. Champaign, IL, Human Kinetics. Pollard, R. (1986). Home advantage in soccer: A retrospective analysis. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, **4**, 237-248.

Premier League. (2011). Elite player performance plan (EPPP). Retrieved from <u>https://www.goalreports.com/EPLPlan.pdf</u>

Price, A., Collins, D., Stoszkowski, J., & Pill, S. (2017). Learning to play soccer: Lessons on metacognition from video game design. *Quest*, **70** (3), 321–333. doi:10.1080/00336297.2017.1386574

Price, A., Collins, D., Stoszkowski, J., & Pill, S. (2019). Coaching games: Comparisons and contrasts. *International Sport Coaching Journal*, **6** (1), 126–131. doi:10.1123/iscj.2018-0015

Price, A., Collins, D., Stoszkowski, J., & Pill, S. (2020). Strategic Understandings: An Investigation of Professional Academy Youth Soccer Coaches' Interpretation, Knowledge, and Application of Game Strategies. *International Sport Coaching Journal*, <u>https://doi.org/10.1123/iscj.2019-0022</u>

Pritchard, T., Hawkins, A., Wiegand, R., & Metzler, J.N. (2008). Effects of two instructional approaches on skill development, knowledge, and game performance. *Measurement in Physical Education and Exercise Science*, **12** (4), 219–236. doi:10.1080/10913670802349774

Pollard, R., Ensum, J. & Taylor, S. (2004). Estimating the probability of a shot resulting in a goal: The effects of distance, angle and space. *International Journal of Soccer and Science*, **2**, 50-55.

Powis, B. (2018). 'We are playing for England, we wear the same shirt; just because I have a disability, it doesn't make me any different': empowerment, eliteness and visually impaired cricket. *European Journal for Sport and Society*, **15** (2): 189-206.

Peitersen, B. (2001). The Winning Formula: A gem not to be found modern strategy and tactics in football. *Insight: The F.A. Coaches Association Journal*, **5** (1), 32-35.

Pintrich, P. R., Wolters, C. A., & Baxter, G. P. (2000). Assessing metacognition and self-regulated learning. In G. Schraw & J. C. Impara (Eds.), *Assessing metacognition and self-regulated learning* (pp. 43–97). Lincoln, NE: Buros Institute of Mental Measurements.

Pillow, W. (2003). Confession, catharsis or cure? Rethinking the uses of reflexivity as 699 methodological power in qualitative research. *Qualitative Studies in Education* **16** (2): 175-700 196.

Pollard, R., & Reep, C. (1997). Measuring the Effectiveness of Playing Strategies at Soccer. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society. Series D (The Statistician)*, **46** (4), 541-550.

Ponelis, S. R. (2015). Using interpretive qualitative case studies for exploratory research in doctoral studies: A case of Information Systems research in small and medium enterprises. *International Journal of Doctoral Studies*, **10**, 535-550.

Pollard, R., Reep, C., & Hartley, S. (1988). The quantitative comparison of playing styles in soccer. In T. Reilly, A. Lees, K. Davids & W. J. Murphy (Eds.), *Science and Football* (pp. 309-315). London: E & FN Spon.

Purdy, L., Potrac, P., & Nelson, L. (2013). Exploring trust and distrust in coaching. In: P. Potrac, W. Gilbert & J. Denison (Eds.), *Routledge handbook of sports coaching*, pp.309-320. Routledge: Abingdon, UK.

Raab, M. (2003). Decision-making in sports: Influence of complexity on implicit and explicit learning. *International Journal of Sport Psychology*, **1**, 406–433.

Redwood-Brown, A. (2008). Passing patterns before and after goal scoring in FA Premier League Soccer. *International Journal of Performance Analysis in Sport*, **8**, 172-182.

Redwood-Brown, A., Bussell, C., & Bharaj, H. S. (2012). The impact of different standards of opponents on observed player performance in the English Premier League. *Journal of Human Sport & Exercise*, **7**, 341-355.

Reep, C., & Benjamin, B. (1968). Skill and Chance in Association Football. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society. Series A (General)*, **131**(4), 581-585.

Reilly, T. & Gilbourne, D. (2003). Science and football: a review of applied research in the football codes. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, **21**, 693-705.

Reilly, T. (2005). An ergonomics model of the soccer training process. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 23(6), 561-572.

Rein R, Memmert D. (2016) Big data and tactical analysis in elite soccer: future challenges and opportunities for sports science. *SpringerPlus*. **5**: 1410 10.1186/s40064-016-3108-2 - DOI - PMC – PubMed

Remmert, H. (2003). Analysis of group-tactical offensive behaviour in elite basketball on the basis of a process orientated model. *European Journal of Sport Science*, **3** (3), 1-12.

Renshaw, I., I.Y. Chow, K, Davids, & J. Hammond. (2010). A constraints-led perspective to understanding skill acquisition and game play: a basis for integration of motor learning theory and physical education praxis? *Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy*, **15**(2), 117-137

Ridgewell, A. (2011). Passing patterns before and after scoring in the 2010 FIFA World Cup. *International Journal of Performance Analysis in Sport*, *11*(3), 562-574.

Rudestam, K. E. & Newton, R. R. (1992) Surviving your dissertation. London: Sage.

Pickard, A. J. (2013). Research methods in information (2nd ed.). Chicago, IL: Neal-Schuman

Putnam, H. (1981). Reason, truth, and history. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.

Richards, P., Collins, D., Mascarenhas, D.R.D. (2016). Developing team decision making: A holistic framework integrating both on-field and off-field pedagogical coaching processes. *Sports Coaching Review*, **6** (1), 57–75. doi:10.1080/21640629.2016.1200819

Ridgewell, A. (2011). Passing patterns before and after scoring in the 2010 FIFA World Cup. *International Journal of Performance Analysis in Sport*, 11, 562-574.

Ritchie, J. and Lewis. J. (eds.) (2003) *Qualitative Research Practice: A Guide for Social Science Students and Researchers*. London: Sage Publications.

Rolfe, G. Validity, trustworthiness and rigour: quality and the idea of qualitative research. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 2006; **53**, 3, 304-310.

Rorty, R. (1982). *Consequences of pragmatism (Essays: 1972-1980)*. Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota Press.

Rorty, R. (1990). Introduction: Pragmatism as anti-representationalism. In J.P. Murphy, *Pragmatism: From Peirce to Davidson*. Boulder, CO: Westview Press.

Rorty, R. (1991). *Objectivity, relativism and truth: Philosophical paper, volume* I. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Ruiz-Ruiz, C., Fradua, L., Fernandez-Garcia, A., & Zubillaga, A. (2011). Analysis of entries into the penalty area as a performance indicator in soccer. *European Journal of Sport Science*, 1-8.

Ruiz-Ruiz, C., Fradua, L., Fernandez-Garcia, A., & Zubillaga, A. (2013). Analysis of entries into the penalty area as a performance indicator in soccer. *European Journal of Sport Science*, **13** (3), 241-248.

Russell, R. M. (2006). A Review of the 2006 FIFA World Cup Germany. *Insight: The F.A. Coaches Association Journal, Autumn/Winter*, 24-26.

Sale, J. E. M., Lohfeld, L. H., & Brazil, K. (2002). Revisiting the quantitative-qualitative debate: Implications for mixed-method research. *Quality and Quantity*, **36**, 43–53.

Salmon, P. (1992) Achieving a PhD-ten students' experience. Stoke-on-Trent: Trentham Books.

Sampaio, J., & Macas, V. (2012). Measuring Tactical Behaviour in Football. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, **33** (5), 395-401.

Samuels, M., & Betts, J. (2007). Crossing the threshold from description to deconstruction and reconstruction: Using self-assessment to deepen reflection. Reflective Practice: *International and Multidisciplinary Perspectives* **8** (2): 269–283.

Saury, J. & Durand, M. (1998). Practical knowledge in expert coaches: On-site study of coaching in sailing. *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport*, **69**, 254-266.

Schön, D.A. (1987). Educating the reflective practitioner. San Francisco: JosseyBass.

Schon, D. (1983). The *reflective Practioner: How professionals think in action*. New York: Basic Books.

Silverman, D. (1989), 'The impossible dream of reformism and romanticism' in J.F. Gubrium and D. Silverman (eds), *The Politics of Field Research: Beyond Enlightenment*, Newbury Parke CA: Sage, pp. 30-48.

Silverman, D. (2005), Doing qualitative research: a practical handbook, Sage, London.

Slevin, E. (2002) Enhancing the truthfulness, consistency, and transferability of a qualitative study: using a manifold of two approaches. *Nurse Researcher*,**7**, 79-197.

Slevitch, L. (2011) Qualitative and Quantitative Methodologies Compared: Ontological and Epistemological Perspectives Article *in Journal of Quality Assurance in Hospitality & Tourism* DOI: 10.1080/1528008X.2011.541810

Smith, M., & Cushion, C.J. (2006). An investigation of the in game behaviours of professional, toplevel youth soccer coaches. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, **24**(4), 355–366. Smith, S.A. (2003) Qualitative Psychology: A Practical Guide to Research Methods. London: Sage Publications.

Smith, B., & McGannon, K.R. (2017). Developing rigor in qualitative research: Problems and opportunities within sport and exercise psychology. *International Review of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, **11** (1), 101–121. doi:10.1080/1750984X.2017.1317357

Smith, B. and McGannon, K.R. (2018) 'Developing rigor in qualitative research: problems and opportunitiesv within sport and exercise psychology.', *International review of sport and exercise psychology.*, **11** (1). pp.101-121.

Smith, B. (2018) Generalizability in qualitative research: misunderstandings, opportunities and recommendations for the sport and exercise sciences, *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health*, **10**:1, 137-149, DOI: 10.1080/2159676X.2017.1393221

Smith, R. E., & Smoll, F. L., (1993). Educating youth sport coaches: An applied sport psychology perspective. In J. M. Williams (Ed.) *Applied sport psychology*: Personal growth to peak performance (36-57). (2nd ed.). Mountain View, CA: Mayfield.

Smith, S.A. (2003) Qualitative Psychology: *A practical Guide to Research methods*. London: Sage Publications.

Smith, J., Noble, H. (2014) Bias in research. Evidence Based Nursing, 17 (2), 2-3.

Søvik, Margaret & Larsen, Torill & Tjomsland, Hege & Samdal, Oddrun. (2016). Evaluating the implementation of the Empowering Coaching[™] programme: *Balancing fidelity and adaptation*. *Health Education*. **116**. 10.1108/HE-07-2014-0077.

Sparkes, A. C., & Smith, B. (2014). *Qualitative research methods in sport, exercise and health*: From process to product: Abingdon: Routledge.

Sparkes, A.C. (1992). *Research in physical education and sport: exploring alternative visions*. London: Falmer Press.

Sparkes, A.C., & Smith, B. (2009). Judging the quality of qualitative inquiry: criteriology and relativism in action. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, **10**(5), 491-497

Sparkes, A.C., & Smith, B. (2014). *Qualitative research methods in sport, exercise and health*. Abingdon: Routledge.

Stake, R. E. (1995). The art of case study research. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.

Stodter, A., & Cushion, C.J., (2014). Coaches' learning and education: a case study of cultures in conflict. *Sports Coaching Review*, **3** (1), 63-79.

Stodter, A., & Cushion, C.J., (2016). Effective coach learning and the processes of coaches' knowledge development: what works? In: P.A Davis, ed. *The Psychology of Effective Coaching and Management. Nova Science Publishers*, 35-52.

Stoszkowski, J., and Collins, D., (2015). Sources, topics and use of knowledge by coaches. Journal of Sports Sciences, DOI:10.1080/02640414.2015.1072279.

Stodter, A., & Cushion, C., (2017). What works in coach learning, how, and for whom? A grounded process of soccer coaches' professional learning. *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health.* **9**. 1-18. 10.1080/2159676X.2017.1283358.

Stoszkowski, J., Collins, D., & Olsson, C. (2017). Using shared online blogs to structure and support informal coach learning. Part 2: participants' view and implications for coach education. *Sport, Education and Society*, **22** (3), 407–425. doi:10.1080/13573322. 2015.1030382
Tamarit, X. (2015). What Is Tactical Periodization? London: Bennion Kearny Limited.

Taylor, S., Werthner, P., Culver, D. & Callary, B. (2015). The importance of reflection for coaches in parasport. *Reflective Practice*, **16** (2), 269-284.

Taylor, J. B., Mellalieu, S. D., & James, N. (2005). A Comparison of Individual and Unit Tactical Behaviour and Team Strategy in Professional Soccer. *International Journal of Performance Analysis in Sport*, **5**(2), 87-101.

Taylor, J. B., Mellalieu, S. D., James, N., & Barter, P. (2010). Situation variable effects and tactical performance in professional association football. *International Journal of Performance Analysis in Sport*, **10**(3), 255-269.

Taylor, J. B., Mellalieu, S. D., James, N., & Shearer, D. A. (2008). The influence of match location, quality of opposition, and match status on technical performance in professional association football. Journal of Sports Sciences, 26(9), 885-895.

Tee, JC and Ashford, M and Piggott, D (2018) A tactical periodization approach for rugby union. *Strength and Conditioning Journal*, **40** (5). ISSN 1533-4295 DOI: https://doi.org/10.1519/SSC.00000000000390

Tedesqui, R. A. & Glynn, B. A. (2013). "Focus on What?": Applying Research Findings on Attentional Focus for Elite-Level Soccer Coaching. *Journal of Sport Psychology in Action*, **4**, 122-132.

Tenga, A., Holme, I., Ronglan, L. T. & Bahr, R. (2010). Effect of playing tactics on goal scoring in Norwegian professional soccer. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, **28**, 237-244.

Tenga, A., Holme, I., Ronglan, L. T., & Bahr, R. (2010a). Effect of playing tactics on achieving score-box possessions in a random series of team possessions from Norwegian professional soccer matches. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, **28** (3), 245-255.

Tenga, A., Holme, I., Ronglan, L. T., & Bahr, R. (2010b). Effect of playing tactics on goal scoring in Norwegian professional soccer. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, **28** (3), 237-244.

Tenga, A., Kanstad, D., Ronglan, L. T., & Bahr, R. (2009). Developing a New Method for Team Match Performance Analysis in Professional Soccer and Testing its Reliability. *International Journal of Performance Analysis in Sport*, **9** (1), 8-25.

Tenga, A. & Sigmundstad, E. (2011). Characteristics of goal-scoring possessions in open play: Comparing the top, in-between and bottom teams from professional soccer league. *International Journal of Performance Analysis in Sport*, **11**, 545-552.

Tenga, A., & Larsen, O. (2003). Testing the Validity of Match Analysis to describe Playing Styles in Football. *International Journal of Performance Analysis in Sport*, **3**(2), 90-102. 71

Tenga, A., Ronglan, L. T., & Bahr, R. (2010). Measuring the effectiveness of offensive match-play in professional soccer. *European Journal of Sport Science*, **10** (4), 269-277.

The Football Association (2016) Technical Department: UEFA B Coaching Syllabus. Coach Education. London:

The FA. (2019). England DNA | The Boot Room. Retrieved May 30, 2019, from <u>http://www.thefa.com/learning/england-dna</u>

Thompson, L; Thompson, M. (1998). "Neurofeedback combined with training in metacognitive strategies: Effectiveness in students with ADD". *Applied Psychophysiology and Biofeedback*. **23** (4): 243–63

Thorpe, R. (2017). Co meta-reflection as a method for the professional development of academic middle leaders in higher education. *Management in Education*, **31** (3), 111–117.

Toering, T.T., Elferink-Gemser, M.T., Jordet, G., & Visscher, C. (2009). Self-regulation and performance level of elite and non-elite youth soccer players. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, **27** (14), 1509–1517. PubMed ID: 19967593 doi:10.1080/02640410903369919

Toner, J. (2017). Habitual reflexivity and skilled action. *Body & Society*, **23** (4), 3–26. doi:10.1177/1357034X17736371

Toner, J., Montero, B.G., & Moran, A. (2014). Considering the role of cognitive control in expert performance. *Phenomenology and the Cognitive Sciences*, **14** (4), 1127–1144. doi:10.1007/s11097-014-9407-6

Tracy, S.J. (2010). Qualitative quality: Eight "big tent" criteria for excellent qualitative 12 research. *Qualitative Inquiry*, **16**, 837-851.

Travassos, B., Davids, K., Araujo, D., & Esteves, P. T. (2013). Performance analysis in team sports: Advances from an Ecological Dynamics approach. *International Journal of Performance Analysis in Sport*, **13**(1), 83-95.

Tucker, W., Mellalieu, S. D., James, N., & Taylor, J. B. (2005). Game Location Effects in Professional Soccer: A Case Study.

Turner, B. & Sayers, M. (2010). The influence of transition speed on event outcomes in a high performance football team. *International Journal of Performance Analysis in Sport*, **10**, 207-220.

Tracy, S.J. (2010). Qualitative quality: Eight 'big-tent' criteria for excellent qualitative research. *Qualitative Inquiry*, **16**(10), 837–851. doi:10.1177/1077800410383121

Trudel, P., Culver, D., & Werthner, P. (2013). Looking at coach development from the coachlearner's perspective: considerations for coach administrators. In: P.Potrac, W. Gilbert and J. Denison (Eds.), *Routledge handbook of sports coaching*. (pp. 375-387). Abingdon: Routledge.

Trudel, P., Gilbert, W., & Werthner, P. (2010). Coach education effectiveness. In: Lyle, J. & Cushion, C. (Eds.), *Sports coaching: Professionalisation and practice* (pp. 135-152). China: Elsevier.

Turner, A.P., & Martinek, T.J. (1999). An investigation into teaching games for understanding: Effects on skill, knowledge, and game play. *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport*, **70** (3), 286–296. PubMed ID: 10522286 doi:10.1080/02701367.1999.10608047

van der Mars, H. (1989). Observer reliability: issues and procedures. In P.W. Darst, 614 D.B. Zakrajsek, V.H. Mancini, (eds.), *Analysing Physical Education and Sport Instruction* (pp. 53-80). Human Kinetics: Champaign.

Van Maanen J (1988) Tales of the Field: On Writing Ethnography. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Vaz, L., Mouchet, A., Carreras, D., & Morente, H. (2011). The importance of rugby game-related statistics to discriminate winners and losers at the elite level competitions in close and balanced games. *International Journal of Performance Analysis in Sport*, **11** (1), 130-141.

Veal, A. J., & Darcy, S. (2014). *Research Methods in Sport Studies a Sport Management*: A practical Guide. London: Routledge

Veenman, M. V. J., Bavelaar, L., De Wolf, L., & Van Haaren, M. G. P. (2014). The on-line assessment of metacognitive skills in a computerized learning environment. *Learning and Individual Differences*, **29**, 123–130. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lindif.2013.01.003

Veenman, M. V. J., Van Hout-Wolters, B. H. A. M., & Afflerbach, P. (2006). Metacognition and learning: Conceptual and methodological considerations. *Metacognition and Learning*, **1** (1), 3–14. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11409-006-6893-0

Vella, S.A., Crowe, T.P., Oades, L.G. (2013). Increasing the effectiveness of formal coach education: evidence of a parallel process. *International Journal of Sports Science & Coaching*, **8** (2), 417-430.

Vilar, L., Araujo, D., Davids, K. & Button, C. (2012). The Role of Ecological Dynamics in Analysing Performance in Team Sports. *Sports Medicine*, **42**, 110.

Vygotsky, L.S. (1978). Mind and society. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.

Vilar L, Duarte R, Silva P, Chow JY, Davids K. (2014). The influence of pitch dimensions on performance during small-sided and conditioned soccer games. *J Sport Sci.* **32**(19): 1751–1759. - PubMed

Vogelbein, M., Nopp, S. & Hokelmann, A. (2014). Defensive transition in soccer - are prompt possession regains a measure of success? A quantitative analysis of German Fussball-Bundesliga 2010/2011. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, **32**, 10761083.

Vosniadou, S. & Kollias, V. (2003). Using collaborative, computer-supported, model buildingto promote conceptual change in science. In E. De Corte, L. Verschaffel, N. Entwistel,& J. Van Merrienboer (Eds.), Powerful learning environments: *Unravelling basic components and dimensions*. *Advances in Learning and Instruction*, Elsevier Press.

Wade, A. (1967). The F.A. guide to training and coaching. London, UK: Heinemann.

Wade, A. (1996). Principles of Team Play, Reedswain Inc.

Wallace, J. L. & Norton, K. I. (2014). Evolution of World Cup soccer final games 19662010: game structure, speed and play patterns. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, **17**, 223-228.

Walker, L. F., Thomas, R., & Driska, A., P. (2018). Informal and non-formal learning for sport coaches: A systematic review. *International Journal of Sports Science & Coaching*, **13** (5) 694–707

Wacquant, L. J. D. (1989). Towards a reflexive sociology. A workshop with Pierre Bourdieu. 717 *Sociological Theory* **7** (1): 26-63.

Wacquant, L. J.D. (2004). Following Pierre Bourdieu into the field. *Ethnography*,**5** (4): 387–719.

Ward, G., & Griggs, G. (2011). Principles of Play: A proposed framework towards a holistic overview of games in primary physical education. *Education* 3-13. **39**. 1-18. 10.1080/03004279.2010.480945.

Weaver-Hart, A. (1988) Framing an innocent concept and getting away with it, UCEA Review, **24** (2), 11–12.

Weinstein, C.E., & Van Mater Stone, G. (1993). Broadening our conception of general education: The self-regulated learner. *New Directions for Community Colleges*, **21** (1), 31–39.

Werthner, P., and Trudel, P., 2009. Investigating the idiosyncratic learning paths of elite Canadian Coaches. *International Journal of Sports Science and Coaching*, **4**, 433-449.

Whitehead, A.E., Cropley, B., Huntley, T., Miles, A., Quayle, L., & Knowles, Z. 617 (2016). 'Think aloud': Toward a framework to facilitate reflective practice amongst rugby league coaches. *International Sport Coaching Journal*, **3**(3), 619 269-286

Williams, A. M. & Ericsson, K. A. (2005). Perceptual-cognitive expertise in sport: Some considerations when applying the expert performance approach. *Human Movement Science*, **24**, 283-307.

Williams, A., Hodges, N., North, J., Barton, G. (2006). Perceiving patterns of play in dynamic sport tasks: Investigating the essential information underlying skilled performance. *Perception*, **35**,317–332.

Williams, A.M. (2000). Perceptual skills in Soccer: implications for talent identification and development. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, **18**, 737-750.

Williams, M., A. and Hodges, N., J. (2005). Practice, instruction and skill acquisition in soccer: Challenging tradition. Journal of Sports Sciences: **23**, 637 – 650.

Williams, A., Hodges, N., North, J., Barton, G. (2006). Perceiving patterns of play in dynamic sport tasks: Investigating the essential information underlying skilled performance. *Perception*, **35**,317–332.

Werner, P. H., Thorpe, R., & Bunker, D. (1996). Teaching games for understanding: Evolution of a model. The Journal of Physical Education, Recreation & Dance, 67(1), 28-33.

Whetten, D.A. And Cameron, K.S. (2007) *Developing Management Skills*, New Jersey: Prentice Hall Chapter 1.

Wright, C., Atkins, S., Polman, R., Jones, B. & Sargeson, L. (2011). Factors associated with goals and goal scoring opportunities in professional soccer. *International Journal of Performance Analysis in Sport*, **11**, 438-449.

Wu, Y., Xie, X., Wang, J., Deng, D., Liang, H., Zhang, H., Cheng, S., & Chen, W. (2019). Visualizing spatio-temporal team formations in soccer. IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics, **25** (1):65–75

Yiannakos, A. & Armatas, V. (2004). Evaluation of the goal scoring patterns in European Championship in Portugal. *International Journal of Performance Analysis in Sport*, **6**, 178-188.

Yin, R. K. (1994). Case Study Research: Design and Methods. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.

Yin, R. K. (2002). Case study research: Design and methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE

Yin, R. K. (2007). Case study research: Design and methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE

Yin, R. K. (2009). Case study research: Design and methods (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Vygotsky, L.S. (1978). Mind and society. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.

CHAPTER 10: List OF TABLES AND FIGURES

Table 2.1. Principles of Play Wade (1967) updated (1996).	29
Table 2.2. Principles of Attacking Play (Wade, 1967; 1996 & The	29
FA, 2016).	
Table 2.3. Principles of Defending Play (Wade, 1967; 1996 & The	30
FA, 2016).	
Table 2.4. Transition Principles of play (adapted from Wade, 1996	31
& The FA, 2016).	
Table 3.1. Conceptual Framework for study 1 and 2	57
Table 3.2. Knowledge Bases for Coaching Football	63
Table 4.1. Researcher's approach to collecting data	88
Table 5.1. Coach Profiles	107
Table 5.2 Higher-order themes, lower-order themes and examples	112
from the data.	
Table 6.1. Coach Profiles.	137
Table 8.1 Conceptual Framework: How to build a Game Model, stages, key considerations and further considerations.	213
Figure 2.1. The interaction model of coaching knowledge (Nash &	23
Collins, 2006).	
Figure 2.2. Factors that influence in designing and building up a	26
game model (Delgado-Bordonau et al., 2012; Adapted from	
Oliveira, G. 2007)	
Figure 2.3. Moments of the Game (Delgado-Bordonau & Mendez-	27
Villanueva, 2012).	

Figure 2.4. Five moments of play (Hewitt, Greenham & Norton,	28
2016)	

Figure 2.5. The role of opposition in the dynamics of sports games	35
(adapted from Grehaigne et al., 1997: In O' Donoghue 2009)	
Figure 2.6. Example of a 1-4-3-3 System of Play	36
Figure 2.7. Match report Average positions – Manchester City Vs	38
Arsenal (Wyscout Match Report, 17/06/2020).	
Figure 2.8. Match Report – Spatial positions reported Manchester	38
City Vs Arsenal (17/06/2020).	
Figure 3.1. Factors that influence in designing and building up a	54
Game Model (Delgado-Bordonau & Mendez-Villanueva, 2012,	
Adapted from Oliveira, 2007)	
Figure 3.2 Cycle 1of the design of the conceptual model.	55
Figure 3.3. Concepts of a Game Model (Chapter 3) (adapted from	56
Delgado-Bordonau & Mendez-Villanueva, 2012).	
Figure 3.4. Adapted Game Model with addition concepts (adapted	58
from Delgado-Bordonau & Mendez-Villanueva, 2012).	
Figure 3.5. Cycle 2 is the adaptation of the conceptual model and	58
the design of a conceptual framework.	
Figure 3.6. Cycle 3 The adaptation of the conceptual model and	59
conceptual framework	
Figure 3.7. Concepts of a Game Model (adapted from Delgado-	60
Bordonau & Mendez-Villanueva, 2012).	
Figure 3.8. Overview of the Conceptual Framework to develop	61
tactical knowledge.	
Figure 3.9 The 6 'Moments of the Game'	66

Figure 3.10. 18 zones on the pitch (Herold et al., 2019).	71
Figure 3.11. The Pitch is divided into 12 areas of the pitch	72
(Eldridge, Pulling & Robins, 2013).	
Figure 3.12. Understanding the Importance of the half-space	72
(Lebzygold. 2017)	
Figure 3.13. Sub-Moments of the game (defensive, midfield and	73
attacking thirds).	
Figure 3.14. Demonstrating both vertical and horizontal sub-	74
phases of the game	
Figure 4.1. Dewey's model of experience.	85
Figure 5.1. Object Learning approach, Subbuteo figures and pitch.	109
Figure 5.2. Example of the red team applying the attacking	115
principles of play.	
Figure 5.3. Example of the blue demonstrating the defending	116
principles of play	
Figure 5.4. System of Play in possession from the kick-off.	122
Figure 5.5. System of play in possession: The red team playing	123
out from the back.	
Figure 5.6. System of Play out of possession	122
Figure 7.1. The data collection process in Study 3.	164
Figure 7.2. Gannt chart illustrating data collection points	165
throughout the study.	
Figure 7.3. Diagram from the coaching session plan for the	176
session on 23 rd September 2019.	
Figure 7.4. Left Back's start position in relation to the moment of	178
the game.	

Figure 7.5. Diagram of reflection point (D- distance PA- passing	182
angle).	
Figure 7.6. Example 1	188
Figure 7.7. Example 2	188
Figure 8.1. Concepts of a Game Model (adapted from Delgado-	211
Bordonau & Mendez-Villanueva, 2012).	